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CHAPTER L.

INFANCY AND BOYHOOD.—1748-59.

Birth.—Connexions and Ancestry: Jacobitism: Father and
Mother.—Localities.—Reminiscences of Infancy: Browning Hill.—Musical
Taste.—Physical Weakness.—Instruction in French.—Passion for Reading: Fiction:
History: Telemachus.—Early Companions.—Observation of Nature.—Susceptibility
of Temperament.—Sir Thomas Sewell and Bentham, senior—Recollections of Early
Incidents.—Humanity to Animals.—Visits to Barking.—Anecdotes.—Liability to
Horrible Impressions.—Influence of Early Reading.—Family Reminiscences.—Early
Tastes: Flowers.—Death of his Mother.

Jeremy Bentham was born in Red Lion Street, Houndsditch, on the 4th-15th February,
1747-8.*

His great-grandfather, Brian Bentham, was a prosperous pawnbroker in the city of
London, and a relation of that Sir Jeremy Snow who was one of the bankers cheated
by Charles II. when he closed the Exchequer. In those days the profession of a
pawnbroker was far more elevated than now. Brian Bentham had connexion with the
founder of the Aldgate Charity, Sir John Cass, and with many other distinguished
people.i He died possessed of some thousands of pounds. His son, Jeremy Bentham’s
grandfather, was a Jacobite lawyer; “neither better nor worse,” as his distinguished
descendant used to say of him, “than the average rate of attorneys.” His name was
Jeremiah, and he had a partner, one Mr Avis, whose brother shocked the prejudices of
the times by marrying a rich Jewess. The Avises were people of no small importance
in the city. In their family was a literary lady, an unmarried maiden—Miss Barbara
Avis—who was even a Latin scholar. One of the most awful events of Jeremy
Bentham’s life, was his introduction to the erudite Miss Barbara. He was then not
seven years old, and his father compelled him to learn by rote one of Horace’s satires,
that he might repeat it when the lady arrived to pay the family a visit. Such visits were
talked of long before they came, and long after they were over: they were events in
the family history. This learned lady seems to have been less terrible than the
trembling timid boy anticipated: and he got through his “Qui fit Mecanas” with due
honour.

Bentham’s father, whose name was also Jeremiah, was born on the 2d of December,
1712, in the parish of St Botolph’s, Aldgate.

His grandfather, who, though no Papist, was a great devotee of the Stuarts, had the
habit of hoarding and hiding large quantities of money in various parts of the house.
Considerable sums, concealed from the knowledge of his family, were found, at his
death and at subsequent periods, in foreign and domestic gold coin; and when Jeremy
was a boy of about ten years old, twenty or thirty guineas fell out of a place which he
had been using as a receptacle for his toys. Strong aversion to the reigning

PLL v6.0 (generated September, 2011) 14 http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/2085



Online Library of Liberty: The Works of Jeremy Bentham, vol. 10 (Memoirs Part I and
Correspondence)

family—doubts of the stability of the funds—apprehensions of danger—and the
desire of having some immediate tangible resources—induced many Jacobites to do
what Jeremiah Bentham did. It was said that Pope or his father came into possession
of a hidden treasure of £20,000 in gold, which was kept in a closet, and drawn upon
according to need—the interest being sacrificed. But, withal, the old lawyer managed
to invest in land a large amount of money, the result of his savings, and added to the
fortune his father had bequeathed.

Of late years, some light has been thrown upon the extent of Jacobitism which
pervaded the higher classes, where it was deeply rooted and widely spread; and
among the people of the metropolis, at least, it was far more prevalent a century ago
than is generally supposed. Bentham has assured me, not only that multitudes of the
citizens of London were friendly to the Stuarts, but that even in the corporation there
were aldermen waiting to bring about the restoration of the exiled family, whenever a
fit occasion could be found. In the year 1745, the addresses of the Pretender had a
wide circulation; and many papers, showing the zeal and interest which his forefathers
felt in the success of the Stuarts, fell into Bentham’s hands. Bentham’s grandfather
had struggled hard for the clerkship of the Cordwainers’ Company. He attributed his
failure to his political sincerity—to his devotion to the legitimate race.

“My grandfather on my father’s side,” writes Bentham, “being a Jacobite, my father,
comme de raison, was bred up in the same principles. My father subsequently,
without much cost in conveyancing, transferred his adherence from the Stuarts to the
Gnelphs. A circumstance that gave no small facility to it was a matrimonial alliance
that had been contracted by a relation of my mother’s with a valet de chambre of
George the Second’s. Ribbons—in material silk, in colour purest white, in dimensions
narrow—closed in those days the occasional solution of continuity in the shirt collar
of his Most Sacred Majesty. Its term accomplished—nor in such a situation was much
time expended in the accomplishment—one of these royal trappings passed from the
hand of my fair cousin to the neck of the author of these pages. Ribbon, of itself
sufficed—ribbon, without garter or even star—to turn the little head. Kings upon
kings, ever since my fourth year was accomplished, I had been reading of, in an odd
volume of Rapin’s History. Crowns upon crowns I had beholden upon their heads.
Imagine, who can, how I strutted, thus adorned and glorified!”

Some of the Bentham family made their way under the auspices of the dominant
authorities. The chief clerk of the Navy Board was the first cousin of Bentham’s
father. He lived a life of jollity on Tower Hill—was a member of the Beef-Steak
Club—a warm-hearted man, who was disposed to show all sorts of kindness to his
young kinsman. Bentham thus spoke of him:—*I longed for a more intimate
acquaintance with him; but a coldness existed between him and my father; and, [ am
bound to say, my father was not the injured party. Now and then I did obtain the
privilege of visiting him. My visits were mostly confined to those nights of beatitude
on which the annual fireworks were displayed on Tower Hill, and which I looked at,
in a state of ecstasy, from his windows.”

Bentham often talked pleasantly and playfully of what he called his Patronymics. “A
son of a first cousin of my father was Captain Cook’s purser when he went his first
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voyage to the Sandwich Islands. I wanted him to talk to me of his travels; but I never
got one fact out of him except this, that on one occasion, at the Sandwich Islands, they
were greatly disturbed by the terrible noise with which the king made love to one of
his lieges. Another second cousin was a banker at Sheerness; and another was a
gentleman farmer.”*

Of his female ancestors—of the relations on his mother’s side, and of his mother
especially, Bentham always spoke with the most affectionate tenderness. His
grandmother, on his father’s side, was named Tabor,{ believed to be the same family
as the Doctor Tabor who was made a Knight of the Bath in the time of Charles II. in
consequence of his successful treatment of various royal and noble persons, by the use
of the medicine then called Jesuits’ (but now Peruvian) bark. One member of his
grandmother’s family, Mr Ray, a relation of the botanist, had educated Bentham’s
father, and was an object to him of so much respect and affection, that he sought him,
on the death of his first wife, (whom he fondly loved,) hoping to find from him solace
in his affliction. This Mr Ray had several brothers: one, a traveller, though he died
when Bentham was only six years old, was to him an object of extreme interest and
admiration. “Well do I remember,” said Bentham, in his old age, “his good-natured,
playful humour—his kindness during his visits to my grandmother—his letters which
were sent by his father to mine. Deep was the affliction which I felt at his death; and,
when the news came, there was nobody to keep up my spirits but my grandmother.
When he was gone, his letters made him present. They interested me so much, that I
should know his signature now, after three-fourths of a century, though it was a sad
scrawl. I recollect his writing about the Polygars; so the scene of his adventures must
have been Southern India, somewhat near Travancore. He used to sing me songs
whose music even now vibrates in my ears. Among them was ‘My Highland Laddie:’

‘May heaven still guard, and love reward,
My Highland Laddie!” ”

The maiden name of Bentham’s mother was Alicia Grove. Her father was the younger
son of a younger son; and, though belonging to a family of some consequence, his
condition was not higher than that of a shopkeeper at Andover. His early life was one
of marked vicissitudes. His later years were progressively prosperous. On his death
the business was disposed of, and the family withdrew to Browning Hill, near
Reading; a spot, the recollection of which was to Bentham, throughout the whole of
his existence, like a thought of paradise. One great-uncle had been a publisher—(a
brother of Bentham’s grandmother)—his name was Woodward. He brought out
Tindal’s “Christianity as Old as the Creation.” He used to talk to Bentham of books
and booksellers—of “Honest Tom Payne,” whose shop was then contiguous to the
Mewsgate, and was a sort of gathering-place for the lettered aristocracy of the times.
Woodward retired from business—was crippled and rich. Such part of his stock as
was unsold and unsaleable, formed a large portion of the library at Browning Hill, and
served for young Bentham’s intellectual pabulum.

Three sisters—Bentham’s grandmother Grove, a widow Mulford, an unmarried great-

aunt Deborah, and, occasionally, Bentham’s mother—habitually lived at Browning
Hill. They were all kind to, as they were all fond of, the studious boy. “But my aunt
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Deborah was too prone to talk of the people of quality whom she knew; for she knew
the Ridleys and Colbornes, and divers other great families. I cared nothing about such
topics. I wished she would talk of Vortigern and the Anglo-Saxons; but I wished in
vain.”

Bentham made, throughout his life, open war upon the maxim, De mortuis nil nisi
bonum, and as he frequently spoke of his father in terms of disapprobation, he was in
the habit of justifying the course he pursued, by something like the following
reasoning:— “Why should a Latin or an English* proverb screen the character of our
ancestors from investigation? The suppression of truth may be as baneful as the
utterance of untruth. By one as well as by the other, and often equally by either, may
wrong obtain a triumph, or right be visited by defeat. In the abstract and intrinsic
nature of the dogma, there is mendacity: in its application inevitable mischief. Take
the case of flattery bestowed upon dead tyrants. What does it serve but to encourage a
continuance or a repetition of tyrannical acts? The other day a journalist, who wrote in
terms of deserved reprobation on the character of a deceased monarch, was severely
punished. Had he uttered any quantity of laudatory lying, reward would probably have
been his lot;—a small portion of criminatory truth subjected him to heavy inflictions.
And thus is veracity polluted and persecuted!” “While my father lived, from my birth
to his death, I never gave him any ground to complain of me. Often and often have |
heard from him spontaneous and heartfelt assurances of the contrary. My conduct
may indeed have sometimes been a cause of regret and dissatisfaction to him; but on
what ground? My ‘weakness and imprudence’ in keeping wrapt up in a napkin the
talents which it had pleased God to confer on me—in rendering useless, as he averred,
my powers of raising myself to the pinnacle of prosperity. The seals were mine,
would I but muster up confidence and resolution enough to seize them. He was
continually telling me that everything was to be done by ‘pushing;’ but all his
arguments failed to prevail on me to assume the requisite energy. ‘Pushing,” would he
repeat— ‘pushing’ was the one thing needful; but ‘pushing’ was not congenial to my
character. . . . How often, down to the last hours of our intercourse, when we were
sitting on contiguous chairs, has my father taken up my hand and kissed it!”

Bentham’s father had, like his illustrious son, a phraseology of his own. If a person
neglected to visit him, he would call the absence “self-sequestration.” If a client left
him, he shook his head and said—“Ah! he has taken himself into his own hands.” He
had two ways of accounting for all conduct which was opposed to his standard of
propriety. If the party were of such rank as that, without presumption, he might sit in
judgment, he called the deed he disapproved of “infatuation,” but when he was afraid
to attribute anything like blame, he always said it was a “mystery.” And these two
words—*"“infatuation” and “mystery”’—were the talismans with which he explained
whatever was otherwise unexplainable, and dealt out a sort of oracular decision to his
hearers.

He adopted for the family motto—7am bene quam benigné,; and, when Bentham was
very young, he was called on to translate the phrase, the application of which his
father considered a most lucky hit, for it was meant to convey a recondite
meaning—7Tam bene, read backwards, was to designate Bentham. The lad neither
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valued the wit nor preserved the motto, though he once observed to me—“My father’s
reasons were as good as those which justify nine-tenths of the mottoes in use.”

Bentham’s father had, in truth, not the slightest comprehension of the delicacy and
diffidence of his son’s nature. He whose maturer and later life flowed in one stream of
continued happiness—the most gay and joyous of men—had the recollection of his
boyhood associated with many thoughts of a painful and gloomy character. But his
observation was acute, and his memory wonderfully accurate, even of the minutest
events. “I was filled with marvel,” he said, “when I found the power I had over the
ground in the church-yard near my father’s house in Aldgate. I used to walk into the
church-yard, particularly when there were burials, and I remember, that as I looked 1
found that the surface of the ground changed—it was sometimes uniform, sometimes
in waves,—which I could vary at will by altering the position of my eye.”

Red Lion Street, Houndsditch, in which Bentham was born, 1s a cul-de-sac close to
the church, and his father’s house was the last on the left-hand side. It is still existing,
pretty much in the same outward condition as it exhibited a hundred years ago;
though, in these modern days, a substantial city attorney would rarely dream of
dwelling in such a street, or such a neighbourhood; both having become occupied by
people less and less opulent, as the more wealthy and higher stationed gradually
withdrew. He had the name of Jeremy given to him, because Jeremiah, as his father
said, was a family name; and there was an advantage in curtailing a syllable, and in
showing a preference towards the names of the New Testament over those of the old.
Accident brought his father and his mother together at a place of entertainment on or
near Epping Forest, called Buckholt Acres. His father fell desperately in love,
returned home, and vowed that, if any, the woman he had seen should be his wife. It
was a terrible shock to the ambitious purposes of his family, which had already
decided that a certain young lady, with a jointure of £10,000, should be united to him.
Bentham used to relate, with great glee, how his grandmother made him her
confidant, and poured out into his young bosom the expression of her vexation that
his father had made so great a mistake. But if ever an amiable woman existed, the
mother of Bentham was one.

Bentham’s father kept a journal of expenses, written in a strange jargon of bad
French, Latin, and English. Under the date of 1744, September 30, is the following
entry:—“Pro licentia nuptiale, 19s. 6d. Dat. clerico, 2s. 6d.=£1 : 2s.; and, in the year
1747-8, February 4, appears— Fils né, apres nomme¢ Jeremy; a quatre heures et demi,
mon fils se nait.”

On the 15th June, I find—*J. B. jun.—Paid Mr J. Mulford, for a coral, 14s.”

Several letters are before me written by Mrs Bentham, which exhibit many of those
gentle and beautiful traits of feminine character which I have often heard Bentham
attribute to his mother. In one, dated Andover, August 6, 1749, addressed to her
husband, she mentions that she had left the stage-coach during her journey, and, on
coming back, she found her place, which was with the face towards the horses,
occupied by a lady, and says—*I was chagrined by this unlucky accident, knowing |
could not sit backwards without inconvenience; therefore, addressing myself to the
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lady, I hoped it would suit her to sit on the other side; but she assured me it would not.
I was obliged to take the middle place: but this did not put me out of temper. She was
afterwards extremely obliging, and offered me a bed at her brother’s house.” I do not
know whether this incident was recollected by Bentham, but I remember to have
heard him say that a stagecoach was a place where the virtues of prudence and
benevolence have often occasion eminently to exhibit themselves, and where lessons
of wisdom are sometimes admirably taught. In the same letter, she speaks of her
anxiety about “her sweet boy,” (Bentham,) and of “an uneasy dream” she had had
respecting him. In another letter, of the following week, she writes of the “longing
expectation” with which she had waited for her husband’s letter, of “the joy of
hearing from a beloved absent one;” and implores a frequent repetition of such
“absent interviews.” She says, “I try to divest myself of all uneasy cares, and think of
nothing at home but the joys I left behind—my sweet little boy, and his still dearer
papa; though there are little anxious fears about death and fever, and too great a hurry
and perhaps vexations in business, which may perhaps overpower the spirits, and I not
present to bear my part, and soothe those cares; which, I flatter myself, would be in
my power, were it only from my desire of doing it. Shall you see the dear little
creature again? I dreamed he had been like to have been choked with a plum-stone.
Surely nurse will not trust him with damsons. God preserve him from all evil
accidents!” It would appear from this letter that Mr Bentham had some aspirations
after a knighthood; for she says—*I am vastly angry with the title of ladyship. I have
taken so great a disgust to it that I hope you will not get yourself knighted in haste, for
I don’t believe I shall ever be reconciled to it. It has robbed me, I fear, of some sweet
epithets, and exchanged what I value above all the world for an ‘humble servant.’
However, it shall not deprive me of a title I value above all others that could ever be
conferred on me: even that of your faithful and affectionate wife,

“A.B.”

At the time of Bentham’s birth, his father’s mother was an inmate of the family;
living, however, principally at Barking, where they occupied a house, which was her
jointure, and in which the whole family ordinarily passed, as a weekly holiday, a
portion of Saturday and Monday, and the whole of Sunday. Bentham’s father said to
him, when he was very young, that, by the blessing of heaven on his exertions in
making a combination between his wife and his mother, he was enabled to keep a
country-house and a carriage. The paternal grandmother was proud and scornful; the
maternal one humble and gentle. The pride of grandmother Bentham was built on an
independence of one hundred pounds a year; and the humility of grandmother Grove
was outpoured into the bosom of young Jeremy; to whom, without any asperity, but
with a good-humoured pleasantry, she sometimes expressed her wonderment that the
rival for the boy’s affections should “hold her haughty head so high.” But from the
country-house and the carriage, that rival could well look down on those who had
neither; and, besides, in early life she had passed some time in the company of ladies
of quality, with the daughters of the Earl of Fermanagh, in Ireland, whose dwelling
was not far from that of her reverend father. That earl, or a preceding one, figures in
the Memoirs of Count Grammont; and Bentham’s grandmother had partaken of the
accomplishments, such as they were, which formed part of the education of high-born
dames; and had learned to play successfully (so she told her grandson) on the bass
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viol. Whatever she had learned, however, was all forgotten before Bentham could
derive any benefit from it, as he found she could not even teach him the musical
notes. Plain in her youth, she had grown graceful and dignified in age; and Bentham,
who was early sensible of her weaknesses, found her far from unpleasing to him.
When the leaves fell, she migrated from Barking to London; and when the leaves
appeared again, she appeared in the country with them.

I have heard Bentham mention, more than once, his remembrance of a circumstance
that occurred before he was able to walk alone, and which made, he has often told me,
the strongest impression on his memory. He had been remarking how much suffering
the acuteness of his sensibilities had on many occasions caused him, and that his
earliest recollection was the pain of sympathy. “It was at my father’s country-house at
Barking,” he said: “the place and persons present are even now vividly impressed on
my memory. My grandfather was then the constant occupant of the house; and my
father and mother, with occasional company, came down every Saturday, and
returned to town the following Monday. There had been some unusual feasting in the
house, and I had been supplied by my nurse, no doubt, to satiety. Soon after, my
grandfather came, and I ate something that he offered me. Thereupon came my
mother, smiling—she came with her natural claims upon my affections—but it was
out of my power to accept her intended kindness; and I burst into tears, seeing the
chagrin and disappointment which it cost her. [ was then not two years old.” And the
fact of his age he established by a comparison of dates, persons, and places, sufficient
to authenticate his statement.

Of the precocity of his powers, I have gathered up many remarkable examples. He
knew his letters before he was able to speak. His father was accustomed to mention,
and, as he said, “to brag,” of his early feats, and he reminded him a thousand times of
his infantine literary powers. “He was always talking to me and to others of my
powers,” said Bentham; but the stimulants applied did not act in the direction which
parental pride was constantly pointing out.

Another instance of precocious mental activity I will give in Bentham’s
words:—“What I am about to tell you, I have often heard from my grandfather: it
occurred before I was breeched, and I was breeched at three years and a quarter
old:—One day, after dinner, I was taken to walk with my father and mother, and some
of their acquaintance. They were talking, as usual, about matters—I cannot say above
my comprehension—but rather distant from, or on one side of my
comprehension—matters of complete indifference to me—about Mr Thompson, Mr
Jackson, Miss Smith, and old Mr Clark. Not being interested, I soon got wearied and
annoyed, so that, unperceived, I escaped from the company, took to my heels, and
scampered home. The house was tolerably far off, though in view; and I reached it a
considerable time before the arrival of the pedestrians. When they came in they found
me seated at table—a reading desk upon the table, and a huge folio on that reading
desk—a lighted candle on each side, (for it had become dark,) and myself absorbed in
my studies. The book was Rapin’s History of England. I have it still. The tale was
often told in my presence, of the boy in petticoats, who had come in and rung the bell,
and given orders to the footman to mount the desk upon the table, and place the folio
upon the desk, and to provide candles without delay. All this was repeated again and
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again, and I received the impressions from others. But what I did not receive from
others, was, the knowledge of the satisfaction with which I read the folio historian.
The day remembered by others was not the first in which I had been delighted. There
is nothing sentimental in Rapin, but the facts simply narrated were most interesting to
me; those facts I read over and over again; and they excited my sympathies strongly,
particularly those which occurred in the Saxon period—Redwald and Edwy; and
Rosamond’s story above all.” In the year 1751, Bentham being then in his fourth year,
there is in his father’s book of accounts, an entry for “Ward’s Grammar, 1s. 6d.; Fani
Colloquendi Formula, 6d.; and Nomenclator Classicus Trilinguis, 8d., being 2s. 8d.
for Jeremy, junior,” showing at what an early age his classical studies began; and in
the year 1753, a nicely written scrap of Latin is preserved among his father’s
memoranda, with this notice:—*“Mem. The line pasted hereon was written by my son,
Jeremy Bentham, the 4th of December, 1753, at the age of five years nine months and
nineteen days;” and a few days after is the following entry:—*“Paid Mr Robert Hartley
for double allepine for Jerry’s coat and breeches, to his pink waistcoat, £0 12 3.”

Long before Bentham was five years old, his father had resumed his own studies in
Latin and Greek, in order to officiate as instructor to his boy. I find different
fragments written by young Jeremy at the age of four; and I remember he mentioned
to me that he learned the Latin Grammar and the Greek alphabet on his father’s knee.
Mr Bentham confessed that, in teaching his son, he had taught himself more than he
had been ever taught before. Lily’s Grammar and the Greek Testament were the two
principal instruments of instruction.

Bentham’s recollection of the scenes of his boyhood was most accurate; and never did
he appear more delighted than when speaking of the two spots, Browning Hill and
Barking, the country abodes, in which his two grandmothers dwelt. He had, through
life, the keenest sense of the beauties of nature; and, whenever he could be induced to
quit his studies, his enjoyment of fields and flowers was as acute and vivid as that of a
happy child. To Browning Hill, especially, he was exceedingly attached. “It was my
heaven,” he used to say; “Westminster School my hell; Aldgate was earth, and
Barking was paradise to me.” When Browning Hill was sold, Bentham wrote the
advertisement, in which he has often told me his affections led him to paint it in a
romantic way. It had always to him the interest of a novel, in which the principal
characters were women, and those women preéminently excellent ones. “How well do
I recollect,” he said to me, not long before his death, “the happy community at
Browning Hill! My uncle, to whom it belonged, visited it every two or three weeks, to
inspect his little concerns, which were superintended by a bailiff named Maberly, who
did all domestic services except waiting at table, and who directed matters so
prudently and economically, that the three ladies—my grandmother, my great-aunt
Mulford, and my little aunt Deborah—Ilived comfortably upon the estate; and the
bailiff himself, without any imputation on his character, was able to occupy a good
house, with a considerable shop belonging to it, and, by gradually extending his trade,
he became a timber-merchant. He married another servant of the family, and amassed
many thousand pounds. Prosperous and fortunate, though in a less degree, was his
successor Thomas West, who also married a female servant of my grandmother’s; and
I heard that they had made themselves a little fortune of £800 by economy and
industry. No shadow of reproach was ever cast on the characters of those good people.
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The history of their management, in all its details, would have been, if recorded, a
most instructive one. We had, at Browning Hill, a garden and an orchard, bountifully
productive; a large extent of stabling and outhouses; venerable elms, scattered here
and there, offered ornament and shade; the access to the estate was over a pleasant
green, studded with cottages, in one of which lived a little farmer, of whom I recollect
the boast, that he had made his children roll in gold. His successful industry had but
accumulated petty gains. We were within hearing of the bells of Boghurst church,
though it was not in the parish in which the house is situated. Dear to me beyond
expression, when first it greeted my ears, was the sound of those three bells; one a
little cracked, another much cracked, and the third so cracked as to be almost mute.

“At Browning Hill everybody and everything had a charm; even the old rusty sword
in the granary, which we used to brandish against the rats, was an historical, a sacred
sword; for one of my ancestors had used it for the defence of Oxford against the
Parliamentary forces.”

Bentham thus gives the particulars of his earliest education:—*I do not exactly
recollect how soon I began to write; but [ began to scrawl when I began to read. My
father had always kept a clerk; never more than one, for his practice was small; and
among that clerk’s amusements or duties was my instruction. He taught me the
rudiments of writing and music. His name was Thomas Mendham. Painful was it,
both to hearer and preceptor, to study the application of the musical art to the violin;
for the business of instruction had not then been simplified as it has been since. I was
bewildered in a labyrinth, entangled in a maze, in which the unintelligible words, la,
mi, re, fa, si, fa, ut, sol, re, ut, assailed my ears and eyes. I at last got through, and
found myself in possession of a fiddle in miniature, and able to scrape Foote’s minuet.
At about six years old, I had a regular music-master, whose name was Jones; he was
to improve my practice on the fiddle, and my father gave him a guinea for eight
lessons. I continued to receive lessons from him until [ went to Westminster School.
Then I lost sight of him altogether for many years. About fifty years since, I saw him
again—a venerable man, above eighty, with the look of a gentleman of the old school;
and he still managed, although almost blind, to get a subsistence by accompanying
ladies on the harpsichord. I visited him in a house where he had handsome
apartments, in Scotland Yard. It was a house built by Sir John and belonging to Lady
Vanburgh. Jones had expressed a wish to see me. He was sliding fast into the grave.
There was a servant above the ordinary condition of domestics, who was serving him
with the greatest reverence and affection. He took a fiddle, and made me take a fiddle
also; but his musical faculties were almost gone. This was in 1775. It was my last
visit.”

Now and then the musical acquaintances of his father were invited to tea, and
Bentham gathered much instruction from practice at these little family concerts. But
he could not get books: he was “starved,” to use his own expressions, for want of
books.

Bentham was, at this time of his life, so weakly, that he could not mount the stairs

without bringing up one leg to the other at every step. In size he was almost a dwarf.
He was the smallest boy of his age while at school.
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At the age of six, Bentham was taken by his father to visit one of the king’s valets,
who lived in Stable Yard. The conversation was about nothing, and wearied the poor
boy; so he escaped, and hid himself in a closet, where he found a copy of Pope’s
Homer, which he read with extreme satisfaction and avidity, while they were
gossiping. Bentham remembered the dinner to the day of his death. He said “the
minced veal was shockingly salt,” and he wondered that king’s valets did not fare
more sumptuously than less distinguished persons. Bentham called himself a
gourmand, which he never was; though no man enjoyed his meals more, and few men
were so attentive to others when at table. About the same period of his life he went to
the theatre, for the first time—"I thought myself in heaven,” he said, “I was in such an
ecstasy. In the play were little cherubims coming down from the sky. Miracles were
wrought in my sight. I could not form any idea of heaven beyond what my eyes there
saw, and my ears heard.”

“I was about six or seven years old, when a Frenchman was introduced into the
family, to teach me the language of his country. His name was La Combe—a common
name; so having a desire to distinguish himself, and being somewhat of a literary
man, he called himself La Combe d’Avignon. His errand to England then, was what is
a frequent errand of his countrymen now, to learn English, and to teach French, and to
make one labour afford payment for the other. The terms of payment became,
however, a matter of after dispute. My father found him his board, for some time less
than twelve and more than six months: but a sister of my mother’s being, during part
of the time, an inmate of the house, La Combe considered that to give her the benefit
of his instructions was no part of the bargain, though he had benefited by hers. With
me there was no quarrel. I was exceedingly fond of him—drowned in tears of sorrow
when he left, in tears of joy when he afterwards became an incidental visiter. One sad
misunderstanding once took place between us. He had been engaged in writing an
English Grammar for the use of Frenchmen. One day, he produced a sheet of it, in
which he spoke of the eye of a person of the female sex. According to the usage of his
own language, the word i/ being masculine, he had rendered son wil—his eye. ‘This
will not do, as you are speaking of a woman,’ said I; ‘I beg your pardon, sir, but son
ceil must be translated Zer eye.” He was grievously offended. In vain I assured him it
was the English idiom. He was a man and a scholar; I was not only a child, but an
ignorant and impertinent child. His ill-humour increased, and I left him in a state of
exasperation—exasperated against me, and against himself, on account of the ill
success of those learned labours, of which I had been the object. This, however, was
sometime after he had quitted my father’s house. His residence in it had been useful
and pleasing to me. All the recollections of the toils of learning the grammar were
obliterated or absorbed in the delight experienced among the stores of amusement
which the language opened to me. My mother—it was a point of principle with
her—refused me access to every book by which amusement in any shape might be
administered: but the first book that was put into my hands by La Combe was a small
collection of fairy tales. It opened with the history of Le Petit Poucet, and the Ogre
Family: then there was Raquette a la Houpe, Cinderella, and the Belle du Bois
Dormante; and the one of which Fenette was the heroine—Fenette and her naughty
sisters, Nonchalante and the other; and the Chat botté. How did I joy over the
administration of poetic justice in its most admirable shape, when Nonchalant, the
wicked would-be seducer, having popped himself into the barrel full of razors and
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serpents which he had prepared for his intended victim, was himself rolled down the
mountain in her place!”

Bentham narrated this to me, as if he were still the impassioned boy. “Don’t you
remember this?” he said. “Don’t you know the story?—you ought to know it. A man,”
added he, with the most amusing gravity—*"“a man must be extremely ignorant, not to
know that such was the fact.” After a hearty laugh from me, which was responded to
by his benevolent smile, he resumed—

“Here was great delight; but there awaited me delight much greater; and something
more than delight. The fairy tales had not affected the moral part of my mind. Another
book of far higher character was put into my hands. It was Telemachus. In my own
imagination, and at the age of six or seven, I identified my own personality with that
of the hero, who seemed to me a model of perfect virtue; and, in my walk of life,
whatever it may come to be, why, said I to myself, every now and then, why should I
not be a Telemachus? In my sleep I was present at the scenes between him on the one
part, and Calypso and Eucharis on the other. To Eucharis I was more particularly
attached. I awoke, and found by my side, not Eucharis, but my grandmother! What
was the special source of attraction in that bewitching island had not, at that time,
been unveiled to me: I had no notion of any distinction between the sexes. I had
indeed been struck with the fondness and kindness of women. I saw the exhibition of
strong affection; and strong affection, whatever might have been its cause, (which
then, indeed, was beyond my ken,) was as rapidly imbibed by me as water by a
sponge. That romance may be regarded as the foundation-stone of my whole
character; the starting-post from whence my career of life commenced. The first
dawning in my mind of the principles of utility, may, I think, be traced to it. In the
course of one of his adventures, Telemachus finds himself in the Isle of Crete, at the
time when the form of government being a monarchy, and the throne vacant, election
was to be employed for filling it. A course of trial was to be gone through by the
candidates, and various were the subjects of contention; one of them being to give
answers to questions on constitutional law; and, in particular, the inquiry is mooted as
to the best form of government, and the proper objects of government. Different
candidates prescribe different answers to the same questions, which, accordingly, are
entered on the protocol. One of them seemed to me at the time—though not altogether
so precise as it might have been at this time of day—it seemed, I say, to border, at
least, on the principles of utility; or, in other words, the greatest-happiness principle.
This, however, was not sentimental enough, and the candidate came off at last no
better than second best. The prize was adjudged, of course, to Telemachus, whose
notions seemed to me a short but still too long a tissue of vague generalities, by which
no clear impression was presented to my mind. It was too much of a piece with Lord
Bacon’s notion of a good government, and his principles of legislation, ending with,
“to generate virtue in subjects”—generare virtutem in subditis. | was disappointed,
and the recollection of my disappointment still dwells in my mind. On every other
occasion he was all perfection in my eyes: but on this occasion, I knew not well what
to make of him. Great was my distress when Mentor takes Telemachus to the rock,
and plunges him into the sea. I thought there was an end of my hero. Great was my
joy when Telemachus gets on board the ship; but I could not forgive Mentor for the
unprovoked outrage. If, in after life, I have felt a certain portion of contempt for
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classical antiquity, the impressions I received from reading Telemachus were not
without their influence. The description of classical hell has been considered
authoritative. Had I doubted, my doubts would have been dissipated by the ample and
particular assurance which I received in after studies, and from the highest authorities:
Sisyphus with his stone, Ixion on his wheel, the Danaides with their sieves. [ was
between eleven and twelve years old when Homer’s description of hell (a miserable
succedaneum!) fell into my hands. My heart sank with disgust and disappointment.
Virgil’s was not so bad as Homer’s, but still at an immense distance from
Telemachus’. How little did it enter into my thoughts that this history, or this
romance, was, for the most part, a well-grounded satire; and that, amongst other
things, Idomenes was Louis XIV.” The impression made on Bentham’s mind, by
reading Telemachus, was a permanent one. | have heard him, again and again, speak
of the interest with which he followed the Cretan political controversy, and his
vexation and disappointment at the poor display made by his favourite, who might, he
thought, so much more honourably have won the palm. The goddess of Wisdom,
wrapt up, as she was, in the greatcoat of an old man, was much lowered, in his
estimation, for not distinguishing and recompensing the wisest of the competitors; but
Bentham dared not openly to express his preference. He fancied he could have
mended the best of the answers. A short time before his death, Bentham said to
me—*"I should like to contrast the impressions which Telemachus would make upon
me now, with those it made nearly fourscore years ago. I should like to compare my
recollections of the book with the book itself, to see whether they approached the
truth. I still remember the flowery tirade, manufactured as a sort of pattern for the
competitors for the prize; the vagueness of Telemachus’ speechification, and the
sound but incomplete doctrine of one of the candidates.

“La Combe induced my father to give me the ‘Lettres Juives,” which filled my mind
with vain terrors. I could not understand the book, but I was frightened by the
accounts of the vampires in it. He recommended some other works, of the propriety of
reading which my father doubted. La Combe was, as I afterwards discovered, a
freethinker. Voltaire’s ‘Life of Charles XII.,” his ‘General History,” and his ‘Candide,’
were, in process of time, read by me, on his recommendation. This ‘History’ was
beyond me. It was filled with allusions to facts of which I knew nothing. It is an
essence of history. Many years after, I learnt to value and admire it. It is one of the
few books that give a just view of things. My father and family differed now and then
with La Combe, on religious questions probably: but the good-will and harmony of
our home were not disturbed by the debates. My mother and her sister, though pious
themselves, had been inured to toleration by family sympathy; for, while the females
of my mother’s race were believers, and devoutly believers, the males were, for the
most part, unbelievers. That was the case with my great-uncle Woodward, my uncle
Grove, and my cousin Mulford.”

Bentham’s father united with his mother in keeping out of his way, as far as he was
able, all amusing books. He fancied that there was a concealed contagion in them, and
therefore he established a prohibition upon them; and, knowing Bentham’s love, or
rather passion for reading, he imagined that it would naturally lead him to get hold of
whatever books might be most accessible. The list of these is rather curious,
particularly as connected with the impressions they made on Bentham’s young mind.
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“There was first,” said he, “ ‘Burnett’s Theory of the Earth,’ in folio, by which I was
informed of the prospect I had of being burned alive; ‘Cave’s Lives of the Apostles,’
in a thin quarto, with cuts, in which the said Apostles were represented playing, each
of them, (as a child with a doll,) with that particular instrument of torture by which he
was predestined to be consigned to martyrdom. Another quarto was an old edition of
Stow’s [Chronicle,] in black letter. This Chronicle had stories in it which acted upon
me with a fascination similar to that which certain animals are said to be subjected to
by the serpent, to which they become, in consequence, a prey. Several pages there
were, by every one of which I was filled with horror as soon as ever I ventured to risk
a glance at them. Yet never could I venture into the little closet, in which almost the
only sources of my amusement were contained, without opening the book at one, or
two, or more, of the terrific pages, and receiving the accustomed shock. The book
concluded with a description of a variety of monstrous births. I thought the world was
coming to an end. My sensibility to all sources of sentiment was extreme, and to
sources of terror more particularly so; and these volumes teemed with them. There
was also a ‘History of England,’ in question and answer, by a Mr Lockman, with a
quantity of cuts: but my father’s caution had not gone so far as to divest the book of
its embellishments, though better it would have been for my peace of mind if it had;
for there it was that I saw the blessed martyr, Charles, with his head on the accursed
block—there it was I saw the holy bishops burning as fuel at Smithfield—there it was
I saw the Danish Coldbrand, with a Saxon’s sword, in the act of finding its way into
his body. Not long after, to this ‘History of England,” was added a ‘History of Rome,’
in like form and demeanour, by the same author. Lockman was secretary to some
associated company, into which my father had contrived to introduce himself; which
incident was perhaps the cause of the instruction I was destined to derive from these
two sources. Lockman was of the number of my father’s protegés. He may have given
these books to my father. My father had some books: I knew it well; for they
sometimes escaped from the receptacle in which he destined them to be buried; the
being allowed access to which would have been indeed a pleasure and a privilege to
me. Such was ‘Churchill’s Voyages,” in several volumes folio. I saw them once or
twice by accident, but never knew whence they came nor whither they went. In these |
should have found instruction, and most useful instruction: but then the instruction
would have had amusement to sweeten it; and that idea was not to be endured. My
father gave me once ‘Phadrus’ Fables;’ but fables, inasmuch as they are stories in
which inferior animals are represented as talking together like men and women, never
had any charm for me. One of my tribulations at this time was the learning Church
collects: they used to give me the cholic; but my father insisted on my getting them by
heart. When living at Aldgate, a volume of Swift’s works was left about. There was
the poisoning of Curl. I did not know what to make of it, whether it was true or false,
serious or jocular. It excited my sympathy, however; a sort of provisional sympathy.

“ ‘Rapin’s History of England,” which I often read, whatever benefit it might have
been of in other respects, was of little advantage in a moral point of view. Rapin was a
soldier by trade, and his history is a history of throat-cutting on the largest scale, for
the sake of plunder; and such throat-cuttings and plunderings he places at the summit
of virtue. Edward the Third’s claim to the throne of France was, in my view, an
indisputable one. I followed his conquests in their progress with eager sympathy. My
delight grew with the number of provinces given up to him against the will of their
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inhabitants, and with the number of Frenchmen left dead in the field of battle. Yet do 1
remember how great was my mortification when, after so many victories gained, he
had, at the head of one hundred thousand men, advanced to the gates of Paris, which I
thereupon expected to find given up to him without a struggle, and all France
following its example; instead of that, the termination of his career—of this part of it,
at any rate—was the same as that of a certain King of France of whom it is narrated,
that he,

‘With forty thousand men,
Marched up the hill, and then
Marched down again.’

On Calais, too, I could not help thinking that he had bestowed more time than it was
worth. Our conquerors, I observed, had, according to the account given of them by the
historian, two main instruments by which their conquests were effected: One of these
instruments was the sword,—a brilliant instrument, never beheld by me without
delight, as it glittered in my eyes; the other instrument was negotiation,—a word
which met my eyes too often, and never without annoyance. Having consigned the
sword for a time to the scabbard, Edward betook himself to negotiation; and how it
was that so much was to be got by negotiation, and so little, in comparison, by the
sword, I could by no means explain to myself, nor find explained. At the sight of the
word negotiation, my spirits began to droop; at the sight of the sword, when once
more drawn from the sheath, they revived again. In a victorious king, merit was in the
direct ratio of the number of armed men slaughtered by him, and in the inverse ratio
of those employed in slaughtering them. With this impure alloy, during a great part of
my boyhood, was mixed up the pure virtue which the moral part of my frame had
imbibed from reading ‘Telemachus.” Such were the contents of my library; a library
that was no otherwise my own than by the door being left unlocked of the small room
in which the books were deposited; a room on the first floor at the head of the
principal staircase, situated over the principal door into the house. At this house, in
which my father scarcely ever made a longer stay than from Saturday evening to
Monday morning, he had no library of his own. My mother was too much occupied
by her children, and other family concerns, to have a moment’s time for books.

“As to my grandmother, she had her own library. It was composed, besides the Bible,
of two or three books of devotion, so much in use as nearly to have fallen in pieces.
These books, not containing any of them the poison of amusement, there could be no
objection to my studying them as much as I pleased. One of them was the book of
sacred poetry, by Bishop Ken. It began—

‘Awake my soul! and with the sun,
Thy daily course of duty run;’

the first lines of the first hymn; and to render them the more intelligible, the sun was
represented in a vignette as beginning his daily course, and making himself a pattern
for me. I feel even now the sort of melancholy which the sight of it used to infuse into
me. Another book which was imported for my use, did not contribute to lessen my
melancholy: it was ‘Dodsley’s Preceptor,” with the Vision of Phedors, and the Hermit
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of Teneriffe, found in his cell; the production of the gloomy moralist, Samuel
Johnson—of one of the last of whose clubs I became, in process of time, a member.
Like Godwin, this man infused a tinge of melancholy, though of a different hue, into
every book he touched. There was the poor ideal traveller, toiling up the hill, with
Reason and Religion for his guides, and an unfathomable abyss at each side, ready, at
the first faux pas, to receive his lacerated corpse; as it actually did those of the
greatest part of the travelling population whom I saw toiling towards that summit
which so few of them were destined to reach. Every now and then. after reading a
page in this history, or another page in that system of cosmogony, which taught me to
look out for that too probable day in which I should be burnt alive, it occurred to me
that I had better not have been born: but, as the misfortune had actually happened to
me, all I could do was, of a bad bargain, to make the best, and leave the rest to chance
or Providence. Had I had children of my own age to associate with, these gloomy
ideas would not have filled so large a portion as they did of my time. Except once or
twice, no such solace was I destined to experience.

“I could, even now, if it were worth while, number up, to a certainty, all the visiters of
an age approaching to my own, whom, down to the age of fourteen, | was ever
allowed to receive at my father’s house. There was Thomas Skinner, one of three or
four sons of a clergyman who was a member of my father’s clerical club: he was of
Merchant Tailors’ school; he was two or three years older than I, and twice or thrice
he came to Barking. Another was Thomas Lysen, of the same age, the son of a
neighbouring bricklayer, with whom my father had occasional dealings; he came to
play with me at minnit, or cricket, once or twice every summer. Toulon Flood once
spent two or three days with me; and Edward Reeve, one day: these two were my
schoolfellows at Westminster, and Flood, for a considerable time, my bedfellow.
Reeve’s day was a heavenly one; how I longed for another such! A boy called
Shuttleworth came once—but he came in chains—his visit was of no avail: he
brought with him his morose tutor—that tutor was our every day usher. These were
the only intruders on the solitude and insipidity of my existence. The list of adult
visiters to my father is scarcely more diversified: Two old ladies, contemporaries of
my grandmother, used to pay one visit a-year. A Mrs White, with two nieces, one in
the state of singleness, the other a Mrs Waldo, a widow bewitched, called once every
summer. A small house in the neighbourhood, built in antique style, was occupied by
Mrs Hutchinson, whose son, a little older than I, used to accompany the family to
Barking church, and to perch himself in a pew near to ours: his name was Julius, and
he edited, not many years ago, Mrs Hutchinson’s interesting autobiography. I was
taught, however, to regard him with contempt: I was told he was more my inferior in
learning than my superior in age. There was a Mrs Geddes, the widow of a divine of
that name, who had been removed, years before, to another, and, let us hope, a better
world: I believe he had been the author of a ponderous volume of divinity, which I
never read. Of Mrs White, | only remember that she was distinguished for the strength
of her jaws; and, when considerably above seventy years old, no stone of peach,
apricot, or nectarine, could resist them. Mrs White excited my astonishment, while
she removed a smaller mote from my eye by the introduction of a larger one; it was a
round black seed, which she called Oculus Christi; and whether its operation was
natural or miraculous, the reader must judge. I can aver that, after its application, the
annoyance ceased to trouble me. There was one visiter—rather an unwelcome one—a
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great-aunt, of the name of Powell, who was received on the footing of a poor relation;
she was a sister of my grandmother Bentham, and came across the water from
Woolwich. She had made a disparaging match with an operative in the neighbourhood
of the dockyard, and was therefore in disgrace. Of her existence, no traces remain in
my memory.

“Scarcely as often as once in a season, my grandmother, accoutred in sable muff and
tippet, used to make a visit of ceremony, in her carriage. About as often was a visit
paid by a relation and cotemporary of the same sex, who came from Woodford, and to
whom a dinner of ceremony was given. This was a Mrs Archer, to whom I was taught
to pay homage, under the appellation of Aunt Archer; the auntship consisting in that
her husband had had for a first wife a sister of my grandmother. She was in some way
or other my grandmother’s cousin. She had a maiden sister who sometimes dwelt with
her, and sometimes in a small tenement adjoining; at whose death I received an old
gold watch and a trifling legacy. Once or twice in the year I used to accompany my
father to Woodford, and saw Mr Archer, who had retired upon a fortune of £15,000,
made by the sale of ivory. They spent little, kept no carriage, no town-house,
exhibited no marks of hospitality, had not even to offer us a spare bed, to my no small
mortification. Yet the visits interested me: their garden was larger than ours, and had
two ponds at different levels. The change broke the permanent monotony of my
father’s house, and diversity was to me a treasure of the greatest rarity. I recollect one
visiter, whose presence was singularly agreeable: it was a Mr John Bonnet, of a
French refugee family, a working jeweller by trade, and of my father’s age. There
were two Bonnets among our acquaintances—the other’s name was Benjamin; but [
know not if they were allied. Benjamin, in comparison with John, was a magnificent
personage: he was no less than a notarypublic. He wore a wig of fashion—at any rate
of city fashion,—while poor John wore nothing better than a wig of business. In those
days, whatever was his profession or rank in life, a man might be distinguished by his
wig with little less certainty than a peer by his coronet, or a monarch by his crown.
We had Mr John Bonnet’s company for a day or two, and took an excursion as far as
the Thames, Barking being at the head of a creek which runs up a couple of miles. At
the outset of our walk, and as evidence of what I had learned in French, my father
proposed that, during the whole excursion, a halfpenny should be paid, as a fine, for
every word of English spoken. The joke was, that Mr Bonnet, though a Frenchman
born, or, at any rate, educated by a Frenchman born, made the most numerous
mistakes; at all events, my pockets were replenished with halfpence.”

When a very little child, having been escorted by his grandmother from Browning
Hill to Andover, Bentham was left in an upper story, and saw, for the first time in his
life, that the water in the hand-basin had been converted into a cake of ice. It was the
winter season, and ice was everywhere abundant, so that he thought he might indulge
the fancy of seeing what would happen if he threw the ice-cake out of the window. He
flung it out. It broke, of course, into a thousand pieces. The little boy’s heart throbbed
with joy; but the joy was soon overclouded with the thought that mischief had been
done. The association between the ice and the hand-basin was so strong in his mind,
that he could not fancy himself blameless; and he was long tormented by the fear of
discovery and its consequences. Throughout life, the apprehension of blame was
strong in Bentham’s mind. An expression of displeasure from those with whom he
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associated would at any time have sorely distressed him. His dread of punishment was
extreme; and he was never visited by corporeal punishment from any hand
whatsoever. | remember once putting the question—“Were you ever chastised at
school?” and he answered with great earnestness—“Oh, never! never! never!—never
punished by master—never engaged in any the slightest skirmish with any boy,
except once, when at Westminster School. They surrounded a lad named William
Sewell and myself, and forced us upon a sort of hostile encounter. He was the son of
Sir Thomas Sewell, then or afterwards Master of the Rolls, and whom his father
appointed to one of the six clerkships in Chancery.”

This Sir Thomas Sewell had been, at one time, the intimate friend of Bentham’s
father; and of that intimacy old Bentham frequently boasted to his son. He had, for his
town residence, one of the tall houses in Lincoln’s Inn Square; and, for his country
abode, an estate he had purchased at Ottershaw, in Surrey. At Ottershaw, Bentham
once dined, being conducted thither, not by his father, but by Chamberlain Clark, and
introduced to Sir Thomas as “the son of his old friend.” This was the first time of his
seeing a gentleman of whom his father had been constantly speaking for fifteen or
sixteen years, as one with whom he was closely allied. They had, as he stated, marked
out their course together by mutual understanding, and for mutual help: Sewell to
become a barrister—Bentham (senior) to be an attorney. Sewell’s circumstances were
very narrow: he had about £70 a-year; and, when he entered into his chambers, they
were papered by the hands of the two young men in order to save expense. Sewell
was a scholar. He wrote an essay on speech and grammar. It had some merit, but not
of a transcendent character. It, however, served as an introduction to a gentleman,
whose daughter he afterwards married, and who brought him a fortune of £15,000. He
had previously reached some eminence in his profession. Among the presents he
received from the hands of his future bride, was a silver cork-screw, wholly
inefficient for its intended use, but which he constantly introduced for the sake of
telling his guests from whom he received it, its inaptitude for cork-drawing giving
him daily occasion to dilate upon it. He never visited Mr Bentham, senior, nor Mr
Bentham him; and the “tam prope, tam propinque” was a matter of great mystery and
embarrassment to Bentham, junior. It never entered his mind, he said, to think of
blaming his father. Such a thought he would have ignominiously expelled as a thought
of sin and guilt: but when turning over, in after life, his own prospects for futurity,
“the intimate friend of his father, the Master of the Rolls,” often occurred to him as
one from whom he might have looked for a helping hand.

Thomas Sewell, the son of Sir Thomas, married a lady of quality of the family of the
Earl of Louth, in Ireland. She had more rank than money, and her husband soon got
into the King’s Bench. A second son was a midshipman, who was none of the
brightest. When he was examined for his grade, he was asked what he could do in a
certain case of naval manceuvre? He was silent. The examiner then inquired—**“Would
you use a messenger?”’ (A messenger is a nautical term for some sort of rope.) “No!”
said he, “I would send my own servant.” One son (William) was alive in 1827, and
holding one of the Six Clerkships in the Court of Chancery, given to him by his
father. Sir Thomas, like most of the lawyers of his time, was a man of narrow mind,
and of rough, vaunting, and imperious manners. He took the occasion of Bentham’s
visit with Chamberlain Clarke, to give him a sort of rhetorical pedagogical lecture in
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the shape of instructions as to what he ought to read; which instructions were the
subject matter of many a subsequent joke between Clarke and his companion. “Read
Xenophon, the greatest general, the greatest philosopher, the greatest historian; read
such a one;” and then followed a pompous and inappropriate description of the author.
Some time after, Bentham met Sir Thomas at a Manor Court. He (Bentham) carried
with him a little volume of Epictetus, in the original tongue; and he produced it in Sir
Thomas’s presence, with the design of ingratiating himself with the great man, and of
showing that his suggestions, as to classical reading, had not been thrown away: but
the scheme failed—he took no notice—he gave Bentham no invitation.

“In Lincoln’s Inn Fields, stand, or stood, contiguous to one another, two houses with
balls on them. They were among the fruits of the genius of Taylor the architect,
(father of Michael Angelo Taylor,) who had, from these and other buildings, acquired
the sobriquet of Ball Taylor. One of these houses was built for Sir Thomas Sewell. It
either fell or was burned down, and was then rebuilt in its present form. Many were
the changes in the occupiers of these houses; and Mr Burton, an eminent solicitor,
succeeded Sir Thomas Sewell. Lord Kenyon followed Mr Burton. Abbott’s (Lord
Colchester’s) elder brother. when he bought his great office and married, occupied the
other, and died there in 1792. Lincoln’s Inn Fields was then the abode of high life.”

Bentham took no walk into the country as a boy, of which he did not retain a
recollection as a man. In reading to him some of the memoranda of his father’s diary,
he at once recalled the most minute circumstances. One day I remarked to him a
note—"“Went with Jerry to the Creek.” “Well,” said he “do | remember it. It was a
voyage par terre et par mer. | passed through great perils. It was a memorable day,
indeed, whose history I related to the boys at Westminster, when I got back. In
crossing the swamp of a meadow, we were attacked by a bull. We had incurred the
indignation of his bullship, and my father took me in his arms and threw me over a
gate. The bull vented his indignation against the gate; but it passed harmless by me.
Such was the land adventure; the water adventure was this:—Our boat passed under
the rope by which a vessel was moored, and I should have been thrown overboard and
drowned if I had not dipped my head. Two awful perils in one day.”

I do not deem it necessary to apologize for the insertion of many circumstances, in
themselves trivial, but which had their influence on the colour and character of
Bentham’s mind. It were well if anecdotes of childhood were more diligently
collected; and if the seemingly unimportant events of early life were more
thoughtfully watched and studied, both by parents and observers. And in the case of
Bentham, I scruple the less: as, on the one hand, the accuracy of his recollection was
wonderful; and, on the other, his sagacity enabled him to trace the influence of
passing, however remote, circumstances upon the whole fabric of his thoughts and
feelings. His humanity to animals was among his prominent virtues. Their
susceptibilities to pain and pleasure he studied, and made the constant subject of his
care. He knew very well that legislation could not put a stop to many of the sufferings
to which they are condemned: but he always insisted on the necessity of applying the
powers of legislation, as far as possible, to the diminution of the miseries of the brute
creation. One anecdote I will give in his own words:—
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“We had a servant, whose name was Martha: a woman of kindness and gentleness;
and the kindness of her temper ameliorated mine. One day, while I was a little boy, I
went into the kitchen. Some earwigs were running about. I laid hold of them, and put
them into the candle. Martha gave me a sharp rebuke, and asked me, how I should
like to be so used myself? The rebuke was not thrown away. About this time, a
neighbouring decayed gentleman, of the name of Vernon, came to pay a morning visit
to my grandmother. By way of recommending himself to my favour, he brought with
him, in his pocket, a toy of his own manufacture. It was a cage for the reception of
flies, formed by two horizontal slices of cork connected together by uprights
composed of pins. All but one were fixed—that one was moveable—and the
amusement consisted in catching the miserable animals and cramming them into the
cage, till it would hold no more. Sometimes they got in with all their limbs;
sometimes with one or all, or any number between one and all, torn off. When I had
amused myself with the instrument for some minutes, a train of reflection came across
me; the result was an abhorrence of the invention, coupled with a feeling not far short
of abhorrence for the inventor and donor.”

Bentham mentioned another circumstance, connected with his feelings towards
animals, in the following manner:—

“My uncle’s house, in Hampshire, was the scene of a very useful lesson. A personage,
of no small importance in the family, was a dog named Busy. He was a model of the
conjunction of fidelity and surliness. A very slight cause sufficed to elicit from him a
loud and long-continued growl. No beggar durst approach the house. I myself stood in
no inconsiderable awe of him. One day I thought to find amusement in fomenting a
quarrel between him and another dog. While I was thus employed up came my uncle,
and reprimanded me for my cruelty. I felt it bitterly; for it was the only token of
displeasure I ever experienced from him, from the day of my earliest recollection to
the day of his death, which took place in 1784. He was one of the gentlest of all
human beings, though a lawyer by profession.

“During my visits to Barking, I used to be my grandmother’s bedfellow. The dinner
hour being as early as two o’clock, she had a regular supper, which was served up in
her own sleeping room, and, immediately after finishing it, she went to bed. Of her
supper, I was not permitted to partake, nor was the privation a matter of much regret. I
had what I preferred—a portion of gooseberry pie; hers was a scrag of mutton, boiled
with parsley and butter. I do not remember any variety.

“My amusements consisted in building houses with old cards, and sometimes playing
at ‘Beat the knave out of doors,” with my grandmother. My time of going to bed was
perhaps an hour before hers: but, by way of preparation, I never failed to receive her
blessing. Previous to the ceremony, I underwent a catechetical course of examination,
of which one of the questions was—*‘Who were the children that were saved in the
fiery furnace?’—Answer—*Shadrach, Meshach, and Abednego;’ but as the
examination frequently got no farther, the word Abednego got associated in my mind
with very agreeable ideas, and it ran through my ears, like Shadrach, Meshach, and
To-bed-we-go, in a sort of pleasant confusion, which is not yet removed. As I grew in
years, I became a fit receptacle for some of my grandmother’s communications,
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among which the state of her family, and the days of her youth, were most prominent.
There hung on the wall, perpetually in view, a sampler, the produce of the industry
and ingenuity of her mother or her grandmother, of which the subject matter was the
most important of all theologico-human incidents, the fall of man in paradise. There
was Adam—there was Eve—and there was the serpent. In these there was much to
interest and amuse me. One thing alone puzzled me; it was the forbidden fruit. The
size was enormous. It was larger than that species of the genus Orangeum which goes
by the name of the forbidden fruit in some of our West India settlements. Its size was
not less than that of the outer shell of a cocoa nut. All the rest of the objects were, as
usual, in plano; this was in alto, indeed in altissimo relievo. What to make of it, at a
time when my mind was unable to distinguish fictions from realities, I knew not. The
recollection is strong in me of the mystery which it seemed to be. My grandmother
promised me the sampler after her death as a legacy; and the promise was no small
gratification: but the promise, with many other promises of jewels and gold coins, was
productive of nothing but disappointment. Her death took place when I was at Oxford.
My father went down; and, without consulting me, or giving the slightest intimation
of his intention, let the house, and sold to the tenant almost everything that was in it. It
was doing as he was wont to do, notwithstanding his undoubted affection for me. In
the same way, he sold the estate which he had given to me as a provision on the
occasion of his second marriage. In the mass went some music-books which I had
borrowed of Mrs Browne. Not long after, she desired them to be returned. I stood
before her like a defenceless culprit, conscious of my inability to make restitution;
and, at the same time, such was my state of mental weakness, that I knew not what to
say for apology or defence.

“My grandmother’s mother was a matron, I was told, of high respectability and
corresponding piety; well-informed and strong-minded. She was distinguished,
however; for, while other matrons of her age and quality had seen many a ghost, she
had seen but one. She was, in this particular, on a level with the learned lecturer,
afterwards judge, the commentator Blackstone. But she was heretical, and her belief
bordered on Unitarianism. And, by the way, this subject of ghosts has been among the
torments of my life. Even now, when sixty or seventy years have passed over my head
since my boyhood received the impression which my grandmother gave it, though my
judgment is wholly free, my imagination is not wholly so. My infirmity was not
unknown to the servants. It was a permanent source of amusement to ply me with
horrible phantoms in all imaginable shapes. Under the Pagan dispensation, every
object a man could set his eyes on had been the seat of some pleasant adventure. At
Barking, in the almost solitude of which so large a portion of my life was passed,
every spot that could be made by any means to answer the purpose was the abode of
some spectre or group of spectres. The establishment contained two houses of office:
one about ten yards from the kitchen, for the use of ‘the lower orders,” another at the
farther end of the little garden, for the use of ‘the higher,” who thus had three or four
times the space to travel, on these indispensable occasions, more than that which
sufficed for the servile grade: but these shrines of necessary pilgrimage were, by the
cruel genius of my tormentors, richly stocked with phantasms. One had for its
autocrat no less a personage than 7om Dark; the other was the dwelling-place of
Rawhead and Bloody Bones. | suffered dreadfully in consequence of my fears. I kept
away for weeks from the spots I have mentioned; and, when suffering was intolerable,
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I fled to the fields. So dexterous was the invention of those who worked upon my
apprehensions, that they managed to transform a real into a fictitious being. His name
was Palethorp; and Palethorp, in my vocabulary, was synonymous with hobgoblin.
The origin of these horrors was this;—My father’s house was a short half-mile distant
from the principal part of the town, from that part where was situated the mansion of
the lord of the manor, Sir Crisp Gascoigne. One morning, the coachman and the
footman took a conjunct walk to a public house kept by a man of the name
(Palethorp); they took me with them: it was before I was breeched. They called for a
pot of beer; took each of them a sip, and handed the pot to me. On their requisition, I
took another; and, when about to depart, the amount was called for. The two servants
paid their quota, and I was called on for mine. Nemo dat quod non habet—this
maxim, to my no small vexation, [ was compelled to exemplify. Mr Palethorp, the
landlord, had a visage harsh and ill-favoured, and he insisted on my discharging my
debt. At this very early age, without having put in for my share of the gifts of fortune,
I found myself in the state of an insolvent debtor. The demand harassed me so
mercilessly, that I could hold out no longer: the door being open, I took to my heels;
and, as the way was too plain to be missed, I ran home as fast as they could carry me.
The scene of the terrors of Mr Palethorp’s name and visitation, in pursuit of me, was
the country-house at Barking: but neither was the townhouse free from them; for, in
those terrors, the servants possessed an instrument by which it was in their power, at
any time, to get rid of my presence. Level with the kitchen—Ilevel with the landing-
place in which the staircase took its commencement—were the usual offices. When
my company became troublesome, a sure and continually repeated means of
exonerating themselves from it, was for the footman to repair to the adjoining
subterraneous apartments, invest his shoulders with some strange covering, and,
concealing his countenance, stalk in, with a hollow, menacing, and inarticular tone.
Lest that should not be sufficient, the servants had, stuck by the fireplace, the
portraiture of a hobgoblin, to which they had given the name of Palethorp. For some
years, [ was in the condition of poor Dr Priestley, on whose bodily frame another
name, too awful to be mentioned, used to produce a sensation more than mental.”

Shall I seek excuses for introducing these autobiographical sketches? I think not.
They are faithful as pictures; they are interesting as philosophical studies.

“Another instance of the influence of horror in me:—I recollect, when I was about
nine or ten years old, I went to see a puppet-show: there were Punch and Joan—the
devil, whom I had seen before; but I saw, for the first time, the devil’s imp. The devil
was black, as he should be; but the devil’s imp was white, and I was much more
alarmed at his presence than at that of his principal. I was haunted by him. I went to
bed; [ wanted to sleep. The devil appeared to me in a dream: the imp in his company.
I had—which is not uncommon in dreams, at least with me—a sort of consciousness
that it was a dream; with a hope that, with a little exertion, I might spring out of it: |
fancied that I did so. Imagine my horror, when I still perceived devil and imp standing
before me. It was out of the rain into the river. I made another desperate effort. I tried
to be doubly awake; I succeeded. I was in a transport of delight when the illusion
altogether vanished: but it was only a temporary relief; for the devil and the imp dwelt
in my waking thoughts for many a year afterwards. On the same occasion, | believe it
was, that I saw ‘Solomon in all his glory,” and the story of Esther: there was King
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Ahasuerus; there was Queen Esther; there was Mordecai the Jew; there was Haman
the courtier. One emphatic phrase from Ahasuerus to Esther, I well remember:—

“ *Ask what thou wilt, and I will give it thee.’

“The acting of the wooden tragedian amused me not a little. It dwelt long in my
memory; and on my return to school, I amused with it my bed and chamber fellows,
imitating the motions of the wooden imitators, whose arms and legs were moved by a
wire—thus:”

And most amusingly, even at the age of eighty, did Bentham represent the stiffness,
gravity, and dignity of the fantoccino of his boyhood.

“Bursts of laughter followed my exhibition; and my own low stature, something
midway between that of the wooden actors and my school-fellows, added to the
effect.

“I not unfrequently obtained the applause of my companions, by thus contributing to
their pleasures. One of my modes was to start up out of my bed at night, and to begin
ranting, in a sort of medium state between waking and dreaming. I heard it called
light-headedness. The first commencement of it may have been unbidden: but, finding
that it attracted attention and afforded amusement, art came and assisted nature. 1
recollect, on one occasion, | was over-powered with terror. I had been reading
‘Plutarch’s Lives,’ the old translation, ‘by diverse hands;” Dryden, I believe, among
the rest. To every life there was a cut. Sylla, after his abdication, was represented in
his civic costume, with a long flowing head of white hair. In several of the pictures
the unskilfulness of the artist had produced a ghastly effect; and, in the portait of Sylla
this was so much the case, that it wrought upon my morbidly susceptible frame. One
night I awoke in horror, with the image of Sylla before me: for many years thereafter
did that same image continue its visitations. That night I continued raving for a
considerable length of time. In other days, and in a similar state of things, the ravings
might have passed for inspiration; and I might have been a prophet, or something
more than a prophet—the founder of a new sect. When I was promoted to the
companionship of boys of a higher age, and about to leave the school for the
university, the enfantillage evaporated. I was tranquil and happy while in Mrs
Morell’s boarding-house; for I had a bedfellow, in whose presence, as was natural,
ghosts never ventured to make their appearance: but, during the holidays, when I was
removed to Barking, and after I had become too old to be my grandmother’s
bedfellow. I became sole occupant of a large unfurnished bedroom—a fit place for the
visitation of nocturnal visiters; and then and there it was that the devil and his imp
appeared to me.

“I was a favourite, a timid child, who gave offence to nobody; and one more dutiful
could not exist. Two or three instances of early aberrations I distinctly remember. One
of these was a subject of long-continuing affliction. On a dresser, not far from the
fireplace in the kitchen, was, as I mentioned, a portrait of Palethorp, sketched with a
fork on the wainscot, constantly before my eyes. I got chattering with the footman,
and, whether in play or in anger, I forget which, as I forget the immediate cause, |
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took up a pair of scissors which were within reach, and threw them at him. (At this
time I was not breeched.) I took aim but too well: they hit him in the eye. Whatever
was his pain of body, my pain of mind was greater. Sad was the disgrace into which I
found myself plunged. My father, though in all his life he never struck me, yet, being
fond of power, and of everything that could afford ground or pretence for the exercise
of it, exercised on me, on this occasion, this talent of his with little mercy. I was
sentenced to banishment. It happened to be migration time; my grandmother was gone
to Barking already. Instead of being conducted to my father and mother, at the time of
the usual weekly visit, [ was sent off, in the middle of the week, with all my infamy
on my head. I remembered this for many years after; and, as for any use that this
severity had on me, none can I find. The accident had not its origin in my ill temper;
and there was nothing from which the punishment would preserve me. The man was
under the care of a surgeon for days, if not weeks. He recovered; and his sight
continued uninjured: but in this, or other ways, my mind was seldom without
something gnawing upon it.”

Bentham’s father amassed a considerable fortune, principally by successful purchases
of lands and leases. His vanity was flattered by the distinctions which Bentham
obtained from his earliest years; and he fancied his son would become the stepping-
stone to his own elevation. But Bentham’s mind responded to no call of vulgar
ambition; and he had to bear perpetual reproaches for not stretching out his hand to
gather the fruits of worldly fame, which he was perpetually reminded had ripened for
his own fruition. But the enjoyments of Bentham were of a far different and a far
higher order; and, while his father sighed over his “bashful folly,” he was laying up
for himself the richest intellectual treasures.

The impression made on Bentham’s mind by the books he read in his childhood, was
lasting. With the most amusing naiveté he would recall, in old age, what he thought,
in his youth, of the books that were either placed in his hands, or which he was
enabled to reach, in spite of a theory, both of his father and mother, that books of
amusement were unfit for children.

“When I got hold of a novel, I identified myself with all the personages, and thought
more of their affairs than of any affairs of my own. I have wept for hours over
Richardson’s ‘Clarissa;’ in ‘Gil Blas,” when very young, I took an intense interest: I
was happy in the happiness, uneasy in the uneasiness of everybody in it. I admired
‘Gulliver’s Travels;’ I would have vouched them to be all true: no romance, no
rhodomontade, but everything painted exactly as it happened. The circumstance of his
being condemned to death for saving the capital, was excellent. I was very anxious in
his behalf, particularly when chained down by the pigmies. I was sad when I saw the
Laputans in such a condition; and I did not like to see my own species painted as
Yahoos. ‘Robinson Crusoe’ frightened me with the story of the Goat of the Cave; it
was a moot point with me whether it was a goat or the devil. I was indeed comforted
to find it was a goat. ‘The Pilgrim’s Progress’ frightened me still more; I could not
read it entirely through. At Westminster School, we used to go to a particular room to
wash our feet; there I first saw an imperfect copy of ‘The Pilgrim’s Progress’: the
devil was everywhere in it, and in me too. | always was afraid of the devil; I had seen
him sowing tares, in a picture at Boghurst: how should I know it was not a copy from
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the life? I had seen the devil too, in a puppet-show; I dreamt about him frequently: he
had pinched me several times, and waked me. I had frequent dreams of a desire to go
east; but I found interminable lugubrious buildings between me and the Strand, and
melancholy creatures walking about. How much less unhappy I should have been,
could I have acknowledged my superstitious fears! but I was so ashamed! Now that I
know the distinction between the imagination and the judgment, I can own how these
things plagued me, without any impeachment of my intellect.

“I read Timothy Peascod’s history; he was hanged, and I did not like this, because it
put an end to him; and I was not fond of hanging. Camden’s Britannia was a serious
book, so I was allowed to read it; besides, it was too big to be put away on the shelf,
and was therefore left about. My father used to talk about ‘Tristram Shandy,” and ‘the
black page in Tristram Shandy.’ I often took it up, but could not find the black page. It
seemed to me strange stuff; there was no coherence. I often saw the ladies giggling
over it. Once my father took it out of my hand. Moliere’s plays were among the books
at Barking. I did not like the allegorical parts or the ballets: they confused me; they
were insipid;—I wanted facts. ‘Theron and Aspasia’ pleased me; it was full of slang,
and slang was amusing. I read the ‘Paradise Lost,” and it frightened me. There was the
pandemonium with all its flames. The book looked like something between true and
false, and I did not know how much might be true. ‘Paradise Regained’ was very dull.
I read Johnson’s ‘Account of the Hermit in his Cell,” and it was a sad drawback on my
happiness. His mind was essentially ascetic, and he brought nothing new to me—no
facts, no chemistry, no electricity—all was gloomy and tasteless. ‘Thomson’s
Seasons’ I also read, with a sort of fancy that they might be very fine to some people,
though they brought no pleasure to me. ‘Gay’s Fables’ I also read; they did not
interest or instruct me. I knew that his stories of cocks and bulls were not true.”

Of his studies, Bentham, on another occasion, gave this account:—

“At Browning Hill, was the refuse of the stock of my great-uncle Woodward. There
was ‘Locke on the Understanding,” ‘Clarendon’s History of the Rebellion,” ‘Burnet’s
History of His Own Times,” all Richardson’s novels, ‘Mandeville’s Fable of the
Bees,” ‘Clarke on the Trimity,” ‘Tindall’s Christianity as old as the Creation,’
‘Atalantis,’ a collection of novels. There was ‘Kdmpfer’s History of Japan,” a very
curious book. The author was physician to a Dutch embassy, and went up to the
capital of that island. He was a good botanist, and an intelligent man. Taken
altogether, there was a pretty good supply for the three months of each year which I
was there. I used to climb a lofty elm, and read in its branches. I was the more fond of
this while the labourers were thrashing corn in the neighbourhood, as I was delighted
to be in society with which I was not compelled to mix. No situation brought with it
more felicity than to hide myself in the tree, and, having read for some time, to
descend to gather up wheat for the peasants to thrash, and then to mount again to my
leafy throne. In the summer-house, too, a few books were scattered. There were a few
numbers of the ‘Mercurius Rusticus,’ a periodical of 1660. There were the ‘Memoirs
of the Marquis de Langallerie,” a French adventurer; he entered into a treaty with the
Grand Seignior, who, at that time, used to be crowned with the sun and moon. There
were ‘Harris’ Voyages,” two volumes in folio. So that there was abundance of
occupation for me. ‘Pamela’ was written, a good part of it, in the summer-house at
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Browning Hill, so that the interest became extreme. ‘Clarissa’ kept me day after day
incessantly bathed in tears. Tindall’s book filled me with such astonishment that I
could not believe my eyes, and I went frequently to the originals, to verify his
quotations. I was puzzled by Locke’s fictitious entities—such as power. But I was
pleased with the advantage he had over Bishop Stillingfleet, a grandson of whom (a
proud, pompous fellow) was afterwards one of my companions at College. He had the
manners of a dogmatical parson, while yet an under-graduate. I do not know what
became of him. I had heard ‘Locke’s Essay’ spoken of in the highest terms; so I read
it as a duty. I read Clarendon with great interest, but could not understand the
difference between his narrations and Burnet’s, who was by far the honester man of
the two. He was short sentenced and clear; the other rolling and inflated. Burnet was
one of the best of bishops—a kind, straightforward man. Pepys speaks of the bribes
that Clarendon used to take.

“The parsonage-house of Boghurst was contiguous to the church. There was an
entrance from the church-yard to the garden, which, with the parsonage-house, was in
the occupancy of my cousin Mulford, son to my great-aunt; the minister of the parish
living elsewhere. My uncle Grove, a kind and good creature withal, was a man of
small mind; but nothing could be more devoid of amusement than his society was, to
an ardent, acutely sensitive, and inquisitive boy; so, on every possible occasion, |
broke away from Browning Hill, to quarter myself on my cousin Mulford, from
whom [ always experienced the kindest reception. His was a very whimsical
character. At an early age, between thirty-five and forty, he abandoned a prosperous
business to live a single life at the Browning Hill parsonage. His mind was full of
knicknackery and conceit; he was familiar with the practice of various handicraft arts:
he was a blacksmith, a whitesmith, turner, carpenter, and joiner; he did, in fact,
everything that could be done by hand; he was, at the same time, an amateur surgeon,
and practised gratuitously, to a considerable extent, for the benefit of his poor
neighbours. He had lived in a low and irregular way; was a sort of rake: but his rakery
had been considerably subdued by this his country retreat, where his attentions were
confined to one woman—a widow, or a widow bewitched, of a lieutenant in the navy.
Never shall I forget how I was appalled when a Quaker farmer, who was in company
with my uncle and cousin Mulford, jeered them, in my presence, on the irregularity of
their amours. No suspicion of such irregularity had ever before crossed my mind, and
a sad tribulation it must have been to their respective mothers. I remember a daughter
of my cousin’s calling on me, borne down by poverty and premature old age. My
cousin was a member of a perpetual drinking club, of which the rule was—that the
drinking-room should never for a moment, in the whole year, be empty, so that, by
resorting to it, society, such as it was, was always to be found. Drunkenness did not
necessarily form a part of the attributes of this club; for, during the sixty years and
more that I knew this cousin of mine, I never saw him intoxicated, nor did I ever hear
of his being so. His opinions were extraordinary: he had a notion that whatever was in
print was a lie. I asked him whether, if a fact had taken place, the putting it in print
would cause it not to have taken place?

“I remember once, in his wisdom, he quoted, as evidence of the disposition of the

Chinese to cheat, that a friend of his, in buying seeds in China, had got just such seeds
as he could have got in England; as if the Chinese were the better for his friend’s
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disappointment, or were bound to know what seeds grew here. He thought it a
marvellous fine thing to cheat, and I did not fail to observe that the man who had the
wit to cheat another, rose immediately in his opinion.

“When I was about twelve years old, he left the parsonage-house, to my great grief,
and took a small abode on the banks of the Thames. I could not divine his motive; for
the parsonage gave him all the enjoyments he desired: abundance of game, which he
shot without any qualification; he had an aviary stocked with partridges, which he
caught with his setting dogs. He was a man, though not of large stature, of remarkable
strength: but he once spontaneously told me he had been outmastered by the woman
with whom he lived. I suspect this connexion was the primary cause of his migrating
from the personage. My grandmother Grove sometimes visited the widow, and, on
one occasion, she took me with her; but told me, on the way, how very reluctant her
visits were to a person whose conduct, if closely inquired into, could not bear the test
of scrutiny. To me the visit was very charming. I was treated with rare sweetmeats,
and got possession of a delightful book, a novel in four volumes, called ‘The Invisible
Spy’—the heroine of which had, by the favour of an old magician or wonder-maker,
acquired the secret of making herself occasionally invisible. Mr Mulford was fond of
gardening; and in his library there was, in 3 vols. 8vo, one of the earliest editions of
‘Miller’s Gardeners’ Dictionary,” which I read over and over till I had got all the
names by heart. There was also a publication, entitled, ‘Pills to Purge Melancholy,” in
seven or eight volumes, with notes.* ‘Bulwer’s Artificial Changeling,” was a source
of great amusement to me, from the quaint titles of the chapters or sections; but my
cousin took the book out of my hands. There were also some medico-chirurgical
books, but not of the most modern or most improved choice. He shut up the books in
a cupboard. He used to leave the key in: but there was a particular art in managing the
lock, so that a stranger could not open it. I used to play with him at backgammon. His
mornings were spent in gathering mushrooms, or gathering nuts. He was a sprightly
man. He had a little smattering of Latin, and a little smattering of French, but was a
perfect roué.

“My righteous cousin—for such was the name he bore—had a crony of the name of
Mayo, a clerk in the bank. His form was globular.

“My cousin’s habits were frugal. He saw little company; and the pittance with which
he withdrew from business, had accumulated, when he died, to £20,000 or £30,000. I
imagined it was to be mine; and my disappointment was great at finding it disposed
of—much more properly—among a multitude of relations; none indeed so near as |
was, but, for the most part, poor; and elevated, by the dispersion of this property, into
a state of competence. My brother and I, however, were left by him about £3,000, and
a similar sum, the proceeds of an estate, which to my cousin’s mortification and
unassuageable wrath, was entailed, after his death, upon my uncle Grove, and from
him to me. My visits to my cousin were frequent, and generally of two or three weeks
at a time; and I became acquainted with such of his neighbours as he was on terms
with. Among these was a Quaker of the name of Harris, an extensive gentleman
farmer, inhabiting a nice house, who introduced me to his two sons and two
daughters. The eldest of his sons (John) married one of the many daughters of a Mr.
Plowden, a neighbouring country gentleman, descended from an ancient family,
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ranking in it the founder of All-Soul’s College, Oxford; to education in which, his
children were in consequence entitled. The great author of ‘The Commentaries’ was
also, I believe, one of his ancestors. He was the hero of a crim. con. case, which made
much noise at the time, where the seducer was a reverend divine of a noble family, the
rector of a neighbouring parish. I remember dining with the said divine on a Sunday,
after he had officiated; and his dress was a white coat, faced with black velvet; a
white waistcoat; and black velvet small clothes; and in his shoes stone buckles to
imitate diamonds.”

I have often heard Mr Bentham speak of the state of society at that period, and in that
district—the elopements of women—the irregularities of men—and the vicissitudes
which, in his experience, had followed the greater portion of the families with whom
he was acquainted in his boyhood, and whose adventures he had followed in after
years. Some of the details of penury are so distressing, some of the facts of profligacy
so disgusting, that I think it best to suppress them. Connexions, relatives, or
descendants of these families, no doubt, exist; and I should feel that [ was giving pain,
with no sufficient balance of good, were I to individualize those cases, which,
however they might illustrate the manners of the time, would shock the susceptibility
of some, and scandalize the feelings of others. Sure I am that, in the course of three-
quarters of a century, the morality of the country gentry and the more opulent race of
farmers and traders has undergone a most marked and obvious improvement; that
society would not, at the present time, tolerate habits and usages which were almost
universal seventy or eighty years ago; that temperance and chastity, veracity and good
faith, are much more rarely violated now than then: in a word, that the former times
“were not” “better” nor wiser, but, on the contrary, far less virtuous, and far less
instructed “than these.”

Of some of his early tastes Bentham, only a short time before he died, gave the
following description:—

“I was passionately fond of flowers, from my youth, and the passion has never left
me. My aunt Grove was fond of flowers, and had a few geraniums, which she called
gerrnums. 1 loved to gossip with a very fine old man, the gardener at Boghurst. He
had a strange style of conversation, and would often ask me, ‘What would the king
say to this?” And then I asked him, what, in his opinion, the king would say? I was at
that time reading ‘Rapin’s History of England,’ full of kings and queens, and it was
delightful to hear from him what he thought the king would say. It appeared to me
that the gardener treated the beautiful flowers very roughly. So long as I retained my
smell, a wall-flower was a memento of Barking, and brought youth to my mind; for
the wall-flowers covered the walls, with their roots between the bricks. It I were a
draughtsman I could give the site of every tree; and, without being a draughtsman, |
can describe every particular about the house. On the borders of the garden were
honey-suckles trained to standards, tulips in the beds: a noble pear-tree, which
covered the whole house; I can remember all. When I was at Oxford, I found there
was a botanical garden. A gardener was there, who was very civil to me. His name
was Foreman; and he was foreman of the garden, and had been so for fifty years. He
allowed me to take seeds. A little before then, I laughed at botany students. I
remember being much delighted at hearing there were Bee Orchises near Oxford, and
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more delighted still when I discovered one. When I read ‘Miller’s Dictionary,” and
learned that the Man Orchis was to be found near Reading, I started for the place, but
found not the flower. It is not much like a man after all. When I last went to Oxford,
and visited the physic-garden, I found it much degenerated. Many of the things I used
to see were gone. | loved botany for the sake of its beauties. Of a wilderness at Ford
Abbey—a perfect wilderness—I made a beautiful spot. I paid £400 to £500 a-year,
and was in treaty for having it for my life. I have been reading about a former
possessor of it—Prideaux, Attorney-general during the Civil Wars—an extortioner. In
the course of five years I was there, I did not lay out more than £100 on the house and
gardens, though I built walls, planted trees, repaired old walks, cut new ones; found a
desert, and left a flower-garden. The works I wrote at Ford Abbey were, ‘Not Paul,’
‘Papers on Logic,” and ‘Church of Englandism.” ”

Bentham frequently drew little sketches of the persons he recollected in his childhood.

“My great-aunt died at above the age of eighty. She dispossessed herself of the
greatest part of her property to give to her son, who behaved to her badly and
coarsely. Whenever | saw her, she gave me a guines, even after | grew to man’s
estate, and then apologised, and hoped I should not be offended, saying, ‘It is a habit,
you know.” She was, like all the females of my family, amiable, kind-hearted,
generous. Her time was passed in knitting stockings for the poor. She always wore the
same simple garb of gray stuff, perhaps with some small mixture of silk. When once I
asked her for a token of her remembrance, she knit me a pair of garters, so thick and
coarse that they swelled out my small-clothes most inconveniently. The death of my
mother almost broke her heart. Her son was an unbeliever; he knew not why. Then he
became a Methodist; and, last of all, a member of the New Jerusalem church, and with
about equal reason.

“There were my two uncles, the Rays; both of them persons; one of them learned, the
other unlearned; one never looked into a book, the other was fond of books, but less
so than of horses, (of which he kept many,) and of syllabubs, of which his wife was an
admirable creator. He trusted his horses to me, and I sometimes went on one of them
to visit an honest attorney, one Tom Martin, who was so fond of spending his money
on antiquities, that he was always pulling the devil by the tail. I was a welcome
visiter. He had, among other things, a book of songs, which had belonged to Mary
Queen of Scots. Finding him distressed for cash, I put him in the hands of another
honest Tom—Payne the bookseller—who was delighted to buy some of his literary
treasures.”

On the whole, Bentham’s boyhood was far from an unhappy one. His mind resisted
that bent which his father and his father’s family sought to give it. He had little relish
for those objects which were pointed out to him as specially deserving his care, and
met with no individual in early life whom he could at the same time love for generous
affections, and honour for mental superiority. Yet he gathered up many enjoyments
from the many sources of enjoyment which opened upon his susceptible mind; and, in
spite of every drawback, the tenor of his existence, from first to last, was in the broad
way of felicity. It was, however, principally in the latter portion of his life that his
felicity was almost untroubled. The many discomforts of the early half of his
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existence were often contrasted by him with the quiet and habitual pleasures of his
later years. Even after he had become known as an author, a sense of his own
insignificance pursued him. “I have done nothing,” he often said; “but I could do
something—I am of some value—there are materials in me, if anybody would but
find it out. As it is, [ am ashamed of an unrecognised existence. I feel like a cat or a
dog that is used to be beaten by everybody it meets.”

He was accustomed, from his earliest years, to be talked of and to as a prodigy; and if
this estimate of him had been wisely used to awaken his ambition, and excite his
powers, it might have produced no undesirable result on his timid and retiring spirit.
But he was taught scorn and contempt for other boys. He was perpetually placed in a
sort of estrangement, by hearing his companions treated as dunces; and thus his vanity
and pride received constant fuel.

Bentham had a strong affection for his mother: she died in 1759, and everything
exhibits her in the character of a kind and amiable woman. Bentham was used to say
that his family was distinguished by virtues on the female side. His father was
exceedingly attached to his wife, and was so affected by her death, that it seemed
likely to cause his own. I find the following entry in his memorandum book:—*“1759,
January 6.—This day died my most dearly beloved wife, and one of the best of
women, Alicia Bentham, with whom I had lived in a constant and uninterrupted state
of nuptial happiness thirteen years, three months, and three days, except the grief and
affliction which her last illness occasioned to me.” Bentham himself had a most
gloomy recollection of the event. His father them lived in a large and darksome house
in Crutched Friars; and its solitary and deserted look accorded with the impressions
left by his mother’s absence. He fancied his father would die too; but change of air,
and of scene, and the kindness of friends whom he went to visit in the country,
restored him to health.
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Bentham’s father had thoughts of entering him at Merchant Tailors’ School, and with
that view had taught him Lily’s Grammar. The manner in which he was to be
educated was frequently discussed, and his father often embarrassed him by attempts
to make an exhibition of the boy’s talents. On one occasion, when dining at Dr
Markham’s house, there was a conversation as to what “genius” meant. It was vague
enough, as such discussions generally are; but Bentham was called upon, by his father
and the rest of the company, to tell them Ais notions of genius. “A pretty question to
ask a poor, raw, timid boy!” said Bentham to me, when he told the story; “a boy who
knew no more about it than he knew of the inside of a man. I looked foolish and
humbled, and said nothing; but Dr Markham was a shallow fellow, and Mr Cox, who
was there, was a shallow fellow;—they were satisfied with Latin and Greek.” It was,
however, the intimacy existing between his father, Dr Markham, and Mr Cox, that
decided Bentham’s going to Westminster School in 1755. Mr Cox was father of the
Master in Chancery. He then lived in a large house in Chancery Lane, having an
entrance also from Southampton Buildings. There it was that Bentham’s first
conference with Dr Markham took place. “It was,” he said, “an awful meeting—with
three reverend doctors of divinity at once, in a large room, to whom a trembling lad
was introduced, who had been talked of as a prodigy.”*

The discussion about “genius” sadly puzzled Bentham. He was then between six and
seven years old. He heard his father give a definition of “genius,” after long fumbling
in his mind, and the definition left the subject darker than before. Bentham has more
than once told me, that on this, as on many other occasions, his father’s attempts to
show him off led to extreme embarrassment and inward distress. He had no fancy to
have his “uncommon promise” thus drawn upon; and felt, naturally enough, like a
scholar who, on some momentous occasion, when all eyes are fixed upon him, is
discovered not to have learned his lesson, and is, in consequence, delivered over to
disgrace. The question, “What is genius?”” haunted young Bentham for many years.
No distinct conception could be attached to it; but, at the age of twenty, Helvetius’
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book, De I’Esprit, having fallen into his hands, it occurred to him that Genius was a
noun-conjugate, derived from the verb gigno, of which the perfect tense was genui,
and the sense became sufficiently indicated. Horace’s line, “Scit genius, natale comes
qui temperat astrum,” did not bring any solution of the difficulty. But, to discover that
genius meant invention or production, was no small matter; and the discovery acted
powerfully on Bentham’s mind. “Have I a genius for anything? What can / produce?”
That was the first inquiry he made of himself. Then came another: “What of all
earthly pursuits is the most important?” Legislation, was the answer Helvetins gave.
“Have I a genius for legislation?” Again and again was the question put to himself. He
turned it over in his thoughts: he sought every symptom he could discover in his
natural disposition or acquired habits. “And have I indeed a genius for legislation? I
gave myself the answer, fearfully and tremblingly—Yes!”

I have noted this circumstance down almost in Bentham’s words, as illustrating the
fact, that the pursuits of a life may be influenced by a word dropped carelessly from
another person. Many, no doubt, there are who can trace, as [ am able to trace, to a
single phrase or suggestion, the shifting of the whole mental tendencies. A solitary
maxim has sometimes given a different colouring to a long train of thoughts, feelings,
and actions.

“A circumstance,” to use Bentham’s words, in 1827, “which had much to do with the
formation of my character was this. I had been a short time, being then about eight
years old, at Westminster School, boarding with Mrs Morell. The house contained
quite as many boarders as it could conveniently hold. It was a large rumbling edifice,
such as I have never seen elsewhere. There was a sort of irregular central spot, with
processes, in the anatomical sense, issuing from it in various directions. Some of the
rooms were occupied singly by boys belonging to aristocratical families; who, of
course, paid in proportion. One was the son of the then Duke of Portland, named
Edward, who occupied as many as two, if not three, rooms. In the room in which I
lodged there were three beds. One of these I shared with different bedfellows; who, in
the course of a dozen months, were changed perhaps half as many times. This bed
was on the one side of two windows, between which was stationed a bureau,
belonging to one of us; and on the other side of the farthest window was another bed,
occupied by two boys, who were from two to four years older than 1. One of them was
named Mitford, and may, for aught I know, be still living (1827.) Not long ago, I
remember meeting him in St James’ Park; I on foot, as usual; he on horseback. He
was the son of an opulent country gentleman; I believe of Suffolk: but having lived
rather too fast, both for pocket and constitution, he was glad to accept an office as one
of the four chief clerks of the Treasury; in which capacity I often saw him; and he was
of considerable use to me in my Panopticon discussions. His bedfellow was a boy of
the name of Cotton; one of the Cottons of Cheshire. Not many years since, I heard of
his being alive, in the character of a reverend divine, clothed in one of the rich
sinecures to which his lineage gave him so incontestable a title. I had not been long at
school, stationed in that same chamber, when, having stood out for the foundation,
and obtained admission to it, he became an occasional visiter, sometimes for days
together, at the boarding-house, where he had formerly lived, and resumed his former
situation of bedfellow to Mitford. While I was lying in bed, I heard from his mouth,
stories which excited the liveliest interest in my mind; stories of his own invention;
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but in which the heroes and heroines were models of kindness and beneficence. They
exhibited the quality to which I afterwards gave the name of effective benevolence;
and I became enamoured of that virtue. I remember forming solemn resolutions, that
if ever I possessed the means, I would be an example of that excellence, which
appeared so attractive to me. I lost sight of my unconscious instructor in after life: but
in my controversies with government on the Panopticon project, I was thrown into
contact with a brother of that Cotton; and Mitford was stationed in the very next seat
to him. Thus I found two very important and influential friends; to whom afterwards
was added a third, Mr Ramus, whose father had occupied some office about the king’s
person—the Billy Ramus, I believe, of ‘Peter Pindar’—he himself one of the heroes
of the autobiography of Mrs Baddeley. When I was doomed to continual solicitations
at the foot of Mr Long, then Master of the Ceremonies at the Treasury Chambers, |
bethought myself one day of drawing up, as a last expedient, a letter on the subject of
my petition. I showed it to Mr Ramus, asking him to advise whether I might venture
to present such an instrument, and whether the letter I had written would answer the
purpose. It was not twenty lines, and the request was simple enough: but I used in the
letter a phrase I had met with, ‘for the information of their Lordships.” He expressed
himself ‘enraptured’ with the formula. He mentioned it to other parties at the
Treasury, as evidence of transcendent talent and aptitude for business. I never have
been so lauded for great things as for this very little thing; and, in truth, it has often
been my lot, when my mind has been stretched to accomplish the most important
objects on the most important occasions, to have had less encouragement and praise
than for some trifling or almost useless performance. I recollect once, when a question
was referred to me, which found me in a state of the most alarming ignorance, I
contrived, by a mixture of industry and good fortune, to obtain the reputation of
extraordinary learning and knowledge: but a great reputation may be reared on a very
narrow foundation.”

I give, in Bentham’s words, some more of his Westminster School
reminiscences:— ‘The Mr Cox who has been mentioned, was deemed a sort of a wit.
Dr Markham was preceptor to the king; became Bishop of Chester; and afterwards
Archbishop of York. He was concerned with Cox, and with a man of the name of
Salter, a master of the Charter-house, in the erection of the square in Dean’s Yard,
which was intended for the parents of those children who wished to send their sons to
Westminster School. But they found no tenants, except one woman, who was an aunt
of Gibbon the historian. There was considerable opposition to the building of this
square, especially on the part of Prebendary Wilson, who was a sort of popular
preacher. He took to ‘Wilkes and Liberty,” and delivered anti-loyal sermons. My
father was a member of the Antiquarian Society; and I, for a pun, was accustomed to
call Mr Wilson the Anti-squarian. The anti-squarians were right—the scheme failed;
and, when half-a-dozen houses were built, no new funds were forthcoming, and the
houses were either pulled down or were left to decay. The consequence was, that most
of the loss fell upon Cox, who himself lived in considerable state. Somehow or other,
he was in debt to my father, and my father pressed hard upon him, and he complained
of my father’s harshness; a harshness caused perhaps by his not receiving the money
on application. But my father would say to me that Cox was a generous man, and that
it was strange he did not make the accustomed present when he was selected as
godfather to my brother Sam. Alas! I was perhaps the cause of my father’s severity;
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an innocent embezzlement of mine might have given occasion to it. [ was probably
the source of much suffering to this poor Cox; and very, very wretched was I from the
thought. If I was involuntarily the instrument of pain to him, how much of anxiety and
distress did he unintentionally inflict upon me! It lasted for years; and the memory of
it, with all its circumstances, is still vivid in my mind. It was in the year 1757, when |
had been about a year and a half at Westminster School, that the circumstance
happened. It was at my brother’s baptism; and Mr Cox dined with my father. I was
standing on the other side of the staircase, when he put a piece of paper into my hand
with five guineas in it, saying—*‘Give this to your mother; she will know what to do
with it.” At Westminster School, I had often heard of the money possessed and spent
by the boys. Such money was called ‘a tip;” and many a tip had they, but never a tip
had I. My father had once given me 4s. 6d., of which I had spent a shilling, and
another boy extorted the rest from me. It came to my father’s knowledge. ‘It was no
use,” said he, coldly, ‘to give me money.” He might have safely given me a weekly
allowance. I was made very uncomfortable, and thought the five guineas were a ‘tip’
for me. I put them into my pocket, and went on spending them, still frightened at what
I was doing. I thought there would never be an end of my five guineas; so, as [ was
fond of chocolate, I ordered a large mess of it; and, having no room to myself, sought
a retired place to enjoy it; and the place I fixed on was a staircase leading to a solitary
apartment. [ was dreadfully afraid inquiries would be made about my chocolate. I was
seen by a head boy, a sort of patron of mine, who asked me ‘if I had got a tip?’ [ was
exceedingly anxious not to utter a falsehood, and I said, ‘five—five.” He thought it
was five shillings; and I had a momentary satisfaction in having avoided splitting
upon that rock. I gave some money to a servant. How was | haunted with the dread of
being discovered; for, had my father found me out, I should have died with shame and
vexation; it being like the sword of Damocles over me, in the shape of terror and
remorse. My mind was full of thoughtful struggles, partly with a sense of guilt, partly
a conviction of innocence. The money was clearly meant for me; and what did I see in
the school? The utmost prosperity on the part of the boys; the utmost destitution on
mine. Then came the dread and distress at being the cause of my father’s resentment
towards one who had been so generous to me. Time did not remove the pain; I could
not, even after I grew up to manhood, have confessed it to my father, so fond was he
of invective; and very long did my disquiet remain unsubdued.”

This incident is a striking illustration of the almost morbid sensibility of Bentham’s
temperament. Often have I heard him speak of this event. It was a case in which he
could not obtain the acquittal of his conscience; and once he said to me—*“The
recollection of that money was like ‘the worm that never dieth,” within me.”

Bentham remembered, with extraordinary accuracy, almost every boy and every event
connected with Westminster School. It would be too much to give all the details
which I have heard from his lips, but I will give an example or two.

“Westminister School was a wretched place for instruction. I remember a boy of the
name of Moysey; he was a great scholar, and famous in the school; every eye was
turned upon him; yet he turned out good for nothing. A great reputation at
Westminster was quite compatible with worthlessness. There was one dull boy,
Hammond, who became a member of the College of Cursitors. There was a son of the
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Stevens who wrote about Shakespeare; and one Selby, a marvellously stupid chap,
who talked of nothing but hounds and horses; he was very like one of the devils
calling out for water, in a picture of the Last Judgment. All his conversation was to
utter yoix, yoix. I was the least boy in the school but one, who was, I believe, a
descendant of the Dearings, of the Civil Wars; and the bigger lads took a pleasure in
pitting us one against another.

“There was one boy (Hindman) remarkable for strength: he could hold a heavy
kitchen poker at arm’s length for half an hour; he became afterwards a tenant at
Browning Hill, but was so thoughtless and extravagant, that he could not pay his rent.
He left the farm, and returned to it once as a beggar.

“Our great glory was Dr Markham; he was a tall, portly man, and ‘high he held his
head.” He married a Dutch woman, who brought him a considerable fortune. He had a
large quantity of classical knowledge. His business was rather in courting the great
than in attending to the school. Any excuse served his purpose for deserting his post.
He had a great deal of pomp, especially when he lifted his hand, waved it, and
repeated Latin verses. If the boys performed their tasks well, it was well; if ill, it was
not the less well. We stood prodigiously in awe of him; indeed, he was an object of
adoration. He published a flaming Tory sermon, which was much animadverted on in
its day. Though Dr Markham never took cognizance of the lower school, yet my
father was in the habit of settling the accounts with him, for the purpose of obtaining
what he called his ‘auspices.’*

“The higher school was divided from the lower by a bar, and it was one of our
pastimes to get the cook to throw a pancake over it.”

Bentham was entered in the upper second form; beneath him were the under first, the
upper first, and the petty. It was then the rule to place the newcomer under another
boy, to whose fortunes he was attached; and they were called substance and shadow.
Bentham’s substance was a lad of the name of Fakenham, of the family of the
Longfords, in Ireland. When he left, Bentham became substance, and had for his
shadow, Shipley, who afterwards took orders, and became Dean and Bishop of St
Asaph’s.

“Two sons of the Duke of Leeds—namely, the Marquis of Carmarthen, and Lord
Francis Osborn, were among the Westminster scholars. The duke came once or twice
to see them: the duchess came more frequently. She was the sister of the Duchess of
Newecastle, whose husband was that foolish and ignorant duke who was the Minister,
and who spent a large fortune in gross eating and drinking, and said he did so for the
good of his country, and in the service of his majesty. One day, as the Duchess of
Leeds was traversing the play-ground where I was amusing myself with other
boys—one little boy amongst many great ones—the duchess called me to her, and
said—"Little Bentham! you know who I am.” I had no notion she was a great lady,
and answered—*“No, madam, no! I have not that honour.” I found that some strange
tale had been told of my precocity, and my answer was thought very felicitous; and,
not long afterwards, I was invited to go home with her sons to the duke’s. [ was full of
ambition; accustomed to hear myself puffed and praised; and my father was always
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dinning into my ears the necessity of pushing myself forward—so he hailed this visit
as the making of my fortune. A short time before dinner, [ was summoned up stairs to
the duke’s apartment, where was a physician, to whom he said:—

“ ‘This is Bentham—a little philosopher.’

“ ‘A philosopher!” said the doctor; ‘Can you screw your head off and on?’
“ “No, sir!’ said 1.

“ ‘Oh, then, you are no philosopher.’

“Earl Godolphin, I remember, came in. I believe he had been in office in Queen
Anne’s time. He was a thin, spindle-shanked man; very old. At dinner, my attention
was excited by a Mr Trimmer, an humble dependant of the family, who sat at the
bottom of the table, and wore gold lace like the rest; for everybody wore gold lace
then: but narrow was the gold lace worn by Mr Trimmer. At parting, he put a guinea
into my hand. I was to tell the story when I went home. I told the story of the guinea;
and the guinea was taken from me for my pains. Many times I dined there afterwards,
and always got my guinea; and always told the story; and always lost my guinea on
getting home. I was not indulged with the spending of any of my guineas, though I
was indulged with a sight of them, and with being allowed to count them, which my
father thought was a better thing; but / thought that what was mine was mine; and
once I stole a guinea. They counted those that were left; the theft was discovered; I
was in prodigious disgrace and ready to sink into the earth. My cousin Mulford
interceded for me; and, in process of time, my iniquity was forgotten.”

Bentham’s father had a great desire that his son should excel in accomplishments. At
seven years old, he was taught to dance, which was a serious punishment to him; for
he was so weak that he could not support himself on tiptoes. Attempt upon attempt
was made by his father to force the feeble boy to go through the dancing exercise; but
the ligaments which join the patella were so weak, that they could scarcely sustain the
body. In later years, the ossification of age overgrew the infirmity. I have often heard
Bentham say he was the feeblest of feeble boys; but, sensible of his defects, he
supplied them by thought and care, and no one was more alert or active than he. His
adroitness served for strength: and physical infirmity was counteracted by intellectual
activity. He played at marbles with his thumbnail instead of his knuckle; and was a
very tolerable fiddler, by the dexterity of his arm, though he wielded the bow with
difficulty. It was yet more difficult for him to manage a small gun, with which he was
supplied by his father, in order to learn the military exercise. The gun was called little
and light; but Bentham found it large and heavy. There was a corporal in the Guards,
whose name was Maclean, and who was Bentham’s preceptor.

Bentham’s father found him one day ornamenting capital letters; so he insisted he
should learn drawing. He had no taste for it; and his father provided him with a most
incompetent master, who knew nothing of the rationale of the art. Practice had
enabled him to make tolerable trees; but Bentham found his master’s trees
intolerable—mnot like trees at all; and his master could find no words to explain the
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laws of perspective, or the powers of light and shade. Bentham told his father that he
should not break the commandment, which prohibited the making “the likeness of
anything in the heavens above or the earth beneath.” When he sought to learn the laws
of optics, his master was wholly unable to explain them. He was a boy inquiring into
the reason of everything; and his master could give him no reasons at all. He wrote
remarkably well, and was accustomed to hear himself quoted as a specimen of what a
boy might do, in “running hand,” “text,” “round text,” and so forth; but his merits in
this particular were, he thought, considerably embellished.

Of music he was always fond. It was associated with his early recollections and
enjoyments. He played Corelli’s sonatas when he was very young; and, to the end of
his days, the music of Handel was delightful to him. Indeed, of harmony he had an
exquisite sense. “I hate the coarse unfeeling style of music. In playing I was afraid of
a keyed instrument: If I touched a false note by accident, I was forced to play the true
one. I composed a solo for the fiddle. I never had patience to study thorough base—its
technicalities are so repulsive, like the a’s and y’s in algebra.”

At Westminster School Bentham obtained considerable reputation for Latin and
Greek verses. He often prepared them for his aristocratic companions.* But he was
much oppressed by the other boys. There was, however, one boy at Westminister,
who played the part of protector to Bentham, and of whom Bentham always spoke
with much affection. He was of a high family, and talked to Bentham of his descent.
Bentham and he had conceived a sort of aversion to each other, which lasted for some
time; one day, they mutually confessed their dislike, and each finding the other
blameless, they became intimate, and wondered at their former alienation. They used
to play at battledore together, and Bentham told me they had once kept up the
shuttlecock 2730 times. So accurate was his memory of the most trifling occurrences
of his boyhood.

“I recollect the very spot now,” he said to me, not long before he died. “I was then in
my dwarfish state; but most of the scenes of my joys and sorrows have been swept
away.”

Of other early amusements he thus spoke—

“Fishing is an abominable sport: waste of time associated with cruelty. Yet I fished; I
wanted new ideas, and new associations and excitements.

“I was member of a cricket club, of which Historian Mitford was the hero. I was a
dwarf, and too weak to enjoy it. When sixteen, I grew a head.”

In youth, Bentham accustomed himself to write in French, and he wrote with greater
facility than in English. He was not embarrassed by the choice of words. His want of a
thorough acquaintance with the language he felt to be an advantage, as no difficulties
presented themselves in the phraseology. He wrote boldly on; while in English, he
was stopping to weigh the value of words, and thus soon got embarrassed. The
scrupulousness of his phraseology will in future times be one of the great
recommendations of his style.
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The fagging system was in full operation when Bentham was at Westminster School.
He often spoke of its tyranny and cruelty, of its caprices and its injustice, with
strongly excited feelings. “It was,” he said, “a horrid despotism.” The little boys of the
schools were subjected to all sorts of intolerant treatment; they were sent to great
distances whether with messages or not. In different departments of the school, the
fagging system was different; in some it was more, in some it was less, oppressive;
but oppression was everywhere.

Of the instruction, discipline, and usages of Westminster School, Bentham always
spoke with reprobation. They were taught few useful and many useless things. The
teachers were distinguished by their aptitude for some one or other trifle which was
valueless. One man, the son of a tapster, and thence called Tappy Lloyd, was wholly
occupied in teaching prosody; “a miserable invention,” said Bentham, “for consuming
time.” Then Archbishop Williams” Comments on the Catechism was another school-
book which they were called on to study, and learn by heart. When there was a jingle
of verses, Bentham got on very well, but he dreaded the sight and abhorred the labour
of committing to memory what he thought was dull and stupid prose; but he learned it
to avoid shame or punishment. “I never,” he one day repeated to me, “felt the touch of
the rod at school—never—never. What the pain of being punished was, I never knew.
My brothers and sisters were sometimes chastised by my grandmother; but I had no
such experience.”

There were, in Westminster School, masters who were perfect sinecurists. They were
paid fees for doing nothing; and Bentham’s impression generally was, that the higher
their rank, the less their efficiency. Bentham’s father sometimes rewarded his
attention to his studies by escorting him to the inns and coffee-houses which he was in
the habit of visiting. Many such little episodes in Bentham’s history he was fond of
narrating; as, for example:—

“When I was at Westminster, my father took me with him to the Rainbow Coffee-
house. There it was that the quality of the Scriveners’ Company mustered. The place
was kept by one Jerry Hargreaves, and many were the jokes about him and the other
Jerrys. In one corner of the coffee-room sat a Mr Wilcock, a prodigious favourite of
mine, for he used to sing, to my ecstatic delight, ‘Four and Twenty Fiddlers all in a
Row.’” He was a shrewd Scotsman withal, and in the Court of Assistants of the
Scriveners’ Company. He never failed to be present at all feasts and festivals, and
especially at the dinner of the 29th July, to which I was sometimes invited. There |
saw my father work the miracle of whisking away three bottles of indifferent and
watery port, and replacing them by costly hock, which he did not allow to circulate
beyond the three persons who, with himself, sat at the end of the table. I heard the
fifth man grumble; but the aristocracy cared not for his grumbling. It was one of my
father’s master-strokes of generalship. Under the plea of catering for the many at the
great dinner, the privileged few, among whom my father was, always managed to get
for themselves an initiatory—a little dinner; and the Scriveners’ Company paid for
both. I remember when they got to turtle dinners; and the next step was to send home
turtle to their wives.”
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One of the visits which his father and he paid to White Conduit House in 1758,
Bentham thus described:—*“It was a delightful visit. There was a circular part, with
little boxes around it, where we used to drink tea, eat hot rolls, and sometimes went so
far as to order a syllabub fresh from the cow. In those times there was an organ: but
the unpaid put down the organ and suppressed the music. There was also a large tea-
room, somewhat on the Panopticon plan. This was an eye-sore to the unpaid, and they
shut it up. It became afterwards a Methodist meeting-house, and scenes of mourning
and terror superseded the scenes of merriment and comfort.”

In 1758, Bentham had made such progress in Greek and Latin, that he was able to
write a letter in both languages to Dr Bentham, the Subdean of Christ Church; and 1
find the following inscription, copied in his father’s handwriting, which probably
accompanied a copy of Bossuet’s “Oraisons Funebres.”

Aoyol emTapeot

JEREMIZ BENTHAM

Optima Spei Puero decenni

Ob eximios ingenij et industrie fructus

In certamine literario Westmonaster

Cal. Maij 1758 exhibitos

EDV. BENTHAM

Zdis X% Oxon. Sub Dec.

Munusculum hoc

L. M. D.

Bentham preferred Greek to Latin; as the Greek expletives always came to his aid
when he was writing verses. In attempting English verse, he said he could only find

two expletives to help him out of any metrical scrape, and they were O! and Sir!

To a circumstance occurring at this period, I find the following reference among
Bentham’s papers:—

“Chance threw into my hand, in the year of our Lord 1759, a precious autobiography.
Author, in form Paul Whitehead, poet-laureate of that day—in substance and name
the then celebrated courtezan, Teresa Constantia Philips. It was dated—one of the
several editions—From the hermitage in which I have been so long hidden.

“Strong as was the first draught, which I had taken from the sweet fountain of

Telemachus, still stronger was the second: taken as it was from the fountain, such as it
was, which I found playing from the pen of my fair predecessor. In her sad history,
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for a sad one it was, a period of gallantry was closed by marriage. The husband—a
Dutch merchant, Muilman by name—was beset by meddling relations and friends.
Broken were the barriers of his conscience. This was before the Marriage Act.
Suborned by his learned assistants, a hireling swore to a prior marriage.

“Dingdong went the tocain of the law. Tossed from pillar to post was the fair
penitent—from Courts Temporal to Courts Spiritual, by Blackstone called Courts
Christian: and be it as it may with Christianity in its original form, in this griping, in
this screwing, in this eviscerating form—that Christianity (as the saying is) is part
and parcel of the law of the land is but too true. Lengthy of course was the vibration.
Particulars of it are not remembered: nor matters it that they should be. What is
remembered is—that while reading and musing, the Deemon of Chicane appeared to
me in all his hideousness. What followed? I abjured his empire. I vowed war against
him. My vow has been accomplished. With what effect will be acknowledged when I
am no more. Gratitude to him who deserved well of mankind is never wanting, when
to profit by the fruits of it is impossible.”

Some months before Bentham was entered as a student at Oxford, his father took him
there to witness Lord Westmoreland’s installation. I have heard him say that his
respect for a place was measured by its distance from London, so that the proposal to
visit Oxford was a most welcome one. They had for a companion a clergyman, whose
father had a post in the king’s kitchen; and he supplied them with royal gingerbread
for the journey, a viaticum which the young traveller then tasted for the first time. Dr
Herbert Mayo had recommended that Bentham should be sent to St John’s, as being
celebrated for logic; but some other influence decided for Queen’s.

On the 27th June, 1760, Bentham’s father set out with his son to settle him in Oxford;
and this is the entry in his Diary:—*“June 27-28. Aujourd’hui a midi, set out with my
friend, Mr William Brown, and my son Jeremy, from London for Oxford. Lay at
Orkney’s Arms, by Maidenhead bridge. Got to Oxford at dinner, apres midi. Entered
my son a commoner at Queen’s College; and he subscribed the statutes of the
University in the apartment of Dr Browne, the Provost of Queen’s, he being the
present vice-chancellor;* and, by his recommendation, I placed my son under the care
of Mr Jacob Jefferson, as his tutor—paying Mr Jefferson for caution-money, £8;
entrance to Butler, &c. 10s.; matriculation, 17s. 6d.; table fees, 10s. The age of my
dear son, upon his being admitted of the University this day, is twelve years, three
months, and thirteen days. On the 29th, matin a [’eglise of St Mary; apres midi dined
with the vice-chancellor at his own apartments at Queen’s. 30th, Dined in commons at
Queen’s College with Mr Jefferson and the rest of the fellows and gownsmen of the
house. Paid for a commoner’s gown for my son, £1:12:6. Paid for a cap and tassel, 7s.
Expenses of journey to Oxford, £7:5:3.”

Thus Bentham was a collegian at Oxford when only twelve years and a quarter
old—an extraordinary age, or youth rather, for University education; but the precocity
of Bentham’s talents was the cause. He was not only very young, but very
short—quite a dwarf—so that he was stared at in the streets wherever he went. 1
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Bentham, on account of his tenderage, was not required to take the oaths; and it
relieved his mind from a state of very painful doubt. Even then, the objections he felt
against needless swearing were strong; and the germs of his future writings on the
subject of useless oaths were present to his thoughts. His scruples of conscience were
not always understood by those to whom he confessed them. Once his father led him
to a place, such as he had been unused to, where he heard a person preach in an
unwonted style:—

“What place is this?” inquired he.

“It 1s a Dissenting meeting-house,” answered his father.
“What! may we go there?” was the boy’s query.

“We may just put our heads in,” replied his father.

But the answer shocked Bentham. If it was right just to put in the head, it was right,
he thought, to put in the whole body; and, if not right to put in the whole body, it was
not right just to put in the head. Bentham could not understand such inconsistency,
such indifferent logic. In the latest years of his life he once said to me:—

“I never told a lie. I never, in my remembrance, did what I knew to be a dishonest
thing.”

The distress of mind which he experienced, when called on to subscribe to the Thirty-
nine Articles of the Church of England, he thus forcibly describes:

“Understanding that of such a signature the effect and sole object was the declaring,
after reflection, with solemnity and upon record, that the propositions therein
contained were, in my opinion, every one of them true; what seemed to me a matter of
duty was, to examine them in that view, in order to see whether that were really the
case. The examination was unfortunate. In some of them no meaning at all could I
find; in others no meaning but one which, in my eyes, was but too plainly
irreconcileable either to reason or to scripture. Communicating my distress to some of
my fellow-collegiates, I found them sharers in it. Upon inquiry it was found, that
among the fellows of the college there was one, to whose office it belonged, among
other things, to remove all such scruples. We repaired to him with fear and trembling.
His answer was cold; and the substance of it was—that it was not for uninformed
youths, such as we, to presume to set up our private judgments against a public one,
formed by some of the holiest as well as best and wisest men that ever lived. . . . . I
signed: but by the view I found myself forced to take of the whole business, such an
impression was made, as will never depart from me but with life.”

Jacob Jefferson, who was appointed to be Bentham’s tutor, was a morose and gloomy
personage, sour and repulsive—a sort of Protestant monk. His only anxiety about his
pupil was, to prevent his having any amusement. A very harmless battledore and
shuttlecock, were one of the enjoyments of Bentham; but Jefferson made it a point to
interrupt him, not for the purpose of calling him away to his studies, but solely to stop
any pleasurable excitement. He forced him to read “Tully’s Orations,” all of which he
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knew by heart; or the Greek Testament, which he had mastered years before; so that
the tasks were alike an annoyance and humiliation. Jefferson felt pleasure in
mortifying others; and Bentham thought that his time was wasted without instruction.
Jefferson gave or professed to give, what he called lectures on geography. This was
one of his lectures—“Where is Constantinople?”” and then he touched the part of the
map, where Constantinople is, with a wand. Queen’s College had, at this time,
considerable reputation for its logic; and Bentham owned that Jefferson gave him, out
of Sanderson’s Logic, some materials for correct reasoning. The English logic taught
was Watts’, which Bentham always called “Old woman’s logic.” But his tutor took no
trouble to ascertain what his pupils knew or knew not. He cared not whether they
advanced or retrograded. The philosophy they learned was from Rowning; and they
were amused by such paradoxes as that “water is as solid as a diamond.” Bentham
took to the study of mathematics of his own accord, and without the assistance or
even the knowledge of his tutor, who was always more ready to reprove than to
encourage. He graduated his animadversions thus:—*“Fie for shame!” that was for the
slightest misdemeanour: then followed—*Fie, fie for shame!” and then, for some
higher offence—*Fie, fie, fie for shame!” increasing in solemnity of utterance. The
tutor had a morose and melancholy look—very unlike another instructor of
Bentham’s, Dr Fothergill, who had a jolly rubicund complexion, though a very
bashful man. Fothergill’s conversation was pithless and insipid. In his old age he took
to himself a wife; and it was the general wonderment that he had found courage to ask
anybody to marry him. As Jefferson took pupils for six guineas, and his rival, Dr
Fothergill, required eight, the cheaper was selected by Bentham’s father. It mattered
little—the difference was only between Bavius and Mavius. The professors generally
spent all their mornings in useless routine, and all their evenings in playing cards.

Having been introduced at Oxford, Bentham returned to Westminster school—but
went finally to Oxford, as already mentioned, the following October.

The narrow allowance which Bentham got from his father, did not enable him to live
without incurring debt at Oxford; and miserable he was when obliged to confess the
fact to his father. Dr Bentham, who was the Regius Professor of Divinity, and Canon
of Christ Church, was the channel through whom the communication was made; and a
remittance of ten pounds was sent to relieve the student from his embarrassments.
Bentham had been a candidate at Westminster School for one of the nine vacancies to
the University presentation; and Dr Bentham was one of the reverend examiners.
Bentham stood out the last, and the least of the boys, and succeeded in obtaining the
right of admission to King’s College; but he was dwarfish, and so weak, that ill-usage
was apprehended; and he did not go after all. The successful candidates were clad in a
solemn suit of black, and looked like old men. Bentham’s appearance was most
singular, and attracted great attention. He was only between nine and ten years old; as
diminutive in figure as precocious in intellect; and wearing short breeches, skirted
coat, and the rest of the costume of mature age. The procession passed before the
dignitaries, who were seated in the hall of the school, with great formality. Among
them was Dr Burton, the Jaccus Etonensis, who was supposed to be an admirable
Latin scholar, and whose reputation for ancient learning made him an object of special
awe. He was scarcely less distinguished as a bon vivant, and for a habit of mixing
quidlibet cum quolibet on the same plate. Bentham’s father applied to Dr Bentham for
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a studentship; but got for an answer that his patronage was engaged. Afterwards, he
spontaneously offered one to Bentham; who was so humbled by neglect and
annoyance, and so desponding, that, after consulting his morose tutor, Mr Jefferson,
he declined the favour which the Doctor proffered.*

A memorandum of his father, at about this period is curious:—*“August 18,
1760.—Paid given son Jerry more than received back from him of the guinea I gave
him to play a pool at quadrille.”

“Oh, I remember this”—on my calling the memorandum to Bentham’s
attention—“This was at some aristocrat’s house. I never got any money but to play at
cards; and only when I won money was I allowed to keep it; so that a passion for play
was likely to be excited in me. But I was cured at Oxford, where they always forced
me to pay when I lost; but I never could get the money when I won: so I gave up the
habit.”

Among the persons to whom Bentham was introduced at Oxford, was Oldfield
Bowles, a gentleman commoner of Queen’s College; a proud man, who received
Bentham somewhat disdainfully. He was the patron of a place where the Hell-Fire
Club was held; a club somewhat characteristic of the then state of Oxford. It was a
club of Unbelievers, Atheists, and Deists, who professed that, as they had a
knowledge of their future destiny, it became them to prepare for it; and they used, it
was said, to strip naked, and turn themselves round before a huge fire. Infidelity was
certainly very rife at Oxford, and exhibited itself in forms the most offensive. The
hypocrisy of the place disgusted Bentham, and he spoke of that University with
asperity to the end of his days.

His father forced him to take a part in many matters which were annoying to him. He
subscribed for him to the concerts, and required him to attend. “I attended,” he said,
“in a most melancholy state. I sat still while the music played: not a living soul had I
to speak to. Unhappy while I was there, I was not less unhappy when I came away.”
On one occasion his father got into a long and angry dispute with a paper-hanger at
Oxford, about papering Bentham’s room; and it ended in his sending paper down
from town. This brought upon Bentham the ill-will of the Oxford paper-hanger; who
found many ways of saying and doing, and causing others to say and do, unfriendly
things. The chamber which was the origin of the misunderstanding, was a very
gloomy one. It looked into the churchyard, and was covered with lugubrious
hangings. Bentham’s fear of ghosts, and of the visitations of spiritual beings, was
strong upon him; and the darkness of the chamber and its neighbourhood added to his
alarms. But he was enabled to effect a change with another student, and got two
guineas in addition, for his thirdings, on account of his better furniture. Once, at
Oxford, going round to see the sights, his father took him into the hall at Christ
Church, where the students were all assembled at dinner. He compelled the timid boy
to go from the bottom to the top of the hall, to walk round the tables, and to report
whether he recognised any school-fellow. Bentham was ready to faint—to sink into
the earth with agony. “O, would he but change places with me!” said the poor lad to
himself; but he dared not give utterance to any such thoughts. His father thought it
excellent strategy to force him into notice; and among other arrangements for that
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purpose, he sent him a silk gown to wear, while the other students wore gowns of
stuff.

A grievous annoyance to Bentham, at Oxford, was the formal dressing of the hair.
“Mine,” he said, “was turned up in the shape of a kidney: a quince or a club was
against the statutes; a kidney was in accordance with the statutes. I had a fellow-
student whose passion it was to dress hair, and he used to employ a part of his
mornings in shaping my kidney properly.”

Generally speaking, the tutors and professors at Oxford offered nothing to win the
affections of Bentham. Some of them were profligate; and he was shocked with their
profligacy: others were morose; and their moroseness alienated him: but the greatest
part of them were insipid; and he had no taste for insipidity.

Among the few persons whom he remembered with pleasure, in talking of this period
of his life, was a Mr Darling, who was a curate near Andover, and whom he visited
with his father. He noticed Bentham with great kindness; and Bentham, in return,
applied to him one of Martial’s epigrams; and, instead of the poet’s hero, inserted the
good clergyman’s name. For this he got no little praise; and the visit was a succession
of enjoyments. He showed to Bentham, among other things, a solar microscope. “That
man was rooted deep,” he said, “in everybody’s affections; and everybody lamented
that no preferment was given to so excellent a person. At last, preferment came, in the
shape of the living of Wargrave, in Berkshire; and everybody felt as happy as if some
individual good fortune had been conferred on them.”

If the teachings of the University were not very instructive, so neither were its
amusements very interesting. Fishing was one of them. Bentham sometimes went to
fish, as a relief from the weary monotony of existence. It brought some new ideas, and
new occupations. At that time, a bubble on the water’s surface was a variety, and had
a charm; and, to catch a minnow, was an interruption to the dulness of the day. But
even the fishing sports partook of the system of neglect with which all education was
conducted. Generally a poacher was hired to go with a casting-net. He caught the fish;
and the youths went and got it dressed at a neighbouring inn. A few practised fly-
fishing, who had skill and strength. Bentham had neither the one nor the other. No
living being could be thrown into a situation less congenial than his was. Once or
twice he was asked to hunt and to shoot. Others killed partridges—he only killed time.
He fired as often as the rest; but the flash of the gunpowder hurt his eyes. Too timid to
confess his dislike to sports that were so popular, he generally found or made an
excuse for refusing to join them. In his later days, he applied his utilitarian philosophy
to the subject, and made the whole animal creation objects of his benevolent
suggestions; insisting that their claims to be spared the unnecessary infliction of pain
stands upon the same basis as the claims of man himself.

All sorts of oppressions were exercised by the older on the younger students. One day
a gentleman commoner asked Bentham to sup with him; and, after a magnificent
supper, waylaid him on his return home, in a narrow lane, and seriously cut his eye,
walking abruptly away. For such affrays, there was neither interference nor redress.
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At Oxford, there was scarcely a companion in whose society Bentham could discover
any pleasure. He found the college a stupid one, and the people in it as stupid. Mitford
was a gentleman commoner there—Bentham only a commoner. They were members
of the same breakfast club. Bentham thought his conversation commonplace, and
never expected he would become an author. He was distinguished by his good looks,
and his personal strength. “I took,” said he, “to Edward Cranmer, a descendant of
Bishop Cranmer, in default of better company. But he was a noodle; and there was
another noodle of the name of Archer, who, with his brother, bought a commission in
the Guards, which he afterwards quitted, and became a parson. There was one Poore.
At fourteen he had a strong black beard. He had obtained one of the gold medals at
Winchester, for a copy of verses; and this intoxicated him. He was quite jealous if |
spoke to anybody but him; when, all of a sudden, he took to another youth, and
discarded me entirely. The boy’s name was Bower, whose elder brother or cousin
became distinguished at the Chancery bar. There was a staid, sober fellow, of the
name of Burleigh. His father was a parson; and he became a parson in turn. There was
Stillingfleet—a proud priest, holding his head aloft in the air. There was a man of the
name of Skip, who had some cleverness and some knowledge; and, after taking a
bachelor’s degree, he went to Edinburgh—Ilearnt more—returned to Oxford, and
became M.A. At Edinburgh he picked up a little unbelief, which he retailed at Oxford
on his return. We had Nicholls of Barbadoes, who afterwards got a rural deanery. He
was a great dandy, but an ugly little fellow, who had reached man’s estate. He led me,
now and then, into his chambers; and there, for the first time, [ saw Hume’s History,
which was a great treat to me. There was a gentleman commoner, who took to me a
little—De Sellis, a Swiss. His chambers were underneath mine. He took in the Annual
Register, which had then just appeared. I was a child; he a man; so we had few ideas
in common: but the Annual Register delighted me. There was a little party that moved
round Dr Smith, who knew something of chemistry, and read lectures on chemistry to
a small class. I would have given one of my ears to have attended him: but that was
out of the question. This little party were proud of their distinction. One of them was
Wynn of Wales; and another, Bishop Bathurst, a distinguished character.

“It was at Poore’s chambers that I met Horseley. Poore was excessively vain. He was
a proteg¢ of Harris, the author of Hermes. Harris’ son, the first Earl of Malmesbury,
was then at Oxford: much too great a man to speak to me; but Poore had access to
him. Poore talked a great deal about music, and was admitted to Harris’ concerts.
Horseley was a man of free conversation; he was proud and insolent. Poore was a
professed, nay, an ostentatious unbeliever. Horseley’s discourse was such as none but
an unbeliever could use. Wilberforce knew his character; he had a perfect abhorrence
of Horseley, and I have heard him call him ‘a dirty rascal,” and ‘a dirty scoundrel.’
Poore used to boast to me, that he had made Franklin a Platonist; and he boasted
loudly of the feat. I told him he had turned a wise man away from useful pursuits, to
pursuits that were of no use at all. I dare say Franklin heard him very quietly, and was
not moved in the least. There were two St Johns there. Goodyear St John, if he had
ever learned anything, had forgotten it all. His life was one of gaming, drinking, and
strumpeting. He used to take me by the heels and hold me, my head downwards; and 1
remember losing half-a-guinea in consequence, which fell out of my pocket. He
became a parson, as there were livings in the family; so did another drunken fellow of
the name of Popham. There was a young wag called Crop, who was also a debauché.
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I do not know what became of him, but I remember he got a lecture from the Monk
Jefferson, who told him he would bring his father’s gray hairs with sorrow to the
grave. ‘No! I sha’n’t,” said he, ‘my father wears a wig.” There was another sot,
Lechmere, who used to drink till his eyes became purple, like Sheridan’s. He came
into parliament. They were all either stupid or dissipated. I learnt nothing. I played at
tennis once or twice. | took to reading Greek of my own fancy; but there was no
encouragement: we just went to the foolish lectures of our tutors, to be taught
something of logical jargon.”

When Bentham was thirteen, he wrote this Latin Ode on the death of George II., and
the advent of George III.:—

In Obitum Serenissimi Regis Georgii 2d1, Et Georgii 3ii
Inaugurationem.

Eheu Georgi! jamne Britannica
Gestare tedet sceptra pid manu
Linguisque perculsum Senatum
Et populum Patre destitutum?

Te triste Fatum sustulit invidens
Tantum Britannis et decus et bonum;
Sed tu beatos inter, alté

Sceptra tenes potiore regno.
Quamvis ad instar fulminis, horrido
Galliim phalanges diruit impetu,
Semperque nobis a cruento
Praesidium fuit hoste tutum.
[Mlumque Regem rudis Americus
Agnovit armis, indomitus prius;
Et Georgii longe remotus

Arma videns trepidavit Afer.

Ne spem Britanni ponite; protinus
En surgit alter Georgius; ille avi
Virtutibus, fama, et corona
Angliaca, potietur haeres.

Et si favebit prospera moribus
Fortuna prorsus labe carentibus,
Et rara Virtus Sanctitasque

Par pretium meritis habebunt,

Nil Georgii non perficient manus;
Redditque fessis Marte diutino
Pacem Britannis; atque clemens
Jure reget populum volentem.*

Jer: Bentham e Coll: Reg. Oxon:
28 Novembre, 1760.
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These verses made some noise, as being the composition of so young a person; and
were given, by Chamberlain Clarke, to Sir John Hawkins, in order that he might
obtain Dr Johnson’s opinion of them. That opinion was sent to Oxford, that Bentham
might benefit by his corrections. Bentham himself said of his Ode—*“It was a
mediocre performance, on a trumpery subject, written by a miserable child. It was,
perhaps, as good as those which were accepted.”

I have, however, in Dr Johnson’s handwriting, his observations on the Ode. He
suggests some alterations; but concludes by saying—

“When these objections are removed, the copy will, I believe, be received; for it is a
very pretty performance of a young man.”

Bentham gave this account of his poetical attempt:—“Thirteen years had not been
numbered by me when the second of the Guelphs was gathered to his fathers. Waste
of time had been commenced by me at Queen’s College, Oxford. Tears were
demanded by the occasion, and tears were actually paid accordingly. Meantime,
according to custom, at that source and choice seat of learning, loyalty, and piety, a
fasciculus of poetry—appropriate poetry—was called for, at the hands of the
ingenious youths, or such of them whose pens were rich enough to be guided by
private tutors. My quill, with the others, went to work; though, alas! without learned
or reverend hand to guide it. In process of time, by dint of hard labour, out of
Ainsworth’s Dictionary and the Gradus ad Parnassum, were manufactured stanzas of
Latin Alcaics, beginning Eheu Georgi! certifying and proclaiming the experienced
attributes of the dead god and the surely-expected ditto of the living one, with grief in
proper form at the beginning, and consolation, in no less proper form, at the end.”

One of Bentham’s jokes, dated Crutched Friars, January 29, 1761, I find in his
father’s hand-writing, in English and Latin. It is not amiss for a boy yet under
fourteen, though not very complimentary to his friend:—

I’m asked to see his ape, by neighbour Blanckley:
I’ll go—but, fear a truth, I’ll tell you frankly,
Lest he should strip the creature of his rug,

And in his skin impose himself for pug;

For had he but the skin, there needs no more:

In genius, manners, phiz—he’s pug all o’er.

In amicum meum, Stanyfordum Blanckley, et Simiam ejus:—

Visere Blanckleianum accersor Cercopithecum;
Ibo; sed hoc metuo (non etenim absimile est)
Ne forte illudat vestitus pelle ferina

Ipsumque ostendat se mihi—pro Simia:

Pelle sit indutus; praesto sunt caetera ouncta;
Ingeniumque, et mos est Simialis et Os.
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“In those days,” said Bentham, “came the coronation. My father was indulgent. I was
sent for from College to take a gape at the raree-show. Passing along the Park, as the
young sovereign was traversing it likewise, some how or other I caught a glimpse of
him. In rushed upon my mind the exclamation in the Aneid—O Deus certe. Nothing
but the apprehension of a false concord could have prevented the ecstatic utterance of
it. At any rate, to the being an angel of light nothing was wanting in him but wings.”

It was amusing to hear Bentham talk of the early impressions of his life respecting
great people. For kings, and especially the kings of England, he had felt unbounded
reverence. “Loyalty and virtue,” I have heard him say, “were then synonymous
terms.” When a little boy—and, as I have mentioned, he was singularly little—he
made a great effort to get a peep at George the Second, and succeeded to his ineffable
delight in seeing the top of his wig—the king was then in company with the Duke of
Cumberland. He was present at the coronation of George the Third, and remembered
that he described the young monarch as “a most beautiful man.” In after life far
different sentiments filled his mind. His opinion of George the Third was as low, as
mean, as one human being could well have of another. He called him treacherous,
selfish, deceitful, tyrannical, vehemently attached to all abuses—violently opposed to
all reforms—a hypocrite and a liar.

I do not believe he ever conversed with George the Third. He only saw him once
when he (Bentham) was travelling with Lord Lansdowne, and Lord Lansdowne got
out of the carriage and went to talk to the king, leaving Bentham alone; but Lord L.
did not mention when he returned what had passed between them.

[lustrative of Bentham’s situation at Oxford, is the following, addressed by him (atat.
13) to his father, on

“Tuesday, 30th June, 1761.

“Dear Papa,—

I have sent you a declamation I spoke last Saturday, with the approbation of all my
acquaintances, who liked the thing itself very well, but still better my manner of
speaking it. Even a bachelor of my acquaintance went so far as to say that he never
heard but one speak a declamation better all the time he has been in College; which,
indeed, is not much to say, as, perhaps, you imagine, for sure nobody can speak worse
than we do here; for, in short, ’tis like repeating just so many lines out of a Propria
quce Maribus. 1 have disputed, too, in the Hall once, and am going in again to-
morrow. There also I came off with honour, having fairly beat off, not only my proper
antagonist, but the moderator himself; for he was forced to supply my antagonist with
arguments, the invalidity of which I clearly demonstrated. I should have disputed
much oftener, but for the holidays or eves, that happen on Mondays, Wednesdays, and
Fridays; and, besides, we went three times into the Hall before we disputed ourselves,
that we might see the method. Indeed, I am very sorry it did not come to my turn to
dispute every disputation day; for, for my own part, I desire no better sport. I wish
you would let me come home very soon, for my clothes are dropping off my back;
and if I don’t go home very soon, to get new ones, I must not go down stairs, they are
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so bad; for as soon as one hole is mended, another breaks out again; and, as almost all
the commoners either are gone for the vacation, or will go in a day or two’s time, very
little business will be going forward. Pray, give me an answer very soon, that [ may
know whether I am to wear clothes or go in rags. Pray, give my duty to grandmamma,
and love to dear Sammy, and represent the woful condition of one who is,
nevertheless, your dutiful and affectionate son,

“J. Bentham.
“I should be glad to know yours and Mr Skinner’s opinion of Higgenbroccius.

“Pray, see if you can make out this thing, which is strictly true here:—~Nostra parva
ursa non solum est rus, vel, sed etiam oportet ego.

“Pray, excuse my not writing over my declamation.
“From Queen’s College, Oxford.”
The following amusing Oxford story I find in Bentham’s MSS. of this period:—

“Among the curiosities in the museum at Oxford, a certain cicerone, who was
entertaining some strangers with the inspection of the contents of that repository,
came at last to an old sword, deeply enriched with the precious rust of antiquity.

“ ‘This sword,” says he—‘ay, let me see—yes, this sword is the very sword that
Balaam slew the ass with.’

“ ‘I beg pardon, sir,” observed one of the company, ‘for interrupting you; but my
notion had all along been that the ass had found a friend to intercede for him, and that,
as to all but a sound drubbing, poor dapple came off with a whole skin. I am speaking
of the common accounts we have of that celebrated transaction; but, perhaps, these
valuable archives may have furnished you with some more authentic evidence, to
show that the intercession of the ass’s friend was attended with like consequences to
those of Don Quixote’s interposition in favour of the young ploughboy that was
receiving discipline from his father.’

“ ‘Indeed, sir,” replied the cicerone. ‘I know no more of the business than every
gentleman present knows. It was my mistake. What you say is right: the ass was not
slain. This sword, therefore, is the sword he would have slain the ass with, if he could
have got one.” ”*

In 1763, being then about sixteen—a rare honour for so young a lad—Bentham took
his degree of Bachelor of Arts. He had, for some time, been in possession of a small

exhibition, amounting to about £20 a-year.

It would seem to have been a usage at Oxford, for students to wear borrowed plumes
in order to obtain degrees. In Bentham’s hand-writing I find this memorandum:—
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“The following three epigrams were made by Jeremy Bentham, Commoner of
Queen’s College, Oxon., for a friend of his, and were spoken by his friend in the
public schools, for his exercise as a determining bachelor, on Ash-Wednesday, in
Lent Term, 1763:—

AN PLURES SINT CAUSZ EJUSDEM REI? NEGR.

‘Unde fit ut tota digitis signatus in urbe

Corniger a populo praetereunte vocer?

Unde fit ut nostras celebrent nova cantica laudes,
Attentoque foco garrula narrat anus?

(Urbanus senior questus sic fundit amico:)
Horum scire velim quis mihi causa fuit?’

‘Quis tu causa, rogas? non ille nec illa, sed ipeum
Suspicor uxori Jura negasse tuze? idem aff'.

Quis tu causa rogas? uxorem consule, noster,
Auctores semper res habet ista duos.’

AN OMNIA AGANT PER CONTACTUM? AFFX,

Cum lassa in nota posuisset membra Cathedra,

En reducem ex Auld me, hei mihi, civis ait,

Unus erat, nutum flectens se cujus ad omnem
Increbuit circa spissa caterva virm.

Regi a consiliis hic est, mihi proximus inquit,

Hic est imperii quem penes omnis honos,

Porrigit huc manum; in hunc placidos convertit ocellos:
Affatur comes hunc, quomodo amice vales
Quisquis blanditias quicquam, aut promissa valere
Credit, judicio fallitur ille meo.

Sint nummi in manibus mihi, quivis catera sumat
His audire juvet, sed mihi tacta placent.

AN DETUR ACTIO IN DISTANS? NEGR.

Quodam erat in vico, bene qui prastigia norat
Versarique levi pollice quemque dolum.

Prodent hic quivis, atque heec, quam cernitis, illum
Semote a nobis charta sequetur, ait,

Dicxit, et in mediis puer astat; at ipsa secuta est,
Atque leve a tergo charta pependit onus.
Respiciens stupet ipse puer; stupet inscia turba,

Et magica hic certe est arte peritus ait.

Callidior donec chartam puer arripit, et mox
Ostendit sociis tenuia fila suis.
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When Bentham came to town from Oxford, his father insisted upon his attention to
the dancing-master; and, though he hinted at his repugnance, it was in vain.

“I never can make out this figure of eight,” he said, “which the dancing-master will
have me to learn. If the other dancers will stand still—if they will consent to be
statues for a little while—I will make the figure of eight around or about them; but, as
they are always moving, I know not where to find them.”

With all his love and admiration of his son, it is strange how Mr Bentham should have
so completely failed in obtaining his confidence. Never were too natures more unlike.
The consequence was that Bentham never opened his heart to his father. He could not
even communicate to him his sorrows. Bentham was more than once penniless. All
his money was stolen from him at Oxford by the person who made his bed. He never
breathed a word of the calamity. I find the latest letters to his father commence with
the words—*“Honoured Sir.”
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CHAPTER III.

1763—1770. At. 15—25.

Enters as Student in Court of King’s Bench.—Lincoln’s Inn.—Blackstone’s
Lectures.—Wilkes’ Trial: Lord Mansfield.—A Tour in the North of England.—Visits
France.—Mrs Cibber.—Sir Joshua Reynolds.—Father’s Marriage with Mrs
Abbott.—Master’s Degree.—Anecdotes of the Mackreth Family.—Propensity to
involuntary Laughter—Leaves Oxford.—Bias of his Mind.—Reminiscences of
Places and Persons: Sir John Hawkins: Hawkesworth: Sir W. Jones: White: Lowndes:
Chamberlain Clarke.—Authentication of a Portrait of Milton.—Pierre
Vrillon—Excursions.—Account of Lind and Nathaniel Forster, with Notices of
Camden, Rosslyn, Franklin, Parr, and Prince Czartoriski.—Wilkes and George
III.—Duelling.—Residence in Paris.—John Forster.—Wortley Montague.

In 1763, Bentham took his place as a student in the Court of King’s Bench,
Westminster Hall; and his father gave Mr Perkins, the crier of the court, seven
shillings and sixpence to secure a particular seat during the term. This seat was
immediately below the officers, under the judges. There were four such seats. There
was, in those days, room for two students on each side of the judge on the bench; but
Lord Kenyon put an end to the usage. The crier was generally fee’d in order to obtain
the seat. Bentham began to eat his commons in Lincoln’s Inn in November, 1763; but
returned to Oxford the beginning of the following December. He then attended
Blackstone’s lectures; and the impressions made upon him he thus describes:—

“T attended with two collegiates of my acquaintance. One was Samuel Parker Coke, a
descendant of Lord Coke, a gentleman commoner, who afterwards sat in Parliament:
the other was Dr Downes. They both took notes; which I attempted to do, but could
not continue it, as my thoughts were occupied in reflecting on what I heard. I
immediately detected his fallacy respecting natural rights; I thought his notions very
frivolous and illogical about the gravitating downwards of Acereditas, and his reasons
altogether futile, why it must descend and could not ascend—an idea, indeed,
borrowed from Lord Coke. Blackstone was a formal, precise, and affected
lecturer—just what you would expect from the character of his writings: cold,
reserved, and wary—exhibiting a frigid pride. But his lectures were popular, though
the subject did not then excite a wide-spreading interest, and his attendants were not
more than from thirty to fifty. Blackstone was succeeded by Dr Beavor, who read
lectures on Roman law, which were laughed at, and failed in drawing such audiences
as Blackstone drew.

“February 21.—Aujourd’hui, fils Jeremy attended Wilkes’ trial, in Court of King’s
Bench,” is in his father’s memorandum book. The trial was for publishing the North
Briton. After his outlawry, when Wilkes came into court to surrender, Sir Fletcher
Norton, who had been doing all he could to ruin him, advanced towards him, and
shook him most cordially by the hand. Bentham heard the outlawry reversed; and has
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often mentioned that he was perfectly bewitched by Lord Mansfield’s grimgibber. He
leaned back in his chair, and made the speech which won for him, at the time, so
much applause and admiration. It is in Burrow’s Reports, from a copy which Lord
Mansfield furnished. His manners were full of grace. He was a short, squat man, with
a most eloquent physiognomy, and fascinating voice. Bentham kept, as a great
treasure, a picture of him, given by Martin, his protegé, and frequently went to Caen
Wood, as a lover to the shrine of his mistress, in the hope that chance might throw
him in his way, and that he might get the honour of a word or a look from him.
Bentham began a eulogistic poem to him, of which the first stanza was:—

“Hail, noble Mansfield! chief among the just, The bad man’s terror, and the good
man’s trust!”

But there he stuck; the muse abandoned him, and he could not accomplish a second
satisfactory thyme. Bentham heard much about him, however, from his friend, Lind,
who was sometimes invited to dinner by the noble judge. His conversation was
always better than the cheer, according to Lind’s account of both.

In the year 1764, Bentham accompanied his father to the north of England. I will give
some of his recollections, in his own words:—

“I did not like Althorp—it was a gloomy place. The trees hung down on the ground,
heavily and sadly. We stayed some days at Matlock wells, at one of the lodging-
houses. Everything was cheap there. We paid a shilling for a handsome dinner. The
scenery is beautifully picturesque. There were then no fine buildings at Matlock. The
rooms had for their ornaments festoons of moss; and the pictures of the surrounding
landscapes hung on the walls. The rocks were grand and novel, and the streams ran
down them delightfully. I remember no interesting events. If there were any, their
memory has evaporated, and left no trace behind. But I got ennuyé at Buxton, where
the party lingered about the baths; and I got a horse and went in quest of adventures,
but found none. We went to Stockport, Liverpool, Chester, Macclesfield, and the
Wiches, where the salt is made. Warrington was then classic ground. Priestley lived
there. What would I not have given to have found courage to visit him? He had
already written several philosophical works; and in the tail of one of his pamphlets I
had seen that admirable phrase, ‘greatest happiness of greatest number,” which had
such an influence on the succeeding part (which some erroneously call the afterpart)
of my life. Chester is a curious place; built of red stone; and you go upon a platform
between the shops, where there is a sort of veranda, which resembles the shops at
Bucharest. Great numbers of people were always walking there. At Ross, we were
introduced to Dr Roberts, a naturalist, who received us hospitably, quoted Tacitus to
us, and recommended us to a Mr Jordan, who had large copper works. Him we found
not; but we found two young ladies, who gave us dinner, and escorted us to the
Abbey; a pleasant trip to a pretty ruin. At Monmouth (within a mile) is a place called
Hadnock Hall, where Lord Admiral Griffin resided, who is mentioned in the history
of the East India Company, as he commanded a squadron on the coast of Coromandel.
Here he lived in retirement; but welcomed us kindly. His eldest son was a barrister of
Lincoln’s Inn, with legs as large as an ordinary man’s body; his second son, an
attorney; his third, a parson, with whom I had done sundry exercises at Queen’s
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College. On the estate, was a perfect castle—noble, lofty, and picturesque. Though
built in King John’s time, it was little dilapidated. We crossed the Severn and got to
Bristol, where we had many friends. I was pleased to be in the birthplace of Coulston,
whose picture, with four verses from Claudian at its foot, I had been taught to
venerate in my childhood. One of our acquaintances at Bristol was Mrs Vernon. We
called her the Lady Unaccountable: she told such stories, made such reflections,
pointed such sarcasms, that we were highly amused. Two of her daughters had made
stolen matches. She saw them; but her husband would not. We went through Bath to
Browning Hill.

“I was at this time about sixteen; but still a dwarf—a perfect dwarf. I had no calfs to
my legs; and one Mr Harris, a Quaker, offended me not a little by asking me whither
my calves were gone a-grazing. But, after this period, I shot up.

“We also visited Sir John Hawkins, and Mrs Southgate, of whose husband Constantia
Philips had been a paramour. He is mentioned by her in her Memoirs under the name
of Tartuffe. He was a Roman Catholic, and affected great devotion.”

In this year (1764) Bentham accompanied his father and a party of friends to France.
He was delighted with a visit they paid to the chateau of the Prince of Cond¢ at
Chantilly. The carp in the fish-ponds were so tame, that they took the sticks of the
visiters into their mouths.

“I did envy the Prince,” said Bentham, ‘“‘his beautiful palace. I exclaimed, What a bliss
to be a Prince! I was not much wiser than the ploughboy, who said his bliss would be
to swing all day upon a gate, eating beef and carrots; or than a Justice of the Peace,
who told me that his summum bonum was to grab for eels in the mud; and whom I
once found tearing up ‘Sanderson’s Logic’ to ram into his fowlingpiece.”

At Paris, they went the accustomed round of sight-seeing. The question of daily
debate was where they should dine. “Anywhere,” was the old gentleman’s constant
answer to the inquiry; but he had always some objection to the “where” suggested. He
took his son to see the tomb of James the Second at the Carmelite Convent; but
although born and bred a Jacobite, most of his monarchical prejudices had oozed out
before Bentham’s birth.

France, as a country, left an unfavourable impression on young Bentham. The
imitations of England appeared wretched; its gardens stiff and formal. But of the
French, as a nation, he was always fond: their vivacity, courtesy, and aptitude for
enjoyment, responded to all the tendencies of his own character. At Versailles, the
beauty of the dauphiness charmed him. Most of the favourable impressions he
received were from the people; but the backwardness of their agriculture, and of their
domestic civilisation, seemed strangely contrasted with the advances even then made
by England.

He wished to bring from Paris, as a present to his aunt, the stamp by which the pots of

butter were impressed, representing on one side the king of England, and on the other
the king of France; but the cost (fifteen livres) was too great, and he was forced to
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content himself with presenting a bottle of oil of jessamine. On many occasions,
Bentham’s poverty interfered with his engagements and his studies. He was
passionately fond of chemistry, and indeed of all experimental philosophy; but was
denied the means of obtaining the necessary apparatus for pursuing his investigations.
On one occasion, he bargained with a chemist to have the sweepings of his shop in
phials, &c., for half-a-crown. Had he met with more encouragement, his mind would
probably have been principally or wholly directed to the physical sciences. They have
happily found other successful explorers; and it can be no subject of regret, that less
attractive but more important questions soon absorbed the whole attention of
Bentham.

In his father’s memoranda, I find:—*1765, Dec. 31.—Lent Jerry sixpence to pay for
his losses at cards;” and I read this note to him. “Most true,” said he; “and that
sixpence which I owed my father has never been paid: the statute of limitation saves
me in part, my being his executor wholly.”

At this time of Bentham’s life, he got some counsels from a friend, (whose name |
shall conceal, because he was the practical exemplification of the sagacity of his
doctrines,) to this effect:—

“If you mean to rise, catch hold of the skirts of those who are above you, and care
nothing for those beneath you.”

His friend caught hold of the skirts of an archbishop, and got to be a judge. Bentham
listened coldly to the advice; was coldly regarded, ever after, by the aspirant; and
died, not a judge, but a philosopher.

One or two memoranda of Bentham, of the year 1765, are worth preserving.

“I went to see Mrs Cibber at Covent Garden: she was beautiful at sixty. Another
woman, beautiful at sixty, was Mrs Yates, whom I saw in Ophelia.”

“I remember going to Twickenham church with my father and Mr Reynolds,
afterwards Sir Joshua. His conversation left no impression on me: his countenance
was not pleasing. There was great talk about painting, and about /is painting; but I
knew nothing about painting, and cared nothing about him. His Una I remember
sitting in a queer posture, and without a chair.”

“Fine colours were the order of the day. I had a pea-green coat and green silk
breeches, which were first exhibited on a walk, with Chamberlain Clarke, from
Oxford to Farrington. The breeches were bitterly tight; and I was frightfully tired.”

“When Lind came to my father, it wasin his flowered dress, with purple and gold, and
I know not what; for he had a prodigious quantity of fine clothes, cut velvet
embroidery, silver, gold, and all sorts of trappings.”

“Fortescue’s treatise on the difference between absolute and limited monarchy was, at

this time, put into my hands by my father. Its recommendation was, that it eulogized
our institutions. Fortescue was one of the many whose families owe their large
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fortunes to the law—fortunes accumulated by the denial of justice; for its costliness is
denial to all who cannot pay.”

In this year, Bentham’s father married Mrs Abbott. She was the widow of Dr John
Abbott, and the mother of Charles Abbott, who was afterwards Speaker of the House
of Commons, and became Lord Colchester. The marriage caused Bentham much
vexation; and he always spoke of his step-mother with dislike. In his father’s
memoranda, I find:—*“Dr Samuel Smith, the head master of Westminster School,
married us on the 14th October; and he very kindly refused to accept a compliment of
five guineas, which I offered him on the occasion.”

In 1766, Bentham took his Master’s degree at Oxford. His father gave him £20 on the
occasion. He said he felt no small degree of pride to be so distinguished. The
Bachelors having no particular costume—*I strutted,” he said, “like a crow in a
gutter.” When the election for Members of Parliament took place, a curious question
was mooted as to whether Bentham’s vote could be received, he being under age; but
the man for whom he voted having beaten his opponent by a large majority, there was
no scrutiny.

Among the new acquaintances Bentham had at this period, were the Mackreths, of
whom he gave me this account:—*“The name brings back both interesting and painful
recollections. You have heard me mention the Plowden family, and a place called
Yewhurst—a parish within itself, which took its name from an avenue of lofty yew
trees. The proprietor, as you heard, was a roué, who took orders in the latter period of
his life, that he might have the tithes in addition to the property. He paid a petty
curate. He had a beautiful daughter, who married Mr Wheeler, who became, in
process of time, one of the council of Bengal. Yewhurst was sold, about this time
(1766), to a Mr Mackreth, with whom, I believe, my father had some acquaintance, as
he was also acquainted with a Mr Harding, who kept a small coffee-house near
Temple Bar, where he had amassed some fortune, and left business. My father, who
had known the coffee-house keeper, was, of course, intimate with the retired
gentleman, who lived in James’ Street. Mackreth had been a publican too, having kept
the great house called White’s, near Arthur’s. He had been a waiter there, and found
favour in the sight of Arthur’s daughter, whom he married. He must have been above
forty, though he did not appear more than twenty-six or twenty-seven. He died, not
long ago, at the age of ninety-four. I had met him, a few days before his death,
looking like a man of sixty, with no signs of decrepitude. Mrs Mackreth was a woman
whose face was beautiful, but her body deformed: elegant in manners, as if her father
had been a duke. And her husband was a clever, well-informed man. He bought
Yewhurst, and came to live there, as it had a very good house. He introduced many
improvements, such as picturesque gardens, fish-ponds, &c. In the year of my father’s
marriage, | went from Browning Hill to visit the Mackreths, who received me most
kindly. There were present a Mr Robins, who had been or was a great confectioner,
with whom Mr Arthur had probably dealt; and a Mr Chauvel, whom they called
Colonel Chauvel, but who had been in trade. Mackreth kept his town as well as his
country house, and was proud of the hospitality he displayed at Yewhurst, where he
had his billiard-table, bowling-green, and other amusements; and he gathered about
him many interesting characters: so I was in Elysium there; and he kept me in
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Elysium from day to day. My visit lingered far longer than I had thought; and I sent
and got changes of linen at Browning Hill, and wandered about to all the attractions of
the neighbourhood. Among others, I remember Freemantle Park, where there was a
well 400 feet deep. I was happy as a king; occupied a sumptuous bedroom, fitted up in
the highest style of taste and elegance. Mackreth’s great ambition was to be
considered a gentleman, and to be admitted among the quality: but he often was
disappointed; for those who knew he had been a waiter at Arthur’s, could not bear the
thought of recognising his equality. He did not neglect his own interest, and made
much money by buying and selling estates. He was full of prejudices; and I remember
his answering an eulogium of mine upon Hume by saying—‘But he is a Scotsman.’ |
found, afterwards, that one reason of his great attention to me, was the wish of being
instructed by me. Among other contrivances, he arranged to lose money at cards, so
that it might get into my pocket. The scene was one of prosperity and felicity. But I
had a weakness, of which you have heard me speak: I could not always restrain my
laughter, even when there was no motive for laughter. It was as much a disease as the
diabetes. He had asked two stupid fellows to dine with him. There was a great
entertainment, and the usual profusion. I saw a dish that was unknown to me, and
asked him what it was? Chouxfleurs a la—something, I forget what, he said, but
without any impropriety in the pronunciation. A fit of laughing came over me. I asked
him to repeat it. Another fit more violent came on. He supposed I meant to insult him.
I had not the presence of mind to say that it was an infirmity, and that my thoughts
were altogether passive. I had given great offence. Everybody looked blank; and when
I left the house there was an obvious change of feeling towards me. Once, afterwards,
I dined there with my uncle. His mind was too poor to find interesting matter for
anybody; and, in truth, nobody was present but uninteresting people. After dinner, a
bed was offered to everbody but to me. The fact was, I had destroyed his purpose of
ingratiating himself with the two booby country gentlemen, who supposed I had
detected in him some gross vulgarism. | had another calamity there; going out in their
carriage, the glass was so transparent that [ perceived no glass at all. I spat; and
covered with false shame, wiped it away with my handkerchief. This was my final
condemnation. I never got another invitation. He used to take me to parties in the
neighbourhood; but it was all over now. I not only lost the wonted pleasures, but I was
haunted with dread lest my father should question me respecting Mr and Mrs
Mackreth. Happily he never asked any questions about it. Mackreth afterwards got
into parliament for Oxford; but there were so many behind whose chairs he had
officiated at dinner, that it would not do. He was excluded from their company. He
became a knight, too, for some office he held in Westminster. Fourteen years
afterwards, I had to sell the little property at Browning Hill; and I wrote to him that I
was not insensible of the civilities with which he had honoured my earlier youth. I
asked for an interview to offer the estate to him. He received me, not rudely, but with
coldness and indifference. He said he was going to dine with some country gentlemen,
in a tone which conveyed to me his wish that I should observe he had country
gentlemen to invite him notwithstanding my misdoings. It was Mr Limbey he was
about to visit, a country gentleman who passed his life like an oyster, doing nothing,
hearing nothing, reading nothing. [ never saw Mackreth afterwards. My laugh had
rankled in his mind. His ardent ambition could not forget it. I lost much enjoyment
and much instruction in losing his friendship; for he was well acquainted with the
world, and his conversation would have been eminently useful to me. Even now I

PLL v6.0 (generated September, 2011) 69 http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/2085



Online Library of Liberty: The Works of Jeremy Bentham, vol. 10 (Memoirs Part I and
Correspondence)

cannot forgive my own weakness. You may well imagine the value of those histories
with which he was acquainted. His situation was one of comfort and luxury: mine of
solitude, abandonment, penury, and wretchedness.

“Twice I remember the perils to which this propensity to involuntary laughter exposed
me. | was at George’s Coffee-house, sitting by the fire; and Mr Little Hales was
opposite me. A fit came on. He thought he was the object, and he used words
importing a challenge. This made matters worse than before; and I laughed myself
into a state of corporeal suffering. At Oxford, a passage of ‘Chrononhotonthologes’
set me laughing till a quantity of a liquid I was drinking was forced on the lungs. I fell
down on my knees in agony. The study of anatomy enabled me to vanquish an
infirmity which had caused me so much misery.”

Bentham left Oxford, in 1767, little benefited, as he thought, by the instructions he
had received in that university. The primary object of his father, in sending him there,
had failed; for he had not used the opportunities, which a college life afforded, of
making his way among the great, and forming acquaintances to which he might look
for distinction and preferment in coming days. His father had imagined that he would
have been launched from Oxford into splendid reputation at the bar. Little, indeed, did
the views of the son respond to the ambition of his sire. What Bentham saw of the arts
of rising in the world did not much encourage him to become a practitioner in them.
At the present hour, the patronage of the great is not the sole instrument of honourable
distinction; but, at that time, the two sections of the aristocracy held, at their exclusive
disposal, every avenue to place and power; and the man of humble birth, who
determined to be a follower of neither, was necessarily excluded from the influential
walks of life. The science of government was the science of corruption; and prostrate
servility was generally the first step in the career of elevation.

Connected with this period of Bentham’s history, I shall introduce some of his
conversations, in which the names of many persons known to fame will figure, and
which enable me to give a more autobiographical character to my narration.

“When first [ became acquainted with Hogarth, which was when first I became
acquainted with life, I did not know he had illustrated Hudibras. I should have been
glad to have had ‘The Rake’s Progress:” but my father made over all the Barking
pictures and all the family relics to a Mrs Nurse. I should have been rejoiced to have
had them: the pretium affectionis which they had in my eyes, gave them no such value
in other eyes.

“It is a great mortification to me, that so many houses to which I was attached in my
childhood, have ceased to exist. For the house in Cratched Friars my father paid.
There was the large garden, in which were a few fig-trees whose fruit never attempted
to ripen; and a sick mulberry-tree, which indeed did produce fruit, but it was worth
but little. When I came from Oxford to visit my friends the Browns, in Cursitor Street,
great was my delight to see the garden there. One of Brown’s daughters married a
man called Mansell, who afterwards became Sheriff of Northampton. The other
daughter died. I liked to go to Sir John Hawkins’: he used to talk to me of his quarrels,
and he was always quarrelling. He had a fierce dispute with Doctor Hawkesworth,
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who wrote the ‘Adventurer,” and managed the ‘Gentleman’s Magazine,” which he
called his Dragon. He had a woman in his house with red hair; and this circumstance,
of which Hawkins availed himself, gave him much advantage in the controversy.
Hawkins was always tormenting me with his disputatious correspondence; always
wondering how there could be so much depravity in human nature; yet he was himself
a good-for-nothing fellow, haughty and ignorant, picking up little anecdotes and little
bits of knowledge. He was a man of sapient look. ‘All is not gold that glistens.’
Another sapient-looking man was White, the Solicitor to the Treasury, a trumpery
creature: he was remarkably staid. I saw him walking arm-in-arm with Lord Eldon,
happily suited. There was Lowndes, too, ill-tempered to the last degree. He was Pitt’s
doer for the Treasury acts, and was made Chairman of the Board of Taxes. When
Morton Pitt invited Minister Pitt and others to meet me, Lowndes was there. He was
insolent and stupid beyond all conception. I had occasion to see how miserably all
public business is conducted. Lady Hawkins told me, that on one occasion she had
made twenty-seven cups of tea for Dr Johnson.”

“While at the university, [ wrote some verses on the taking of the Havannah; they
were given to Dr Johnson, who made, what I thought, some unfounded criticisms on
them. The verses, with the criticism, I gave to Miss V—, who wanted to possess Dr
Johnson’s antograph.”

“I never saw Sir William Jones but once. He was an industrious man with no sort of
genius, who made a great rout about small matters, and went spinning cobwebs out of
his own brain, and winding them round common law.”

Chamberlain Clarke was an old and intimate acquaintance of the Bentham family. He
married the daughter of one of the trustees of Sir John Cass’s Charity, with a fortune
of £12,000.

Bentham sketched Clarke’s character thus:—

“He ridiculed Panopticon; he had admiration for all that is ancient; dislike for all that
is modern: he had a theory that law should descend from generation to generation,
because law 1s weighty, and ought, therefore, naturally to descend: he put me on the
wrong scent in my studies; prevented my getting forward by always driving me back,
back. He set me to read indifferent accounts of law as it was; he so filled my mind
with notions of the merit of looking backwards, that I took to Anglo-Saxon inquiries,
studied their language, and set myself to learning laws that had passed away.

“I remember joining him to deplore the loss of Lord Mansfield’s MSS. by the mob; I
should now think such a loss a gain.

“Clarke was an amiable and inoffensive man. When, about 1792, an act passed for
making paid police magistrates—a bill drawn up by the late Lord Colchester, then Mr
Abbot—Clarke applied for, and obtained one of the appointments. He had been
formerly clerk to Sir John Hawkins.”
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The first brief Bentham ever got, was from Mr Clarke; it was a suit in equity, on
which £50 depended; and the counsel he gave was, that the suit had better be put an
end to, and the money that would be wasted in the contest saved.

“He used to show me a book he had, which belonged to John Locke. The writing was
a common hand; stiff and stately, like that of King William’s days.”

There was a sort of rivalry between Chamberlain Clarke, who had bought Cowley’s
house, and Mr Bentham, senior, who had bought Milton’s: it was this circumstance
that induced him to wish to obtain Milton’s picture. In his Diary is this
memorandum:—

“1776, January 26.—Called at Mr Joseph Bolton’s, who told me that Mr Hall had
directed him to send me the picture of John Milton,* by way of present.”

Memorandum on the back of the picture:—

“The original of this picture is in the hands of the Right Honourable Arthur Onslow,
Speaker of the House of Commons,* and was procured for him by me, from the
executors of Milton’s widow, soon after her death, which happened in Cheshire about
1728. He gave twenty guineas for it. This copy was done by Mr Philip Gresha, for me.

“12th January, 1737-8.

“William Cowper.

“Cl. dom. dom.”

In another page of the same Diary is the following mem.:—

“The following is a copy of an inscription, under the handwriting of Arthur Onslow,
Esq., late Speaker of the House of Commons, at the back of a picture of Milton, at
Ember Court, Surrey:—

“ “This original picture of Milton I bought in the year 1729 or 30, and paid twenty
guineas for it, of Mr Cumberbatch, a gentleman of very good consideration in
Chester, who was a relation and executor of the will of Milton’s last wife, who died a
little while before that time. He told me it hung up in her chamber till her death, and
that she used to say her husband gave it her, to show her what he was in his youth,
being drawn when he was about twenty-one years of age.

“‘Ar. Onslow.’
“ ‘Mr Hawkins Browne, (author of the poem De Animi Immortalitate,) told me (8th
October, 1753) that he knew this Mrs Milton; visited her often, and well remembered

this picture hanging in her chamber, and which, she said, was of her husband.

13 CA' 0'3
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“Compare this picture with that of Milton in his old age, or with the print of it by
White. Mem. The above picture, upon a view of it, (at the Right Hon. George
Onslow’s, lately made Lord Cranley,) on the 2d June, 1776, by me Jeremiah
Bentham, appeared to me to be twenty-two inches long, by eighteen inches wide,
within the frame.”

Jeremiah Bentham collected in his memoranda books many particulars of the poet.
Some of these appear worth preserving. They were extracted probably from the
periodicals of his day, as for example:

“Mr Jonathan Hartop, now living at the village of Aldborough, near Boroughbridge,
Yorkshire, has attained the amazing age of 137 years, having been born in 1653. His
father and mother both died of the plague at their house in the Minories, 1666, and he
perfectly remembered the great fire of London. He is short in stature, has been
married eight times, and has now alive 7 children, 26 grandchildren, 74 great-
grandchildren, and 40 great-great-grandchildren. He can read without spectacles, and
plays at cribbage with perfect recollection. Last Christmas day, he walked nine miles
to dine with one of his great-grandchildren. He remembers Charles the Second
perfectly well, and once travelled to London with the facetious Killigrew. He eats but
little, and drinks nothing but milk. He enjoys an uninterrupted flow of spirits. The
third wife of this very extraordinary old man, was an illegitimate daughter of Oliver
Cromwell, who gave with her a portion of five hundred pounds. He has in his
possession a fine portrait of the usurper by Cooper, for which the late Mr Hollis
offered him three hundred pounds.

“Mr Hartop lent the great Milton fifty pounds soon after the Restoration, which the
bard returned to him with honour, although not without much difficulty, as his
circumstances were very low. Mr Hartop would have declined receiving it again, but
the pride of the poet was equal to his genius, and he sent the money with an angry
letter, which is extant among the curious possessions of this venerable man.”

The following is a copy of a letter from Mr George Vertue to Mr Charles Christian:—

“Mr Christian,—

Pray inform my Lord Harley that I have, on Thursday last, seen the daughter of
Milton the poet. I carried with me two or three different prints of Milton’s picture,
which she immediately knew as like her father; and told me her mother-in-law, living
in Cheshire, had two portraits of him—one when he was a school-boy, and the other
when he was about twenty. She knows of no other picture of him, because she was
several years in Ireland both before and after his death. She was the youngest of
Milton’s daughters by his first wife, and was taught to read to her father several
languages.

“Mr Addison was desirous of seeing her once, and desired she would bring with her
testimonials of being Milton’s daughter; but as soon as she came into the room, he
told her she needed none, her face having much of the likeness of the picture he had
seen of him.
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“For my part, I find the features of her face very much like the prints; I showed her
the painting | have to engrave, which she believes not to be her father’s picture, it
being of a brown complexion, and black hair and curled locks. On the contrary, he
was of a fair complexion, a little red in the cheeks, and light-brown lank hair.

(Signed) “George Vertue.”

“At this period, 1768-70,” continued Bentham, “I used to visit a foreign merchant of
the name of Pierre Vrillon, who lived in St Martin’s Lane, Canon Street, and managed
to have a pretty garden at the top of his house. His dress was always very mean; his
garments coarse; and he wore coarse woollen stockings at a time when everybody
contrived to spend as much as they could upon dress. His talk of foreign countries, of
which I knew nothing, and of which he knew much, was fascinating to me. He used to
go sponging from house to house, by way of saving what he could; but once, when his
brother, with whom he lived, was absent, he took the opportunity of giving us a
handsome dinner. There I first saw, to my amazement, cucumbers stuffed with
meat,—vegetables whose bellies were full of animal food; it was a contrast to all I had
seen before—a sort of a reversal of natural order. On that day, I made the
acquaintance of Mr Peter Nouailles, a refugee of French extraction. He had a
handsome house in town, which I visited. What a charming wife he had, and what a
sweet daughter of thirteen, who played exquisitely on the harpsichord! Mr Nouailles
had invented a cheap covering for houses; a mixture of tar and sand. I do not know
whether it ever occurred to him to introduce water between it and the roof, as an
additional security.

“Vrillon told me it was the constant practice in Italy to preserve ripe fruit in wax.
Why should not experiments be made for a purpose so useful? Would fruits so
preserved be allowed to be imported here? or would there be, as usual, some
absurdity, that if they were entered as fruit, they would be called wax; if wax, they
would be called fruit. There is a strange prejudice against myrtle wax; why should it
not be used? It would look well to have two green candles and two white. Why not
use it for the Virgin Mary and the Saints, who are very fond of candles?

“I made an equestrian tour with my uncle and aunt, in 1768. He always kept two
horses, one for himself, and one for his man; but our cavalcade was four: he on
horseback, she on horseback, your humble servant on horseback, and our humble
servant on horseback. We went to see a Mr Osborne, who had a good estate called
Turville Court. (General Dumouriez died there.) He had retired from business, and
lived in a handsome house at the top of a hill, with the ground prettily tumbled about
in its neighbourhood. He had a wife and an only son; had been an adjutant in the
militia, which brought him into contact with the colonel, Lord Le Despenser, one of
Wilkes’ set—anti-religious. His lordship had been annoyed with a church which stood
in the way of his prospect; so he threw it down and built another on the summit of the
hill, and sadly scandalized divers old ladies thereby. His lordship, who had been
Postmaster-general, got Osborne’s son a place in the Post-office; but he misconducted
himself and fell into indigence. Among my uncle’s acquaintances, were the stewards
to Lord Fitzwilliam and Lord Spencer; we visited the stewards, and heard much of the
losses and injury which Lord S. had sustained from election riots. His fortune was
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considerably damaged, and he was obliged to maintain the rioters in prison. But the
steward had acquired, from nothing, enough to buy a handsome estate. In the
neigbourhood of Stratford-on-Avon, we spent two or three days at a house in the
midst of islands divided by little streams. At Leicester, we went to see a tesselated
pavement with stones of the size of dice. At Althorp we were the guests of the
steward, and dined with the upper servants. In the steward’s room were various
documents and parchments, among which was the account of the prosecution of a
woman for selling her small beer too small.

“The year 1769 was to me a most interesting year. [ was, I remember, reading
Montesquieu, when the Archbishop of York called on me, to solicit my vote for
Jenkinson and Hay. Prodigiously courteous was his grace; though I was only half
dressed, and was busy, too, on chemistry, evaporating urine in order to obtain
phosphorus. The ignorant mother of Chamberlain Clarke laughed at me, but laughed
in vain. [ was beginning to get gleams of practical philosophy. Montesquieu,
Barrington, Beccaria, and Helvetius, but most of all Helvetius, set me on the principle
of utility. When I had sketched a few vague notions on the subject, I looked delighted
at my work. I remember asking myself—Would I take £500 for that sheet of paper?
Poor as I was, I answered myself—No! that [ would not.”

With Chamberlain Clarke, Bentham undertook a pedestrian expedition in 1770. He
wore leather breeches, and was sadly pinched. They “went first to Oxford; afterwards
to Farringdon, the seat of Mr Pye, who had been the M.P. for Berkshire. He
afterwards broke down, became Poet Laureat, and one of the magistrates of Queen
Square. He wrote travels in the aristocratical style; was intimate with Mitford: but his
acquaintance was not worth making. He was a poet, preeterea nihil. He asked leave
for his daughter to walk in my garden; I told him my time was too much occupied to
show her any attention. We walked up Birdlip Hill-—on whose top was a little public-
house—whence you look down on an avenue, at the end of which, and at a distance of
six or seven miles, the city of Gloucester opens upon the view.

“At Oxford, David Coke introduced me to all the courts, and to Judge Blackstone in
his robes. I told him Clarke was an attorney; he was astonished, and said, his
appearance was far superior to that of a grimgibber. The attorneys of those days were
little thought of.

“A talkative lady at Oxford wanted me to marry her daughter; and, on one occasion, |
was obliged to escape out of the window. Her husband (Dr Bentham) was a little,
insignificant, industrious man, who had got some reputation for his spontaneous
divinity lectures, but was at the same time sorely quizzed; yet he was an excellent
tutor, of quiet and gentle demeanour; and he threw out from the press, every now and
then, a bit of Greek criticism, of which I got a copy—Aoyot emtagpior—it was always
commonplace, as he was commonplace; and I was never fond of commonplaces.

“In this journey with Chamberlain Clarke, we went to Pursfield, belonging to

Valentine Morris, who actually ruined himself by his liberal entertainment of visiters.
It was a beautiful place; everybody went there; got letters from friends, or friends’
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friends; so he thought he could do no other than exhibit hospitality: he gave them free
dinners, and ran himself out.

“One day, when we were hungry, we found we were on the estate of a Mr
Clutterbuck; we made up a theory that he must be a relation of a Mr Clutterbuck we
knew; and our theory obtained for us some cheese and ale from a John Bull peasant
who lived on the property.”

In the visits which Bentham paid to the country with his father and stepmother, and
which were frequent at this period, he usually walked behind them, alone, reading;
and his favourite book was “Helvetius de I’Esprit.”

One of Bentham’s most intimate acquaintances was Lind. He was known in political
circles as the correspondent of the King of Poland. “I wrote the design,” he said, “to
Lind’s book on the Colonies; he would have set his signature blindfold to anything I
had written. Lind, in consequence of his book, got an order to draw up a declaration
against the revolted colonies. There were two such declarations. Gibbon drew up the
other. Lind had various sorts of style. He got £1000 for writing the addresses of Lord
Pigot. For his Manifesto, he got £50 a-year for each of his sisters. The Manifesto was
not well done. Lind was of North’s (Bishop of Winchester’s) gambling parties; he
wanted to get into parliament, and to be chairman of ways and means. I remember his
speaking of a relation, one Dr Lind, who was an author, and who valued himself most
highly on being an author: he had written a book on the diseases peculiar to hot
climates. Lind was an industrious author; his manners were easy, gentlemanly, and
fashionable. Lind had two sisters at Rochford, where I had a little estate, which I let to
a butcher of the name of Boosey; and Boosey was a Dissenter. We went one day and
dined with him. After dinner, he took us to his meeting. I went with him a short way
up the gallery; and the minister was making his prayer, and saying, as it appeared to
me, ‘O Lord! that alterest all events.” ‘O,’ said I, ‘that is ultra-omnipotence;’ and |
broke out into a most violent but irresistible burst of laughter. I was near the door, and
I made my escape without disturbing the congregation. It was a paroxysm; but it
disturbed me greatly. At that time, Boosey was overseer of the poor; who lived in
clover. He told me there had been a meeting among them, because he gave them
sheep’s heads, which they called offal. Not long after, dining with Adam, (the father
of all the Adams who had got places,) there was a sheep’s head (Scotticé) with the
hair singed. I thought it a strange coincidence that the poor of a parish should rise in
rebellion against a dish which was the favourite dish at the table of an aristocrat.”

The following letter, addressed to me by Bentham, towards the close of his life, gives
a graphic account of Lind and others, with whom Bentham came in contact in early
life. It was written for the purpose of supplying information to Mr Barker, who was
then preparing materials for his Parriana, in the second volume of which it is printed
at length:—

“Queen’s Square Place, Westminster,
30th January, 1827.

“To John Bowring, Esq.
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“My Dear Sir,—

Your friend, Mr Barker’s commands, have been noted by me, and what follows is the
fruit of my obedience.

“John Lind and [Nathaniel] Forster: yes, both of them, were friends of my youth,
though Forster’s christian name is not now remembered by me,—Lind a most
intimate one.

“As to Lind, the origin of my acquaintance with him was this:—His father was by
parentage, if not by birth, a Scotchman; he was a clergyman, and had a living in
Colchester; he was a spendthrift. By I know not what accident, my father became
acquainted with him. By my father’s advice, a female relation of his bought an
annuity of the reverend divine, and, in process of time, his property and income found
its way into the hands of a set of creditors, of whom that same relation of my father’s
was one. Lind, the son, was a commoner, at Baliol College, Oxford. When he had
taken his B.A. degree, he took orders. Soon after, a Mr Murray (I forget of what
family, but I believe of some one of the noble families of that name) set out on his
embassy for Constantinople. Lind, by what means I either never knew or have
forgotten, became known to him, and went with him in the capacity of chaplain. I was
at that time living in chambers in Lincoln’s Inn, where, a little before his departure, I
received a short visit from him. His father’s income being at that time in my father’s
hands, as trustee for his creditors, my father advanced to the son the sum of £30, to
contribute to his equipment. We heard no more from him, or of him, for I forget how
many years. Mr Barker knows, I suppose, which is more than I do, (for I question
whether I have now a copy of the work,) in what year those same letters he mentions
on the partition of Poland came out. In that same year, (1773,) as will appear in the
title-page of the book, he returned to England with the title of Privy-councillor to his
Polish Majesty, governor of an institution founded by the virtuous and unhappy
monarch for the education of four hundred cadets, and the office, or rather the private
trust, of governor to his nephew, Prince Stanislaus Poniatowski, in whose suite he
came. On his arrival, after paying his devoirs and debt to my father, he called upon
me at Lincoln’s Inn, and we soon became intimate. The reverend divine, with the
black garb and clerical wig, was now transformed into the man of fashion, with his
velvet satinlined coat, embroidered waistcoat, ruffles of rich lace, and hair dressed a
la mode. When he quitted Constantinople, it was not without a set of powerful and
useful recommendations to different places, through which he had to pass in his return
by land to England.

“About this time, a Prince Czartoriski, uncle to the king, became desirous of having
some Englishman, of good character, to read English to him. The recommendations
Lind brought with him procured him a welcome reception from the prince. The
regular part of his employment consisted in the reading, as it came, of the St James'’s
Chronicle. In those days, that newspaper found its way, and, for aught I know, it may
still, into various and distant parts of Europe. In the year 1788, I found a copy at
Bucharest,* to which place it came at the joint expense of a Greek, whose name I do
not remember, and Mr Weber, a German, whose occupation there consisted, in part or
in the whole, in teaching English. In the Greek, I found, to my equal surprise and
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satisfaction, an intelligent young man, who spoke French perfectly, and read
Helvetius. In the imperial agent of that place, I had the still greater satisfaction of
finding a very intelligent man, who had a very good English library, and, amongst
other books, ‘Smith’s Wealth of Nations.” But this is a digression and old man’s tattle.
I correct myself, and return to Lind. Upon his arrival in London, in the character just
mentioned, his book passed with rapidity through the press, and brought his reputation
immediately into full bloom. He was well received by the then minister, Lord North.
The King of Poland, in the course of a visit of a year or more he had paid to England,
before his election to the throne, had become acquainted with Lord Mansfield, then in
all his glory, and Chief Justice of the King’s Bench. Lind brought letters with him
from the king to Lord Mansfield, and was well received by the noble and learned lord.
He had not been long in London when, for the purpose of being near me, he took
lodgings, I do not remember exactly where; and, not long after, took and furnished a
house in Red Lion Street (or East Street may, for aught I know, be the name of it) near
Lamb’s, Conduit Street, where he continued till his death. Much about this time, he
entered at Lincoln’s Inn, for the purpose of being called to the bar, which calling he
received in due season. All this while, he was living in the high world, and in
particular in ministerial circles. More than once, when I have been at his house, I have
seen him come in with his purse sometimes replenished, too often drained, at the card-
parties of Mrs North, lady of the then Bishop of Winchester, brother to the minister.
At the breaking out of the American war, he was employed in penning a sort of
manifesto, published in justification of it. Not long before or after, another paper,
written on I forget what different occasion, for the same purpose, bespoken by the
same official customer, was penned by historian Gibbon. A notion has found its way
to Mr Barker that Lind had written and published a treatise on grammar. I think I can
direct him to the origin of this notion. No such treatise did my ex-reverend friend ever
publish or write. He had neither relish nor literary assets for any such literary
enterprise. His views had a busier and higher direction. But he thought he had made
one grammatical discovery, and he was ambitious to distinguish himself by it, and
plant reformation in the language. Where anybody else would say himself, he took
upon himself to say Aisself. This innovation found its way into his diplomatic paper: it
attracted notice, but gave to it an air of singularity, of pedantry, of affectation, which
certainly did not contribute to the success of it. I threw what cold water I could upon
an ambition so unworthy of him, but did not succeed in quenching it.

“The reception given to his Polish Letters encouraged him to take a new and
adventurous course in the world of politics. The result was, a work which bore for its
title, “A Review of the Acts of the Thirteenth Parliament,” &c., but it went no further
than the acts passed on the occasion of the contest with America, and closed with the
act called the Quebec Act, by which a constitution, in the true Tory style, and under
the auspices, if not by the pen, of Lord Mansfield, was given to Canada. In that work I
had some small share. I have preserved a copy, and shall say more of it by and by. He
wrote with rapidity and carelessness, without looking at it: he would have signed with
eagerness anything that [ wrote: his style was rather loose and negligent—it was not
equal to what it was at the writing of the Polish Letters: though naturally cheerful, he
was not quite in such good spirits at this time as in that: in respect of pecuniary
circumstances, he was not quite so much at his ease. I touched it up a little in several
places; but before it was brought to the length of the Quebec Act, I lost sight of it. He
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was in haste to get it out, and circumstances, either on his part or on mine, or on both,
admitted not of its passing at that time through my hands. Though writing on the
government side, in support of that war which, from its want of success, has now
become so universally disapproved, his mind was by no means destitute of the spirit
of independence. On the occasion in question, without dictation or instruction, he
wrote as he thought, which was as I thought. For by the badness of the arguments
used on behalf of the Americans, on that side of the water as well as on this, my
judgment, unwarped by connexion or hope, (for connexion I had none—hope
proportionable,) was ranked on the government side. The whole of the case was
founded on the assumption of natural rights, claimed without the slightest evidence
for their existence, and supported by vague and declamatory generalities. If
government be only the representative of rights, for which there is no standard, and
about which there will be an infinite variety of opinions, the right to which the mother
country laid claim would seem to stand on an older and a firmer foundation than the
rights pretended by the colonies.

“A compliment I remember Lind reported to me as paid him by Lord Manstield, was
much more favourable to him than I had expected. It was to some such effect as this:
where you have justified, you have justified convincingly; where you have censured,
you have censured freely. The act was indeed widely open to censure: the censure, to
judge now from the impression I remember it made on me, had more of strength and
freedom than of correctness or discernment in it. Considering the quarter from
whence the above judgment came, my surprise at finding it so favourable was not
inconsiderable. But by the timid and crafty lawyer, the revenge, if any such was taken,
was concealed by prudence: certain it is that, during the remainder of their joint lives,
Lind being all the time at the bar, a letter of intercession which the King of Poland
wrote to Lord Mansfield, for the purpose of obtaining for the Anglo-Polish privy-
counsellor the benefit of the noble and learned lord’s patronage, was not productive of
any effect. ‘His majesty knows very little of me,” said the Chief Justice to the
Barrister, ‘if he thinks that anything that he or any body else could say to me, could
add anything to my desire to give to the public the benefit of your services.” His
labours, however, though the reward came from another quarter, did not go
unrewarded. On his return to England, he found his two maiden sisters, Mary and
Leetitia, both a little younger than himself, keeping at Colchester a boarding-school
for young ladies. It was not without some difficulty that they contrived to keep up in
that situation a respectable appearance. I do not remember exactly what time it was,
but it was during Lord North’s administration, and a considerable number of years
after the publication of that work of his, that a pension of £50 a-year for life was
granted to each of these two sisters. You will have been expecting to hear something
of the young Telemachus, to whom, on the occasion of his visit to this island, my ex-
reverend friend came officiating in the character of Mentor: how it happened, I do not
exactly remember, but so it was, that notwithstanding my intimacy with the Mentor, I
never saw the Telemachus. The case must have been, that Mentor must have been a
considerable time in England before he deigned to visit my humble roof, if a garret in
Lincoln’s Inn may be so termed. The giddiness produced by the exalted vortex in
which on his arrival he found himself whirled, kept out of his remembrance, I believe
for some months, the little debt he owed to my father: and till matters were thus
settled with the father, it was not natural he should feel disposed to pay a visit to the
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son, who at that time was all but unknown to him. The stay of the prince must, I think,
have been but short. By whatsoever cause this shortness was produced, no
dissatisfaction towards the Mentor in the breast either of the prince or of his royal
uncle, could have had any part in it. A letter | remember seeing from the king to him,
shortly after the return of the prince to Warsaw, concluded with these words—*E¥¢
dans tout ce que je vois en lui, je reconnois votre ouvrage.’

“In addition to the two situations above-mentioned, one of which, by his departure
from Warsaw, the other by the departure of the prince from England, were become
sinecures, one which I have not yet mentioned was far indeed from being so. From the
day of his arrival in London to I believe the day of his death, which took place before
that of the virtuous and unhappy king, scarce a post-day arrived in which he did not
write a letter to the king; in short, he was in fact the minister, and more than the
plenipotentiary, of the king, to this court, in trust and effect, though not in name. In
name he would have been, but it was a maxim with George the Third—and being so
natural a one, I know not that in his instance it was a new one—not to receive as a
diplomatic agent for doing business with him, and in this way on a footing savouring
of equality, any subject of his own: the same maxim prevented, | remember, another
old friend of mine from being received in form as agent from the free city of
Hamburgh. As an expedient for producing the substance without the form, a Pole of
the name of Burkarti was sent by the king, with the concurrence of the Senate, if that
was necessary, in the character of resident to reside in this court, in which character
he continued to reside for a considerable number of years, and I believe as long as he
lived. I knew something of him. I used every now and then to see him. I remember
dining with him on a summer’s day, at a comfortable and pleasant apartment he had in
a spacious mansion, occupied as a boarding-school by Johnson’s friend, Elphinston,
who published a book in such English as you see employed in French grammars, for
the purpose of teaching Frenchmen how to pronounce English, written for the purpose
of demonstrating, that it is an Englishman’s bounden duty to write English exactly as
he speaks it. But Elphinston was not Burkarti, nor in intellect would he have gained
much by being so; not that he was at all the worse for this, but the better. It was for
the express purpose of officiating in the character of a cipher that he was sent to this
country and retained in it. In everything but bulk, in which he reminded one of a fat
ox, he was a puppet, and Lind it was that moved the wires. Every now and then I used
to see a letter from the king to his faithful, intelligent, and zealous agent. Once, I
remember, at my friend’s desire, in consequence of a sudden and imperative call to
other occupations, I held the pen in his stead: the function was a flattering one to my
young ambition. A pun I remember letting off gives some indication as to the time.
The cabinet squabbles, produced by the collision of two such hard and rough
characters as Minister Pitt and Chancellor Thurlow, were matter of notoriety, and
formed part and parcel of the history of the day. The account I gave of them was
expressed by three words—*“Le chancelier chancele, ” and the truth of the intelligence
was not long after demonstrated by the event. At the above-mentioned residence,
economical as was necessarily the style of it, Lind was occasionally visited by foreign
ministers and other persons of distinction. The only ones that I now recollect were the
late Baron Masares, the public-spirited constitutionalist, and one of the most honest
lawyers England ever saw; and Lord Chancellor Rosslyn, at that time Solicitor-
general, both at the same time on the same evening. The deep bass voice and cold
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gravity of the crown lawyer, still dwell on my ear and memory. Some little
conversation with him fell to my share. Not to any such honour as that of being
present at his table: according to what I used to hear from those who had, my loss was
not very considerable. The deportment of the master of the house used to be,
according to those reports, more suitable to a funeral than a dinner: ice waited not for
the desert: it encompassed every course: favour me with a little salt, said somebody
on one of these occasions to his neighbour; or, as Mr Godwin would have informed
us, might have said: as for the Attic, it will enter, let us hope, with the bottles.

“This preéminent lawyer happened to furnish, within my observation, two exhibitions
as strongly contrasted, perhaps, as ever were furnished by the same person in so short
a space of time. The first time I saw him he was in black, with the sword stuck by his
side, holding up the train of the then chancellor; but this is not one of the two I mean.
Not long after this, attending in the Court of King’s Bench as a student, I saw him
with a silk gown on his back making a motion with far more hesitation and distress
than I ever witnessed on the part of the youngest and most obscure tyro. This was the
first time of my seeing him in the character of a lawyer: the last time was at the
council-board. It must, I think, have been by Lind’s means that I enjoyed a privilege
in which I had so few to share with me. I speak only from present inference; for I do
not recollect that he himself was there. At that board, Franklin stood as the silent and
necessarily defenceless butt of his eloquent invectives. No hesitation then: self and
language were, in equal perfection, subjects of command. Fortunate was I beyond all
probability in being present at so memorable a scene. Members of the board, nearer a
dozen, I believe, than a score, sitting on the opposite sides of a long table. At the
upper end, the Duke of Portland as president. Auditors, I question whether there were
more than a dozen besides myself. Of the president’s chair, the back parallel to and
not far distant from the fire: the chimney-piece projecting a foot or two from that side
of the apartment formed a recess on each side. Alone in the recess, on the left hand of
the president, stood Benjamin Franklin, in such position as not to be visible from the
situation of the president, remaining the whole time like a rock in the same posture,
his head resting on his left hand; and in that attitude abiding the pelting of the pitiless
storm. If necessary, at the call of a subpcena, I could give some tolerable account of
the materials, colour, and buttons of that coat which, I am ashamed to think, retarded,
for such a length of time, not much less, I fear, than a week,—if not the cessation of
hostilities, at any rate the conclusion of peace between so many mighty contending
powers and their subject millions. Before the incident ever found its way into the
public prints, I had it from a noble friend, who was present at the last exhibition of the
important vestment as [ was at the first. To return to Wedderburn. I was not more
astonished at the brilliancy of his lightning, than astounded by the thunder that
accompanied it. As he stood, the cushion lay on the council-table before him: his
station was between the seats of two of the members on the side of the right hand of
the Lord President. So narrow were the dimensions of this important justice-chamber;
they were those of a private drawing-room. I would not, for double the greatest fee the
orator could on that occasion have received, been in the place of that cushion: the ear
was stunned at every blow: he had been reading, perhaps, in that book in which the
prince of Roman orators and rhetoric professors instructs his pupils how to make
impression. To the instrument recommended, I think by Cicero, the floor being hard,
and the cushion soft, he substituted the hand. Our late friend [Dr Parr]—considering
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whom I am now addressing, [Mr Barker,] I run no small risk in venturing the
observation—seemed to have studied in the same school. Lest for making the desired
impression psychological power should not suffice, he rather too often helped it out
with physical, and the table groaned under the assault. The striking contrast between
the early and the later exhibitions of the accomplished orator may afford an
encouraging lesson to young men. I remember a similar, though not an equal, contrast
in Lord Kenyon. I remember a similar and equal contrast in the fortification-loving
Duke of Richmond, from whom, when occupying the place now occupied by
Wellington, at the house from which I write, I had once the honour of a visit, which,
according to a custom scarce ever infringed in my whole life, I left unreturned.

“When Lord Pigot’s conduct, in his capacity of Governor of Madras, became the
subject of inquiry and accusation, as is shown in the history of the day, Lind, in his
capacity of barrister, was applied to, to defend him; and accordingly did so in a quarto
volume, for which he received, if I misrecollect not, the sum of £1000. This, I think,
was the sum received by Lord Thurlow, when counsel, for the part he took, I do not
exactly recollect which, in the great Douglas cause. This being a matter of a
comparatively private nature, and for which such a rapidity was requisite as could not
admit of any time for revision by a friend, I took no part in it, unless it were in the
way of incidental conversation. His marriage took place at St Andrew’s, Holborn:
name of the officiating clergyman, I believe, Eton; present, his eldest sister May, and
your humble servant, who, in the character of father for the occasion, gave the bride
away. This, you will see, is tolerably good evidence, that there be nothing about me to
render me, either in law incompetent, or in probability incredible. As to the time, the
Register will show it: not so much as the year is at present in my remembrance. |
question whether, since the time of my first seeing the lady, a twelve-month had
elapsed. Genealogical importance the ceremony had none; of political, it was not
altogether destitute: no sooner had the event taken place, than the bridegroom sent
advice of it to his royal master: the answer was, the grant of a life annuity of five
hundred ducats, (the half of his,) in the event of her surviving him; and this annuity,
as I had occasion to know, for I had some trouble with it, was paid for a number of
years. The injured king’s finances being in a state less and less flourishing, I had
every now and then to turn secretary in her name. Sometimes, I believe, it was to him
that the letter was addressed: sometimes to his above-mentioned nephew, who, if I do
not forget, had a few debentures in our Irish tontines, in which case it must have been
in the first class, bearing date the year 1773. When the king died, the arrear was
considerable. Letters, one or more, from the king to her on the occasion of the news of
her husband’s death, I recollect seeing: they, or one of them, were written in English,
in a style which could scarcely have been distinguished from an Englishman’s. In one
of them, speaking of the pension, ‘I have fixed a pension upon you,” was the
expression, instead of settled a pension upon you, or granted a pension to you. During
the marriage, she had a sufficient stock of acquaintance of visiters of her own sex to
render her situation comfortable: some of them even belonging to persons of
distinction. After his death, she took lodgings in Pall Mall: they followed her there,
and the assortment was rather augmented than diminished. At length, resources
failing, she quitted that situation, and retired to a creditable boarding-house. But in the
meantime she had received an assured, though smaller, provision from an annuity left
her by a reverend divine, name forgotten, whom I never saw; my communication with
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her having suffered frequent interruptions by my own travels and other incidents. On
her death, her small pecuniary remains fell, I forget how, into the hands of a
gentleman of the name of Combe, whom till then I had never seen. He was, I believe,
a man of some fashion. I think I remember hearing him called by the name,—a nick-
name, of Count Combe. If so the circumstance is singular enough; for some years
before, another man whom I knew, used, I am certain, to be distinguished by that
nick-name,—a man who published a sort of romance, entitled the ‘Devil upon Two
Sticks, in London,’ in imitation of the well-known French novel of that name. In her
husband’s lifetime, and during her widowhood, a portrait of the above-mentioned
prince had constantly hung over the drawing-room chimney-piece: some persons saw
in it a resemblance to my brother, men of the same age. Mr Combe pressed it upon
me, and it has since figured over one of my own chimney-pieces. Amongst her relics
of better times, was a portrait of the King of Poland on the lid of a gold snuff-box,
given by him to her husband. At that time, Prince Adam Czartoriski, a near relation of
the king, son, I believe, or grandson of the Prince Czartoriski herein above-mentioned,
happened to be in England. He was universally regarded as being about to have the
management of the affairs of the newly truncated kingdom of Poland under the
Emperor Alexander. He called upon me for the purpose of requesting my assistance in
the business of codification for that country. I took the opportunity of getting the
snuff-box, showing it him, and asking him whether he knew of anybody who would
be disposed to give for it anything more than the value of the gold. After keeping it a
few days, he returned it to me, saying, that there was nothing very particular either in
the likeness or in the workmanship, and that resemblances, in different forms, of the
unfortunate king were by no means scarce. I returned it to Mr Combe, and what
became either of the snuff-box, or the gentleman, I have never since heard.

“Now as to Mr Forster. The first time of my seeing him was in the year 1762, or
thereabouts. I had at that time been living and keeping terms at Queen’s College,
Oxford, of which college, while yet at Westminster School, I was entered, I believe,
as early as the summer of 1759. I was removed thither early, I think it was in the year
1760; for paternal authority compelled me to hammer out and send in, as a candidate
for admission into the customary academical collection of half lamentational, half
congratulational, rhythmical commonplaces, the subject of which was the loss of one
king and the acquisition of another, a copy in sapphics, the first stanza of which
figures in a whole-length portrait of me, in my academical dress, which, by an odd
series of accidents, has fallen into your possession. The chambers I then occupied (for
I changed my local situation in the college not long afterwards) were upon the two-
pair-of-stairs’ floor, on the further corner of the inner quadrangle, on the right hand as
you enter into it from the outer door. I was dressing to go down to dinner in the hall,
at half an hour after twelve,—in those days the hour in that and most of the other
colleges, though in some it was as early as eleven; when I heard a rap at my
door,—went to it, opened it, and, to my no small confusion, (for my dress was
scarcely adjusted, and my discarded shirt lay sprawling upon the floor,) when in came
a grave and important-looking personage, in a Master-of-Arts gown, ushering in a
smart and sprightly lady. The lady, who had never as yet seen my father, became
afterwards his second wife. She was the widow of a Rev. Mr Abbot, who, having
been a Fellow of Baliol College, Oxford, had, in the spiritual routine of preferment,
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migrated from a fellowship in that college, to a college living at Colchester. She was
then his window.

“The above was the first time of my seeing Mr Forster. The second time was in the
company and at the house of Mr Lind. We visited and were visited. Forster was at that
time rector of a Baliol-college living, at Colchester. He had another and very different
occupation—that of manufacturer of an Index to several volumes of the House-of-
Commons’ Journals, for which service his remuneration, if I do not misrecollect,
amounted to £3000. His acquaintance with Lind was produced by an obvious
cause—residence in the same society in the season of youth; his intimacy by
conformity of opinion on the most important subjects. Forster was a man of a strong
will, strong intellect, bold temperament, and excellent moral character, in every walk
of private life; happy in wife and children, and, by his own behaviour towards them,
well deserving so to be. At this time, the topic of subscription to the Thirty-nine
Articles being upon the carpet in parliament and elsewhere, he had written and
published a pamphlet in support of that institution. This advocate for orthodoxy was at
the same time a much too open professor of Atheism. This was the only failing I ever
saw in him. It could not but have operated as a bar to that advancement which,
otherwise, his talents might have ensured. I had not many times seen him at Mr
Lind’s, when, in compliance with an invitation from him, I visited Colchester, and
passed a week or two at his house. Of what passed at that visit, nothing determinate
dwells on my recollection, except the circumstance, that this was the first time of my
ever seeing Dr Parr. His situation at that time was that of master or usher to a school
in that town. Mr Forster took me with him one day to pay him a short visit, place not
recollected, except that no boys were visible at it. It served as the foundation of the
acquaintance which afterwards took place between us; and this is all that I remember
about it, except it be that one day we were conversing upon terms of intimacy and
freedom, he brought it to my inemory saying that, at that time, he little expected to
find in me the sort of person he now beheld in me; for that, in my dress, there was
something which bespoke a young man who would have been glad to be a fop, had he
been able. I do not think I ever saw him at Lind’s. I must have seen him, I think, more
than once at Romilly’s, and thence afterwards at my own house. He was anxious to
introduce me to the late Mr Fox, but, as I did not hear that Mr Fox had anything in
particular to say to me, and I knew I had nothing in particular to say to Mr Fox, this
state of things was with me, in that instance, as at all times it has been in every other,
a sufficient reason for declining it. It was in the summer of, I think, the year 1804,
that, in pursuance of a kind invitation from him, I went upon a little excursion, and
passed a very agreeable week or thereabouts at his parsonage. Mr Koe, at present an
eminent barrister at the Chancery Bar, then living with me as an amanuensis,
accompanied me. We there found the Doctor, his first wife, and a very agreeable and
intelligent young lady, his daughter, then unmarried; the other was not there, having
for some time been married to Mr Wynne.

“During my stay at Hatton, we made several little excursions; one was to Guy’s Cliff,
the mansion of Mr Greathead, who, at that time, was among the personages placed at
Verdun in a state of detention by Buonaparte; another was, I believe, to Warwick: of
the castle, circumstances limited our view to what was visible from the road.
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“As to Lind, that work of his which brought him into favour with Lord North and
Lord Mansfield, has been already mentioned. When I began this letter, I had not
received it back from a friend, to whom I had lent it. It bears date 1775. His design
had originally embraced the whole of the acts of the parliament of that year, and
eventually those of succeeding years. But the interest produced by those acts which
laid the foundation of the American war absorbed all other interests. The plan of the
argument he had from me. Upon his mentioning the American part of his design, his
plan not being as yet formed, I told him I had written two or three pages on the
subject, which, such as they were, he was welcome to do what he pleased with,—they
were my own private thoughts, without any view to publication. When he had made
some little advance, my surprise was not small at finding that this page or two of
scattered thoughts had been set in front of his work, and constituted the plan on which
he was operating. They form pages 15 and 16 in the printed book.* Different parts of
it fell incidentally under my revisal, and received additions and alterations, of which
all memory has long been lost. One thing there is, and no more, of which I have
something like a specific recollection, which is the section that commences at page
128, and has for title, “Abstract of the Charters of Connecticut and Rhode Island.”
This I remember had more or less of mine in it: for aught I know, the whole; but
neither time nor eyes allow of my attempting to draw a line anywhere.

“He would gladly have let me write on as long as I chose: he had a sort of epicurean
nonchalance about him, the result of so many years he had been living in the grand
monds. My opinions were at that time opposite to the American side. The turn they
took was the result of the bad arguments by which I observed that side supported, no
use being made of the only good one, viz. the impossibility of good government at
such a distance, and the advantage of separation to the interest and happiness of both
parties. The Declaration of Rights presented itself to my conception from the first, as
what it has always continued to be, a hodge-podge of confusion and absurdity, in
which the thing to be proved is all along taken for granted. Some hints to this effect
were, I believe, given towards the close, in a note of my introduction to the Principles
of Morals and Legislation.* I know not whether it was at that time, or some years
after, that I made a dissection of it. The paper, I believe, was translated by M.
Dumont, and made use of by him, in his edition of my work on Political Tactics, in
the second volume, at the end of the list of Fallacies.T I speak of that paper now with
the less reserve, the author of it (Jefferson) who took it for the main foundation of his
glory, being now no more: a man whom, on other accounts, I hold in very high
estimation, were it only on account of his having, by his patience and forbearance
under a long continuance of the most galling attacks, established upon a sure basis the
liberty of the press. Absurdity, if I do not misrecollect, went so far on that side as to
pretend that, in point of fact, they had all along been in a state of independence of the
British Parliament, the contrary of which was proved so plainly by such a number of
acts of parliament, which were produced.

“English lawyers who, being in the opposition, took, as a matter of course, their
side,—took, if possible, a more palpably absurd course. Lord Camden, who saw that it
would never do to pretend, in the teeth of the acts themselves, that parliament had
never taken upon itself to exercise the power of legislation over the colonies, took a
distinction between legislation and taxation. Legislation, he said, is one thing, taxation
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another: to legislate is to command: to tax is not to command; it is only to give
money. For proof, he brought forward the words give and grant, which he had picked
up in some act or acts of parliament, and, for aught I know at this moment, (for it is
not worth looking for,) in all taxing acts, as if giving and granting other people’s
money by sovereign authority, sword in hand, were not taxing them. And even,
supposing these words employed in all acts in which the money was given in large
sums by general words, thereupon, after and in consequence of them, came out acts in
volumes for prescribing the mode of collection, and imposing penalties on
nonpayment, and so forth: acts, in none of which most assuredly were any such words
as give and grant to be found. Little did I think at that time that I was destined to
write, within fifteen or sixteen years thereafter, an address to the French
Commonwealth, for the express purpose of engaging them, by arguments that applied
to all mother countries, to emancipate their colonies.

“Biographers are not disinclined to receive and insert digressions: no, nor digression
upon digression to any number of removes, any more than at the age of garrulity old
men to furnish them. At this moment I am dictating, while disrobing for bed. In 1814,
Mr Mill and I, (Mill, the historian of British India,) passed through Oxford in our way
to Bath. I showed him the chambers in which I had been resident for two or three
years, after descending to them from the above-mentioned and abovesituated. These
second ones were on the ground-floor, on the right hand of the staircase, next on the
left hand, as you go from the outer quadrangle to the staircase that leads to the former
ones. Three motives concurred in producing this transition: a sum of two guineas, my
aversion to solitude, and my fear of ghosts. This migration, in consideration of the
two guineas that accompanied it, [ kept from my father with as much solicitude as
some persons would have felt for the concealment of a crime. Though a very
affectionate father, he was, by a variety of infirmities, a very troublesome one. My
fear of ghosts had been implanted in my mind from earliest infancy, by the too
customary cultivators of that most noxious weed, domestic servants.

“Amongst Lind’s acquaintances was Governor Johnstone. Johnstone, he told me, was
to such a degree delighted with the Fragment on Government, that he used to go about
with it in his pocket, boring people with it. This was not long before his departure for
the revolted colonies, as one of the three commissioners for sparing the lives of
between two and three millions of human beings on condition of universal penitence.
Hearing of this, and having an ardent desire for seeing a little of the world, and more
particularly of the political world, it seemed to me a good opportunity for taking my
chance of doing so in the capacity of that commissioner’s secretary. Lind, at my
desire, mentioned this to Johnstone. The answer was, much regret at not having heard
of it sooner, he being engaged to Ferguson,* the Scotch professor, anthor of Roman
history, and some book on morals; I forget the title of it. The examples of Greece and
Rome had not been lost upon Ferguson. During the voyage, he was urgent with the
commissioners, as | learnt afterwards from good government authority, to put to death
man, woman, and child, as many as they could catch, as an inducement to the rest to
take the benefit of the proffered grace.

“Jeremy Bentham.”

PLL v6.0 (generated September, 2011) 86 http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/2085



Online Library of Liberty: The Works of Jeremy Bentham, vol. 10 (Memoirs Part I and
Correspondence)

2d February, 1827.
Inserendum in Memoirs of Lind and Forster:—

“As Lord Mansfield had sentenced Peter Ance to a year’s hard labour, for an anti-
christian publication, and his patronage of Bishop Warburton, who had the reputation
of being an atheist, was well known, I had a curiosity to know the state of the Chief-
Justice’s opinions on that subject. I accordingly desired Lind to inform me. The
answer was, unbelief. I put the same question to David Martin; his answer was the
same. David Martin was a man who was admitted to familiarity, being the painter
who painted the portrait from whence the first of the engravings of his lordship was
taken, and who had been sent by him to engage an engraver for that purpose to Paris,
where engravers’ work, by a capital artist, scarcely cost the employer a fourth part of
what it did in England. The engraver he had engaged failing him before the work was
half done, he completed it himself. Martin and I lived together in Paris about six
weeks. Our acquaintance commenced in the packet-boat between Dover and Calais.”

I resume the thread of Bentham’s conversations:—

“Lind’s style did not satisfy me. There was a want of accuracy. I used to correct for
him, and he assented to all my corrections. Nothing that anybody else wrote ever
satisfied me; nothing that I ever wrote at first satisfied me: but I never made an
alteration without having a reason for it.

“Burkarti, who was here as the nominal representative of Poland, had no head, or an
ox’s head; so that Lind did all the business. There was a momentary hope of inducing
the British Government to interfere against the partition of Poland; but George III. had
a great contempt for the people, and enjoyed the triumph of despotism.

“He was despotic from the beginning, yet the opposition to him in the early part of his
reign originated solely from the disappointment of displaced men—thence the North
Briton. When Wilkes accused the king’s speech of having lies in it, it made a great
sensation. Wilkes was an object of perfect abhorrence to me, and I abhorred him for
his opposition to the king. The North Briton excited a prodigious sensation; forty-five
was written on all the walls; forty-five had obscured every other member of the
numeration table. For years it was the principal topic of conversation. Then came the
prosecution; then Lord Sandwich turning against him. Gross things respecting women
were picked out to find matter for impeachment. Lord Sandwich got the name of Jerry
Twitcher, from the ‘Beggar’s Opera,’ for his impeacher. Then Wilkes was outlawed,
and when he appeared in court, Lord Mansfield, the grave and the wise, said he could
not consider him in court, because he was not in custody. No! the lawyer could not
believe that to be a fact which he himself saw with his own eyes.

“John Wilkes was the béfe noire of the king. The situation, not to speak of the power
of mind, of Henry the Second, was that of George the Third; that which Thomas-a-
Becket was to Henry the Second, John Wilkes, bating the difference between the saint
and the sinner, was to George the Third. ‘Target Martin’ obtained his illustrious title
by his willingness to be shot at for the love of his sovereign. So valorous was his
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loyalty, that he was willing to act in the tragedy in which George the Third should be
the Old Man of the Mountain; and he (Martin) the missionary who might have the
honour of sacrificing the redoubtable John Wilkes.

“Of those days, not to speak of the present, the moral sense existed in that form which
sanctioned the destruction of the life of man—not only without the depression, but
even with the exaltation of the reputation of the destroyer. Destroy with premeditation
the life of a single man—the name of an assassin and the infamy attached to that
name, over and above the corporal punishment, awaits you. Destroy two lives, one of
them being your own, and consent obtained for the performance of the operation on
the other, that consent being obtained by fear of ignominy, you are either acquitted,
or, if found guilty, you acquire, in the shape of the perpetual reputation of courage, an
indemnity for a temporary loss of liberty in one of the many senses in which that
fascinating appellative is employed. A target was set up: pistols were procured, a
regular course was taken of that species of gymnastic exercise, the material of which
is composed of the implements just mentioned: when proficiency was regarded as
complete, an invitation in appropriate form was transmitted from the intended
sacrificer to the intended victim to join in the experiment desired to be made of the
degree at which the proficiency had arrived: what followed I do not at this moment
recollect.

“In idleness-time, I engaged myself in classifying duels and duellists. Duelling may
be checked without any alteration of the system of procedure—it can only be put
down by the introduction of a natural system of procedure.

“Duelling should be prevented by legislation. The challenge is the inchoate
offence—the battle the completed one. Duelling does a vast deal more mischief than
people are aware of. It is the instrument of secret tyranny to a prodigious amount.

“When death ensues, compensation should at all events be made to the relatives of the
deceased. The law of England shuts out this redress, so that the wrong-doer may
inflict any portion of injury upon the victim of the wrong. If there be no family to be
compensated the fine should go to a fund for the use of helpless litigants. In this
country there is a strange tenderness in fining—and the fines are sometimes so small
as to leave a positive premium for offence. In costs, judges care nothing about
pecuniary inflictions—but pecuniary inflictions, as an appropriate instrument of
punishment, are little thought of.

“But to return to John Wilkes.

“I never saw him but once. | was a determined aristocrat in his time—a prodigious
admirer of Lord Mansfield, and of the king. There was a horrible outcry against
Wilkes for turning the king’s ministers out of office; and I said, Why should the king
not discharge his servants at will, like any other person? When there was a clamour
against Scotchmen, I asked why Scotchmen were worse than other people? |
remember being much struck with the locution, which was new to the English
language, being imitated from the French, “Born and educated in this country, I glory
in the name of Briton.” It was a great saving of words.
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“I was, however, a great reformist; but never suspected that the people in power were
against reform. I supposed they only wanted to know what was good in order to
embrace it.”

Bentham visited Paris in 1770. He had scarcely an acquaintance there. Dr Fordyce
introduced him to some chemist in France who was nobody, and who paid little
attention to the recommendation. He found there Martin the painter,—who was
getting the portrait of Lord Mansfield, already alluded to, executed,—to whom he lent
about 1000 francs to assist him in his difficulties. Martin introduced him to a man
called Rose, who had been secretary to the Pretender, who had given him a pension
on which he lived in tolerable comfort, and was enabled to entertain his friends.

Bentham had even then a sort of reputation; and a Mr Godefroy gave him several
books, because he had heard that he was a “philosopher,” a title which greeted him
then for the first time. There was then an old man, with a long beard, who went about
Paris, under the name of “Le bon Dieu,” making a trade of his blasphemy. Martin
painted him, and offered to paint Bentham, who refused the attention proffered, as he
could not afford to pay the import duty into England. Bentham’s dining-place was a
guinguette, where, for a shilling, there was an abundant and varied supply of food. It
was in the Rue Tournon. After dinner, the party walked in the gardens of the
Luxembourg. The guinguette has shared the ordinary fate of mortality. Bentham went
to look for his old haunt when he revisited Paris a few years before his death: not a
trace remained of it.

“Of travelled men, I afterwards made acquaintance with Mr Forster, who had been
chaplain to the ambassador at Petersburg. He was a sort of atheist parson, and
conversed on all subjects with great levity. Russian manners suited the indolence of
his nature. It was an incident in my life, to talk with a man who had lived in
diplomatic circles, and had travelled so far. He introduced me to many Russians,
among whom were two brothers (Tateschevs,) whose fondness for each other was
perfectly infantine, and whose disputes about the merits of Montesquieu were very
amusing. The discussions turned upon fundamental principles, which were
fundamental nonsense: it was a perpetual trifling about words to which they could
give no definite, and each attached a different, meaning; such as, ‘honour,” ‘virtue,’
‘fear’: ‘honour’ being a love of reputation, or of as much power as a man could get;
and ‘virtue’ being admiration of a republican government.”

A memorandum, dated November 24th, 177-, is as follows:—

“Fils Jeremy dinoit chex nous, apres diner, we opened the portmanteau belonging to
the late Mr John Forster, deceased, in which there was nothing more than a
clergyman’s gown in a cloth, some old printed books, of little or no value, some MS.
sermons, and a bundle in a brown paper, sealed, upon which was a piece of white
paper, endorsed with his own hand as follows:—

“ ‘Reflections on the rise and fall of the ancient Republics, and 2 other manuscripts,
all composed by me, but printed in the name of Edward Wortley Montague, Esq.
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““Jno. Forster.’

“And, after the above examination, I locked up the portmanteau again with the
contents thereof as before.”
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CHAPTER IV,

1770—1780. At. 22—32.

Earliest Printed Composition: Defence of Lord Mansfield—Extracts from
Commonplace Book.—Preparation of Critical Elements of
Jurisprudence.—Publication of Fragment on Government.—Studies, and Habit of
Life at the Bar—Autobiography of Constantia Phillips.—Retrospect of the Growth of
Opinions.—View of the Hard Labour Bill.—Correspondence with Public Men in
France: D’ Alembert.—Notices of Eminent Men: Mansfield, Camden, Barrington,
Speaker Abbot.—Further Extracts from Commonplace Book.

The first compositions of Bentham that ever appeared in print, were two letters in the
Gazetteer, written when he was about twenty-three years old, and signed Irenaus,
from Irene, (Peace.) Of one of these letters he said, “It was a portrait of my character
and my love of fairness. Lord Mansfield had been attacked. I was deluded by his
eloquence, and fascinated by his courtesy of character. There was an ignorant story of
the hanging of forty judges in Alfred’s time, taken from one of the most trumpery
books that ever was written, namely the ‘Mirror of Justices;’ and it had been
suggested that Lord Mansfield might very properly be made the forty-first. I showed
there was no evidence for the story. The letter was answered; but I had the last word,
and it was a good-humoured word. Some will say it was better written than anything I
write now. [ had not then invented any part of my new lingo. I was at that time about
twenty-one years old.”

Talking of these letters to Bentham, not long before his death, he expressed a desire to
see these his first attempts; “but who knows where to find them?” said he. “In the
museum they are not. Are they in the king’s library? Possibly—there is always a
possibility—they may be at the Home-office. Newspapers ought to be there from the
beginning of time. I should like to ask myself now, if they were well written; for, in
those days, composition was inconceivably difficult. I often commenced a sentence
which I could not complete. I began to write fragments on blotting paper, and left
them to be filled thereafter, in happier vein. By hard labour, I subjugated difficulties;
and my example will show what hard labour will accomplish. I should be glad to see
my earliest placed side by side with the latest composition of my life. I used to put
scraps into drawers, so that I could tumble them over and over; to marginalize and
make notes on cards, which I could shuffle about: but, at last, I took to arranging my
thoughts. I had been in the habit of shifting my papers from shelf to shelf; and well
remember, when at Bowood, where I stayed two or three months at a time, that Lord
Shelburne took Minister Pitt to see the strange way in which I worked, and arranged
the many details of a complicated subject.”

I have found many of these disjecta membra among his papers, and they show the

extraordinary attention and care which he gave to his early writings: thoughts
expressed imperfectly and confusedly, are often worked out into sentences of great
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simplicity and beauty. Whatever opinion may be formed of the later compositions of
Bentham, it has never been denied that the style of his first productions is most
remarkable for its terseness, appropriateness, and polish. In after life, he sacrificed
everything to precision: he thought the first duty of a writer was to leave no doubt of
his meaning: he invented words, many of them admirable ones, whenever he found
none existing in the language which exactly represented the idea he wished to convey;
such as, maximize, minimize, international, forthcomingness, codification, and others,
upon which he would hardly have ventured in his less experienced days. His last
composition, (the Constitutional Code), is certainly a remarkable contrast to the
Fragment on Government, in every characteristic (except intellectual power) by which
one production can be distinguished from another. Many of Bentham’s youthful
compositions are headed Crit. Jer. Crim. meaning Jeremy’s Criticisms on the Criminal
Laws; and they consist, principally, of severe remarks on the various contradictory
and absurd decisions respecting felony and other offences. These papers were
generally placed in a drawer, turned over, criticized, corrected, altered, and amended,
from time to time; then marginalized, and afterwards set in order.

His early notes frequently contain the germs of the opinions he afterwards elaborated
in his greater works. Thus, in 1774, I find this sentence, which, in fact, forms the
groundwork of his Theory of Morals and Legislation:—

“There 1s no man that doth a wrong for the wrong’s sake, but thereby to purchase
himself profit or pleasure.” This grand truth was not hidden from Lord Bacon. His
was a mind to be struck with the beauty of truth wherever it met him, but his was not
an age when to pursue it to the utmost was either practicable or safe. “Cum vitia
prosint, peccat qui recte facit: if vices were upon the whole matter profitable, the

virtuous man would be the sinner.”

His usage was to keep every separate branch of a topic on a separate paper, which he
could thus conveniently dispose of in its fit place.”

His rules for composition he afterwards condensed in the following verses:
Nomography; 1828, February 3d.

Fadem Natura, eadem Nomenclatura.

rule.

“For thoughts the same, the same the words should be;
Where differ thoughts, words different let us see.”
reason.

“Sameness of thought, sameness of words attests;

Take that half verse, then add who will what rests.”
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I find, scattered over fragments of blotting paper, sentences almost illegible, but
which record the thought of the moment in some emphatic form. [ will give a few
examples:—

“When will men cease beholding in Almighty Benevolence a cruel tyrant, who (to no
assignable end) commands them to be wretched?”

“Why should the names of Religion and Morality be employed for purposes by which,
if accomplished, Religion and Morality must suffer?”

“Men ought to be cautious ere they represent Religion to be that noxious thing which
magistrates should proscribe.”

“The grand catastrophe of our sacred history is itself an act of the most illustrious
suicide.”
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Sundry Memoranda Of Bentham, Made In 1773-4.—

Prejugés In Favour Of Antiquity.

“It is singular that the persons who are most loud in magnifying the pretended
advantage in point of wisdom of ancient over modern times, are the very same who
are the most loud in proclaiming the superiority in the same respect of old men above
young ones. What has governed them in both cases seems to have been the prejudice
of names: it is certain that if there be some reasons why the old should have advantage
over the young, there are at least the same reasons for times that are called modern
having it over times that are called ancient. There are more: for decrepitude as applied
to persons is real: as applied to times it is imaginary. Men, as they acquire experience,
lose the faculties that might enable them to turn it to account: it is not so with times:
the stock of wisdom acquired by ages is a stock transmitted through a vast number of
generations, from men in the perfection of their faculties to others also in the
perfection of their faculties: the stock of knowledge transmitted from one period of a
man’s life to another period of the same man’s life is a stock from which, after a
certain period, large defalcations are every minute making by the scythe of Time.”
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Vulgar Errors—Political.

1. “To make consummate characters, either in depravity or in virtue.

2. “To attribute every motion of public men to political motives; to attribute every
action to ends and purposes which belong to them as politicians, and none to those

which belong to them as men.

3. “To attribute every instance of supposed misconduct in public men to the depravity
of the heart; and none to the imbecility of the head.

4. “To suppose everything illegal which appears to them inexpedient.”
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Punishment.—Origin Of The Vindictive Principle.

“Men, private men, punish because they hate. They think they see (for their own
parts) just cause for themselves to punish, where they think they see just cause to hate.
Lawgivers, like themselves, are men. They think they see just cause for lawgivers to
punish, where they think they see just cause for lawgivers to hate. The law, they
imagine, does so too. The more they hate, the more they wish to punish. Crimes, they
are told, they ought to hate. Crimes it is made a matter of merit to them to hate.
Crimes it is a matter of merit, of more than merit—of necessity, to punish. They are to
hate them—they are to punish them. *Tis their hating makes them wish to punish.
How then should they punish but as they hate? They do so. The more they are
disposed to hate, the more they are disposed to punish. What wonder? To ordinary
apprehensions no mischief from this is visible. Yet more: no mischief in many cases
exists, since in many cases it is true that the cause of hatred and the demand for
punishment increase together. The cause which makes hatred rise is the reason which
makes punishment expedient. If of punishment for any act there be more than is
needful, it is either because there is too much of it where the act wants some; or there
is some of it where the act wants none—What harm in a man’s suffering who does an
act I hate? What harm in the man’s suffering whom I hate? When a man suffers whom
I hate, where confessedly he ought to suffer, what matter whether it be a little less or a
little more?’ Such is the reasoning of the multitude of men.

“How should they punish but as they hate? What other standard than their hatred
should they assume? ’Tis the clearest standard, at least at any given time, when it is
applied: though at different times its decisions are so apt to vary. What standard
clearer? To know whether they hate in common—to know which of two crimes it is
they hate most—what have they but to consult their feelings? What standard should
they take? Even this or none. For to this hour, except here and there a disjointed
sentence, no other has been laid down. If here and there others have indeed been set
up, these have not themselves been rectified by the standard of utility—they clash.
Nobody has yet attempted to mark out to each its limits, and mould them into one
harmonious body.”
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Pensées.

“There is no pestilence in a state like a zeal for religion, independent of (as
contradistinguished from) morality.”

“As to people at large, I want little of their company, and much of their esteem.”
“Morality may well say of religion—Wherever it is not for me, it is against me.”

“No man appears to himself so bad as he is. No man acts against conscience in all that
he acts amiss.”

“Prejudice and imposture always seek obscurity.”

“What is called legal style is the most execrable way of putting words together that
ever was devised.”

“Ladies, like birds of paradise, have no legs; it is all feet with them.”
“Invention is learning digested: quotation is learning vomited up raw.”

“The constitutions of the Society of Arts, and of many other societies, are penned with
conciseness and perspicuity. How happens this? Either there are no lawyers
concerned, or their right-hand forgets her cunning. They forget that they are lawyers,
and, seduced by example, become gentlemen, scholars, and philosophers.”

Conciseness is an apter term than brevity for a desirable property of
style—conciseness is relative brevity.”

“A monarch is a sort of a creature that unites the properties of the Grand Lama and
the Pope of Rome, not to mention an odd attribute or two that remain unclaimed by
any other created being. Like the first of these, he is immortal: like the last infallible:
as if this were not enough, he is omnipresent: no perfection that is imaginable is
wanting to this god of our idolatry. Look at him well; turn him round and round;
about and about; examine him limb by limb: a more accomplished deity at all points
never trod upon dry ground.

“The plain truth of the matter would have made a poor figure in comparison of this
description. It has pretensions to wit, and it might hope for the profits of servility. No
king of the ordinary stuff that kings are made of could help being enchanted at the
person pictured in this flattering mirror. An unpopular king might find a consolation
for the contempt of his personal character in the adulation attached to his political
character, which is that of his office. A wise king would turn with loathing from the
incense: but a weak one might reward it.
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“Greedy of incense without caring to deserve it: fond of any principle of awe that
could serve to screen his person against attack—regardless whether it rooted there,
glad to behold it planted by however ignoble hands; content to draw upon his office
for a perpetual tribute of respect, without ever thinking of deserving it. Such is the
condition of a king!”
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Digest Of The Law Premature Before Locke And Helvetius.

“A digest of the Laws is a work that could not have been executed with advantage
before Locke and Helvetius had written: the first establishing a test of perspicuity for
ideas; the latter establishing a standard of rectitude for actions. The idea annexed to a
word is a perspicuous one, when the simple ideas included under it are assignable.
This is what we owe to Locke. A sort of action is a right one, when the tendency of it
is to augment the mass of happiness in the community. This is what we are indebted
for to Helvetius.

“The matter of the Law is to be governed by Helvetius. For the form and expression
of it we must resort to Locke.

“From Locke it must receive the ruling principles of its form—from Helvetius of its
matter.

“By the principles laid down by Locke it must be governed, inasmuch as it is a

discourse; by those of Helvetius, inasmuch as it is a discourse from authority,
predicting punishment for some modes of conduct, and reward for others.”
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Principles Of Education.

“Education is a series of conduct directed to an end: before any directions can
properly be given for the education of any person, the end of his education must be
settled.

“The common end of every person’s education is Happiness.

“Happiness depends—1st, In the possession of the instruments; 2ndly, In the right
method of applying them. The Happiness that can be proposed for a subject of
education is either, 1stly, That stock that is obtainable from the stock of instruments
man in appearance is born to the possession of: or that further stock that is to be
hoped for from the acquisition of more.

“This divides education into—1stly, Defensive; 2dly, Active. The instruments
productive of happiness are either—I1st, Inherent; or, 2dly, External.

“Inherent, again, are either—1st, Of the body; 2dly, Of the mind. The most generally
useful education is the defensive: the active never can be the education of the many.
The active leads to preéminence: every man cannot be pre€minent over every other.

“The only active plan of education the state ought to encourage, is that which tends no
otherwise to increase the happiness of the individual than by increasing, at the same
time, the happiness of the community.

“This is done by improving the arts and sciences which produce the instruments of
happiness, or directing them in their application.

“This, too, is the only plan of active education the preceptor ought to promote by his
instructions. The arts of supplanting and competition (where the advancement of one
man is the depression of another) ought to be noticed in no other view than that of
pointing out the means of frustrating them: they are of that sort of pernicious or
unprofitable secrets, which it is right to teach only to make them inefficacious.

“A state rendered less happy, made up of individuals rendered more happy by the

same circumstances, is a curious contradiction. This, however, is a notion advanced
by Dr Johnson, in his Tour to Scotland, where he speaks of emigration.”
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Vicinage Of A Jury.

“If Vicinage is at all a matter to be regarded in a Jury, it should be vicinage to the
witnesses, not to the parties. Vicinage to the witnesses whose character for veracity is
at stake; upon whose veracity depends the truth of the relation: not vicinage to the
parties upon whose veracity nothing depends, since nothing is taken from their
relation.”

I find, in the handwriting of Bentham’s father, (dated 1773,) “Verses by a young
gentleman of Oxford, on the report of a design to make barracks for recruits of the
building in St James’s Park, adjoining to the garden of Jeremiah Bentham, Esq., in
which is erected a temple to the memory of Milton, whose house it was, and where he
lived when he wrote his immortal poem of Paradise Lost.”

“Peace to these shades! where once our Milton trod—
Where yet his spirit reigns, a guardian god!

Far off let Mars his crimson standard rear—

Divine poetic peace inhabits here.

Where hireling troops, with wanton license stray,
Milton’s free spirit would disdain to stay.

Hence then, stern god! and other mansions choose:
Be these reserved for Milton and the Muse!”

No doubt Bentham was the author of these lines. The adjoining of the barracks to his
hermitage troubled him to the end of his days. His studies were sometimes interrupted
by the cries of the soldiers who were flogged in the barrack-yard; and I have often
heard him speak with the utmost indignation and horror of that most unnecessary
penalty, whose infliction was so frequently called to his mind by the sufferings of its
victims.

From Bentham’s Commonplace Book for 1774-5, I copy the passages that follow:—

“Oh, Britain! Oh, my country! the object of my waking and my sleeping thoughts!
whose love is my first labour and greatest joy—passing the love of woman, thou shalt
bear me witness against these misruling men.

“I cannot buy, nor ever will I sell my countrymen. My pretensions to their favour are
founded not on promises, but on past endeavours,—not on the having defended the
popular side of a question for fat fees, but on the sacrifice of years of the prime of
life—from the first dawnings of reflection to the present hour—to the neglect of the
graces which adorn a private station; deaf to the calls of present interest, and to all the
temptations of a lucrative profession.”

PLL v6.0 (generated September, 2011) 101 http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/2085



Online Library of Liberty: The Works of Jeremy Bentham, vol. 10 (Memoirs Part I and
Correspondence)

[Back to Table of Contents]

Bolingbroke’S Idea Of A Patriot King.

“I opened it with eagerness,—I shut it with disappointment.

“T expected to have found something worthy of a great name: I found nothing but
general maxims for the distribution of favours, and for exercising the functions of his
executive character.

“Lord Bolingbroke’s patriot king was a king that would take Lord Bolingbroke into
favour, and discard his successful rival, whom he hated.

“Barristers are so called (a man of spleen might say) a Barrando, from barring against

reformation the entrances of the law. It would be as good an etymology as many a one
of Lord Coke’s, and I believe entirely in his taste.”
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Public Virtue In The Body Of The People.

“The great body of the people can have no other virtue but zeal, no other corruption
but indifference. It is impossible they can be zealous against their own political
interests; but they may be so immersed in their private interests as to neglect them.

“The zeal of the people, which is the virtue of the people, does not depend upon the
wisdom with which it chooses its objects: a people may be virtuous, that is, clamorous
for very detrimental measures, so as it does but think them right. A people may be
virtuous, though warmly attached to one who is nothing less than a friend to his
country, so as they do but think him so. If two people present themselves, both alike
destitute of pretensions in other respects, but one a favourer, the other an opposer of
the court, (so that no particular event have happened to indispose them against the line
of conduct pursued by an opposition;) mind which they choose: if they choose the
latter, it cannot be said that they want virtue.”
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Emblem For The System Of Codes—Subject For A Medallion.

“A king crowned advancing from his throne, standing upon a platform raised above
the level, upon steps; in his left hand a large bushy plant, the branches entangled and
almost withered; in his right hand a twig, plucked off from the plant, which he is
presenting to the foremost person of a mixed crowd, distinguished by the instrument
of their several occupations, bending one knee as he is receiving it.

29

“The motto, ‘Discreta revirescerint.
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Abuse And Use.—Both Equally Effects.

“The abuse of the thing is as much the effect of it as the use is. When a thing has
various effects, some good and some bad, it is not by calling the bad by the name of
abuses that will make them the less its effects than they were before. An abuse is a
bad effect: now a bad effect is a thing as much its effect as a good one: the one has as
much claim to consideration as the other. Whatever the subject be, the balance of the
one should never be struck till after the deduction of the other; whatever the subject
be, the business is to bring both bad and good effects equally into account; nor are
there any better founded claims to merit for blinking one any more than the other. The
true merit of the speculator consists in blinking neither; but, if he makes any
difference, in taking most pains to place those in a clear light that are most in danger
to be overlooked.

“An institution is not to be judged of from its abuses—understand this of its abuses
singly; but these, as well as its benefits have an equal claim to be taken into account;
for if these are more numerous and incontestible than those, it is from these rather
than from those that its character ought to be reported.”
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King Henry V. Committed By Chief-Justice Gascoigne—A
Subject For A Picture.

“Has it ever been proposed by the Society of Arts to offer a premium for the best
historical painting upon the subject of the committment of Henry the Fifth, when
Prince of Wales, by the Lord Chief-Justice, for striking him; the prize-picture to be
presented to the Court of King’s Bench?

“Your Lordship, let it say, wants no memento, but it may serve to remind your
successors, that the disclaimer of all respect of person, and an intrepid integrity, is at
once the best road to the reverence of the people, and to the favour of an enlightened
Prince.

“The scene should be just after the blow has been given. The Chief-Justice should be

seen in the attitude of giving directions to the officers who have just laid hold on the
Prince at the instant he is about to repeat the stroke.”
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Dic Aliquid Et Quod Tuum.

“There are two classes of writers to whom the public is very little obliged: those who
pretend to say something, and in effect say nothing; and those who say something, but
say not what they think.

“He who thinks, and thinks for himself, will always have a claim to thanks; it is no
matter whether it be right or wrong, so as it be explicit. If it is right, it will serve as a
guide to direct: if wrong, as a beacon to warn.

“The needle directs as well to the South Pole, from whence it flies, as to the North
which it pursues.

“The paradoxes of Hobbes and Mandeville (at which divines affect to be so much
scandalized) were of service: they contained many original and bold truths, mixed
with an alloy of falsehood, which succeeding writers, profiting by that share of light
which these had cast upon the subject, have been enabled to separate.”
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Conduct Of The Understanding In Composing.

“Having found some word, however improper, to fix the idea, (upon the paper,) you
may then turn it about and play round it at your leisure. Like a block of wood, which,
when you have fixed in a vice, you may plane and polish at your leisure; but if you
think to keep it in your hands all the time, it may slip through your fingers.”
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Pensées.
“The people is my Casar: I appeal from the present Caesar to Casar better informed.”

“Would you appear acutated by generous passion? be so.—You need then but show
yourself as you are.”

“I would have the dearest friend I have to know, that his interests, if they come in
competition with that of the public, are as nothing to me. Thus I will serve my
friends—thus would I be served by them.”

“Has a man talents? he owes them to his country in every way in which they can be
serviceable.”

“Independency is not in the fortune, but the mind.”

“The very mitre upon Warburton’s head might have reminded that right reverend
person, that Civil Society does afford rewards. Let us not therefore say, that a mitre is
no reward, but let us wish that it may never be worse bestowed.”
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Prejugés.—Lawyers.

“The charity of some lawyers is boundless. If they can find no reason for a law, they
presume that it had once a good one; and because it had once a good one, that it has so
still.

“Thus far no great harm is done; but they are apt sometimes to go further, ‘therefore,’

say they, ‘ought it to be retained.’ It would be strange if they stopped at the
conclusion which is the most specious and the least exceptionable.”
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Perspicuity.

“The manner in which the composition of laws is in this respect performed, is such as
would seem to indicate it to have been performed, either in derision or insult of the
mind’s weakness, or in the infinite presumption of its strength.

“Yet prolixity, any more than redundancy, whatever certain persons may find it
convenient to suppose, is no more the necessary attribute of the science of
jurisprudence, than that of any other science.

“If there had been anything more to be gotten in physic and divinity by writing
nonsense in long sentences—long sentences would, without doubt, have been written
by doctors and divines.”

“Prolixity may be where redundancy is not. Prolixity may arise not only from the
multifarious insertion of unnecessary articles, but from the conservation of too many
necessary ones in a sentence; as a workman may be overladen not only with rubbish,
which is of no use for him to carry, but with materials the most useful and necessary,
when heaped up in loads too heavy for him at once. The point is therefore to distribute
the materials of the several divisions of the fabric into parcels that may be portable
without fatigue.

“There is a limit to the lifting powers of each man, beyond which all attempts only
charge him with a burthen to him immoveable.

“There is in the like manner a limit to the grasping power of man’s apprehension,
beyond which if you add article to article; the whole shrinks from under his utmost
efforts. In no science is this limit more necessary to be consulted, in none has it been
so utterly unattended to.”
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Pensées.

“In England the clergy are scorpions which sting us. On the continent they are
dragons which devour us.”

“To trace errors to their source is to refute them.”
“It is rare to meet with a man disinterested upon reflection.”

“’Tis here in matters of the law as it is in Roman Catholic countries in matters of
religion: to keep clear of mistakes, you must be warned at every turn not to believe
your own eyes.”

“Voluminousness is of itself a poison to perspicuity.”

“Falsehood is the high-road to (self) contradiction.”

“The effect of praise is to dispose to imitation.”

“All the industry of lawyers has been hitherto employed to prevent the grounds of law
being canvassed, almost as anxiously as that of divines to prevent the grounds of

religion from being examined.”

“In respect of notoriety, what is wanted is, that people may know the legal
consequences of a point of conduct, before, not after, they have pursued it.”

“It is one thing for the law to be notorious to one looking from the station of a judge:
and another to one looking from that of a common man.”

“It is as impossible for a lawyer to wish men out of litigation, as for a physician to
wish them in health. No man (that is of the ordinary race of men) wishes others to be
at their ease that he may starve.”

“There is no way in which the state can be prejudiced unless some individual suffer.’

“The use of words is not less to fix ideas for a man himself, than to communicate
them to others. A man scarce knows he has the idea till he has the word.”

“Happy the people of whom one hears but little.”
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Fictions Of Law.

“Fictions are mighty pretty things. Locke admires them; the author of the
Commentaries adores them; most lawyers are, even yet, well pleased with them: with
what reason let us see.

“What is a fiction? A falsehood; but in this there is nothing to distinguish the
peculiarity of its nature.—By whom invented? By judges.—On what occasion? On
the occasion of their pronouncing a judicial decision.—For what purpose? One may
conceive two—either that of doing in a roundabout way what they might do in a
direct way, or that of doing in a roundabout way what they had no right to do in any
way at all.

“The natural effect of praising a thing which has been done once, is, that it shall be
done again; that those in whose way it lies to do it, shall do it; that those in whose way
it lies to see it done, shall wish to see it; at least that they shall be content to see it
done.

Arrest for debt in the first instance is lawful; certainly at this time of day, it is useful. I
believe it. For all this the first judge who had the effrontery to remand a debtor
brought before him on pretence of a criminal charge, whereas there was no criminal
charge, should have gone to gaol himself, and not the debtor.

“Fictions are mighty pretty things, and like other pretty things, not the less esteemed, I
suppose, because the manufactory of them is broken up. The manufactory of them is
certainly broken up; and its greatest admirers would look, I trust, once and again
before they attempted to revive it.

“Perhaps if pressed they might be brought to acknowledge that nothing in the shape of

fiction would deserve, any more than it would meet, with approbation at this time of
day: ’tis a pity but they had said as much of them of their own accord.”
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Terms Familiar Falsely Supposed To Be Understood.

“What we are continually talking of, merely from our having been continually talking
of it, we imagine we understand; so close a union has habit connected between words
and things, that we take one for the other; when we have words in our ears we
imagine we have ideas in our minds. When an unusual word presents itself, we
challenge it; we examine it ourselves to see whether we have a clear idea to annex to
it; but when a word that we are familiar with comes across us, we let it pass under
favour of old acquaintance.

“The long acquaintance we have had with it makes us take for granted we have
searched it already; we deal by it, in consequence, as the custom-house officers in
certain countries, who, having once set their seal upon a packet, so long as they see, or
think they see that seal upon it, reasonably enough suppose themselves dispensed with
from visiting it anew.”
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Terrce Filius.

“The idea of patriotism, too liable to be worshipped in the nation at large, and which
some unhappy conjunctures have of late years so effectually conspired to obscure, is
nowhere devoted to more open contempt than at Oxford. The genius of the place is a
compound of orthodoxy and corruption: corruption, to give it force in the world; and
orthodoxy, to cover its advances from the eyes of the people, and from the scrutiny of
the party’s conscience.

“Be silent, secret, discreet, accommodating; crush silent innovations, join yourself
with alacrity to those who would stop up the inlet at which light may enter: save them
the fatigue of examining projects which distress, gall, and stimulate their indolence,
and the vexation of being obliged to adopt measures which oppose a bar to their
cupidity. Insult not weakness, and ignorance, and mediocrity, with the demonstrations
of wisdom; and lest you should be tempted, bar its entrance into your minds. For six
days let the mammon of unrighteousness, of intrigue, of avidity of fraud, of
insincerity, be in your hearts; and on the seventh the gospel of righteousness, or what
is given you instead of righteousness, in your ears.

“Men there are who live in the habitual practice of what themselves call perjury, and

in the flagitious tyranny of forcing it upon others; who rise to broken vows as to their
breakfast, and sleep on them as their pillow.”
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Pensées.

“Suppose the topic were, the obligation which day labourers are under to work upon
the roads, from the improvement of which, having neither horses nor carriages, it is
said they reap no benefit.

“A company are discoursing on this law; and they all agree in censuring it:—

“ ‘It is hard,” says one.

“ ‘It is unequal,’ says another.

“ ‘It is inequitable,’ says a third.

“ ‘It is most hard and unjust,’ says a fourth.

“ ‘It is oppressive,’ says a fifth.

“ ‘It is tyrannical,’ says a sixth.

“ ‘It is infamous,’ says a seventh.

“ ‘It s fiagitious,’ says an eighth.

“ ‘The man who framed it is a tyrant,” says a ninth.

“ ‘Some unfeeling landlord—a blood-sucker of the poor,” says a tenth.

“ “The case is not very different with the majority who passed it,” says an eleventh.
“ “‘When you are about it, you may go a little higher,’ says a twelfth.

“ “These are your Right Reverend Fathers in God,” says a thirteenth.

“No, indeed; as to them, you are mistaken, since it is a miracle if they ever trouble
their heads, of their own accord, about anything, good or bad, except when it is to
stand up for the violation of the rights of conscience.

“ “This is your pious king,” says a fourteenth.

“ “‘We might as well send for one from Morocco,’ says a fifteenth.”

“Scandal is to the Moral Sanction, what Perjury is to the Political.”

“France may have philosophers. The world is witness if she have not philosophers.
But it is England only that can have patriots, for a patriot is a philosopher in action.”
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“If there was a language peculiar to innocence, it could be so only for one moment,
for the next it would be usurped by guilt.”

“Nothing can be more flattering to the indolent, the disingenuous, the domineering
spirit which lurks more or less in all men, than a practice for uniting in one’s own

person the character of advocate and judge. Socrates had his Demon.”

“Let us profit from the most irrational and detestable of all systems, nor spurn a pearl
though we find it in a dunghill.”
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Subjects For Premiums.

1. “Essay on the Measures to be kept in Legislation, in all cases between Private and
Public Interest.”

2. “Essay on the best method of reducing the burthen upon the Nation from sinecures
and unnecessary offices, consistently with a due attention to the rights of the present
patrons and possessors; with a due examination of the question how far, and whether
to bad or good effect, the balance of power would be affected by such a scheme. None
but a good minister will have the courage to endure such a discussion as this.”

3. “The best collection of examples of virtue adapted to the different classes of
mankind.”

4. “The best Moral Catechism for the use of Schools.”
5. “The best Legal Catechism for the use of Schools.”

6. “History of Criminal Law in this Country, divided according to the several crimes.
A compilation, or rather, as the degrees of merit in the execution of it could not be
very various, and the compilation would be too voluminous to engage a number of
writers upon hazard,—An Essay delineating the plan, and indicating the sources from
whence the materials are to be obtained.”

7. “A new Treatise on a new species of Brachygraphy, or a System of Rules for the
Conversion of Long Sentences into Short Ones, for the Legislatorial Style.”
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Title For A Book.

“The Homage of Foreigners to the British Constitution.”
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Education.

1.Moral Department.— Inspire a hatred for conquerors, and a contempt for their
admirers. Show the difference between conquest by an individual, and conquest by a
nation. Conquest by an individual, especially made in the ancient or modern Eastern
manner, is robbery in the gross.”

2.Scientific—Elements of all sciences upon playing cards. The contents to be made
the subject of conversation.”

3.Moral.—“Inspire a general habit of applauding or condemning actions according to
their general utility. Professional affections to be exploded. Natural affections to be
encouraged, keeping clear of inhospitality. Family affections to be stationed in their
proper place, viz. subordinate to natural ones.”

4. “Inspite a contempt for ancient philosophy, or philosophy of words.”

“The question between Christians and those who are not so, is a question of evidence.
It is as unreasonable to make a difference of opinion on this question, one way or
another, a matter of reproach, as the question, whether such a will was or was not
made.”

The following letter from Bentham to his father, indicates the nature of his
occupations, and of his literary projects, in 1776.
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BENTHAM TO HIS FATHER.

“Honoured Sir,—

I am now at work upon my capital work, I mean, ‘The Critical Elements of
Jurisprudence.’* I am not now, as heretofore, barely collecting materials, but putting
it into the form in which I propose that it should stand. I am working upon a plan
which will enable me to detach a part and publish it separate from the rest. The part
that I am now upon is the law of Personal Injuries: from thence I shall proceed to the
law relative to such acts as are Injuries to property and reputation. This will include
the whole of the Criminal Law relative to such offences as have determinate
Individuals for their object. This part may be characterized by the name of the Law
relative to Private Wrongs. The remainder, in that case, will come under the Law
relative to Public Wrongs; but a much clearer and more natural line will be drawn
between the offences that respectively come under those divisions, than the technical
mode of considering the subject would admit of Blackstone’s drawing. Previous to
these details will come that part of the work which contains the general principles by
which the execution of those details is governed. Of this preliminary part the plan is
pretty well settled, and the materials in good part collected.

“By what I have seen and learned concerning Sam’st work, I doubt not his doing
great things in geometry. The rogue is pressing me so, I must be done; I have sent him
upon the mare, thinking this would be a good opportunity of his having a couple of
rides.

“I am, Dear Sir, yours most dutifully and affectionately,
(Signed) “Jerry Bentham.
Fetcham, 1st Oct. 1776.”

When Bentham published the “Fragment on Government,” in 1776, it was his earnest
desire not to be known as the author: he gives [1822] the following account of his
father’s making the fact known:—

“The secret which well-grounded diffidence, in conjunction with personal ambition,
might for I know not what length of time have kept inviolate, received from paternal
weakness, a premature disclosure. I had been designed by him for the situation now
occupied by the Lord of Doubts, (Lord Eldon.) To afford me a prospect of it, and a
relish for it, upon the publication of Lord Clarendon’s Memoirs of his own Life, he
lost no time in putting the work into my hands.” But the influence of Clarendon was
superseded in Bentham’s mind by that of Teresa Constantia Philips, whose Memoirs
had just made their appearance, and to which references have already been made.
“They were,” he said, “originally delivered out through a wicket in the door of a
residence which, some years afterwards, became my father’s, and is now mine.* It
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was the first, and not the least effective, in the train of causes in which the works by
which my name is most known had their origin.

“For some years before the publication of the Fragment, I had been regarded in the
light of a lost child: despair had succeeded to the fond hopes which something of
prematurity in my progress had inspired. On my being called to the bar, I found a
cause or two at nurse for me: my first thought was how to put them to death; and the
endeavours were not, I believe, altogether without success. Not long after, a case was
brought to me for my opinion. I ransacked all the codes. My opinion was right,
according to the codes; but it was wrong, according to a manuscript unseen by me,
and inaccessible to me; a MS. containing the report of I know not what opinion, said
to have been delivered before I was born, and locked up, as usual, for the purpose of
being kept back or produced according as occasion served. This incident, the
forerunner of so many others, added its fuel to the flame which Constantia had lighted
up. I went to the bar as the bear to the stake; I went astray this way and that way. The
region of chemistry, amongst other foreign fields, was one in which I wandered. I
incurred the anathema which, without my knowledge, had been pronounced against
me, and against all who dared presume to accompany me or follow me in my
wayward course. [ walked erect in all those regions in which prostration of
understanding and will, had, with such successful suit, and such illustriously
consecrated authority, been prescribed.

“My optics were to such a degree distorted, that, to my eyes, the imperfections of the
phantom rule of action seemed only errors calling for an easy remedy. I had not
learned how far they served as sources of wealth, power, and factitious dignity. I had
contracted—oh, horrible! that unnatural, and, at that time, almost unexampled
appetite—the love of innovation.

“In my anxiety to soothe the paternal sufferings, ere yet the ‘Fragment on
Government’ had issued from the press, I could not conceal the little attempt I had
made to raise myself out of that obscurity which, while on myself it sat lightly, was to
him so unendurable. He would thereby see that my mind had not been totally
abstracted from the country so rich in gold mines, though so unknown in the golden
age. | saw the use of secrecy: I solicited at his hands, not without earnestness, a
correspondent promise, and obtained it. My father, it may well be imagined, was not
among the last to whom the sensation produced by it was perceptible. One day, as |
was at my chambers, a neighbour and friend of his, whom I had never before seen,
called to offer me his congratulations. Struck all of a heap with the unexpected
charge, penetrated with that abhorrence for falsehood which I had imbibed from
earliest infancy, I sought refuge in the arms of evasion and found none. I remember it
as if it had been yesterday. My countenance could not but have betrayed the strongest
symptoms of the confusion under which I laboured: the countenance of a guilty
criminal charged on the sudden with the blackest crime could not have betrayed more.
Blushing in the female sex is not so liable to be misconstrued. Blushing in the male
sex is too frequently and constantly regarded as a proof of guiltiness: it is a proof of
sensibility and fear of disrepute, by whatever incident called forth; but, except in so
far as fear of being thought guilty is proof of guilt, it affords no proof of the existence
of the object, by the idea of which the apprehension is excited.
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“I remember the time when my almost infant face used to burn when, in the carriage
with my father and mother, I passed a wall on which were any of those scrawls which,
in those days, were so frequent, and in these more polished days so rare—scrawls of
which it was surely no fault of mine that the import was unknown to me. The only
instance in which I recollect a degree of inflammation comparable to that experienced
by me when taxed with having given birth to the literary foundling, was one in which
I not only had not done any such scandalous act as the joke imputed to me, but could
not for a moment have entertained any serious belief that I either then was or could
have been suspected of it. Finding that my cheeks had been regarded as affording
conclusive evidence of what my tongue had endeavoured to conceal; understanding,
at the same time, from the tormentor, that direct evidence of the affirmative had been
received by him from a quarter superior to all suspicion—a quarter that was
suspicion-proof—I ceased kicking against the pricks, and received, as composedly as
I could, the unwelcome compliment. The eagerness to obtain some little alleviation
under so long a course of suffering, had, in an unguarded moment, it was but too
plain, shut the door of my father’s memory against the plighted promise.

“Of repentance for this weakness, there was soon but too much cause: no sooner had
the images of the illustrious reported father vanished—no sooner was it known that
the bantling was the offspring of somebody known to nobody, than the rate of sale
underwent a sensible diminution. More than a few months, or perhaps weeks, had,
indeed, not elapsed, when I understood from the bookseller that no copies of the work
were in his warehouse; somehow or other, however, no direct application for a fresh
edition was at the same time made; and afterwards I heard, though still by accident,
that a parcel, which, by accident, had been mislaid, had been found. Besides the
obscurity of the author, one cause, perhaps, of the non-desire, may be found in the
reimpression which the work had received in Dubliu. Reimpression is a circumstance
which, having in those days been stamped with the name of piracy, has, since the
union of the two kingdoms, been at an end.

“It seems not easy to say in what degree the currency received by the Letters of Junius
may have been indebted to that secrecy, which, after such multiplied and still renewed
endeavours to penetrate into it, has still remained impenetrable. That, under equal
concealment, the Fragment should have received a degree of currency comparable to
that of the Letters of Junius, is not to be thought of; but it might have received a
currency, not a quarter, not perhaps a tenth, so great as Junius’ Letters, and still have
received one much more extensive than it has actually experienced.”

What follows was written in 1822, and exhibits the strange contrast between the state
of mind of the young enthusiast communicating to the world his great discovery, and
that of the experienced old man who had discovered that the causes of evil lie deeply
rooted in our social organisation.

“The reader cannot have gone through the first sentence in the Fragment without
having seen the passion that gave rise to it—the passion for improvement: [ mean in
those shapes in particular in which the lot of mankind is meliorated by it—a passion
which has been rekindled by recent incidents, and is not likely to be extinguished but
with life: a passion for improvement in every line; but more particularly in the most
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important of all lines, the line of government. At an age a few months before or after
seven years, the first embers of it were kindled by Telemachus. By an early pamphlet
of Priestley’s, the date of which has fled from my recollection, light was added to the
warmth. In the phrase, ‘the greatest happiness of the greatest number,’ I then saw
delineated, for the first time, a plain as well as a true standard for whatever is right or
wrong, useful, useless, or mischievous in human conduct, whether in the field of
morals or of politics. It was, I think, in my twenty-second year, that [ saw in it the
foundation of what seemed to me the only correct and instructive encyclopadical
arrangement—a map or chart of the field of thought and action: it is the same map
which stands in the work intituled ‘Chrestomathia.’ I felt the sensation of Archimedes
when I committed the first rough and imperfect outline to one side of a half-sheet of
paper; which, not entirely useless, served, I hope, to help to kindle a more substantial
flame.

“No sooner had my farthing candle been taken out of the bushel, than I looked for the
descent of torches to it from the highest regions: my imagination presented to my
view torches descending in crowds to borrow its fire. Of disposition, in the midst of
such excellence, with which, as all pens and all voices concurred in assuring me, |
was so abundantly eucompassed, I could not suspect any deficiency; for, clearing
away the imperfections which still remained in Government, all that was wanting was
a few of those lights which, I could not tell how, had happened to take my mind for
their first visiting-place.

“Nothing could be more opposite to the truth. Instead of the universal sympathy, of
which I had expected to see these graspings after improvement productive in those
higher regions, universal antipathy—antipathy on the part of all parties—was the
result: proofs of the fact came in upon me one after another; but sixty years had rolled
over my head before I had attained to anything like a clear perception of the cause. On
the other hand, while everything of mine, which I had ever set any value on myself,
remained an object of antipathy, I found myself in those same elevated regions,
though not so early as I had expected, an object of sympathy. All this while, fruits so
opposite in their nature—the bitter and the sweet—had in my talents, such as they
were, the common cause: the antipathy in the direction I had hitherto given to the
exercise of them: the sympathy in the direction I was supposed capable of giving to
them, and upon the application of appropriate and not often-failing inducements,
disposed, like other men, to give to them.

“Now, for some years past, all inconsistencies, all surprises, have vanished:
everything that has served to make the field of politics a labyrinth, has vanished. A
clue to the interior of the labyrinth has been found: it is the principle of self-
preference. Man, from the very constitution of his nature, prefers his own happiness to
that of all other sensitive beings put together: but for this self-preference, the species
could not have had existence. Place the chief care of each man in any other breast or
breasts than his own, (the case of infancy and other cases of intrinsic helplessness
excepted,) a few years, not to say a few months or weeks, would suffice to sweep the
whole species from the earth. By this position, neither the tenderest sympathy, nor
anything that commonly goes by the name of disinterestedness, improper and
deceptive as the appellation is, is denied. Peregrinus Proteus, the man whom Lucian
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saw burning himself alive, though not altogether without reluctance, in the eyes of an
admiring multitude, and without any anticipation of a hereafter, was no exception to
it. It was interest, self-regarding interest, that set fire to this so extraordinary a funeral
pile. Yes; and interest there is in every human breast for every motive, for every
desire, for every pain and pleasure. Be it ever so feeble, no pain or pleasure but, under
favourable circumstances, as Aaron’s serpent swallowed up all other serpents, is
capable of swallowing up all other pains and pleasures,—the interest belonging to all
other interests: no pain, no pleasure so weak, but, under favourable circumstances,
may have magnitude enough in the mind to eclipse all other pains, as well as all other
pleasures; strength enough to close the eyelids of the mind against all other pains, as
well as all other pleasures.

“The pleasure of reputation had, for some time, obtained exclusive possession of the
mind of Proteus: it had shut the doors, not only against all future contingent pleasures,
but against the pain of burning; or, to speak more properly, of suffocation. The self-
devoting burial sacrifices of Hindostan belong not to this head: they are the effects of
much more complicated causes, in the composition of which, as in that of most human
evils, what is called religion, occupies a principal place.

“If self-preference has place in every human breast, then, if rulers are men, so must it
have in every ruling breast. Government has, accordingly, under every form
comprehending laws and institutions, had for its object the greatest happiness, not of
those over whom, but of those by whom, it has been exercised; the interest not of the
many, but of the few, or even of the one, has been the prevalent interest; and to that
interest all others have been, at all times, sacrificed. To these few, or this one,
depredation has everywhere been the grand object, oppression a subsidiary one:
where, to the purpose of depredation, oppression has sufficed; oppression, as being
the cheaper instrument, has been employed alone: where the aid of corruption has
been necessary, the aid of it, notwithstanding the expense of it, has been called in; and
what has been lost in quantity has thus been gained in stability.

“In a government in which a representation of the People, or a shadow of one, has
place; of the matter of good, in all its shapes—money, power, factitious dignity—that
portion which is at the disposal of the monarch operates upon the whole of that body,
in the character of matter of corruptive influence. It operates of itself; and, without
need of so much as a single act that can be called an act of corruption, suffices to the
production of the effect. It operates upon all parties, and with influence which never
has been, and never can be, resisted. All parties are, in fact, at all times, resolvable
into two: that which is in possession, and that which is in expectancy, of the sweets of
government. Between the two, there is always the semblance of a difference; for the
party which, being out of office, acts against office with its abuses, cannot act against
it without acting to an extent more or less considerable for the People. There is,
therefore, always the semblance of a difference; but with regard to the People’s
interests, there is never anything more than a semblance.

“This state of things is of the essence of mixed monarchy.
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“By reform is meant, or at least in it is included, abolition of corruptive influence. All
those who see, in the matter and fruit of corruptive influence, the object of their
desires, are, therefore, whether in possession or expectancy, alike enemies to reform
in every shape. Improvement, in so far as applied to political power, to the quantity of
it, or the distribution of it, is but another word for reform, is but reform under another
name: they are, therefore, alike enemies to improvement—to improvement in every
such shape. But when, in any shape, improvement is brought to view and advocated, it
is naturally advocated upon right and proper principles. The all-comprehensive and
all-directing principle, the greatest-happiness principle, is, in some shape or other, in
some point of view or other, brought forward. But of this fountain of all political as
well as of all moral good, the water is an object of horror, to all who are engaged in
the war of politics; the sound or the sight of it is to them that which the touch of the
salted holy water is to the unclean spirits; to the unclean spirits on both sides: and at
the bottom, no less than at the top of the world of politics, all spirits that move in it
are unclean. From this field of universal depravity issues, at all times, a loud and
indefatigable cry of excellence. The world of politics is, by the acknowledgment of
both parties, divided into two opposite regions; the world of major, and the world of
minor purity. Between the two hypotheses, the only difference is, that where the one
party places the major, the other places the minor excellence. At the summit of both,
high in the region of the clouds, in the portrait drawn by both, sits royal excellence;
underneath both, in the regions of depravity, lie, or grovel, the lower orders: these, by
an all-benevolent, all-just, and all-wise God, (blessed be his name!) having been made
for the use of the higher, have this, and no other title to their regard.

“Such being the fashionable picture, the British-constitution picture of the field of
politics, what is the true one?

“What there is of purity in the mixture, is to be found, if not absolutely af the bottom,
much nearer to it than af the top; what there is of corruption rises to the top: if the
lower orders have been called the dregs of the population, the higher may, by a much
clearer title, be termed the scum of it.

“The world that is, and the world that is to come, are painted by the same hands on the
same plan, and for the same purposes. God—archangels, and angels—devils. God and
the king have sitten for each other; members of Right Honourable House for
Archangels; members of Honourable House for Angels; Devils, all without doors,
who, to the rest of hierarchy so constituted, are matter of contempt. An Angel, is he
anything but a messenger? Members of the Honourable House, are they not the
People’s messengers, sent by the People; or, what is better, by God or Archangels to
represent them? And can anything be more in course than that Angels should ripen
into Archangels? A Devil, is he anything but an accuser? A Prophet, was he anything
but a man who, on occasion, could speak out?

‘Tutto il mondo é fatto come nostra famiglia’—was it not the discovery made by
Harlequin?”

The “Fragment on Government” was seen by nobody before it was published. Five
hundred copies of it were printed. It was ascribed to many of the great men of the day:
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to Lord Mansfield, Lord Camden, and Lord Ashburton. It was the means of
introducing Bentham to Lord Shelburne; but it brought no profit, whatever it may
have brought of fame. It was not, however, the only attack upon Blackstone written
by Bentham. He wrote “Castrations to the Comment on the Commentaries; being the
Third Chapter of the Second Book of that work published, as it might have been;” but,
apprehensive of prosecution, the work was never printed. The latter work is a bitter
animadversion on Blackstone, principally on account of his defence of the Jewish law.
Bentham introduces the volume with a declaration that he will never answer any
inquiries as to the authorship. He justifies Burke for refusing, though sorely pressed,
to declare whether or not he wrote the Letters of Junius. He lays it down as a rule, that
there are only two cases where the public has a right to call upon an anonymous
author to produce himself. First, where he is accused of being the magnifier of his
own works; and, second, where he depreciates the reputation of another by the
allegation of specific facts:—in the first case, from a regard to his own honour; in the
second, out of regard to the justice due to others. He denies, in all other cases, the
right of any man to inquire of any othre man whether he be responsible for an
anonymous book, and especially while our libel laws exist as they are. He asserts that
an author is entitled to presuppose malevolence on the part of such an inquirer, and to
answer the inquirer thus:—*“Do you think if I were such a villain (as you would call
me) to write this book, that I would be such a fool as to tell you so, in order to give
you, and those who think with you, the pleasure of seeing me punished?”

The “Fragment on Government” appears to have called down upon Bentham not a
few anathemas. His opinions, religious as well as political, were violently attacked,
and much of the ribaldry of the day was attributed to the unknown author of the
Fragment. Among other books, “The White Bull” was laid at his door: speaking of
which, on one occasion, he said to me, “Come, now, I’ll make to you a confession as
long as my arm; so accommodate your phiz to gravity. Know you Voltaire’s squibs
called L’Evangile du Jour? 1f you do not, it is better you had known them. There was
one called Le Taureau blanc. 1 proposed the translation to Lind. Lind was so lazy that
[ undertook it merely for the pleasure of translating it. There was a coarseness, a want
of refinement, of tact, in Lind’s style that displeased me. The tale is a sort of romance,
the scene of which lies in Egypt. I fancy I have a copy of the book; and if you can get
a dispensation you shall have it. The White Bull is brought into contact with Apis.
The Witch of Endor, the Serpent who was the devil, are among the dramatis personce.
For weeks it filled me with ecstasy. They meet with my namesake the prophet Jeremy,
after which they were turned into Magpies, and went on talking as if nothing had
happened to them: a miracle for no purpose in the world. It used to convulse me with
laughter. It is an admirable thing. There was Mambres, with his long beard, foujours
faisant his reflections. I drew it out as a piece of original history of great value for
correcting erroneous chronology. Jonah’s whale was also an important personage. The
Critical Review noticed it, and said it had all the wit and pungency of Voltaire. I had
not courage to send Voltaire a copy. He would have invited me to Ferney had I done
so. It was the goodness of the style of this book that induced Hinsley to offer me work
as a translator: but the book did not sell. A man of the name of Franklin, who was
translating Voltaire, took the book off the booksellers’ hands.”
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It appears, at one time, to have been Bentham’s intention to publish an answer to
those who had accused him of being the author of the White Bull. But he abandoned
that intention. As his views, however, on the complicated question of the rights and
duties of anonymous authorship are ingeniously put forward, I deem them worthy of
being preserved.

“I have given too much offence to many well-disposed persons, not to expect to be
charged with offences. The industry ordinary upon these occasions, hasraked up an
accusation against me. It is now about—years ago, as | observe by the title-page, that
an obscure jeu d’esprit made its appearance, under the title of ‘The White Bull,’
attributed to Mr Voltaire; a translation,* with a preface by the translator. I shall not
wonder to find myself charged, by the zeal of these—persons, with every book,
published within a certain time, that happens to be obnoxious and to have no owner.
With respect to this publication in particular, I am happy enough to be able to plead
not guilty, and to say, with truth, that I am not the author. I have read it, however, not
altogether without amusement; but mixed, here and there, with sentiments of which
my accusers would not fail, I suppose, to make an earnest, pompous, and pathetic
display. I might here launch out into a grief of griefs: nothing were more easy. But
what sentiments of piety I feel, I choose rather to demonstrate by less equivocal marks
than a strain of declamation, which can tend only to bring into notice an obscure piece
of Grub Street manufacture, which, hitherto, neither has had, nor, if the author will
excuse my saying so, deserves to have, any regard. My humble, but assiduous,
labours, which I hope will not cease but with my life, I desire to be engaged in the
service of my country. This is the piety of which it is important to mankind to find
proofs in their neighbours. The other sort is between God and me; of which it were
idle and useless for any man to demand a public account of me, or for me to give it.
For my opinions, I refer to such writings as are mine; for the effects and tendency of
these opinions, to my life and actions. If these gentlemen have aught to object to
either the one or the other, let them produce it to the public, if they think it decent to
trouble the public about a person so little worth its notice. So that it be to the public,
that I may know and answer it; far from complaining, I shall thank them, and will
wave every advantage the law would give me.

“As to publications, all I shall say I have said already. They may compliment me with
all the produce of Paternoster Row, ere I shall take any further notice: there is neither
end to it nor use.”

Of the uncomfortable state of his mind while living in Lincoln’s Inn, Bentham gives
the following account:—

“I never pleaded in public. I have just opened a bill two or three times, saying a few
words for form. When I had obtained my father’s leave to give pleading up, I heard
that the bills were admired. My father was always out of spirits for my want of
success.

“I was, indeed, grossly ignorant. Instead of pursuing any sound studies, or reading any
modern books of law, I was set to read old trash of the seventeenth century; and |

PLL v6.0 (generated September, 2011) 128 http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/2085



Online Library of Liberty: The Works of Jeremy Bentham, vol. 10 (Memoirs Part I and
Correspondence)

looked up to the huge mountain of law in despair. I can now look down upon it from
the heights of utility.

“Chemistry somewhat consoled me. I spent half-a-guinea on a quantity of phials, and
hid them in a closet, in which I surreptitiously made a hole to let in a little light. But
mine was truly a miserable life. | had been taken notice of by the great, when a little
boy at Westminster School; for I was an object of praise from the earliest time of
which I have any recollection. 7That filled me with ambition. But I met with all sorts of
rebukes and disappointments till I was asked to Bowood.”

In his Commonplace Book, for 1776, I find many passages worthy of preservation:—
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Revenus Prosecutions.

“Prosecutions for offences against laws relating to the Customs and Excise are often,
it seems, carried on in the Crown-office.

“They are very frequent: at the same time, what might appear extraordinary till
accounted for, scarce one or two in the course of a year are brought to trial.

“A certain connexion that there is in this case, between interest and power, will
sufficiently account for this as for all other phenomena that are observable relating to
the execution of the laws.

“It is the interest of those who happen to have a power correspondent to that interest,
that prosecutions should be commenced: accordingly they are commenced in
numbers; but it is the interest of the same persons that such prosecutions should not be
pushed on to punishment, but he compounded: accordingly they are compounded.

“It is a very small proportion that the number of the offences that are detected, bears
to the number of those that escape unpunished; and it is not every detection, perhaps,
that is accompanied with proof sufficient to support a prosecution. When, however,
by good fortune a prosecution is commenced, the first thing the defendant always
does, is to petition the commissioners to be permitted to compound. The petition is
almost always granted; so far granted at least, as that the defendant is referred to the
solicitor of the office. The solicitor is always compassionate, and the deliquent cannot
but be grateful. A ‘bill of costs’ is made out by the solicitor. The ordinary fees taken
by solicitors in penal prosecutions, are just double those taken by attorneys in civil
actions. The defendant has too much magnanimity to enter into a minute and
invidious inquiry; whether every little charge is warranted by the rigid rule of custom,
is an inquiry the defendant’s magnanimity seems unwilling to enter into; and his
generosity indicates the propriety of a proper present.

“By this happy arrangement, all parties (that is, all private parties) are satisfied. The
delinquent receives a silent squeeze from a palm his gratitude has softened, instead of
being crushed by the rough hand of open justice. His official friend enjoys that purest
of satisfactions which results from the godlike function of forgiving injuries: a
satisfaction the freer from all alloy, in that the said injuries are not his own.

“All this is admirable; but how fares it with the public all this while? and what
becomes of the benefit of example? and of what use is this sum of secret torture to
those who are under temptation to offend, but whom the spectacle of punishment
might deter?

“Thus happy then is the harmony in this branch of law between public and private
interest.
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“The interest of the public is, that punishment be known to be inflicted; and,
therefore, that when there is occasion it be inflicted, in order that delinquencies may
be few. The interest of those who act in this matter for the public, is, that
delinquencies may be many; and lest they should not be many, that the punishment
that happens to be incurred for them, should, upon certain conditions, be as little as
may be, and that little not be known.

“To this interest, as things stand at present, is joined the power. Of this power, I know
not whather this man or that man makes an undue profit; but I know, as a child of this

world, he is unwise in his generation if he does not.

“The matters of fact taken from J. F. Abbot, at 2, Q. S. P., Wednesday, May, 1775.

PLL v6.0 (generated September, 2011) 131 http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/2085



Online Library of Liberty: The Works of Jeremy Bentham, vol. 10 (Memoirs Part I and
Correspondence)

[Back to Table of Contents]

Employment For Pauper Manufacturers.

“The great evil manufacturers are liable to, is that of a temporary stagnation of trade,
which leaves vast numbers at a time without employment, and without subsistence.
For a remedy, I propose public works to be set on foot in the neighbourhood of
manufacturing towns: to be carried on by none but manufacturers out of employment.
For example, digging of canals, deepening of harbours, making of roads, building of
fortifications.

“The kind of work must be such as requires no skill, because the workmen will be set
to it without preparation.

“The pay must be less than what they can earn by their manufacture, or else they
would quit their manufacture. None should be employed about it, but manufacturers
out of employment; because it is for their relief that it is designed. When applying to
be employed in it, they should therefore be required to produce a certificate of their
being manufacturers of such a manufacture, having been so for such a time. When
thus confined to them, their pay may be something higher than that of common
labourers, as their earnings at their manufactures are generally much greater than
those of common labourers. The national or the county fund might make good the
difference.

“The parishes where the manufactures are, might well contribute a certain proportion
of the charge, as such an establishment would be a great relief to the Poor-rates.
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Law—An Affair Of Pain And Pleasure.

“If law did not concern pains and pleasures, it would be a very idle business—a
business in no way superior in dignity, and much inferior in amusement, to dominoes
or push-pin.

“It does, however, concern pain and pleasure. Pain and pleasure await each motion of
its will. This, however, lawyers are wonderfully disposed to forget: it never seems to
have entered into the heads of some, and it is this inattention that is the source of all
their absurdities. Hence their quaint reasoning and ridiculous conundrums.
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Truth—In Books.

“Of the merits of a work of which truth is the object, one cannot have an adequate
idea, or a perfect relish, without some acquaintance with the errors against which it is
levelled, and which it is calculated to displace. With respect to others, the apparent
merit of such a work will be apt to be in an inverse proportion to the real. The better it
answers its purpose, of making an abstruse subject plain, the more apt it will be to
appear to have nothing in it that is extraordinary.

“An observation that seems to contain nothing more than what every one knew
already, shall turn volumes of specious and formidable sophistry into wastepaper. The
same book may succeed ill with different sets of people for opposite reasons; by the
ignorant, who have no opinions about the matter, it may be thought lightly of, as
containing nothing that is extraordinary; by the false learned, who have prejudices
they cannot bear to have questioned, it may be condemned as paradoxical, for not
squaring with these prejudices.”

“In 1777 1 translated the first of two volumes of the last of Marmontel’s novels, dull
and insipid, and it fell and was forgotten. It was put into my hands by Elmsley of the
Strand. I said I was proud as well as poor. He offered three guineas a sheet. I engaged
for it. I grew tired long before. I had done; but forty guineas was to me a most
important sum, though I was exceedingly capricious about my style. The second
volume of Marmontel was translated by a parson—a Presbyterian parson of the name
of Nixby. He was, as I said, no better than a Scotsman: and I confess, I think my
volume the best of the two.”

At this time, Bentham was frequently visited by his father, to encourage him in his
literary pursuits. In turning over the pages of his father’s diary, I read to him the
following memoranda, and have added to them the observations to which they gave
rise:—

“December 7th, 1777.—Au matin, at son Jeremy’s chambers, perusing his new work
proposed to be entitled ‘The Policy of Punishment.” Paid him his expenses for
standing godfather to Mr Wise’s eldest daughter.”

—*“This was part of the ‘Rationale of Punishment,” published by Dumont.”

“1778, January 23.—Called chez fils J., when he showed me the heads or division of
his work.”

—“Poor fils Jeremy! how I was tormented! I went on very slowly in my father’s
conception; but it was the result of dejection of spirits. I was feeling and picking my
way—agetting the better of prejudice and nonsense—making a little bit of discovery
here—another there—and endeavouring to put the little bits together.”
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Bentham’s View of the Hard Labour Bill, alluded to in the extracts which follow, was
published in 1778: it brought him into correspondence with Mr Eden, the author of
the bill, who was also the author of the preface which Bentham said he admired
beyond anything he ever read on the subject of legal polity. Mr Eden defends himself
in his letters to Bentham for employing the phrase, “not disposed to propose or
promote novelties,” (which Bentham attacked as “the wisdom-of-ancestors fallacy,”)
by saying, “he merely meant to disavow that busy interference with established
systems, which, except on occasions of necessity, like the present, is oftener
productive of confusion than benefit,”—an unsatisfactory defence, since every one,
who profits by an abuse, denies that his own case is the “occasion of necessity.”
Justice Blackstone, in acknowledging the receipt of a copy of the work, calls it
“ingenious;” adding, that “some of the observations in the ‘View’ had already
occurred to the patrons of the intended bill, and many more are well deserving their
attention.”

“March 15.—Fils Jerry about putting to press his ‘Observations on Mr Eden’s Bill.” ”

“26th.—Au matin, went to fils Jeremy’s chambers, settling the preface to his
‘Observations on the Hard Labour Bill.” ”

—*“This was my constant ebstruction, depriving me of free agency.”

“28th.—Fils Jeremy dinoit chez nous, and showed me Mr W. Eden’s answer to his
letter about the preface to the Hard Labour Bill proposed to be published by him.”

—*+“Eden and Judge Blackstone were together the authors of this bill. I worked them to
a jelly. I thought what was so interesting to me was interesting to all the world; but

nobody cared at all about it.

“Eden’s letter was very cold and civil. He was a commissioner to make peace with the
Americans, or rather to forgive them; but they would not be forgiven.”

“April 5th.—Chez fils Jeremy, when he gave me six copies of his book to send to
some of the judges by Thomas.”

—*“In these matters I had no option. It was pushing, pushing, pushing; none of them
took any notice of the book.”

“November 19.—Chez fils Jeremy L. F., when he told me he had gone halfway
towards composing his ‘Code of Laws.” ”

—*“A misconception. He had not understood my answers.”

In 1779, I observe an entry:—“April 19th. Called on son Jeremy, and gave him,
towards paying his amanuensis, £5, 5s.”

—*“Pinched as I was at this time for money, I had a strange aversion to accounts,

coupled with perfect economy. I never kept money accounts: I was always thinking of
legislation and chemistry. It is not common for non-account-keepers to be as I was,

PLL v6.0 (generated September, 2011) 135 http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/2085



Online Library of Liberty: The Works of Jeremy Bentham, vol. 10 (Memoirs Part I and
Correspondence)

rigid economists. Two of the happiest dinners I ever made in my life were with my
brother on five pennyworth of mutton at Lincoln’s Inn. I used to distil my water for
experiments on the hob. The tea-kettle was always the third person in our
conversation. We talked of all sorts of schemes. One was to send some sort of present
to the House of Representatives which was to explode. I thought the Americans used
sadly stupid arguments, and that there was no better reason for their breaking out than
for the breaking out of any other part of the country.”

Bentham employed a poor fellow, half for use, half for charity, something between
servant and clerk, to copy his MSS.

The following curious and characteristic entry appears in the diary of Bentham’s
father, dated November 8, 1778; nor are Bentham’s observations, when I read to him
the passage, less characteristic:—*“Mr William Barrett dinoit chez nous, apres diner
Mr Drake chez nous, when me and son Abbott (Charles) went to Justice Robert
Elliott’s public office, Cambridge Street, to answer the complaint of Sarah Wheeler
against me for wearing unlawful buttons on my clothes, when she swore she saw Mr
Bentham have a silk waistcoat with the same on the 13th November, but that she did
not see him in the room. At the same time she was heard to a complaint against Mr
Whittel for wearing a brown silk waistcoat with buttons of the same stuff; but, on her
swearing to a wrong person, she was charged with being guilty of wilful and corrupt
perjury; and, a warrant being made out against her, she was committed accordingly, at
the instance of Mr Nokes of New Inn, attorney for Mr Whittel. Apres midi, drank tea
with Sir John and Lady Hawkins—rude, despotic, and reproachful, for not
prosecuting S. W. as well as Mr Whittel.”

—*“And they were unlawful buttons,” exclaimed Bentham, “worn by the person
whom she supposed to be my father. Poor woman! she accepted the reward offered by
the State. I never think of the rage against informers without myself being in a rage
against it—calling out for laws, and then visiting with shame those who assist in their
execution; determining that a thing shall be done, and shall not be done, in preventing
its being done through the only means by which it can be done. Sir John was a most
insolent, worthless, fellow. He wrote five volumes on the history of music, but knew
nothing of the subject in theory or practice.”

An active correspondence was carried on between Bentham and some of the public
men of France, who were now obtaining celebrity in that great agitation which
preceded the Revolution, or which was rather the earliest symptom of the Revolution.
In a letter of D’ Alembert to Bentham, dated 26th June, 1778, he says:—*“It is indeed
high time that the human race should be freed from all the absurdities, or rather, all
the atrocities of our criminal jurisprudence; and if we may not speedily hope to see
this great change, it is a happiness for which philosophers like you are preparing the
way by your writings—useful as they are to society, and honourable to yourself.” The
Abb¢ Morellet, in a letter of the 8th May, 1778, announcing that the government had,
by an arbitrary order, suppressed Mirabeau’s periodical, which, only having reached
its second number, had 7000 subscribers, says:—*“the suppression has caused a
terrible noise, and excited loud complainings.” He laments the violent passions which
were then beginning to show themselves, both in the provincial and national
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assemblies; the want of order in the discussions, and of authority in the presidents; the
vagueness of the debates, and the preponderance of the lawyers; and especially the
follies of his own “reverend order,” which, he says, “would induce him speedily to
hurry into retirement, that he might not be compromised by their extravagances.”

The Chevalier de Castellux writes to Bentham:—*“In these days laws must be
discussed, and, if they deserve it, censured; and courtly legists must bend under the
weight of mental criticism.” He says of Necker, that “his purposes are good and
benevolent, but possessing only an executive authority, not grounded on popular
representation or popular support, his real influence must be weak.”

Bentham told me that he had never personal intercourse with Franklin. “There was a
Doctor Swediaur,* who amassed a little fortune at Paris, though he was pulling the
devil by the tail here. He was a pleasing man, of a great deal of knowledge in his way.
He took a 4to copy of my Essay on Morals, &c., which he gave to Franklin; but he
never expended any observations upon it, which was then a matter of considerable
regret and disappointment to me.”
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CHAPTER V.

1781.—At. 33.

Visits to Lord Shelburne.—Letters from Bowood: The Bowood Ladies: Lord
Pembroke: Court Scandal: Necker: Louis XVI.: Lord Bristol.—American War:
Captain Blankett: Elliot: Siege of St Lucie: Lord Dartry: Lord Chatham and William
Pitt: Dunning: Relation of an Overture by Lord North to the Rockinghams: Lord and
Lady Tracton: American Intelligence: Camden: Sir William Draper’s Letter to Lord
Shelburne.

Bentham’s connexion with Lord Shelburne (afterwards Marquis of Lansdowne) began
in 1781, when his lordship called on him at his chambers in Lincoln’s Inn. The
intimacy became very great, and Bentham spent much of his time at Bowood.

Lady Shelburne died in 1789. During her last illness, Benjamin Vaughan and
Bentham were the only persons of the male sex whose presence she could endure;
and, on her death, he was the only male person who was constantly near Lord
Shelburne, of that little party to which he looked for consolation.

When a rupture took place with Col. Barré, Bentham held the place of confidence
which Barré had occupied. He was consulted on all occasions, at a time when a debt
of £300,000 encumbered the rent-roll.

Bentham used his influence in order to prevent the present marquis from being sent to
Oxford; a place, he said, where perjury was daily practised.

Lord Shelburne avoided talking on religious subjects, for fear, he hinted, of getting
into a scrape; but he avowed to Bentham that his opinions were what is called

sceptical.

The following letter is a specimen of Lord Shelburne’s style, and conveys his opinion
on some subjects of interest:—
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Lord Shelburne To Bentham.

“Cheltenham, 26th July, 1781.

“Dear Sir,—

I am very much obliged by your letter of the 18th, and consider your attention as a
mark of your friendship, of which I am ambitious. I remember reading some of Mr
Anderson’s papers, and that they contained more useful matter, though not such fine
language as is commonly to be met with among Scotch writers. I entirely agree with
him about the Poor Laws; they not only appear to me productive of all the
inconveniences commonly apprehended and felt, but likewise are daily destroying all
natural subordination and affection. The master manufacturer, uninterested in the fate
of the hands whom he employs, becomes a mere Negro driver; while the man of
property loses that political influence which it has been a fundamental principle of all
constitutions to suppose attendant on property, by the poor being taught, on all
occasions, to look up to the king’s justices for relief; and I shall not be surprised to see
the poor make as separate an interest in the State as the clergy do.

“I brought the ‘Fragment’ here, meaning to read it again, which has been the means of
discovering to me that I am here in company with a friend of yours—Captain
Blankett. He returns with me to Bowood at the end of next week, from whence he
accompanies me here, and I should be very happy if it might prove an inducement to
you to meet us there.

“You say nothing of your brother. I hope he has not embarked himself in a service
(the Russian) which, among others, he has given me the worst opinion of. It is
ridiculous to say in this idle place that I am obliged to conclude my letter for want of
time, but I was impatient to acknowledge yours; and an early dinner does not leave
me more time than is necessary to add the truth and regard with which I have the
honour to be, dear sir, your faithful, humble servant,

(Signed) “Shelburne.”

Bentham’s visits to Bowood were all felicity. A few of his amusing letters, full as
they are of agreeable tittle-tattle, will best show how many pleasures were crowded
into those happy days; which, in writing to the present Lord Lansdowne, Bentham
called the “happiest of his life.”
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Bentham To George Wilson.*

“Sunday, 8 o’Clock, (1781.)

“It is true Lady S—is a sister of Lord Ossory’s; my Lord was mentioning it just now
in a parenthesis; then Miss V—must have been a half-sister by another father; and so
part, at least, of the mystery is cleared up. The Countess of Warwick is also a sister of
Lady S—, whether half or whole I cannot pretend to say. What is it now you want of
me? Table talk? Get Selden’s; there you have a whole volume of it. Politics? I know
nothing about the matter. Does he come in? That I know nothing about, any more than
you. He went some little time ago to town, for a couple of days only: that came out
accidentally in conversation yesterday, when there was company. ‘People fancied that
I was gone upon politics.” I have been told at different times, in the way of
parenthesis, that I should see Lord Camden here and Colonel Barré; at present, there
is not a soul but Blankett. To-morrow, my Lord, and I, and Blankett, (I beg his
pardon, Blankett and I,) go to Lord Pembroke’s to see Wilton; we are to stay there all
night; it is about thirty miles off. On what account we go, I can’t pretend to say; it was
proposed as if it were only on mine. On Thursday, we go to Calne, to a corporation
dinner. Hamilton of Bath has been mentioned as another person whom I shall see, and
that in a few days; ’tis he who was the creator of Payne’s Hill. He is the oracle for the
gardening works that are carried on here, and has been employed in undoing what
capability-Brown had done. To-day we had no company to dinner; yesterday we had a
Mr Bayntun (a son of Sir Edward Bayntun, an old courtier, whose name you will find
in your Bible) and his wife; and who should this wife be, but a Lady Maria, a
daughter of Lord Conventry, by Miss Gunning, and who, notwithstanding her
ancestry, is as dowdy as a country girl, and as ugly as a horse, and yet, they say, she
had on her best looks. Her husband is a plain young country squire in dress, with
something of Croft’s manner in his address, yet better spoken and without his
affectation; he is cultivated pour cause de vicinage, being the nearest neighbour there
is—and yet, three miles off, neighbours being eloigned by the extensiveness of the
demesnes.

“All this while, I have said nothing of the manner of my coming here; I began in the
middle like an epic poem. I travelled very snug in my coach as far as Marlborough,
with a set of people not worth recounting. At Marlborough, where we dined, our
coach joined issue with another: the company, Alexander Popham, and a certain
female. He appeared to know who I was, and we made a sort of bande a part. 1
determined to pursue your plan with regard to the quitting the hackney vehicle at
Marlborough, but, alas! what availeth human, nay, Scottish, nay, even Wilsonian,
prudence! Heaven’s great amusement is to make mock of it. Necessity obliged me to
make inquiries before these people which led them to conclude I was going to Lord
Shelburne’s; ed io anch’io, ‘and 1, too, said the chambermaid,’ (for some such
personage was she,) ‘am going to Lord Shelburne’s.” Thank your stars you were not
in my shoes; if you had been, not all the hartshorn in Godfrey’s shop would have
recovered you. Je tins bon, but the chambermaid’s back being turned, I unbosomed
myself, Gallicé, in pathetic strains, to Alexander Popham. Qu'’y faire de cette femme
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ci? Quoique ce soit une femme, il n’y a pas moyen de la mener avec moi, cependant
c’est precisement a cette maison la que je vais; voila ce qui j 'appelle une rencontre. It
was some consolation, however to me, that the turpitude of my situation was shared
with Alexander, who, upon first meeting, took care to enlarge upon the preeminence
of stage-coaches to post-chaises,—of the former being the more expeditious
vehicle,—of his being urged to have recourse to it by a disinterested innkeeper at
Newbery, and of being determined by so pure a motive as the hope of company; had it
not been for this, I should rather have attributed it to the expenses of a lost election.
At parting, ‘to let you into a secret,” says he, ‘I ought not, by right, to go so near,
without paying my respects at the house you are going to; and I would not wish you to
mention your having seen me. But how long do you think of staying?’—°‘Indeed, 1
can’t tell; a month or thereabouts, it is not impossible.”—*‘Ah, then,’ says he, ‘I hope
we shall meet.”—*Well, but why not now? Come, get into the post-chaise with me.’
The fact was, I should not have been sorry to have had him, supposing him upon such
a footing, as a sort of instrument to break the ice with. However, he would not go.
When I arrived here, the family were not at home; they were gone, at least the
gentlemen were, to dine with Sir James Long, the nephew and heres designatus of
Lord Tilney. When my lord came in, he ran up to me, and touched one of my cheeks
with his, and then the other. I was even satisfied with it, since he meant it kindly, and
since such, I suppose, is the fashion; but I should have been still better satisfied if he
had made either of the ladies his proxy.”

“Sunday, 12 o ’Clock.

“Where shall I begin?—Ilet me see—the first place, by common right, to the ladies.
The ideas I brought with me respecting the female part of this family are turned quite
topsy-turvy, and unfortunately they are not yet cleared up. I had expected to find in
Lady Shelburne, a Lady Louisa Fitzpatrick, sister of an Earl of Ossory, whom I
remember at school: instead of her, I find a lady who has for her sister a Miss
Caroline V—: is not this the maid of honour, the sister to Lady G.? the lady who was
fond of Lord C., and of whom he was fond? and whom he quitted for an heiress and a
pair of horns? Be they who they may, the one is loveliest of matrons, the other of
virgins: they have both of them more than I could wish of reserve; but it is a reserve
of modesty rather than of pride. The quadrupeds, whom you know I love next, consist
of a child of a year old, a tiger, a spaniel formerly attached to Lady Shelburne—at
present to my Lord—besides four plebeian cats, who are taken no notice of, horses,
&c., and a wild boar, who is sent off on a matrimonial expedition to the farm. The
four first I have commenced a friendship with, especially the first of all, to whom I am
body-coachman extraordinary en tire d office: Henry (for that is his name,”—[the
present Lord Lansdowne]—*“for such an animal, has the most thinking countenance I
ever saw; being very clean, I can keep him without disgust and even with pleasure,
especially after having been rewarded, as I have just now, for my attention to him, by
a pair of the sweetest smiles imaginable from his mamma and aunt. As Providence
hath ordered it, they both play on the harpsichord, and at chess. I am flattered with the
hopes of engaging with them, before long, either in war or harmony—mnot to-
day—because, whether you know it or not, it is Sunday: I know it, having been
paying my devotions—our church, the hall—our minister, a sleek young parson, the
curate of the parish—our saints, a naked Mercury, an Apollo in the same dress, and a
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Venus de Medicis—our congregation, the two ladies, Captain Blankett, and your
humble servant, upon the carpet by the minister—below, the domestics, superioris et
inferioris ordinis. Among the former I was concerned to see poor Mathews the
librarian, who, I could not help thinking, had as good a title to be upon the carpet as
myself.

“Of Lord Fitzmaurice I know nothing, but from his bust and letters: the first bespeaks
him a handsome youth, the latter an ingenious one. He is not sixteen, and already he
writes better than his father. He is under the care of a Mr Jervis, a dissenting minister,
who has had charge of him since he was six years old. He has never been at any
public school of education. He has now for a considerable time been travelling about
the kingdom, that he may know something of his own country before he goes to
others, and be out of the way of adulation.

1]

“I am interrupted—adieu! /e reste a [’ordinaire prochain.’
“Friday Evening, August 25th, or thereabouts.

“On Monday we went to Wilton, as proposed—Lord S., Blankett, and I, in my Lord’s
coach with hacks. It was not as I had at first apprehended. My Lord was almost as
much a stranger at Wilton as myself: he had been there but once before, and then
without acquaintance. Lord Pembroke’s defection from the court, had begun an
intercourse in London, and this visit was the first fruit of it in the country. We set out
at six: got there to breakfast, (it is about twenty-six or twenty-seven miles off,) and
stayed to breakfast the next morning. It was seeing the place to some advantage,
having the master and the mistress of the house for cicerones. A very pretty part of the
gardens, planned and just finished by Lady P—, is not shown to strangers. At dinner,
the only company besides ourselves were, an officer who was quartered at Salisbury,
(a Major North of the 4th Dragoons,) and young Beckford of Fonthill, who, on the
28th of this month, comes of age, and gives a grand féte to all the world. The family
consist only of Lord and Lady P—, Lord Herbert who is with his regiment, and Lady
Charlotte, a little girl of nine or ten years old, who is at home. It is odd enough, that
though he and she are by no means on good terms, they should neither of them have a
creature with them. Lord P— is one of the best bred, most intelligent, pleasant
fellows, I ever met with in my life; they say he is mad, but, if his madness never
shows itself in any other shapes than it did then, I wish to God I could be mad too. He
talked with infinite vivacity and 1égereté, saying many good things and no foolish
ones.

“I got a most exquisite lesson in the art of small talk from the breakfast conversation
of Lord S. and Lady P., (Lord P. being absent for near an hour.) They had been old
cronies twenty or twenty-five years ago, and had never come across one another
since: you may imagine what stories they had to ohop and notes to compare. In those
days Lord S. used to frequent Marlborough House. You know the genealogy. Lady P.
and Lady Di. Beauclerk, sisters to the present Duke of Marlborough. It was pleasing
enough to contemplate, at leisure, the remains of a beauty which was one of the first
that [ remember to have heard celebrated, au sortir de [’enfance. Lady P. and Lady
Egremont—whom also I shall probably have the opportunity of being acquainted
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with—were the two heroines of a copy of verses, which I remember made some noise
at Tunbridge, when I was there with my father about twenty years ago.* She is grown
fat, and, by that means, a little out of shape; but she has still a fine face, and very fine
light brown hair, which she wears neatly done up without powder, to serve as
evidence of youth. To apologize for the attention with which I surveyed her, and to
make up for the little I could have to say upon such topics, I threw into my looks as
well as I could, an air of respect mixed up with a small dash of tenderness. She is at
that time of life at which a woman thinks herself obliged to any man who will give
her to understand that he thinks her still desirable. It was by this manceuvre, I suppose,
that I escaped contempt: for it did not appear to me, that I was looked upon as others
who had so much more to say for themselves. They (I mean Lord and Lady P.) are to
be here in the course of the summer, but separately; it being so contrived, thinking it
would be the more agreeable to them.

“The Duchess of Bedford is also to be here; she is, you know, related (I don’t know
yet precisely in what manner) to Lady Shelburne; so also, I believe, is a personage of
a nature very disparate to the former—I mean Dunning; [ mean that he is expected
here. You have in the newspapers of a day or two ago, a mighty pretty paragraph,
about the duchess being all summer long in town; the fact is, she is at Woburn.
Yesterday, we had at breakfast old Sir Edward Bayntum; to-morrow, we have at
dinner Sir James Long, nephew and hceres designatus to Lord Tilney. This morning,
went away honest Jo. Townsend, a parson, brother to the alderman;* we found him
here on our return from Wilton, on Tuesday. He seems a very worthy creature, has
been a good deal abroad, and has a great deal of knowledge; his studies have lain a
great deal in the same track with mine; he is a utilitarian, a naturalist, a chemist, a
physician; was once what I had liked to have been, a methodist, and what I should
have been still had I not been what I am; as Alexander, if he had not been Alexander,
(I am wrong in the story, but never mind,) would have been Diogenes. In short, we
have become great friends, and he has given me the carte du pays. There is a mixture
of simplicity, candour, and a composed earnestness, tempered with good breeding,
that has won upon me mightily; and upon the terms of my indulging him in his
patriotism, and antipathy to your countrymen,i (some of whom, however, he has a
great respect for,) I am apt to think we shall be fast friends. He is to come here again
ere long, that I may cast an eye over a work of his, part of which is printed; and he, in
return, is to assist me in the revisal of mine, which he enters into the spirit of most
perfectly. He has made me promise to go over and see him at his living, which is
about fourteen miles from hence. Lord S. and Barré, when he comes, are to go and
dine there: I shall then go with them, and stay behind them for a few days. Blankett is
to go on Monday. I am glad of it; he seems to be an honest sort of man enough, but
has one of the most confused heads I ever met with, and he embroils every topic that
is started.

“The master of the house, to judge from everything I have seen yet, is one of the
pleasantest men to live with that ever God put breath into: his whole study seems to
be to make everybody about him happy—servants not excepted; and in their
countenances one may read the effects of his endeavours. In his presence they are as
cheerful as they are respectful and attentive; and when they are alone, you may see
them merry, but, at all times, as quiet as so many mice. I have no need to rue the
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rencontre mentioned in a former sheet; for, to such a poor devil as I, they are as
respectful and attentive as if [ were a lord. The mistress has more reserve and less
conversation, but as much mildness as the master. The only instances of fire I have
seen him exhibit, have been when he has been declaiming about politics; yet, though I
frequently oppose him, and scarce ever join with him, he takes it all in the best part
imaginable. I will tell you how the matter stands between the P— of W— and
Perdita. The common story is that she has got letters of his, in which he speaks
disrespectfully of the king; and that she is making use of them to extort money from
him. This is not the case; but the fact is, that she has a direct promissory letter for
£20,000, written, I think it was, before possession. This is what Lord P— told us on
Monday. Before he left town, he called on Lord Southampton to pump him about it.
Lord S. could not immediately see him. Meantime came in Lord Malden, who was
come as plenipo for the lady, for the express purpose of negotiating the matter with
Lord S. Lord P— descried his errand, as he says, and, by pretending to know more
than he did, picked the story out of him.

“As to myself, I have hitherto been completely idle, and that partly from inclination,
partly upon principle. Strangers are lodged in a part of the house quite separate from
that which is inhabited by the family. Adjoining to my bed-chamber I have a dressing-
room, and should have a servant’s room if | had one to put into it. They are plain but
neat, spacious, and convenient. The dressing-room | make my study. People here do
just what they please—eat their meals either with the family or in their own
apartments. The only géne I feel is, that which conscience imposes of dressing twice
a-day—that, you know, eats time.

“We learnt at Wilton that Lord Porchester comes off with little loss; the witnesses
against him discredited themselves.”

“Saturday afternoon.

“Lord Bristol is here—a most excellent companion—pleasant, intelligent, well read,
and well bred—Iliberal-minded to the last degree. He has been everywhere, and knows
everything. Sir J. Long is a little stiff-rumped fellow, and knows nothing—except
persons, and so forth, in the Q. S. Pian style. Lord B. has with him one of his sons—a
fine boy of twelve years old—who is just going to sea.”

“Bowood, Saturday, 26th August, 1781.

“The revenue of the Bishoprick of Derry is, at present, £7,200, and, in a few years,
will be £9,000; the patronage, £14,300; none of the livings less than £250; some £8,
£10, £12, up to £1500. Of all the advowsons in his diocese, he has forty; some lay-
lord, five; and another, I forget who, two or three. This, from the honest bishop, who,
at the same time, declares it to be a wonder and a shame that the clergy should be
suffered to remain in possession of so much wealth. Of the above parsons, scarce one
resides. They pay a curate £50 a-year, which, he observes, according to their own
estimation, is what the service that is done is worth.
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“Lord B. says, he is well assured and persuaded that Necker acted corruptly—that, as
minister, he borrowed of his own house at seven per cent., when the farmers would
have lent at five per cent. Necker and Turgot (who, you know, died about eight
months ago) were bitter enemies—this makes it the more generous for N. to speak of
T. in the handsome way he has done in his pamphlet. What turned out Turgot, was a
jealousy of Maurepas. When the Prince of Condé, who found himself affected by
some of Turgot’s arrangements, raised the insurrection at Paris, Turgot went to the
king, and got an order upon the Marechal de Biron, governor of Paris, for as many
men as he chose to have: purposely, or through inadvertence, he failed to
communicate this to Maurepas. M.’s jealousy took fire; and in two days Turgot was
dismissed. Madame Blondel, who was closely liée with Turgot, took upon herself the
blame; but all would not save him. Necker owed his dismission to the
Parliaments—whose assumed negative in legislation his project of provincial
assemblies went to supersede.

“The K. of F., who is timidity itself, is apprehensive of a quarrel with the men of the
long robe. Caron de Beaumarchais, one of the busiest and most successful of
intriguants, has realized (Lord S. says) to the tune of £30,000 or £40,000 a-year. He
was sent over to get (I forget what) papers of consequence from De Morande; but that
story you remember. He was even employed once in making up a quarrel between the
K. and Q. of France, which had gone to such a length, that the empress queen was
impliquée in it. At present, his interest is equal to almost anything. He is at the head of
the project for publishing three magnificent editions of Voltaire’s works, at fifteen
(twenty-five, I think it is) and forty guineas, with Baskerville’s types. He has sent
Lord S. a number of proposals. Lord B. said, he had met with French officers, and
seen letters from others, (Fayette was one who was mentioned on the occasion,) who
all joined in giving the Americans the worst of characters: they had all the vices of the
Athenians, said somebody, without any of their virtues. Franklin, it was agreed by
both their lordships, had his situation to the last degree uncomfortable, despised and
neglected by the French Ministry, thwarted and persecuted by Arthur Lee’s party, of
whom he has been heard to say, ‘he could not have thought there had been so much
malevolence in human nature.’

“Elliot has brought down a strange story of the Chancellor [ Thurlow ]—that he had
promised a man a living—that afterwards he came to learn that the man (who was a
Y orkshireman) had concurred in some of the opposition measures of that county, and
that, therefore, he had revoked his promise. By way of contrast, the care was
mentioned that Lord Northington took to make an equal distribution of church
preferments to all parties. A strange circumstance in the story is, that Lord
Loughborough went to the Chancellor, and forced him into it. The reality of the
promise is mentioned as being so clear, that it was to have been confirmed by I know
not what overt acts.

“Lord S. pretends to have heard from very high authority at New York, that Lord
Cornwallis, being sick of his situation, had begged of Clinton to come in person, and
gather the laurels that were ready for him; but that Cl. begged to be excused. Reported
of Lord Mulgrave, when in Opposition, being introduced to the Queen of Sardinia:
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‘On dit,” said her majesty, ‘que Milord n’est pas bien a la cour.” ‘Madame c’est la
cour qui n’est pas bien chez moi.” This was by Lord Bristol, who is uncle to Lord M.

“Lord B. assumed to me, (unless I much mistook him,) a principal share in the merit
of carrying the Toleration Act through the Irish House of Lords. He was, in his own
mind at least, for going further, and admitting them to all offices, that of Member of
Parliament not excepted. Of a little more than three millions—of which, he says, the
population of Ireland consists—upwards of two millions are Catholics, about 600,000
Presbyterians, and only about 400,000 Church-of-England men. He has made an exact
enumeration of all the people in his diocese, distinguishing them according to their
religions, occupations, sex, ages, and the like.

“Elliot says that Admiral Parker is loud in his complaints against Lord Sandwich for
not giving him force enough. The royal visit was a contrivance of Lord S.’s to stop his
mouth; but that it won’t.

“Elliot and Lord S. agreed that Lord Chesterfield is broken up, and gone to live
altogether in the country. He says of himself that he is much obliged to the P. of W.;
that he had not thought of his owing above £30,000 or £40,000; but that, in
consequence of that affair, he had the advantage of knowing that it amounted to
£90,000; that the notion of his being a short life, had brought all his creditors about
him; that now he knows how his affairs stood; and seven or eight years, spent in the
country, would set them right again; otherwise, going on in the notion of owing but
£30,000 or £40,000, he should have ruined himself past redemption. Lord S. says that,
on the breaking out of that affair, the king was exasperated to the highest degree, with
Lord Ch.; that he had appointed a day for visiting him; but that upon that he broke the
appointment, without sending any word.

“Lord B. told me that Lord Shannon used to send twenty-two or twenty-three
Members to the Irish Parliament; but that, since the act, that influence was
diminished.

“I write you everything higgledy-piggledy, just as it happens to come in my head.
There is no end of the anecdotes, of all kinds, I hear about the politics, as well of
France as of this country: about one in fifty I shall remember; the others will be lost to
me.

“I wish I could get your great carcass, and squeeze it through a keyhole, like a fairy’s,
that you might get by heart the things I hear, and give them back to me as I wanted
them.

“Lord S. says that Lord Chatham, who governed everybody else with a high hand,
was himself governed, in a manner, by the King of Prussia; who gave him
information, and suggested ideas to him, even for his maritime operations. This
appears from a suite of letters from the king to Lord C., of which Lord S. has either
the originals or copies, and which I, I believe, may see.
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“I mistook. Lord Porchester, upon Lord Pembroke’s account, lost about £3,500.
Supposing that he should be ruined, he sent over an agent to the continent to look out
for a retreat.”

“Monday, 277th August, 8 in the Evening.

“Last night came in, Elliot of Port-Elliot, St Paul’s friend. This morning, Lord Bristol
and Blankett went away: Lord Bristol, I believe, to Oxford; Blankett to London,
taking Hackwood (the Duke of Bolton’s) in his way. One of the most wrong-headed
blockheads I think I ever met with; putting in his oar on every occasion, talking a fort
and a travers, and spoiling every discussion that is started. Yet he is connected with
many of the first people in Opposition, and, in particular, has the ear of the maditre de
la maison, to a degree I am sorry to observe. His great merit is the having been a
lieutenant to Keppel, whose dme damnée he is, and has written paragraphs and
pamphlets on his side. Before he went, he took me into confidence, and consulted me
about a nonsensical project of his for discovering polished and commercial nations
where Cook has been, and found none: the most absurd idea, supported by the most
absurd arguments, in the most confused method, and in the most slovenly and
awkward style. He it is who brought home the Rippon from the East Indies. He is
personally acquainted with Rumbold and defends him without argument and without
shame. Sed de hoc plus satis.

“Talking with Lord B. yesterday (nobody else in the room) about the riots, he took
notice, that in the Scotch Assembly (National Ecclesiastical Assembly—what d’ye
call 1t?) there were but two voices against the toleration. O yes, says 1. [ understood it
was not with the clergy that it originated, but with a parcel of low-lived fellows of
laymen in the neighbourhood of Glasgow. No, no, says he—not with them. With
whom, then? With people here. These last words were pronounced with an air of
mystery, and with a push of the voice. Who he meant, I cannot pretend to say. It
cannot be the Ministry; for besides that, nothing could be more against their interests.
If he had meant them, he would have spoken out. It could not, I think, be the
Rockinghamites; it could not have been Lord G. G., for nobody could have thought of
making a mystery of his name. I leave you to form your own conclusions.

Lord S. says that when he was in town, (about a week ago,) a Mr Oswald, who is a
strong royalist, and much connected with Lord Mansfield, told him that it was a
certain fact that the French had at last seen the necessity of supplying the Americans
with money; that they had accordingly sent £600,000, and that if it reached them,
there must be an end of all our hopes.”

“Tuesday, 28th August, 8 o ’Clock in the Evening.

“ “An Historical Account of the Settlement and Possession of Bombay, and of the
Rise and Progress of the War with the Mahratta Nation. Printed for Robson, New
Bond Street, 1781.° It is not yet published. Lord S. says it is by Master Pechell. It
contains information which there is no other means of coming at: in that respect, it is
valuable; but, for composition, it is, I think, the vilest stuff I ever met with. I have just
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read it. This is one of the pleasant incidents attendant upon great houses—meeting
with unedited books, or books of the day, before they are to be had elsewhere.

“This morning came a packet to Lord S., from France. It contained two
newspapers—the one a journal of the operations of De Grasse, from his sailing from
France, to the day of the troops abandoning St Lucie; the other, a letter of Count
Dillon, from that period to the taking of Tobago. The first man says:—*‘The fort of St
Lucie is so strong (what do they call it? Morne Fortune?) that it might bid defiance to
20,000 men,; that it has cisterns, and I do not know how many other things, bomb-
proof, and that part of it is undermined; but then he adds some other circumstances
that are plain lies, viz. that there were 2,500 regulars in it, and as many sailors. It
appears plainly, if not wholly, as a feint to draw our attention from Tobago. At this
latter place, it looks as if we had made but a scurvy figure. The island was
surrendered, without so much as firing a gun; though we had one post, Dillon says,
extremely strong, and a defence of twenty-four hours might, as they had reason to
expect, have given time to the fleet to arrive to their relief. On the other hand, their
fleet appears, from the first paper, to have cut as scurvy a figure in the engagement
with Admiral Hood. It talks of a fatalité, and then, again, of another fatalité; and so, |
believe, to the tune of three fatalities, that prevented them from gaining the
advantages they might have done; and yet this was written by an apologist of De
Grasse.

“I believe I shall pack this off to-night. To-morrow, Elliot leaves this place—a
modest, civil, good kind of man; sensible enough; but without those pretensions
which one would expect to find in a man whose station in his country is so
commanding, and political influence so great. He is modest enough in his
conversation about politics, but desponding. He says he scarce ever looks into a paper,
nor dares he, for fear of ill news.

“I have just been playing at billiards with Lady S. Miss V. looked on, but would not
play, saying she never had played before. There is an event for you. By and by I shall
come to telling you every time I buckle my shoe. I almost despair of getting them to
the harpsichord. To-morrow, however, the house, I hope, will be clear; and then,
perhaps, I may have some chance. The chess and the billiards were her own proposal;
the harpsichord I must beg and pray for.

“The sheet is not filled, and you will grumble if I leave any of it blank. There seems
no want of money here: grounds laying out, and plantations making, upon a large
scale—a gate going to be made, with a pyramid on each side of it, for an approach to
the house at six miles distance:—the pyramids to be at least 100 feet high. At this
place, a road, which is to be made from the house, is to join the road from London to
Devizes. This new road will leave Calne (through which the present road runs) on the
right, and save a mile or two. I call it Egypt.

“In the way, you have deep valleys, with meadows and a water-mill at the bottom of

them; and, on the sides, craggy rocks, with water gushing out of them, just for all the
world as if Moses had been there.”
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Bentham To His Father.

“Bowood, Friday,August 31, 1781.

“Honoured Sir,—

A day or two ago, I received your letter, dated Brackley, August 25. I write this in
expectation of its meeting you at Bath: as soon as I hear of your arrival there, I will
see about fixing a day for paying my duty to you in person: as that will, I hope, be a
speedy one, there will be the less occasion for my entering into any epistolary details;
characters, therefore, and descriptions, and conversations, you will not now expect
from me; I shall content myself with giving you a very short account of my motions,
and the company we either have seen or expect to see. Yesterday se’ennight,
(Thursday, August 16,) at four o’clock in the morning, I got into one of the Bath post-
coaches: diligences there are none. At Marlborough, where we dined, I quitted the
coach, took a post-chaise, and got here about light. The family consists at present only
of Lord and Lady Shelburne; a little boy of theirs, who is no more than a year old; and
Miss Caroline V., a half-sister of Lady Shelburne’s by the mother’s side. Lord
Fitzmaurice,—the only child Lord S. has left by his first lady,—a youth not quite
sixteen, is travelling over England, with a Mr Jervis, a dissenting minister, who has
had the care of him ever since he was six years old. He is not to come to Bowood
before the family leave it for the summer. Visiters there were none, except Captain
Blankett, whom you know of: he left us on Monday last, but is expected again in
October. On the Saturday, there dined here a Mr Bayntun, and Lady Mary his wife,
daughter of Lord Coventry by the celebrated Lady Coventry, whom we used to hear
so much of. She has nothing of her mother’s beauty. Mr Bayntun is the youngest son,
but heir-apparent, of Sir Edward Bayntun, an old courtier, who has an estate in this
neighbourhood. On Sunday, there was nobody. On the Monday, Lord Shelburne,
Captain Blankett, and I, went in my lord’s coach to Lord Pembroke’s at Wilton. We
got there to breakfast, and staid to breakfast the next morning: Wilton is about twenty-
seven miles from Bowood. At breakfast, there was not a creature but Lord and Lady
Pembroke; but at dinner came a Colonel North, who happened to be quartered at
Salisbury, and young Beckford of Fonthill, who was to give a grand féte upon his
coming of age, the 28th. This was the first visit Lord S. had ever paid at Wilton upon
the footing of an acquaintance. Sunday, September 2d. On Tuesday, (August 21st,) on
our return from Wilton, we found a Mr Townsend, a clergyman, a brother of the
alderman’s. He has a living about fourteen miles off, and is upon a familiar footing
here. He staid till the Thursday or Friday after. What I have seen of him, I like much;
his thoughts have run pretty much in the channels that mine have run in. He was to go
for three weeks into North-amptonshire; but he made me promise, that, on his return, I
would go over and spend a few days with him. On Wednesday the 22d, or Thursday
the 23d, I forget which, Sir Edward Bayntun breakfasted here. On Saturday, to dinner,
came a singular sort of personage, who, not in Falstaff’s sense, but in another sense,
may be termed a double man: I mean the Earl of Bristol, alias Bishop of Derry. He
brought with him a fine boy of his, about twelve years old, whom he is just going to
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enter in the navy. On Sunday evening came Elliot of Port-Elliot; he who is knight of
the shire, and puts in seven borough members for Cornwall. Lord Bristol went away
on Monday, (the 27th,) as likewise did Blankett. Elliot staid till Tuesday after
breakfast. On the Sunday, (the 26th,) Sir James Long, the nephew and Aceres
designatus to Lord Tilney, dined here. Since the Tuesday, I think we have had
nobody, except yesterday, when we had to dinner a Mr Bull, who lives at Calne, and a
Captain Onslow, late of the Blues, who is upon a visit to him. Oh, yes: on Friday we
had a Mr Dickinson, a rich old Quaker in the neighbourhood, who called here and
drank tea. Several whom I hear spoken of as being expected here, are Lord Dartry,
Lord Camden, Dunning, Colonel Barré, Hamilton, late of Payne’s Hill, William Pitt
the orator, Lady Warwick—Lady Shelburne’s sister, and the Duchess of Bedford. It
was not till t’other day that I understood from Lord S., as we were sitting téte-a-téte
after dinner, that there was a probability of her bringing the duke with her, which, he
said, he hoped might be the case, ‘That the duke might have the advantage of making
my acquaintance.” Lord Dartry has been expected for this day or two. He is an Irish
lord made out of a banker,—his name was Dawson: Lord S. speaks of him as one
‘with whom he is much connected.” As to the other people, I have been successively
told at different times when they have happened to be mentioned, that I should see
them here; Lord Camden in particular, with a view to his looking over my book. This
throws my departure to an indefinite distance. Indeed, I have no need to wish to be in
a hurry to go away, as I am as much at my ease as I ever was in any house in my life;
one point excepted, the being obliged by bienséance to dress twice a-day. | do what I
please, and have what I please. I ride and read with my lord, walk with the dog, stroke
the leopard, draw little Henry out in his coach, and play at chess and billiards with the
ladies. My lord’s custom is to read to them after tea, when they are at work; and now
nothing will serve him but, in spite of everything I can say, he will make them hear
my driest of all dry metaphysics. He takes the advantage of my being here to read it in
my presence, that [ may explain things. This has gone on for several evenings. I must
cut short; for while I am writing this in my dressing-room above stairs, they are
waiting for me half-a-mile off in the library below stairs. You will, I dare say, excuse
me; succinct as my letter has necessarily been, it is already not a short one. My best
respects wait upon my mother. How fares it with our friends at Oxford?

“I am, Hon. Sir, your dutiful and affectionate Son,
“Jeremy Bentham.

“I forgot to mention that Lord and Lady Pembroke are also expected here. It is
contrived that they shall come separate.

“Sunday, Sept. 2d, 1781.”
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Bentham To George Wilson.

“September S5th, 1781.

“The ladies being retired, Lord S. and I are left alone in the dining-room. He is
writing to his son; and I, having no son to write to, to keep my hands from mischief,
will write to you.

“This morning, he had a letter from Blankett, telling me that there was certainly a
foundation for the report of the insurrection in Peru, and asking him if he had not, or
rather taking for granted that he had, received a copy of the Manifesto of the
Insurgents from Sir John Hart—at Lisbon, is it, or Oporto? Blankett appears to have
had it from Pinto the Portuguese Minister, with whom he is well acquainted. Pinto
was at one time expected here; but, I believe, is not now.

Q. S. P.’s* are got to Bath at last. As to your fears about my conversion, they are
altogether vain. This is all I can say about the matter at present—faute de tempe;, for,
when my Lord has done, I have done, as the packet is then closed.

“Yesterday, was it, or the day before? I forget which, we had a turtle, and, therefore,
company to eat it—a Mr Methuen, and his son, and his son’s wife. The father was
Member for some place, but has given up to his son: you will see him in the Bible.
The son is married to a sister of your friend G—, that had the w— of a wife. With
them came also young Bouverie, youngest son of Lord Radnor. Methuen, the father,
has £16,000 a-year. Bouverie, when he comes of age, which will be in a few months,
has £20,000, I am told. Among them all, they have not the tenth part of an idea.
Young Methuen is the very model of my lord in the ‘Princesse de Babylone,” except
that, instead of my Lord’s crustiness, he seems to have good nature.

“No Lord Dartry yet; and Hamilton does not come this month. What think you of
Lord G.G. opposing Clarke? Lord S. knows nothing of the latter: thinks it would be
the best thing for him that could happen, dividing the Opposition party. Send me any
election news you pick up, as, likewise, anything you can get from St
Paul’s—ministerial news he may be more in the way of picking up than me. It will be
shortest to direct to Shelburne House. Lord S. has just written to Dunning to ask him
here.”

“Bowood, 10th September, 1781. Monday Morning, Nine o’Clock.

“I have just received yours of Friday the 7th. This is expeditions. I tremble at the
threatened acquaintance with the Bennets—even Parson Bridges I would have gladly
spared. If things go on thus, the post at Thorpe will be no longer tenable.

“I am distracted at the thoughts of losing Miss V—. She leaves us in a day or two; [

fear, on Thursday. I had taken for granted her home was here; but Lord S. says it is at
the Duchess’. She is gone to Lady Warwick’s, ‘because’ Lady W. is, some time or

PLL v6.0 (generated September, 2011) 151 http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/2085



Online Library of Liberty: The Works of Jeremy Bentham, vol. 10 (Memoirs Part I and
Correspondence)

other, to lay in. Lay in, is it, or /ie in? However, one of these days, it will come to our
turn to lay in, and then we shall have Miss V— back again. She is not very
conversible indeed, as I have already told you ten times over; but, then, she is very
sensible, has great good nature in her, and is, altogether, one of the sweetest pictures
to look at you ever saw. We shall be muzzy enough, I doubt, when she is gone. I can’t
help pitying poor Lady S., who will not have a creature of her own sex to speak to.
This will not, however, last long. There is another Miss V—, younger than this,
whose name is Elizabeth. She is not so beautiful, I understand, as this, but a little upon
the squat, as I learned from her similitude to a tree that I was commending. Lady
Holland was another sister of Lady Shelburne. She, I believe, was by the same father,
the Earl of Ossory. She, I understand, is dead, to the great grief of Lady Shelburne. So
far so good; but, if my memory does not much deceive me, Lord S. told me yesterday
that the Duchess of Marlborough again is another sister. Yes, he certainly did; but
with the Marlborough family I see not the least sign of any communication. Perhaps,
however, the Duchess of M. is only a cousin; being the niece of the Duchess of B. by
another sister, as the Duchess of Grafton and Baroness Kurtzleben are. Be this as it
may, sure I am that the Duchess of M. was spoken of by Lord S. as one of the ladies
of whom the Duchess of B. had the breeding up. Lady Shelburne was with old
Gertrude for nine years. What an exquisite brood that old hen has sat upon!

“Lord Dartry, I believe, is not now expected here; at least not yet awhile. Lady Dartry,
I understand, is much in favour with the queen. Lord Camden is expected here on the
15th, Dunning on the 25th; Mrs Dunning comes a week before, to be here while her
husband is at Bristol. I am kept here for the professed purpose of Lord Camden and
Dunning looking over my book; hence it appears that I shall not, at any rate, leave this
place till the month is out. As soon, however, as there is no particular reason assigned
for my staying here, I intend to go: so that, by the first week in next month, it is
probable we shall meet. This, however, cannot be, if Douglas and Trail are both with
you at that time, since the house would not hold us all: tell me how that matter stands.
When the Duchess of B. comes seems not to be yet fixed: there is some expectation
that she will bring the duke with her. Lord S. said to me t’other day, as we were
sitting téte-a-téte after dinner, that he hoped she would, ‘that the Duke might have the
advantage of making my acquaintance.’ This, I have a great notion, I told you in my
last; if I did, you must excuse me.

“So Lady Warwick, you see, is not to be here, as I once thought she was; it was not
here that she and Miss V— were to meet, but at Warwick castle. Did you ever hear of
this same Warwick castle as a place worth looking at? Lord S. has mentioned it to me
as one of the most beautiful spots in England. I may possibly, one day or other, be
able to tell you more about the matter; he has told me two or three times that he
should be glad to show it me. This I should like well enough, I must confess, if it were
only for the sake of seeing the fair owner. Lord W., he says, is a pleasant, good-
natured, little man, and that I shall like him very well. Upon my asking about his
political ideas, he spoke of him with some little regret as being a courtier; and of
Greville, who is in the Admiralty, (I think—is it not?) as ‘a rank one.’ Is not all this
very handsome? It would please you to see how attentive he is upon all these
occasions to keep out of sight every idea of protection—everything that could give me
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to understand that he looked upon it as a favour done me to introduce me to these
great people.”

“September, 13th, Thursday.

“Yesterday, came here, in the evening, a Mr Ernest—a heavy-looking, good-
humoured sort of a German, intimately connected, somehow or other, (I can’t yet tell
how,) with Count Bruhl, through whose means he became known to Lord S. In the
chaise with him came his servant, also a German, who, before bedtime, got drunk, and
deposited his carcass in the housekeeper’s room instead of his own. Going down stairs
to a certain place after I had been up to bed, I met the housekeeper in the staircase,
who, being a neighbour, opened her hard case to me. Finding remonstrances
ineffectual, we got a couple of the men, who hauled him away, and left Mrs
Housekeeper to her repose.

“Yesterday, also, came Parson Townsend. I have not yet had any private
communication with him. Illness in his family prevented his intended journey into
Northamptonshire. The same illness may, perhaps, prevent my visit to him.

“To-day came a letter announcing an intended visit from a certain Lord and Lady
Tracton. This Lord Tracton is Lord Ch. Baron in Ireland. His father was an attorney,
and did Lord S.’s business there.”

“Saturday Night, September 15th, (half after 10,) 1781.

‘Arrived here a little before, Lord Chatham, his brother, Will. Pitt, and Pratt, Lord
Camden’s son, Member for Bath. I find they had none of them ever been here before.
Do you know Lord Chatham? In his appearance, upon the whole, he puts me in mind
of Dan Parker Coke; but he has his father’s Roman nose, and, if events should concur
to make him have a good opinion of himself, will soon, I dare say, acquire his
commanding manner: at present, one sees little more than a kind of reserve, tempered
with mildness, but clouded with a little dash of bashfulness. Will. Pitt you know for
certain; in his conversation there is nothing of the orator—nothing of that hauteur and
suffisance one would expect; on the contrary, he seems very good-natured, and a little
raw. I was monstrously frightened at him, but, when I came to talk with him, he
seemed frightened at me; so that, if anything should happen to jumble us together, we
may, perhaps, be good pax; which, however, is not very likely: for I don’t know very
well what ideas we are likely to have in common. After beating Miss V—, I have just
been beating him, at chess; an inglorious conquest, as he is scarce so much in my
hands as I am in yours. Ernest and the rest of the people have been playing at crown
whist. Supper being announced, I stole up here. Ernest, it seems, is the Saxon
minister—an honest, good-humoured kind of man. I find it necessary to rise before
six, and for that purpose go to bed by eleven. I lie on straw. Pratt has more distance
and more suffisance than either of the others; yet there is a sort of giggishness about
him too; he puts me in mind of a young Jew-broker in the city. About an hour after
dinner passes now quite happily; as I have established a habit of accompanying Lady
S. on the harpsichord, and she is pleased with it. She has nothing at present here but a
shabby little spinnet, that I should be ashamed to use myself; but I have set her agog
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after a variety of new-fashioned harpsichords, and she vows to have some of them.
There being nothing here in the fiddle way that is tolerable, she has made me send for
mine to town.”

“Sunday Morning.

“I mistook about the time of Dunning’s visit: his wife does not come till the 24th, and
he not till a week afterwards. He, therefore, will not be here till the 1st of October;
allowing a week for his stay. I shall not leave this place till the 27th, when I am to pay
a visit to Parson Townsend, from whom I shall hardly get away under a week. I shall
then come to you en droiture, without going to town, provided always that your spare
room is not occupied. On se dechaine ici most violently against Governor
Cunningham; indeed his conduct at Barbadoes seems to warrant it. A brother of his,
also in the army, used to be looked upon as a mignon of Lord G. G., in Germany,
when Lord S. was serving there: Cunningham was very nice about his hair, which
used to make Lord S. take a pleasure in discomposing it. Besides his connexion with
Lord G. G., he is a toad-eater at Marlborough House, where he has entrée at any time,
notwithstanding the reserve so remarkable in that family: the first time of his being
there, he was invited for a week; he stayed six, in spite of repeated hints that he had
stayed long enough.

“A story of Lord Bristol. Some time ago, coming from Paris directly to London, he
carried a verbal message, as he pretended, from Franklin to—whom would you think
of all men in the world?—Lord Spencer, telling him that, if he would come to Paris
immediately, they two would be able to settle a Peace. Lord Spencer was very much
distressed; could scarce credit the information; but willing to do what he thought
right, thought he could not justify himself the taking no notice of it. He accordingly
set out, and actually got as far as Calais; but the wind proving contrary, or some other
obstruction arising, he fancied it impossible to get to Paris time enough, and so went
back again. This, Lord S. says, he has from an authority which he is not at liberty to
mention, but which he can absolutely depend upon. He has told it twice in my
hearing; the last time, yesterday, to Lord Chatham. He accounts for it by the
flightiness of Lord B., who, he says, is equally known for his spirit of intrigue and his
habit of drawing the long bow. Indeed there does seem to be something of that in him;
besides that, they say there is something of a crack in the brain runs through the
family.”

“Sunday Morning, September 16.

“The hints thrown out by Lord S. in one of our téte-a-tétes in London, about offers
made to entrap him, and which I was then disposed to look upon as a way of
speaking, have, in some of our country téte-a-tétes, been particularized. To break the
connexion between him and Lord Chatham, propositions were first made to the latter
to come in with Lord S., afterwards to Lord S. to come in without Lord C. One day,
when Lord S. was dining at Lord Beauchamp’s, Eden having been to Shelburne
House, and not finding him at home, he followed him thither; calling him out, he said
he came by order of the king; and made him three propositions: the first, to come in
and act with Lord North and Lord Suffolk; another, to act with either of them without
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the other; and a third, to come in without either of them. This latter he would have
accepted, had not his friends, some or all of them, been excluded. I know not whether
Lord Chatham was living at that time, but I believe he was. Barr¢, he says, has been
repeatedly and constantly refusing £3,000 a-year, which would have been given to
him if he would have deserted Lord S. He values himself much on his friends, and on
their mutual fidelity. With Alderman Townsend, he says, he has been connected
twenty-two years; with Lord Camden, about twenty-one; with Dunning, eighteen; and
with Elliot, I think, he added sixteen. Elliot brought in seven Members, he says, the
last time. Gibbon he brought in for private friendship; though, as it turned out, much
to his regret. Elliot offered, he says, to take his recommendation for some of them,;
but, at that time, he neglected the offer through despondency. At his outset, I myself,
he says, could scarcely be barer of connexions than he was: his father had scarcely
any others than with Lord Holland. At a former time, when he was laughing with
Blankett and me about his being called Jesuit, I asked him who was his godfather on
that occasion. This would be an occasion, if he thought proper to lay hold of it, for
telling his own story about the rupture between him and Lord Holland, and so it
proved. He said that Lord Holland, previous to his resignation, (the history of the day
will show when that was,) of his own accord, for some reason or other, not specified, I
think, by Lord S., mentioned his tedium of public business, and his wishes to resign;
that, for some reason or other, it was convenient he should resign; and so Lord S. took
him at his word. Having thus overreached himself, he was enraged, and inveighed
against Lord S., as if it were he that overreached him. Lord S., I think, mentioned
somebody as having been a witness, and as justifying him, but I forget whom.

“Yesterday morning, Lord S. spoke of a letter which he had received from an officer
high in rank in the West Indies. He said that De Grasse, with twenty-four or twenty-
five ships of the line, (he had had a reinforcement of six or seven,) sailed, on the 31st
July, for New York. That Hood, with seven or eight, was only then on the point of
setting sail. This looks bad, and was mentioned with great triumph. If you mention it,
you must not say how you came by it; for the officer, whoever he be, would get a
d—rap of the knuckles if he was known to correspond with us.”

“Monday Morning, September 17.

“Now, from other advices, we have altered Hood’s number from seven or eight to
fifteen. At eight o’clock this morning, I received yours of Friday the 15th. You are a
good fellow enough for the news you send me; but an ungrateful bear for pretending
to complain of the shortness of my letters; while I, to the utter neglect of my whole
business, spend whole mornings in cramming your insatiable maw with politics. It
takes me, indeed, a monstrous long while to write a letter to you; for I have so many
things I might write, that more time is spent in determining which of them I shall
write than in writing. I have a hundred and fifty subjects at this moment which are
ready to pull me to pieces for the preference. My notions of the characters of the
people here; conversations about Sam and about myself; what sort of connexion I
hope or wish to form or to preserve; these are topics I find myself continually
solicited to touch upon, yet I think it better not to do it at all than to do it imperfectly.
They will keep; and political stories that I chance to hear, if they were not set down
instantly, would be forgotten. Your queries about my visit at Thorpe I have answered
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by anticipation, in a letter which will go with this. Send to Davies everything except
what is mentioned as secret between us two, or marked with the initials of your name:
but wait for franks from me unless you can get others.”

“Bowood, Monday, 17th September, 1781.

“Relation of an overture made by Lord North to the Rockingham party for a coalition,
in the summer of 1780, as given by Lord Shelburne to Mr W. Pitt, on Sunday,
September 16th, 1781, after dinner—present, Lord Chatham, Mr Pratt, and J. B.

“It was introduced with some little preparation, as if in compliance with a request
made on some former occasion. Lord North, meeting his cousin Montague upon the
steps of the House of Commons, went up to him and said, he was glad to understand
there was a disposition among his friends to coalesce; that, if that disposition were
real, he would authorize him to propose such terms as the Court meant on their part to
insist upon. That, however indelicate it might sound in his mouth, yet it was necessary
he should say, that, at all events, he must be continued where he was: that the case
was the same with respect to Lord Sandwich. Or, if it should happen that the king
could be prevailed with to give up Lord S., which he could not vouch for, he was sure
it could not be done upon any other terms than that of a very honourable provision
being made for him. That, in this case, whoever should come into the Admiralty, it
must not be Admiral Keppel: that Charles Fox could not be received, at least
immediately, into any of the high and confidential offices, such as that of Secretary of
State; but that, as to any lucrative office out of the great line of business, such as that
of Treasurer of the Navy, there would perhaps be no objection; that after the length he
had gone, and the offences he had given, it could not be expected that his majesty
should be immediately reconciled to the idea of a confidential communication with
him; but that such a place as was suggested might serve him as a place of probation,
and that it would give him opportunities of smoothing the way to a more perfect
reconcilement.

“Thus far I am perfectly clear, not only as to the facts, but as to the colouring. This
being reported to Lord Rockingham, he returned an answer of himself, without
consulting with the party; my recollection is not clear as to the stipulations contained
in it, but I think he stood out for Keppel, and insisted that the Duke of Richmond and
Charles Fox should be secretaries of state. In all this, it does not appear that anything
was said about Lord Shelburne. Upon Lord Rockingham’s communicating the offer
and the answer to the Duke of Richmond, the duke blamed him for including him in
such a proposition; whether as meaning that he would not serve the king on any terms,
or not on those terms, I did not understand. The duke intimated, at the same time, that
there ‘were other persons’ (meaning, as I understood, Lord Shelburne himself) with
whom, considering such and such things, it would have been but decent to consult. It
seemed to me that the information of this negotiation had come to Lord S., first from
the Duke of Richmond; though it seems as if the matter had afterwards been the
subject of discussion between the former and Lord Rockingham. The interpretation
put upon Lord R.’s answer, whatever it was, is a matter of contestation between him
and Lord S. Lord R. calls it an absolute rejection of the offer, and a virtual refusal to
treat: Lord S. considers it as an acceptance of the treaty, and thereby as a sort of

PLL v6.0 (generated September, 2011) 156 http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/2085



Online Library of Liberty: The Works of Jeremy Bentham, vol. 10 (Memoirs Part I and
Correspondence)

treachery, or, according to the footing they were then upon together, at least a
violation of amity towards himself. Pitt or Pratt asking Lord S. what it was that in all
this business Lord R. was expecting for himself, the answer was, Nothing that he ever
heard of; clearly nothing, unless, perhaps, it might be that he had Ireland in view, on
account of the advantage it might give him in thwarting the Absentee Tax; but this
was not pretended to be anything but surmise. Was not this very creditable to Lord
R.? From what I have heard of him, since I have been here, I am disposed to entertain
a good opinion of him: I have heard a good deal against him in the way of general
disapprobation; but as to any grounds for it, I have heard of none, but what appeared
to me to be either inconsistent, nugatory, or unintelligible. Being asked what was to
have been done for Burke, he answered that he was not clear; that certainly he was not
to have been neglected, but that there was something of an inferior negotiation, in
which he was more particularly concerned. The terms were so ambiguous, that I could
not distinguish who were the parties, with whom he was meant to be represented as
having been negotiating; whether the ministry, or the people of his own party; or even
so much as whether he was himself a party to this under or interior negotiation, in
which, in point of interest, he was represented as being concerned. There is a
prodigious deal of ambiguity in the general tenor of Lord S.’s language on party
subjects; whether genuine or affected I cannot be certain: I rather believe it genuine;
because I find it the same on subjects in which party has nothing to do. As to the
negotiation above-mentioned, it is scarcely necessary to add that the demands on Lord
Rockingham’s side being such, no reply was given.

“In Burke’s pamphlet on the affairs of Ireland, at least in one of his late pamphlets, if
I do not mistake, he tells us that Lord Rockingham had not apprised anybody of his
determination to apply for the audience he had about Ireland with the king. Lord S.’s
account of that matter is, that about one o’clock on that day, Lord R. came to him, to
take his advice about it, mentioned his determination to demand the audience, but that
he wished for Lord S.’s advice about what he should say; and to know, in general,
whether he approved or disapproved of it. Lord S. observed to him, that it was too
short a warning by much, for taking a step of so much importance; for, considering
what it was then o’clock, they should not have more than half-an-hour to deliberate
upon it. [ am not certain whether it was not that Lord R. wished Lord Shelburne to go
with him: whichever was the case, he confessed to us that, from reasons regarding his
own reputation, he declined taking a part either way, on a sudden. Considering the
importance that it might appear to be of to the nation, that the king should hear what
information Lord R. had to give him, he, Lord S., did not care to have it said that he
had put his negative upon it; and, on the other hand, there might, for aught he could
satisfy himself about on a sudden, be other reasons, which he did not state, especially
why it might not be advisable to him to be known to have concurred in it.”

“Bowood, Monday Evening, (half after 10 o 'Clock, Sept. 17, 1781.)

“The whist-table is just broke up, supper is announced, the game at chess between
Lord Chatham and Miss V—is drawing near to a conclusion, and, while the rest of the
people are hovering round them, waiting for the event, I have taken French leave of
them all, and stolen up here, that I may be a good boy to-morrow, and rise betimes.
This Lord and Lady Tracton are the queerest jigs you ever saw: my lord wears his
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bobwig, black coat, and coloured worsted stockings, and looks like a plain, stout,
thickset country parson. My lady is a little shrivelled figure, of about sixty—with a
hook nose, and ferret eyes, a long white beard, and a parohment mahogany-coloured
skin—in a gray riding-habit, with a black hat and feather. Nobody speaks to her, nor
she to anybody; she has been sticking close to her husband’s side while he has been
playing at whist, but would not play herself.”

“Tuesday Evening, September 18th.

“We have, just now, a monstrous heap of people. Departed before breakfast, Pratt and
the Pitts. Remain, Lord and Lady Tracton. Arrived before dinner, Lord Dartry and
Colonel Barré, seemingly in company. Arrived before tea, Lord Camden, Miss Pratt
his daughter, and a Mr Smith, now or formerly a captain in the East India service. The
carriages came in together; but whether Smith belongs to Lord Camden and his
daughter I cannot tell; no signs of converse between them have I seen. Lord Dartry is
a chatty sort of man, and seems to know everybody; does not seem to trouble his head
about party, but mixes with the Government as well as Opposition men. His wife is a
good deal in favour with the queen, and often with her. She is of the family of the
Penns. Miss Pratt is very fat; not handsome nor very young: but well-bred,
conversable, sensible, and, as far as one can judge, good-natured. Lord and Lady S.,
Lord Tracton, Lord Dartry, and Colonel Barré, have been at the whist table; the rest of
us round the book table, a [’ordinaire, except that, for the last half-hour, Lord
Camden has been walking in a passage-room with Barré. With Lord Camden I have
had, as yet, scarce any communication; but, while the women have been at their work,
I, with my book before me, have been joining in conversation occasionally with his
daughter; and Lords C. and S., I observed, were in close conversation for some time,
with looks that seemed to indicate that they were talking about me.”

“Wednesday Afternoon, 8 o’Clock.

“This morning, before breakfast, Lord and Lady Tracton took themselves off. Joy go
with them; they were a pair of c—d sangliers, the latter more particularly to my dear
Lady Shelburne, whose footsteps I adore. Miss V—, alas! leaves us the day after to-
morrow, without redemption. I forgot to tell you of a dinner visiter we had the day
before yesterday, a Mr Talbot, a name he had taken from an estate, instead of
Davenport. He is a young man, but lately come of age. He has been to Christ Church
in Oxford, and has now thoughts of going into the army. His family house is in the
neighbourhood—at or near Cosham, where Methuen lives; it is an old
monastery—one of the most perfect, they say, in England; it is a vast place; and the
estate, though a nominal £2,000 a-year, is so reduced by encumbrances, as to bring
him in, it is said, scarce £500; so that a profession is absolutely necessary to him. The
man whom he has his estate from, was obliged to fly the country for Italian
eccentricities. In the young man himself there is nothing that seems remarkable.

“Barré loves to sit over his claret, pushes it about pretty briskly, and abounds in
stories that are well told, and very entertaining. He really seems to have a great
command of language; he states clearly and forcibly; and, upon all points, his words
are fluent and well-chosen. Lord Dartry is also intelligent and entertaining. They were
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talking over Irish affairs this afternoon; their conversation was instructive: when they
differed, as they did now and then, about matters of fact as well as opinion, it was
with great firmness and urbanity. I put a word in now and then to keep the ball up, and
to avoid appearing a perfect ninny: but it was pain and grief to me. My health is,
somehow or other, in wretched order. I scarce know how to get up early enough; even
six o’clock is too late.

“Hyde Parker, it is said, (this is Barré’s story,) is not to have anything at all. Being
offered the command of a fleet against the Dutch, he demanded a reinforcement, but
was denied. Afterwards a reinforcement was ordered: then he declared himself willing
to serve, but then they would not let him. This, Col. Barr¢ said, he had from an officer
who is intimate with Parker, ‘Ah, Johnny,’ (said the old man to his friend,) ‘it was a
rare bout; ‘twould ha’ done thy heart good to have seen it; there was not a shot that
did not take effect on either side.” ”

“September 24th, Monday Evening, half after 10 o ’Clock.

“This morning, at eight, I received yours of the 20th; but let that pass. I will go on at
present with my Journal. Thursday, nothing happened that I can recollect worth
mentioning. No fresh visiters.

“On Friday, the prediction given of Miss V—’s departure in the last page was but too
well verified. There was a little incident—no, [ won’t go on with the sentence—a little
piece of attention she showed me the night before, which, while it flattered my vanity,
made me feel the loss of her the more sensibly.

“On the Sunday before, she and I had been playing at chess. Pitt, who did not play at
the whist-table, and Lord Chatham, who cut in and out, had been occasionally looking
on. After she had lost two games to me, which was as many as she ever had been used
to play, she gave it up; whereupon Pitt proposed we should play, which we did, and |
beat him.

“Finding he had no chance with me, he complained of its hurting his head, and gave it
up immediately. Towards the close of the evening, Lord Chatham gave me a
challenge. I accepted it. From something that Pitt had said, I expected to have found
him an easy conquest, especially as there was something seemingly irregular in the
opening of his game; but it was a confounded bite; for I soon found his hand as heavy
over me as | ever have felt yours: in short, he beat me shamefully, and the outcries I
made on that occasion were such as would naturally convey to other people a
formidable idea of his prowess. Now, what is all this to Miss V—? Why, the next
evening, Tuesday, Pitt first proposed a game to her; they played, and I don’t know
which beat, but, after playing one game, she declined playing any more. The words
were scarce out of her mouth, when Lord Shelburne, from the whist-table, by way of
saying something, called to me, as if pitying me for not being able to get a game.
Upon that day, each of them proposed I should play with the other. After some pour
parlers, as Miss V— had before declined playing any more with Pitt, I thought it
would be civiler to both of them for me not to make any proposal to her; so I asked
Pitt, but he declined it, saying, as he did before, that his head would not bear more
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than a game at a sitting. Accordingly the chess board was laid aside, and we took to
our books a !’ordinaire. About an hour, or an hour and a half afterwards, Lord
Chatham, having cut out at the whist-table, came to the library-table and proposed to
Miss V—to play a game with him. She consented, and they had just time to play a
game before supper. He beat her, of course, though not with so high a hand as one
would have expected. Tuesday morning, as I told you, Lord Chatham went away; and,
on Tuesday and Wednesday evenings, as Miss Pratt was there, and not playing at
whist, [ thought it not proper to say anything about chess to Miss V—. Well, now
comes the mighty favour. On Thursday, towards the close of the evening, she called
me to her, and asked me (which was what she had never done before) whether I
would play a game at chess with her, observing that she had used me excessively ill in
refusing me, and then playing with Lord Chatham. Mighty thankful I was, as you may
imagine. We sat down immediately, and we were mighty sociable and merry; more so
than I had ever observed her on any occasion before, insomuch that Lord Shelburne,
from the whist-table, took notice of it, adding, that whatever was the reason, he never
saw her laugh with anybody so much as with me. When I talked to her about going,
and asked her what time it was to be in the morning, she said that I should not see her,
for that it would be before I was up. Well!—and what of all this?—you will say; a
fine long-winded story this is, a la mode de Bentham, to cook up about nothing at all.
Why, to be sure it is; and if this had happened to some women, I should never have
made any reflection on it, even in my own mind, much less have thought of boring
you with it; but were you but acquainted with the girl, and a portée (as Clinton would
say) to observe the extreme dignity, and coolness, and silence, and reserve, as much
as 1s consistent with great good nature, (which it would be injustice to deny her,) you
would then, and not otherwise, be able to estimate the value of any such little
expression of complacency as I have been mentioning. Oh! and I have not told you
either that it was by her means that I got upon the footing that I am upon of playing
upon the harpsichord, (I mean upon the fiddle with the harpsichord,) every afternoon
with Lady Shelburne; but that story I shall spare you: nor of the air of cordiality and
attention with which she received the whisper in which I took my leave of her at
night: in short, she actually took the sort of notice which no well-bred woman could
have avoided taking of any man who was paying her a compliment of that sort. In the
morning, you will have concluded, I made a point of being in the way to hand her to
her carriage; but I did not, thinking it might be deemed an act of impertinence, and
might give occasion to her maid, or people who did not know the great gulfs of a
hundred and fifty kinds that are fixed between us, to prate.

“You can’t imagine what a reserve there is in the manners of this house, and how little
there has been of gallantry towards her in the behaviour of all the men that have been
here, young and old, as far as I have had occasion to observe.

“Lord Shelburne’s carriage took us but one stage; there it waited (it was at
Malmesbury) for Miss F—, who is sent here from Warwick castle, (you will excuse
me, but it really is the Earl of Warwick’s castle at Warwick, and not Captain
Donellan’s in exchange.) Miss F— is a little girl, between thirteen and fourteen; a
sister, and the only one, of the present Lord H—, who is about nine, consequently
niece to C— F— and to Lady Shelburne, and great-niece to the Duchess of Bedford.
The Duke of Bedford is now at this same Warwick castle; we shall hardly see him
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here, at least, I shan’t. She is very prettily made, and has already a very womanly sort
of bosom, I assure you; as much so as a certain friend of ours at Brompton,
notwithstanding the difference of age. By the by, I have a letter from that same friend
at Brompton, who is a saucy slut, and tells me of her being just going to write to you,
and that she likes you as well, ay, better, than she does me. Lord Shelburne introduced
me to Miss F— in a more particular manner than he did anybody else, as a favourite
of Miss V—’s. We are very good friends: she, too, plays at chess; she is very fond of
it. We played yesterday; and, I suppose, shall be playing every evening. She seems a
good-natured, pleasant kind of girl; but has not much to say for herself, as yet, as you
may imagine. Her face—I had like to have forgot her face—is far from an unpleasing
one; but the form of it, which is rather too long; a mouth, which is the F— mouth; and
a set of teeth, which, though white, are rather too large, save her from being a beauty.

“On Friday, at dinner, we had again Mr Bull and Captain Onslow; and now, for the
first time, a Mr Brooke, who was upon a visit to Mr Bull. Brooke is, or has been,
something in the law; probably at the bar. [ have a notion of having seen him taking
notes in the King’s Bench—a little, dapper man, with a sharp face. Captain Onslow
told me that Brooke had lately met the Q.S.P.’s at Bath, drinking tea at Mr Poole’s; a
man who is a son of Sergeant Poole, had a good fortune, but was once at the Crown-
office with Abbot. Brooke has a house somewhere in this country.

“On Saturday there dined with us, a Mrs Johns. Mrs Johns was a sort of dependant of
Lord S.’s first wife; lives gratis in a little house of my lord’s close by; is a Methodist;
comes a-begging to great people for money to give in charity; is a conversable
woman, who has seen the world, and has court connexions. She has distributed money
for the queen; and, though she has the dress and appearance of an upper servant, has
had correspondence with all manner of great people, and could be made use of
occasionally to put news about. This is the account Lord S. was giving me of her.

“On Sunday, nothing happened that I recollect.

“On Monday, Lord Dartry left us: it was he that pushed the bottle about, and not
Colonel Barré. I beg the colonel’s pardon. He is a valetudinarian; finds it necessary to
have a bottle a-day in his guts; is fond of religion, and of cards; does not know very
well what to do with himself; hunts out oddities and knick-knacks, and frequents
auctions.

“On Tuesday, in the morning, Captain Smith took his departure. He was once an East
India director; he has a house in Bloomsbury Square, and another at Ashted, near
Epsom. He found out that I was profoundly conversant with E. India affairs, (you
know how profoundly,) offered me access to unedited maps and MSS. of various
kinds, and gave me pressing and repeated invitations to both his houses; mentioning
connexions that he had with people who were philosophical men, and would be glad
to be acquainted with me. Shall I go? I can’t tell; we’ll talk about it. He wrote a
pamphlet once on India affairs, which Lord S. had taken notice of as one he approved
of mightily, and never knew Smith to be the author till Monday night. It is
entitled—‘Observations on the Present Posture of Affairs in India,” 8vo.
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“The same morning, Lord Camden and Miss Pratt went off to Beckford’s at Fonthill;
but they return to-morrow, or next day. Beckford, I told you before, was to have a
grand f€te on the 27th or 28th, upon his coming of age. Lord Camden went yesterday,
in order to be before the féte; I suppose on account of Miss Pratt’s not being prepared
for it in the article of clothes. Lord Shelburne goes on Friday and returns the next day.
Lord Camden likes all these bustles; Lord S. not. Nor would he go, I believe, but in
view of fixing or drawing young Beckford into his party. Between him and old
Beckford the alderman, you know, I suppose, that there was an intimate connexion.

“This was the day that Lord S. was to give the second and last treat to his corporation
people; the first had been given since I have been here. Having missed that
opportunity, I was very glad of this occasion of being witness to such a scene. |
accordingly went and dined at Calne with my lord and Colonel Barré. We drank tea at
Mr Bull’s, and, coming home, found Mrs Dunning. She had left her husband at
Bristol, and he is expected on Friday or Saturday. She plays on the harpsichord most
divinely. I have just been accompanying her.

“Well, but I must go down—M iss F— is waiting for me. Parson Townsend came to-
day to dinner; and now we shall probably settle a day for Lord S. and Barré to go and
dine with them; and that will probably fix the date of my departure from this place.
What do you think I heard from Barr¢ yesterday in the coach? that Mrs Armestead
had taken, or bought, Lady Tankerville’s, on St Anne’s Hill; so that you will have her
for a neighbour. Who pays for it, whether Lord Derby or the prince, I have not learnt.
Send these two sheets to Davies, as soon as you get a frank, together with all the
others which are not exclusively to yourself. The copying machine does not do.”

“Bowood, 28th September, 1781.

“One of Lord Shelburne’s channels of American intelligence, is through General
Grey, with whom he appears to be on a footing of some intimacy. Grey is, at present,
at Plymouth, and from thence sends him letters which he (Grey) has received from
America. Lord Camden was giving instances that have come very lately within his
knowledge of the freedom used at the Post-office with letters that come from thence.
In one letter, which he seemed to have seen, a part was actually cut out; but it was
managed so clumsily, that what remained announced the contents of what was taken
away. Lord S. was telling me, upon a former occasion, that there was a whole
department in the office on purpose for that business.

“The same accounts still continue that we have heard before, of Clinton’s
eccentricities: that he shuts himself up for three or four days together, and is seen by
nobody. It seems to be true that he has recalled Lord Cornwallis, either through
jealousy or necessity. A paper received by Lord S. makes Washington upwards of
11,000 strong, including 4000, and, I think, two hundred French, but exclusive of
militia: pieces of cannon, eighty-six. I saw the particulars in his hand; but [ must not
think of copying. There was a talk of 7000 or 8000 militia. Clinton was said to have
about 9000 men that he could spare from posts and garrisons. Washington’s vicinity
straitened him, it is said, for provisions; and that was mentioned as the chief reason
for his recalling Cornwallis.

PLL v6.0 (generated September, 2011) 162 http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/2085



Online Library of Liberty: The Works of Jeremy Bentham, vol. 10 (Memoirs Part I and
Correspondence)

“When Lord Bristol came here, it was, as he said, to thank Lord Shelburne for
favours; I mean the share he had in getting him the bishoprick. When the late Lord
Bristol was Lord-lieutenant, the bishoprick being vacant, he got a promise of it from
the king. Meantime, Lord Townsend succeeded; and he, regardless of his
predecessor’s promise, made interest for somebody else. Lord Shelburne, when
Secretary of State, reminded the king of his promise, and obtained the necessary
document, which he sent over without delay. After this, Lord S. thought himself well
entitled, upon the present occasion, to ask Lord B. for an Irish living, which he wants
just now to satisfy the cravings of a man of Calne, who has a son a parson, and whose
political chastity is assailed by Robinson of the Treasury. Lord Bristol changed the
discourse, and would not hear him. This is exact: having heard Lord S. repeat it two
or three times, Barré says, and says it seriously, that now he has some chance; but
that, had Lord B. promised, he would have none. Everybody seems to be agreed about
two things: that he is touched in his noddle, and that he draws a long bow.

“Lord Dartry says, the Irish exports, by the last accounts, were four millions a-year.
Barré doubts, but Lord Dartry insists. Barré says he will write over to know.

“Some time after Lord Hertford had been Lord-lieutenant of Ireland, umbrage had
been taken by the House of Lords there at something relative to one of their clerks.
Being closely interrogated, he confessed at length, with much agitation, that the
profits of his place were not what they might seem to be; for that, on being appointed
to it, he had been forced to undertake for paying so much to Lord Beauchamp,
whether a gross sum or an annuity, I forget. The House, therefore, transmitted a state
of the case, with a complaint, to be laid before his majesty. It came, as in course, to
Lord Shelburne; he being then Secretary of State. Lord S., from a notion of decency,
thought proper, before he presented it, to give notice to Lord Hertford. He,
accordingly, wrote a note to Lord H., saying that he had some particular business
which he wished to talk to him about, and that he would be glad either to wait on him
or to receive his visit. Lord H., little thinking how nearly it concerned him, gave
rather a cavalier answer, appointing Lord S. to wait on Aim. What passed afterwards
was slurred over in an obscure way, as usual; but so it was, that the complaint was
stifled (as Lord S. says he must acknowledge to his shame,) and never reached the
king. This is odd enough; for how came the Lords, when they saw it stick, not to
follow it up? This was told after dinner to-day, in presence of all the company, except
the ladies. Lord Beauchamp, it was also said, rides an Irish bishop. This the bishop
bolted out one day, out of patience with hearing himself accused of stinginess for not
living up to the apparent value of his income.

“Lord Dartry says, Penn, the proprietor, is living in Philadelphia in a state of the
utmost indigence. After paying rent-charges created in favour of younger children,
&c., or what encumbrances there are, he does not receive so much as £200 a-year.
This 1s what Lord Dartry is in a way to know; Lady Dartry being a great-
granddaughter of the first Penn’s.”

“Saturday, September 29.
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“On Thursday, (27th,) pretty early in the morning, came from Bath a Mr Hodgson: he
was kept to dinner; and Lord Shelburne, not to be bored with him, consigned him to
my hands. He is going on a secret expedition, the destination of which appears
clearly, from circumstances, to be some place in the narrow part of the Spanish main.
He is to have the conduct of it, together with the command of a regiment, and is to
embark in about a week from Falmouth. His business at Bath was to settle some
matters relative to it with Knox, Lord G. G.’s secretary. Dealing in generals, he says it
will be but a small affair at first, but he hopes it will swell to something greater:
doubtless by the accession of Indian, or other malcontents, as you will see. From
circumstances which it would take up too much time to enumerate, he was led to
place a confidence in me; and even, however odd it may seem, to look up to me as a
sort of protector; and, in consequence, he gave me, for me to give to Lord S., two
papers open, of which the following are extracts.

“One is a copy of a letter to Lord Hillsborough, dated September 10, 1781, in which
he speaks of his having been informed that he is again to be sent on service, and
therefore desires Lord H. would witness for him to Mr Knox of the truth of the
following particulars:—

“ “1st, That the first matter which brought him to his lordship’s notice was a survey he
took,” (when employed as an engineer,) ‘of all the Spanish coast, from Honduras to
Puerto Bello, together with a geographical account of it; which,” says he, ‘were put
into your lordship’s hands, and I never made any other use of them.

“ ‘The next was the manner in which I ventured, against every local opposition, to
execute the 17th article of the peace, by which I gained the time for your lordship’s
interposition in favour of the Mosquito shore to have its effect—that of saving it to
the crown.’

“He then speaks of ‘the manner in which he afterwards undertook the superintendency
of that country; that he was asked to go; that some time after, when he had again come
into his lordship’s hands, he made no hesitation, at his lordship’s instance, at leaving
his military commission behind him, and going out in a manner which his lordship
thought better for the public service.” The case was, | suppose, that the treaty did not
allow his going out in a military character, and so he was to sug the Indians
underhand. He talked to me about the opon house he used to keep for the Indians.

“That after his accepting his ‘letter of instructions,” his lordship presented his
memorial to the king, for military rank.

“Lastly, that he was turned out of his superintendency in the manner stated in a letter
to Mr Knox, which he encloses. I should have said, he began with observing, that
what Knox himself could know of him was little more than that, as far as his conduct
had relation to the late sad Nicaragua expedition, it had been satisfactory. (In talking,
after dinner, he computed the loss in men to be 4000, including what were lost with
Walsingham; and in money £500,000.)
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“In the other letters to Knox, dated July 28, 1781, he refuses having any concern in
the expedition in question, with one Lawrie, who appears to be the present
superintendent. He says, that Lawrie is ignorant and incapable; that he has been
labouring under a proclamation, under the great seal of Jamaica, for forgetting his
allegiance, and erecting a new government; and was also officially accused by ‘him
(Hodgson) to the Secretary of State, of rebellion.” That Lawrie got Hodgson turned
out of that place, and himself put into his room, by alleging that he was absent from
his duty, and so the country left without a superintendent; when, in truth, not only was
he there all the time alleged, both before and after, but another person was sent by the
king to be his ‘locum tenens,’ in case of his ‘coming home to give informations;” and
that Lawrie had imposed upon the Board of Trade, (on that or some other occasion,)
‘as an answer from Hodgson to his memorial, a paper written a year before that
memorial.’

“H. 1s to write Lord S. an ‘account of his expedition,” and there is a chance of his
letters being addressed (enclosed at least) to me.

“Hodgson told me he was first of all taken up by Lord Shelburne, but what
appointment he got from him at first does not appear. Afterwards, he says, he was to
have been the man with whom, in connexion with Macleane, the business was to have
been managed with the Marquis d’Aubarede; but, upon examination it was found that
d’Aubarede had undertaken far too much, and that he had not the credit with the
people he pretended to have.”

“October 3d.

“Upon mentioning this to Lord S., a day or two ago, as what Hodgson had told me, he
did not directly confirm it; but he denied it in such a manner as made me rather
conclude it to be true. Speaking of him in company, Lord S. said, he had given him a
little place, but did not mention what. He must have meant, | think, the
superintendency Hodgson mentioned in his letters. Lord S. says, he is a little maddish;
it may be so, but I see nothing but what appears to me full as sober and consistent as
anything about his lordship. His writing, indeed, is bad, but his discourse is better. His
knowledge seems to be pretty extensive, and his observations just—his constitution is
of iron; which is a capital point in the service he is to go upon. He went once to Omoa
with a flag of truce: thirteen men whom he had with him all died. Another time, of
three who went out hither, not one came back. I asked Lord S. whether there was
anything against him; he said no. Yet, although he has constantly corresponded,
which is all that a man in that situation could do, he seems not to be in favour.

“1781, September 29.—Miss Pratt, Bowood, to J. B., ibid. Challenge given in
drollery, under the name of Brookes:—

¢ ¢ Sir,_

Y our ungentlemanlike behaviour, the last time I dined at his lordship’s, did not pass
unnoticed. I am, sir, a man of honour, though, I believe, you did not think so. Sir,
behind the lodge is a convenient place, where I shall expect you to give me
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satisfaction for winks and nods, and, in short, sir, behaviour that I don’t understand,
and won’t take tamely. Swords or pistols, choose your weapons, as they are equal to
your humble and offended servant,

“*J. Brookes.
““Calne,September y° 29th.

29

“ ‘By seven o’clock to-morrow I shall be at the place appointed. No seconds.
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Bentham To His Father.

“Bowood, 30th September, 1781.
Sunday night, half after ten.

“Honoured Sir,—

To-day, at dinner, I had the favour of yours of the 29th, as to my not seconding my
last letter sooner. My own reproaches anticipated yours; but the fact is, it is with the
utmost difficulty I have been able to find time for even this short tribute of duty,
whatever it may prove. All the time I can get in the morning before breakfast, I find it
absolutely necessary for my health to devote to exercise. Nor is even that always
enough; for between breakfast and dinner, even although there should be no party
made for anything, I sometimes find it necessary to get on horseback and shake
myself. It is but now and then that I have been able to get a morning to bestow upon
any book, or on a few letters which, for one purpose or another, I have had occasion
to write. After dinner, while the gentlemen are still at their bottle, I steal away to the
library, where I meet Lady Shelburne, and wait on her to her dressing-room: there we
have music of some kind or other, unless there happen to be ladies in the house who
are not musically disposed. When the gentlemen leave the dinning-room, or, if the
weather permit of it, have done walking, we meet them again in the library to drink
coffee; after which, unless Lady Shelburne wants me to make one at whist, it is
absolutely necessary I should be in readiness to play at chess with Miss F., whose
Cavaliere Servente I have been ever since she came here from Warwick castle in
exchange for Miss V—. Our company consists, at this present writing, of the persons
following:—Lord Camden, Miss Pratt, and Mr Pratt, (his Lordship’s son and
daughter,) Mr William Pitt, (Lord Chatham’s brother: there are such a heap of Pitts, it
is necessary to distinguish,) Mr Banks, (your Banks,) Colonel Barré, Mr and Mrs
Dunning, Mr and Mrs, and two Miss Sturts, (Sturt, member for Dorsetshire,) Miss
F—, (the daughter of Stephen, the late Lord H—,) I have already mentioned. All
these, Miss F—excepted, are actually at supper. Mrs Dunning came on Tuesday; she
is just ready to fall to pieces. Mr Dunning to-day after dinner, very much fatigued
with the hard work which you have seen and heard of. Mrs Dunning is a perfect
mistress of the harpsichord, and a very agreeable woman, though not very young nor
handsome; but that’s Mr D.’s concern, not mine. Miss Pratt sings extremely well, and
plays on various instruments; she is lively, sensible, good-natured, and has every
accomplishment but beauty, in which, however, she is not remarkably deficient. Miss
F—is a sprightly good-natured little girl, not fourteen, but forward for her age; she too
plays on the harpsichord.

“Monday, half after ten at night.
“By to-morrow a whole posse of people will be gone, some of them to my very great

regret, among them Mrs Dunning and Miss Pratt. Mr and Mrs Dunning went off in a
violent hurry this morning, under the apprehension of Mrs D.’s being brought to bed.
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If it had not been for this accident they would have staid some time. I had not an
opportunity of exchanging ten words with him, so that [ had not time to make an
acquaintance with him, which was what, for Mrs D.’s sake much more than for his, I
greatly coveted. Miss Pratt, while she was here, drew Miss F—’s picture, and has just
been making me a present of it. Before coffee was over, they made me leave the
company, and come with them into Lady Shelburne’s dressing-room, where we very
frankly avowed to one another our regrets at parting. There we had been about an
hour, when Lady S. stole away from the company, and staid with us almost another
hour, leaving the Sturts to take care of themselves! She took the precaution, however,
to cut them out employment, some at cards, some at chess, that they might not come
and interrupt us. They are but odd sort of people: Miss Sturt has been suffered to
fancy she plays in a superior manner upon the harpsichord, without having the least
notion of it. Would you have thought of my being in such favour with the ladies? yet
so it is; and, to crown all, it was under favour of a good word which was put in for me
by Miss V—, notwithstanding all her reserve, that I first got the entrées of this same
dressing-room, which I am so fond of.”

“Tuesday morning.

“This morning departed Lord Camden and Miss Pratt, the Sturts, Will. Pitt, and
Banks; it was the first time of Banks being here. Mr Pratt stayed after the rest, but
goes away to-morrow. Mr Hamilton is expected here in a day or two. It was at
Fonthill t’other day, I believe, that Lord Shelburne first met with Banks; and it was
from seeing him with Pratt and Pitt, who were come with him from Kingston Hall,
(Banks’ house,) that he took occasion to invite him here. There he likewise saw Count
Cernichef, and had some conversation with him, but did not invite him hither, though,
as he says, he ought to have done it. It was rather odd he did not, considering the
notice he takes of foreigners in general. The reason he mentioned was, the
awkwardness of his having his Polish tutor with him. Some little time ago, I had the
pleasure of hearing of you from a Mr Brookes. You know, I suppose, that [ must be at
Oxford before the 17th, and on what account. I wrote to Poore, as he desired me. How
I shall be disposed of in the mean time, I do not exactly know; but my paper is at an
end. Pray send me back Wilson’s letter.—Y ours, &c.

“Jeremy Bentham.
“Jeremiah Bentham, Esq. at Bath.”
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Bentham To Geo. Wilson.

“Bowood, October 2d, 1781.

“It was a cursed foolish thing of me to set myself such a task as that of sending you a
diary of everything that passes here; and, now, I do not recollect where I left off. Oh, I
think it was on Saturday that I despatched my letter, and I think I told you of Banks
coming in from Fonthill, with Pratt and William Pitt.

“Sunday, September 30th.—Came in to dinner a whole heap of Sturts, likewise from
Fonthill: Mr and Mrs Sturt, Miss Sturt, a girl of seventeen or eighteen, and Miss Eliza
Sturt, about eleven. Banks, it appeared, is intimate in that family. After dinner came in
Dunning, piping hot from Bristol.

“Monday, yesterday, 1st October—a party of us went to Methuen’s, at Cosham, about
five miles from this place, to see his pictures. It is a famous collection, made by Sir
Paul Methuen. The family were not at home: they are at Lord Boston’s, who married
a daughter of Methuen’s; I should have said Methuen’s daughter, as he has but one.
The party consisted of Lady Shelburne, Lord Camden, Miss Pratt, and Miss F—, in
Lord S.’s coach; Pratt, Pitt, Banks, and your humble servant, on horseback. On our
return, to my great mortification, we found Mr and Mrs Dunning were set off for
London. It was absolutely necessary. Mrs Dunning and her maid were expecting
every hour to fall to pieces.

“Tuesday, October 2.—In the morning, before breakfast, Lord Camden and Miss Pratt
went off for Herefordshire; Banks and Pitt for Kingston Hall, Banks’ house in
Dorsetshire; the Sturts to their house, which is four miles from Kingston Hall.

“Wednesday, Oct. 3.—This morning, before breakfast, Pratt went off for Bath, where
he is gone to cultivate his belly: so that there is nobody left but Barr¢ and 1. Sir E.
Bayntun has been breakfasting here. One would think he came here as a spy of the
court; for he always comes at breakfast; the time that people are collected together.
This is, at least, the sixth time of his breakfasting with us since I have been here.

“I see, by the Dutch papers that are come to-day, that the Dutch despair of saving their
Prince William. This will be a great loss to them, as she is one of the most capital
ships they have, or can have; a seventy-four.

“Affairs seem to wear a very unfavourable aspect in Minorca. Barré’s character of
Murray is, that he is obstinate and wrongheaded, but brave to desperation. He has
seen a letter from Draper to a person here, who is a government man. Draper says that
the effective men in garrison are but 1500 regulars; consisting, upon Barré’s
computation, of two battalions English; three of Hanoverians: upon paper, 2400. The
Spanish account speaks of 400 of the latter deserting. God forbid this should be true!
Draper writes that, with infinite perseverance, he has succeeded in putting and
keeping himself upon good terms with the general; but that he is the only man in the
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island who is so, reckoning as well the army as the inhabitants. Barré, who has been
in the island, speaks of Fort St Philip as being excessively strong; the garrison
covered everywhere in a surprising manner: that the fault of it, if it has any, is that of
being overworked; the souterrains so intricate, that a man must have a better head
than the governor to understand them.

“This morning (Wednesday) I received yours of Saturday, September 29. As to all
that concerns my adventures in the family, and the footing I am upon, I must be as
concise as possible; there would be no end in giving the details; and, as these are
things there 1s no danger of my forgetting, there is no occasion for it. What I fill my
letters with, in preference, are anecdotes concerning persons, places, number, weight,
and measure—which, relating to persons I have no personal acquaintance with, and
therefore making but a faint impression, might be lost, if they were not quickly
consigned to paper; temporary ones more especially, as, for example, the foregoing.
The greater part, however, are inevitably lost, either on account of their being but
imperfectly heard, (for my hearing is, in reality, very dull,) or but imperfectly related;
the relaters having their reasons for not being perfectly explicit, or, in short, but
imperfectly remembered. A disadvantage I labour under is, the want of power to
cross-examine. A thousand considerations intervene to limit the exercise of this
power, which, however, I do exercise, at least as much as is agreeable to the
deponents: the fear of being troublesome; the fear of galling them, by obliging them
either to give an answer, apparently evasive, or to betray anything which would
subject them either to disrepute, or some other inconvenience.

“Suffice it that I tell you, in very general terms, that with Dunning I could have no
communication; there was no time for it, except a joke or two, which the devil
tempted me to crack upon him, immediately upon his coming in. With Lord Camden I
had but little, for reasons I will tell you at large; with Miss Pratt, who is a charming
girl in every respect but beauty, pretty much. She has given me a sketch of Miss F—
in crayons, which she was two days about; it is not ill done, considering, and has
some resemblance. With Mrs Sturt, who is a good, fine woman, at the age of forty-
two, after bearing eighteen children, fourteen of whom are alive, I had a little
flirtation, but left her after seeing a little more of the ton of the family, which I did not
like. With Sturt I had some general conversation; but saw nothing about him that
made him very interesting to me. With Barré, although we have few ideas in common,
I am upon terms of some familiarity, owing to the good nature and
companionableness of the man. Dunning’s health seemed not so much amiss,
notwithstanding the fatigue he underwent at Bristol; he had got up a good deal before
that happened to throw him back; and, the morning he went away, he told me he had
already recovered himself to a considerable degree. All these are heads for you to
examine me upon: as such, I set them down without further particularity.

“As to my health, it is still but so-so; but I promise myself something from the ease
and comfort of Thorpe, and something more from the winter, which seems to agree
best with me. For a long time I had no notion of riding out, because my lord did not
ask me; but at last I found out that his reason for not asking people to ride out with
him was, that all he rides out for is to superintend his workmen, which takes up all his
attention for the time, and is rather sitting on horseback than riding; since that, [ have
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taken heart of grace, and ride out almost every day, before breakfast, independently of
casual excursions in company. As to the Duke of Bedford’s being an Opposition-man,
I understand as much from Lord Shelburne.

“I desire no reflections upon Miss Mercer; it is the greatest satisfaction to me
imaginable to hear of handsome girls falling in love with ugly fellows. Alas! poor
Clarke! commend me to them and the St Pauls, with whom [ please myself with the
thoughts of spending a comfortable day or two ere the month is out.”

“Bowood, October 7, 1781.

“Yours of the 29th September, I think, I acknowledged in my last, which I believe
was dated Wednesday, the 3d instant; since then, nothing very particular has occurred
in this place. That same day, I think it was, came Hamilton (of Payne’s Hill) and his
wife, from Bath. Lord Shelburne sent his carriage for them, and sent them back
yesterday. Hamilton has been giving his assistance in laying out the grounds here. He
is an old man of seventy-five or seventy-six, and is, besides, very much afflicted at
times with the stone; but this time he was very cheerful and alert. There came, at the
same time, a Mr Tonge or Tongue, who has no connexion with them, but, as it
happened, came and went on the same day with them: an insipid, insignificant man,
who lives at Bristol. I could perceive no other bond of connexion than the
circumstance of his once having rented a house about a mile from Lord Shelburne’s,
which his lordship has just pulled down.

“On Thursday, came General Johnson, a neighbour of Lord Shelburne’s: he is equerry
to the king, and has been in waiting. He is an old man; is deaf at times; and has got the
nickname (so I learned by accident) of ‘Old Sulky;’ he travels in a leathern
conveniency of the same name. The account he gives of Governor Murray, quadrates
very exactly with that which Barré was giving, and, being a government man, may the
better be depended upon. He has a son there, to whom, he acknowledges, Murray has
been very kind; so that there does not appear to be anything of passion to corrupt his
judgment.

“Since my last, I have received a letter from Q. S. P., at Bath, in which (blessed be
God therefor) he tells me there will be no occasion for me to go to Oxford; for that C.
Abbot has no competitor, and looks upon himself as sure. I had asked him about the
price of woollen cloth, which, I had heard from Barré, was as cheap there as
broadcloth in London, viz. 18s. Q. S. P., upon inquiry, confirmed that idea, and
offered me a coat of it as a Bath present; so away go I on cock-horse to-morrow
morning, to be measured for it. I shall return in the afternoon.

“A day or two ago I received a letter from Sam,* dated Catherineburgh, and
Nigriaghill: the bad news it contains is—that he has lost a portable barometer, and
gold to the value of £13 or £14, by the breaking of a phial of quicksilver by the
overturning of a trunk; the good news—that the model of his plane-engine is finished,
and succeeds to the satisfaction of everybody; the engine itself would have been
finished, but for a vacation of six weeks, which the workmen have on account of the
harvest; the time for which, in that country, being very short, requires as many hands
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as can be mustered. I wait only for Parson Townsend, to quit this place. I cannot think
what has become of the man; he leaves me in an awkward predicament. He was to
have been here on Wednesday. There is now nobody but Miss F— and Colonel Barr¢.
Adieu. I send you a frank for Davies.”
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Bentham To Lord Shelburne.

“October 18, 1781.

“Since my arrival at my ‘villa,” (a subject on which the public prints have been
scandalously silent,) I have been honoured with two testimonies of your lordship’s
kind attention. In the first I am told that ‘all Bowood desire to be remembered by me:’
as if any part of Bowood could ever cease to be remembered by me, while gratitude,
or any quality I could ever value myself on, remained in me. In the latter, [ am
informed that my ‘Bowood friends are impatient to know how my hand does.” These
reproaches, as they might seem if literally taken, for not writing, may, I think, upon
the fairest and least flattering interpretation, be construed into a permission to write.
In this light I avail myself of them: for without some especial warrant, my lord, I
should hardly have ventured to have given you any trouble with my pen, in addition to
the unconscionable bond which particular circumstances, and the kind injunctions on
your lordship’s part, which they gave birth to, were the means of my laying on ‘all
Bowood’ by my company. I had indeed, as I have still, a pretence for writing in store,
which I treasure up accordingly: I mean the commission I was honoured with to
Colonel Skene; but it may be some time yet before I may have anything to say to your
lordship on that subject. The time of doing it, I take for granted, is not very material,
so as it be in the course of three weeks or a month; that is, till your lordship comes to
town at the meeting of parliament. I shall, therefore, look upon myself as being at
liberty, as things stand at present, to defer going thither myself for a week or ten days,
by which time I hope to have put off the guise of an invalid. At present, though I
make with some difficulty such use of my hand as your lordship sees, it is still so
tender that I am obliged to attend to every motion I make. If, however, any reason
should occur to your lordship, for wishing me to see the colonel sooner, any
intimation to that effect shall be obeyed the instant I am apprized of it. In the
meantime, [ have written to Mr Hodgson to inquire where Colonel Skene is to be met
with. Having no answer, I suppose he had left London before my letter got there. I am
concerned for the poor captain: henceforward, should he ever feel bold enough to
mount again, your lordship, in order to act the more completely the part of the good
Samaritan, would do well, I think, to ‘set him upon your own beast,” meaning either
Lord Abingdon’s or Mr Miller’s: upon either of these he would be comparatively
safe; for, granting that he might stand a chance of stumbling every other step, yet I
have too good an opinion of their prudence to suppose that either of them could ever
be prevailed upon to rise to a pace sufficient to make a tumble serious.

“As to the fiery courser which stands at present dignified by his name, I would
humbly propose that he be new christened; and that some man of skill and
spirit—myself, for example—be pitched upon for his godfather; in which case, I
would further move, that an act of oblivion be passed at Bowood, forbidding, under
the severest penalties, everything that could tend to revive the memory of the
Corsham expedition.
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“I beg my most respectful compliments to Lady S. and Miss F.; it would be a most
flattering circumstance to me, if I could persuade myself that they, or either of them,
were actually, as well as virtually, included under ‘all Bowood;’ and that they or
either of them—I speak as a lawyer—took any distinct and individual part in the kind
remembrances that were sent me. [ am particularly anxious to know whether Miss F.
has found anybody to give check to since the only man she could depend upon in that
way has had the misfortune to quit her service; whether, for example, the gallant
colonel, after the rebuff I was witness to, has ever mustered up courage to face her
during any of the truces of the cribbage table. If I have entertained anything like a
wish on the affirmative side, it must be acknowledged to be an effort of the highest
generosity, the colonel being too formidable a rival not to destroy any chance I might
otherwise have of procuring an odd corner in her memory. Missing the chess-board, it
is possible that, for a week or so, she might be led to bestow a straggling thought upon
the once happy man who used to sit on the other side of it.”
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CHAPTER VI.

1781—1785. At. 33—37.

Reminiscences of the Visits to Bowood.—Lord Lansdowne: the Waldegraves: the
Bowood Ladies.—Camden and Mansfield: the Pembrokes: Sir James Long:
Townsend the Traveller.—Notice of Goldsmith.—Lord Dunmore.—Correspondence
with Anderson, Stewart, Villion, Trail, Wilson, Swediaur, Symonds, and
Townsend.—Extracts from Commonplace Book.

The attachment of Bentham to Lord Shelburne was very strong. “He raised me,” |
have heard him say, “from the bottomless pit of humiliation—he made me feel I was
something.” Of Lady Shelburne, (the present Lord Lansdowne’s mother,) Bentham
said—*“She had the best, highest aristocratical education possible. She was as gentle
as a lamb; she talked French, and understood Latin extremely well. She was often
with that lady who was a sort of queen among the aristocracy, Gertrude the Duchess
of Bedford. Lady S. was quite a personage in those days, a governing personage. So
wide was their circle, that cards from no less than nine hundred visiters were left in a
season.”

Often did Bentham speak of the friends, the acquaintances, the guests of Bowood. I
know not how I can better introduce them than in that sketchy and conversational way
in which he was in the habit of conveying his recollections. When any name was
mentioned, it served as a sort of text from which he preached; and it was my usage to
record his talk, sometimes in shorthand in his presence; at other times, immediately
after I had left him.

“Lord Shelburne introduced Blackstone to the king—it was the best thing he could do
under the circumstances; his book was then ‘The Truth.” When the Fragment
appeared, Lord Shelburne patronized the Fragment, which seemed better Truth. He
was a favourite of the king, who promised to make him a duke. I do not know how he
was originally brought into contact with the king, but I think it was through Lord
Chatham, and he considered himself as always having a hold on the king’s affections.

“Now I'll tell you the persons by whose means he was informed of everything that
passed. They were the two Lady Waldegraves, the daughters of the Duchess of
Gloucester. You know Lord Waldegrave’s Memoirs, how interesting they are. Well!
these ladies lived at Court—Iladies of honour, or some such thing. In the year 1789, I
made a bit of a tour with Lord Lansdowne. We went to Warwick, where we stayed a
week: these ladies were there also on a visit. The party were, Lord Lansdowne and
myself (men,)—the ladies, Miss V. and Miss F. There was another lady, living with
the queen, a Lady Dartry, the wife of a banker at Dublin. When I knew her it was at
Bowood with her husband, whose name, I think, was Dawson; he was afterwards
raised a peg on the peerage, called Viscount Cremorne; and as Lord Lansdowne was
indebted no less than £300,000, a great deal of it came from this banking lord, and
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from Sir Francis Baring. Well! and you see these Ladies Waldegrave used to write to
the Miss V—s, and report what passed at court. Lord Lansdowne did not tell me on
the occasion, but he told me, on after occasions, that he knew all that passed, through
this channel.

“Blankett* was a retainer of Lord Shelburne, one of the numerous hangerson who
were tale-bearers to my lord, and was familiar with the Whigs. He was an ignorant,
confident, amusing fellow, an object of great aversion to the Bowood ladies from his
coarse manners. But he was employed by Lord Shelburne to repeat to him what
passed among the Whigs, and especially to report the conversations at the Admiralty.
I was once playing a duet with Lord Shelburne’s upper servant, when this Captain
Blankett pushed against me. I lounged at him with my bow, and broke my bow. He
was always talking about a vast continent in the Pacific. We had a dispute about the
relative size of Sicily and Ireland. He would have it that Sicily was the biggest. But
though ill-read and assuming, and addicted to falsehood, rather from temerity than
mendacity, he was a necessary instrument to Lord Shelburne; and Jekyll, whose wit
obtained him a welcome everywhere, was another instrument. They were to watch in
the quarters of the enemy.

“Lord Shelburne used frequently to say, ‘Tell me what is right and proper—tell me
what a man of virtue would do in this matter.’ I told him that Balak, the son of Zippoi,
wanted Balaam to prophesy, who answered, ‘that which the Lord puts into my mouth
will I prophesy;’ and that was the answer I made. He caught hold of the most
imperfect scrap of an idea, and filled it up in his own mind—sometimes
correctly—sometimes erroneously. His manner was very imposing, very dignified,
and he talked his vague generalities in the House of Lords in a very emphatic way, as
if something grand were at the bottom, when, in fact, there was nothing at all. He
asked me what he could do for me—I told him, ‘nothing;” and he found this so
different to the universal spirit of those about him, as to endear me to him. He was
afraid of me, so there was not much intimate communication. I was occupied in
writing and reading between breakfast and dinner, while he took walks with the eldest
Miss V—(now Mrs B—S—.) I seldom saw him except at dinner, when there was
mostly company. Supper I never took, but betook myself to my room. I was of more
importance, however, to him, than I could bring myself to believe. I was cowed by my
past humiliation.—I felt like an outcast in the world.—I had known a few tolerable
people, one at a time, but no extensive acquaintance. That a man should be born in the
great place called ‘abroad,” was a sufficient recommendation.

“Lord Shelburne had a wildness about him, and conceived groundless suspicions
about nothing at all. I remember going to ride out with one of his servants, and being
accosted by some man, whom I spoke to out of pure civility; and, on mentioning it to
Lord Shelburne, he seemed to think I was deserving of suspicion. About the last time
I was at his house, I mentioned something about Count Woronzof, and he fancied I
had been sent by Woronzof to communicate it. Yet there was about him a good deal
of sympathy, of intelligent sympathy: a curious mixture too of what was natural and
what was factitious. He had a sort of systematic plan for gaining people. I was quite
surprised to find the interest he had shown towards me. The particulars did not
immediately occur to my thoughts, nor did I immediately gather up the threads of
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them till long afterwards. He had many projects for marrying me to ladies of his
acquaintance.

“It was a fine thing for my father when Lord Shelburne, being minister, sent for me.
Nobody was there but Barré. Lady Shelburne talked in a strange way. When speaking
of a palsy which had visited somebody on the continent, she said—*It had left nothing
but an imperceptible haziness on the tongue.” The green official boxes were brought
in, and their contents were subjects of conversation that was delightful to me.

“Lady Shelburne’s dressing-room was next door to her bedroom. To follow her
thither was a prodigious privilege. She was extremely reserved; there was nothing in
her of active insolence; she was mildness and ice: but of extraordinary altitude. Her
sister was more icy even than she. Acquaintance, however, somewhat melted both,
and we had our innocent gambols. In earlier life, Lord Shelburne had been rather
promiscuous in his attentions to females; he had, to use his own expression, a place
full of women: but he was now exclusive in his attention to his lady.

“The ladies at Bowood were all taciturn, reflective, and prudent. The youngest had
somewhat more of frankness and less of beauty than the rest. Miss—resembled a
statue of Minerva, somewhat larger than life—so we called her Minerva, and she took
to the sobriquet very well.

“Among the ladies was the Lady Carr; who was the celebrated beauty of the day. She
had been, I believe, a Miss Gunning, and her sister set her cap at the Marquis of Lorn,
eldest son of the Duke of Argyle. A song circulated about her, of which the burthen
was, ‘“This is the Maiden all for-Lorn.” She wrote novels; but did not get hold of the
marquis.*

“There was a Lady Betty Clayton to whom Lord Lansdowne used to go for advice.
She was his oracle—his familiar oracle. His oracle for law was Sir John Eardley
Wilmot, the ex-Chief Justice of the Common Pleas. At Hastings’ trial, Lord
Lansdowne made me give my opinion on some of the evidence. It was unfavourable
to his views. He did not much care about Hastings; but knowing the part the king
took, and having all the king’s conversations reported to him, he professed to take
Hastings’ part. The borough of Calne was held by a tottering hold, and the Treasury
once or twice endeavoured to shake him in it.

“The Miss C—s were daughters of an Irish baronet, and were at Bath lodging
together. Lord Shelburne mentioned them to me as relatives of his. One of them was
afterwards invited to Bowood, and came to Bowood. Lord Shelburne had been
trumpeting me up, in order to make her think highly of me. [ remember their singing a
duet (Alley Croker) in a tragical sort of way. I like cheerful singing. Lord Shelburne
asked me my opinion of the singing; and when he saw I was no admirer of the style,
he gave up the scheme he had contemplated.”

There was a small menagerie at Bowood, to which Bentham added a white fox, which

his brother had sent from Archangel.—*“Lord Shelburne was fond of collecting
anything that was rather out of the way. The white fox gave occasion to some
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pleasantries in those days—when we called some of the Bowood ladies ‘The White
Foxes.””

To the end of his days Bentham spoke of Bowood and its inhabitants with intense
affection. I have often seen tears roll down his cheeks when reverting to some of the
loved inhabitants of that mansion. The truth is, even his tenderest affections had been
engaged by one of the fair ladies of Bowood. It was only a short time before his death
that he sent a playful “love epistle” to that lady—speaking of the gray hairs of age,
and the bliss of youth. I was with Bentham when the answer came to this letter—that
answer was cold and distant—it contained no reference to the state of former
affections; and he was indescribably hurt and disappointed by it. I talked to him,
however, of “auld langsyne,” and reminded him of Burns’ song, and his beautiful
reference to the times gone by. When I repeated, “We twa ha’e pu’ed the gowans
fine,” he was cheered a little; the past recollection was brighter than the present
thought—but he was for a long time silent, and greatly moved. At last he said, “Take
me forward, I entreat you, to the future—do not let me go back to the past—talk of
something—find out something to remove my thoughts from the time of my youth.”

“One day, when calling on Miss —, at Little Holland House, on a Sunday, I found her
and Miss — on their way to church, We were joined by S. S—, and when near the
church, I said to him, from Horace—

‘Parcus Deorum cultor et infrequens;’
and he answered, ‘I go because it is my trade.’

“I went to Streatham at this time (1783.) Lord Shelburne was then minister. There was
the house which belonged to Mr Thrale, which was hired by the minister to retire to. |
remember there were pictures of all the wits of the age. Lord Fitzmaurice had a little
turn of malignity—a sort of child in intellect. He told me of the amours of the
Duchess of —, who was a sort of Messelina. There was, in the Shelburne family, a
kind of division into factions—that of the child by the first bed, and the child by the
second. Lord Shelburne was a good-looking, on the whole a handsome man, with a
coarse skin. He had a little disposition to be rather knock-kneed.

“Lord Fitzmaurice once attempted to speak in the House of Commons: he was put
down by Pitt. He married a widow who had a large family of children. He was a poor
creature. He spent much money at Southampton on a castle without any ground to it.
In 1783, though of man’s stature, he did not dine with the family. He used to put me
in a cart, a large child’s cart, and drag me about.”

Yet even Bowood could have its annoyances. On one occasion, Lord Chatham,
William Pitt, Lord Camden, and Banks, determined to make Bentham the subject of
their joke. It was after dinner, and they were all taking coffee. He said something,
upon which one burst into a loud laugh, and was followed by the three others. He
asked what it meant; and, instead of answering, they all laughed again; and they
repeated this every time he spoke. No doubt, some trick had been practised upon him
of which he was not aware. The whole matter was then, and ever after,
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incomprehensible to him; for the laughing took place in the midst of serious
conversation, in which nothing ridiculous was said by himself or others. But Bentham
was sorely mortified, and probably exhibited his vexation; for, soon after, he
overheard a conversation between Lord Lansdowne and Mr Banks to this effect:—Mr
B., “Has he then taken offence?”—“No! he is too good-natured a man for that, and
will think nothing of it.” The parties had become conscious of their ill behaviour.

Bentham’s susceptibilities were always most acute; and he was touched to the quick
by what he considered a confederation of important personages to practice on these
susceptibilities.

—*“Lord Camden,” he said, “was a hobbledy-hoy, and had no polish of manners. Pitt
was cold; showed little curiosity about, or complacency for other men; and, on
ordinary occasions was incapable of rudeness. His manners had little grace or
kindness. Once, when riding out with Bentham, who entreated him to slacken his
pace, as he (Bentham) was mounted on a dangerous horse; he did so, but with an
unchanged countenance, and without dropping a word of interest or kindness. Of
Banks, Bentham formed a low estimate.

In the preface to the second edition of “The Fragment,” Bentham has recorded his
opinions of Lords Camden and Mansfield. I give these opinions here, in a more
elaborate shape, from another MS.:—

“Lord Camden. One incident occurred at Bowood that afforded me more particular
insight into his mind than could have been naturally afforded in a mixed and
numerous company of both sexes. One day happened to be particularly thin of
visiters. When the ladies were retired, nobody was left in the vast dining-room but the
ex-Chancellor, the ex-Secretary of State, and the obscure and visionary ex-lawyer.
The conversation turned upon Lord Mansfield. To the two noble friends, he was the
object of conjunct and undisguised antipathy. How he fared between them may be
imagined: nor yet do I suspect them of injustice. Lord Mansfield, much as he has been
talked of, has perhaps nowhere been more fully or more impressively described than
in Lord Orford’s, say rather Horace Walpole’s, Memoirs. Lord Shelburne was, ever
and anon, at some pains in the endeavour to impress upon my mind a conception of
the beauty of the mind of his noble friend. One occasion, I remember, on which the
result did not decidedly correspond to his expectations. ‘Observe,’ said he, ‘the
difference between such a man as Lord Mansfield and such a man as Lord Camden. It
was a habit, real or pretended, of Mansfield,” said Lord Camden to me one day, ‘to be
particularly cautious never to hear out of court so much as a syllable from anybody
about a cause that was to come before him. He was afraid, or pretended to be afraid,
of being influenced by it. How different it is with me! I care not what I hear, nor how
much | hear; be it what it may, I never can be influenced by it.” ” (Here ends the self-
eulogium.)

“If, in this particular, Lord Camden was his superior, the beauty of his mind will, it
must be admitted, be incontestable.
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“When,” continued Lord Camden, “I attended at the great Douglas cause, in which I
myself had no more interest than if the subject of it had taken place in the moon; it
seemed to me as if, somehow or other, they had both been on the same side, and that a
side on which it was matter of astonishment to me that a man who had not an interest
in it should be found.

“The course taken by the great judge to produce a conviction of his inexorable
impartiality, seemed to be rather too much of a piece with the course sometimes taken
by the knight and his princess, to prevent too near an approach, while stretched on the
same couch. In those days, a naked sword sufficed; in the present, the sort of security
that kept Pyramus and Thisbe separate would be rather more satisfactory. It was, I
think, in my hearing, that the noble and learned Lord heard a certain prayer once, in
which ‘Lead us not into temptation’ is one clause. The persons, for whose use the
prayer was framed, were certainly not, in the eyes of its author, altogether temptation-
proof.

“Between the two great rivals in regard to constitutional dispositions and
affections—for it would be too much to say of principles—there seems to have been
this difference:—The chief of the Whigs was well content with the system in the state
in which he found it—force, intimidation, corruption, delusion, depredation, and
oppression in their several actually existing proportions—and was determined not to
suffer them to be lessened, but wished not they should be augmented, nor would
suffer them, if he could help it, to be augmented by any rival hand. The system
pursued by his great Tory rival, or rather by his senior, of whom he was become the
rival, (for Manstield was his superior in age and standing, as well as in original rank,)
this system, howsoever restrained by his notorious and so much-talked-of mental
cowardice, had something of activity in it: his desires were bent, and with them, as
much of his endeavours as he could venture to bring into action, to the rendering it,
with the greatest velocity possible, as much worse as possible; to the rendering the
fate of suitors as completely dependent as possible upon his own caprices, secret
interests, and passions; while the pretended representatives of the People should be
kept as blind and indifferent as usual; and nothing more could be wanting, or easily
conceived as wanting, to the depredation and oppression exercised by the powers of
judicature, and the power of arbitrary legislation exercised by the connivance of the
legislation on the pretence of judicature.

“In fluency and aptitude of diction, Pratt was, in my eyes, equal to Murray—in
argument, perhaps superior; not so in grace and dignity; in which two qualities,
neither recollection presents to view, nor is imagination equal to paint, anything
superior to Mansfield. As to Camden, whether towards individuals in general there
was anything of peevishness of deportment in private life, I had no adequate means of
judging. On the bench, there was a sort of petulance, which had something of the
appearance of it; when in the exercise of the highest dignity, his language and manner
had, every now and then, more of the advocate in it than of the judge; he seemed as if
conscious of having a superior, to whom, in imagination, he was addressing himself.
Mansfield spoke and looked as if assured of having none. One example I will
mention:—He was sitting on the bench in Lincoln’s Inn Hall—he was sitting as if, in
a more especial manner, the representative of the king, in his quality of visiter of
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Christ Church College, Oxford. It was a cause in which my feelings were, in no slight
degree, interested, and interested on the side in favour of which his decision was
pronounced.

“The still surviving Dean of St Asaph, who had been my contemporary at
Westminster School, and stood, in regard to me, soon after our admission, in the
relation, styled in the language of Westminster, of that of a shadow to a substance,
had been accused of some little irregularity, and been expelled. From the sentence of
expulsion, he had made his appeal to the king, in his quality of visiter of the college.
Being at the head of the Whigs, Lord Camden was Low Church, and nothing more.
Notwithstanding my still remaining admiration for Lord Mansfield, I was Low
Church also; and, in politics at least, had, at that time, scarce a conception of anything
beyond or better. Shipley, the appellant, was not present. Barrington—one of the
canons of Christ Church—one of the constituted authorities by whom the sentence of
expulsion had been pronounced—was standing by me, behind the bar and in front of
the bench. The censorial lash was visited upon the backs of the reverend dignitaries,
and with a smartness which seemed to come from the heart. One expression—I took a
note of what was said—one expression I remember: it was that by which, in regard to
a certain point—and that, [ believe, a principal one—the appellant, it was declared,
‘had been condemned unheard.’ In this there was nothing that offended dignity; but
other two expressions there were which, to my eyes, presented the image of the
advocate, in place of the judge. These were—*“I am bold to affirm;” and “I am free to
confess.” No such affected boldness, no such boast of freedom, ever issued from the
lips of Mansfield. My prepossessions were, at that time, altogether in favour of Lord
Camden. If Lord Mansfield was one of the gods of my idolatry, Lord Camden was
another. Every lash which fell upon the Christ-Church dignitaries, delighted me as it
fell. Yet the conception now expressed on the subject of Lord Camden’s eloquence is,
without any variation, the conception which, at that time, I entertained of it.”

Lord Mansfield was a rank and intolerant Tory. He was in habits of intimacy with
Lind, Bentham’s intimate friend; and, through Lind, Bentham learnt his opinion on
many topics. He lauded the “Fragment on Government,” not because he understood or
admired the philosophy, but because it wounded Blackstone, with whom he had had a
quarrel. He praised the work, but he paid little attention to the author; though on one
occasion Bentham was employed to draw up the contract for the engraving of Lord
Mansfield’s portrait, and the wording of the contract was spoken of by his lordship in
the most flattering terms. His conversation had little in it that was intellectual. He was
a sensualist, and accustomed to drink his champagne in solitude. On one or two
occasions, when he met Bentham at table, he never addressed a word to him, though a
word from him would have been most delightful. One of the times when they were in
company was at the Mansion House, during the mayoralty of Sir Barlow Trevethick,
who married a sister of Sir William Meredith—a privy-councillor, and an earnest
friend of the People.

“Of the undisguised contempt,” said Bentham, “entertained by this favourite of
fortune, in relation to the great majority of those whose interests constitute the
universal interest, and out of whose pockets the matter of his vast wealth had been
extracted, one testimony I remember, which is not, to my knowledge, in any printed
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publication. Upon the occasion of one of the trials of the then celebrated John Wilkes
for libels, printed reports of former trials for libels had, by some friend or friends of
justice, been sent to the several persons who had been expected to serve as jurymen.
The information thus endeavoured to be conveyed to the minds in question, from the
most authentic and unquestionable sources, was stigmatized by him as if it had been
an attempt at corruption.”*

Of Daines Barrington, Bentham said—*“He was a very indifferent judge; a quiet, good
sort of a man; not proud but liberal; and vastly superior to Blackstone in his
disposition to improvement: more impartial in his judgment of men and things,—less
sycophancy, and a higher intellect. He was an English polyglot lawyer. He sits in
judgment on kings and others; exhibits their arbitrary tricks, not in the spirit of those
who pour out all land upon that king, who, in cutting men’s throats, manages to cut
more throats of some other king’s people than of his own people. His book was a
great treasure; and when I saw the placid little man in the Strand, I used to look at him
with prodigious veneration. He had a particular way of holding his hands before him
and twisting his thumbs. He never got higher than to be a Welch judge. He was not,
intentionally, a bad judge, though he was often a bad one. He took merit to himself for
cancelling a hundred pages of his book. I do not know the cause: the book is
everything, apropos of everything. I wrote volumes upon his volume.”

Of Charles Abbott, afterwards Speaker of the House of Commons, Bentham thought
highly. “He (Lord Colchester) has more talent,” said he “than all the Tories put
together. His finance reports are the first of their kind; their order and method are
admirable; yet it is well he is not in office; he would do nothing but mischief. He has
no relish for physical science; for nothing but grimgibber. He supported Panopticon
because my brother and he were play-fellows.”

At Bowood, all the statesmen he met seemed wanting in the great elements of
statesmanship; always engaged in discussion about what was, and seldom or never
about what ought to be.

“I have sent,” he said, “to the present Lord Lansdowne, a history of my intercourse
with his father and his family. He will have shown it to those who remain of that
generation. He was in his nurse’s arms when Miss V—was about twenty or twenty-
one. She had the reputation of a great beauty, which I could never discover. The Earl
of P—courted, and was refused, because he had the scurvy; and Lord E—, the son of
the Duke of G—, was not allowed to marry her by his father, because she was not rich
enough. She was a piece of aristocratical ice. The unmarried Miss V—was a good,
sociable kind of person, very good tempered. I went with Moore, Secretary to the
Society of Arts, to Warwick castle with B— S—. Miss V—blushed; but there had
been no flirtation between her and me. Miss E. V—was not more than seven or eight
years older than Miss F—.

“Though Lord Lansdowne has neither the wish nor the power to do much good, yet
the other lords are as much below him, as he is below what he ought to be. He said to
me, the lords were a wall against improvement. Only conceive his father, with a bad
education, taking up ‘Judicial Establishment’* with the highest glee. There was much
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criticism that was amusing to him. He was ‘awestruck,” he said, with the ‘Essay on
Morals and Legislation,” which he read through.

“I am so much an animal mei generis, that people must bear from me what they would
not bear from others. I shall tell Lord Lansdowne that aristocracy is on the wane, and
that things would have been borne in his father’s time, which would not be borne

2

now.

Among the beauties of the day were Lady Pembroke, and her sister Lady Diana
Beanclerc (alluded to above, p. 91.) They were daughters of the Duke of
Marlborough. Lady Pembroke was somewhat short, but had still a handsome
countenance, on which Bentham often looked with delight, charmed with being in the
presence of one he had often heard called a goddess. He found that she was on bad
terms with her lord; and no wonder: for Lord Pembroke was a roué, and openly
unfaithful. There was some management at Bowood, so to invite Lord and Lady
Pembroke that they might not meet. Bentham visited Lord Pembroke, who showed
him many curiosities: he was a great horse-breeder; and, on exhibiting a fine Arabian
steed, took some trouble to explain how the genuine race might be distinguished from
the mixed or spurious. The thickness of the neck was the only point that Bentham
brought away from the lesson. Lord P.’s house was like a statuary’s shop—crowded
with antiquities. He told many anecdotes; among which was one of a serious dispute
between two French naturalists, who had long vehemently discussed the existence or
non-existence of an animal between a horse and a mule, called a Jumard. One of
them, Maupertuis, (the other was Beaugerard,) cried out, on his deathbed, “Laissez
moi mourir dans la douce persuasion qu’il n’y a point de Jumard.” Lady Diana
Beauclerc was renowned for her limning productions, and was considered a most
accomplished person. Her husband, though but a commoner, had ducal and royal
blood in his veins. He studied chemistry, and to much purpose, under the instructions
of Dr Fordyce, at a time when scarcely anybody but professional men condescended
to pay attention to the subject. “One of the visiters at Lord Pembroke’s was Fonthill
Beckford, who, as soon as he entered, sat down at the harpsichord, and played
delightfully. The Bishop of Derry was another guest. He, with Flood, my old bed-
fellow’s brother, had afterwards well-nigh republicanized Ireland; but they were put
down by Lord Charlemont. The bishop was a pleasant and a clever man. He did not
believe in revealed religion: he was very tolerant in his judgment of others; and, in
political opinions, most liberal.

“There were, Sir James Long; Mr Bull, who managed, I think, the borough of Calne;
Lord Dartry, who loved the bottle so well, that Lord S. used to complain of his
passing it too briskly; but Lord S. owed him no small number of pecuniary favours;
there were Mr Banks, Mr Pratt, and Mr Dunning, who shocked me by narrating one of
his exploits at Bristol. He had been hanging two poor wretches there, and he talked of
it with consummate glee. There was then an odd sort of animal in the House of Lords,
whom we sometimes saw,—one Lord Harborough, who was not a bishop, but only a
parson!”

Bentham once met at Bowood Edward P., whom I have mentioned among his fellow-
students at Oxford. Edward was a very remarkable character. He was of a
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considerable family in Wiltshire, one of whom had been a Welsh judge. He was two
years older than Bentham, and joined him at Oxford, having got a five-guinea prize at
Winchester. He was very precocious, but withal a conceited, chattering coxcomb, and
remarkably ugly. But his head was full of ideas, as was Bentham’s, and so they
became intimate friends. The friendship did not last. Poore came into possession of a
large estate—went to Italy—fell into profligate habits—came home, and went to Italy
again. He was a barrister on the Western Circuit. His language was pompous and
affected. On one occasion, in a case about rubbish, he called the rubbish in his
opening, quisquillious matter,; and Jekyll, on his cross-examination of the first
witness, asked, “Did you ever see any quisquillious matter deposited?” “No, not I
indeed,” was the reply. Harris, who had patronised Poore, was compelled to drop him.
He fell into all sorts of misfortunes, and became the object of public indignation.
Once, while Poore was in his opulent state, and during their greatest intimacy,
Bentham had been robbed of all his money, and asked of Poore the loan of a guinea.
He refused.—*“Strange creature!” was Bentham’s ejaculation when speaking of him.

“Lord L—, the son of the great Lord L—, was a tall, pale-faced lord, whose
countenance indicated a bad disposition; but for that unfortunate expression of visage,
he might have been deemed handsome.

“Linguet wrote a book in defence of despotism. He was the violent enemy of the
democrats, and was the most celebrated orator of his time. He was clapped into the
Bastille. He was the remarkable man of his day for the eloquence with which he
justified despotism. He used to dress himself out very finely with sword and satin in
all its glory. Lord Shelburne introduced him to my acquaintance. He was obliged to
expatriate himself. His plaidoyers are extant, and I made use of them.* He speaks of
the enormous expenses of the decrees of the judge.

“When Sir Benjamin Hobhouse visited Bowood, in 1781, he was put into my hands,
to show him the lions.

“Townsend, the Spanish traveller, was a favourite at Bowood. He married a person
who was a Lady Clark: she was the widow of a navy captain; plain enough; but she
was a good cook, and Townsend liked good eating. She had something of a jointure
too. When [ visited them, the table was distinguished for many delicacies and much
variety. There were all sorts of meat-powders, such as of hung beef, to spread upon
bread and butter. Something was wrong with the lady’s mouth; I know not what; but I
know she wore what were called plumpers, or pieces of cork in her mouth. There was
always a piece of work to manage the plumpers so that the defects might not appear. |
used to be amused with the droll effect of her anxiety about her plumpers. She spent
the whole morning at her toilette, plumping and painting, and never appeared till three
o’clock in the afternoon.”

At Bowood Bentham was engaged in writing his “Introduction to the Principles of
Morals and Legislation.” It made progress by no means satisfactory to him. “I had got
into a mizmaze,” he said; “I could not see my way clearly,—it was a dark forest,—for
the vast field of law was around me with all its labyrinths. Little by little great
principles threw their light upon the field, and the path became clear. At this period of
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my life I was not proof against dogmatism. [ was more willing to listen to the man
who spoke of what ought to be, than to him who described what was. Experience has
given a different value to conversation.”

Bentham sent, in 1782, at the request of Lord Shelburne, to Lord Ashburton, this as
yet unpublished work. Lord Shelburne had read the volume in MS., and
recommended it to Lord Ashburton; but I find from a memorandum, that the proof-
sheets were neither acknowledged nor returned.

The following are farther memoranda, collected from Bentham’s conversation, in
relation to this period of his life:—

“I was one day in an eating-house in Clement’s Churchyard, with Clarke; and just as
we had done dinner, in came Goldsmith. He and Clarke talked together; I was too
young and too insignificant to be talked to. I supped at the Mitre Tavern once, when
they exhibited a complete service of plate. We came to hear Johnson’s good things.
There was Bickerstaff,—there was Ellis, the last scrivener of the city of London, who
died at the age of ninety-four, a pleasant, old fellow,—there was Hoole,—there was
White, a clerk of Ellis’,—and there was Goldsmith. But [ was angry with Goldsmith
for writing the ‘Deserted Village.’ I liked nothing gloomy; besides, it was not true, for
there were no such villages. Bickerstaff was obliged to march out of England some
time after.

“Lord Dunmore* used to call on me. He was a sort of a liberal; and we used to
stimulate one another by talking of the despotism which had been exhibited by the
expulsion of the six Methodists at Oxford. He told me his notion was, there had been
several revelations,—Jesus’ one, Mahomet’s another, at which I was very much
scandalized. We made trifling chemical experiments together, it was just then the airs
(gases) were invented.

“He had a tutor of the name of Watkins, who went to Virginia, where he had a living,
and where, I believe, he died. For a Church-of-England man, Dunmore was free of
prejudices, and we had many common sympathies. Watkins went to the unhealthy
parts of Essex, where the curacies are doubly as large as the ordinary healthful
curacies. He was there cheated by a Parson Griffinhoof. I took up the pen for him, and
made Parson Griffinhoof pay what was due. Parson Griffinhoof (as I was afterwards
told) said, ‘I do not know who Mr Bentham is, but he must be some old experienced
man.” ”

In 1782, Bentham took a journey to the north of England. At Buxton he was much
struck with the beauty of a Miss Meynell,—a sweet girl, he said. He met her twenty
years after her marriage with Sir George Cornwall, at Sir John Coghill’s. She had
many daughters, and Bentham was urged by Lord Lansdowne to attach himself to one
of them.

Strangely varied were the subjects which occupied Bentham’s thoughts. At this time I

find him engaged in writing for some favoured Melpomene “Instructions for the
Harpsichord,” some of which are very characteristic.
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After remarking that facility of playing depends on the choice of fingers—and its
accuracy on the verticality of the fingers over the keys to be struck—that expression is
the result of the smartness of the stroke, and of the evenness—and the staccato in their
appropriate places—he points how the “timidity inseparable to early practice is the
cause of error” in the non-verticality of the fingers.

“As every time of shifting the whole hand to a new position endangers a miscarriage,
the beginner covets to execute as many notes together as he can without shifting it.
When at last a note comes at such a distance from that preceding it, that shifting can
no longer be forborne; one finger is sent out before the rest, like the dove out of the
Ark, by way of trial to be followed by the whole hand if it succeeds.

“For a long time before the learner can form a comprehensive idea of the relation of
the respective distances between that numerous assemblage of keys that are necessary
to the instrument, and for want of having the idea of the distance of each key from
that which is to succeed it ready in his mind, he is forced to measure it, as it were, at
the time of striking. In consequence, he is obliged to keep his finger over the first key
while he is feeling for the second. If he moves his whole hand at once, he knows not
how far to carry it.

“As confidence increases by habitual exercitation, the danger is gradually obviated.
The practitioner becomes less afraid of trusting his whole hand to move at once. In
time, practice of itself will effect a cure. But the cure may be accelerated by its being
known on what circumstances it depends. The practitioner, when he sees clearly what
these circumstances are, will better understand how to conduct himself so as to favour
their operation. He will understand, for example, that his business is to repress his
solicitude for success, not to mind at first if he does stumble on a wrong key, but to
move his hand freely so as all along to give his fingers the requisite vertical direction.

“Habit—blind habit—will of itself do much: but it will do much more, it will do the
same thing in much less time, when enlightened by observation.

“To Melpomene the following hints will be matter rather of curiosity than of use:—

“The momentary and casual evanescent instructions that are given vivd voce by a
master, may be rendered much more efficacious by being registered in writing, and
worked up into general standing rules; since the design of them is only to assist other
young practitioners in their progress towards that perfection which she has attained
already. But if there is a kind of melancholy pleasure, as the poet says,

‘Suave mari,” &c.,

in seeing others struggling under the difficulties we have ourselves surmounted, we
may reap a pleasure of a purer and less exceptionable kind in contemplating the
causes of those difficulties, and such expedients by which others may be assisted in
removing them. If there is a pleasure in the recollection of vanquished difficulties,
that pleasure will, in a generous mind, be improved by a view of such expedients as
are calculated to enable others to surmount the like.”
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It is amusing and instructive to follow Bentham in his studies of the art of
composition. Many of his MSS. are curious evidences of the way in which he
exercised himself in order to train his style to precision. One specimen will serve to
exhibit what he calls the “Forms Direct and Indirect of Legislation”—as where
stealing 1s forbidden, and the punishment of death attached to it.

“I. Steal not: if thou do, thou shalt be hanged.

“2. Thou shalt not steal: if thou do, thou shalt be hanged.

“3. He that stealeth shall be hanged.

“4. Whoso stealeth shall be hanged.

“S. If any one steal, he shall be hanged.

“6. All persons that steal shall be hanged.

“7. Every person that stealeth shall be hanged.

“8. For him that stealeth, the punishment shall be hanging.

“9. For any one that stealeth, the punishment shall be hanging.

“10. For all persons that steal, the punishment shall be hanging.

“11. For every person that stealeth, the punishment shall be hanging.

“12. Let no one steal: if he do, he shall be hanged.

“13. If thou steal, thou shalt be hanged.

“14. Stealing, or theft, shall be punished by hanging.

“15. For stealing, the punishment shall be hanging.”

When the Treaty of Peace was negotiated in 1783, M. Rayneval assisted the Count
Choiseul in the negotiations. The count found rank—the plebeian, brains. Rayneval,
though somewhat clever, was both dull and proud. He and the young Viscount de
Vergennes, son of the prince, then Prime Minister of France, were handed over by
Lord Shelburne to Bentham, for the purpose of being escorted to the sights of London.
Bentham was struck with the extraordinary ignorance of the viscount, who, though
only from twenty to twenty-three years old, was married, and carried about his wife’s
picture in his fob with his watch. His visit lasted some weeks. Lord Shelburne’s eldest
son was generally of the company. Sharp’s Iron Works, Boydell’s Print Shop, and
Longman’s Musical Instrument Manufactory were, at that time, among the most
interesting of the trading establishments of the metropolis. At one of the dinners at

Lord Shelburne’s, Gibraltar was the topic, and Rayneval was very desirous it should
be given up by the English. There were among the guests those who thought Gibraltar
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was not worth keeping. One instance of Vergennes’s incredible want of knowledge,
was this:—He said to Bentham, “Are there any such people in England as authors?”
“Yes, truly,” was the answer; “there are—perhaps not so numerous, nor so good, as at
Paris, but the race is not wholly unknown.” “Indeed!” said he, “are there really?” He
was a very child in information, yet was he the man sent to make peace between two
great nations. His ignorance offended less than Rayneval’s morgue, he covered it over
with no veil, however thin. I have heard Bentham mention his fright at having
overturned a screen upon Rayneval, who, however, did not resent the misfortune. It
was compensated by a breakfast which Bentham gave him in Lincoln’s Inn, and by
some lessons in the pronunciation of the English language.

The following Letter of Bentham to Lord Shelburne, refers to a rare book, which,
Lord Shelburne says in his answer, he had lent to Mr Pitt, who had not returned it:—
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Bentham To Lord Shelburne.

“Lincoln’s Inn,February, 5, 1783.
“My Lord,—

Upon my happening at Streatham to mention the Code lately promulgated by the
French king for the government of Corsica, your lordship had the goodness to offer to
procure me a copy of it. If no measures should yet have been taken for that purpose, I
would not wish to take up any portion, however small, of a time so precious as your
lordship’s, about a matter that might be effected by ordinary means.

“But, my Lord, there is a work which less than your lordship’s influence could hardly
be sufficient to obtain, and which your lordship, if not already apprized of it, will, I
hope, not be displeased to hear of. The title of it is, ‘Mémoires concernant les Droits
et Impositions en Europe.’ It is said in Smith’s Wealth of Nations, b. v. ch. 1, to have
been compiled by order of the French Court ‘for the use of a Commission employed
for some years then past in considering the proper means for reforming the Finances
of France.’

“I have been told that there were but 100 copies printed of it, and that it has been
never sold. Mr Anstruther, lately elected Member for —, happening to be at Paris just
as it was printed, obtained a copy. I have asked him for a sight of it by means of a
common friend; but he had given it to Lord Loughborough, whom nobody, that [ am
acquainted with, cares to ask. The case is the same with regard to Lord Stormont, who
I thought might possibly have another.

“M. de Rayneval, I should think must know of it, if he thinks proper to acknowledge.
Should there be one copy of it procurable, and but one, I would humbly beg the use of
it for a few weeks: should there be two, I should even hope your lordship might think
proper, as a matter of grace, to grant me the informer’s share.

“To save your lordship the trouble of getting the title transcribed, I have repeated it on
the other leaf.

“I have the honour to be, with all possible respect,

“Your Lordship’S Much Obliged, And
Most Obedient Humble Servant,

J. B.

“Mémoires, &c., en plusieurs volumes en 4to, composés & imprimés il y a quelques
ans par ordre de la Cour de France, mais jamais publiés.”

PLL v6.0 (generated September, 2011) 189 http://oll.libertyfund.org/title/2085



Online Library of Liberty: The Works of Jeremy Bentham, vol. 10 (Memoirs Part I and
Correspondence)

Dr Anderson* had written a pamphlet on the Value of the Western Fishery. Like most
authors, exaggerating the importance of the matter on which he was engaged, and
anticipating most improbable results from the remedies he was suggesting for the
redress of national grievances; he was exceedingly desirous of obtaining Bentham’s
approval of his plans, and his concurrence in the desirableness of their being
communicated to the public. I find in his letters the expression of a strong desire that,
when dead, he may be thought of, as having written something which the world would
not willingly let die. In answer, Bentham sent him the following admirable letter:—
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Bentham To Dr Anderson.

“Wednesday,May 28th, 1783.

“Dear Sir,—

I am sincerely sorry you do not seem to acquiesce in Mr Wilson’s opinion, which is
entirely mine. I will own myself anxious that this pamphlet may never see the light,
and that much more on account of your reputation than your purse. There is really a
combination among your friends—who are indeed very much your friends, or they
would never undertake so invidious a task—to strangle this unhappy bantling in its
cradle. Without pretending to assign all their reasons, to which I might not be able to
do justice, I will take the liberty of giving you a few of mine. I say a few, for you will
not expect that I should write a pamphlet, in order to prove that you ought not to
publish another pamphlet. Why it is you should be so much attached to it, I cannot
conceive; for I really do not see a syllable in it that is new. Whether the observations
relative to the difficulty of collecting a revenue in thinly-peopled countries, are
originally yours or not, I will not pretend to say, though I confess I suspect the
negative; but sure I am they are yours already: witness your last pamphlet. Those
relative to the inefficacy of bounties, and the injudicious, or supposed injudicious,
conditions annexed to them, I thought ingenious when I read them, and well worth
more attention than it suited me to bestow; but they, too, are yours already: witness
your Observations on National Industry, in which this very subject is treated more
satisfactorily, as far as I can speak upon recollection, than in the very pamphlet which
professes to treat of nothing else. What you say of the difficulties attending infant
manufactures, is there also anticipated. What is there in all this that you should be so
anxious to “discover” and to “preserve?” Look back to your own works, and you will
find it discovered and preserved already, as far as printing and publishing can
discover and preserve it. Is it the idea of getting towns built on the spot in question?
This has been suggested, and, you will excuse me for saying, suggested, I think, in a
more instructive manner, almost these twenty years, by Sir J. Stewart, in the
concluding passage of book ii. chap. 30, which I have before me; and, I am told, over
and over again, in Campbell’s Political Survey, which I have not seen. Is it the idea of
engaging people at large to build, by grants of land? America, a country in much
better repute, justly or unjustly, than the Scottish Isles, gives land without stint,
without such conditions, and with timber on it that cries, “come cut me,” as plain as
ever a herring cried “come catch me.” Is it the idea of giving the son of Abraham, of
Isaac, and of Jacob, a place to rest his head on? America is large enough for him, and
as open to him as to any disciple of Christ. I question whether you are aware that
Jews, native Jews, are already, and have been for hundreds of years, upon just as good
a footing, as to the acquiring of land, as native Christians; and that the object of the
act (are you aware of that act?) which was so soon repealed, in consequence of a
temporary and party clamour, was only to hold out naturalisation to foreign Jews. |
speak from Blackstone, and from the act itself. Is it the idea of getting Parliament to
venture the sum required, because that sum would not exceed, as you suppose without
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any calculation, the amount of onemonth’s expense of the war, as you have written it
in huge letters? My dear sir, do you consider that one month’s expense of the war is
about a million of money, more or less?—that a work not of supererogation, but of
pressing necessity, long ago begun, and far advanced in the building,—I mean a
penitentiary house for the home circuit,—stands still for the want of a tenth or a
twentieth of that sum?—that a house somewhat upon that plan is wanted for
Edinburgh, that £6000 would do the business, and that this trifle, as it may seem to
you, is more than Mr Stewart, late Provost of Edinburgh, the patron of the scheme, a
most intelligent and public-spirited man, has any hopes of getting?—so he told me
himself within these three weeks.

Catching fish in the Western Isles might be made a very beneficial business,—a
business much more beneficial than it is,—a business more beneficial than any other
that could be carried on with an equal capital; but not unless conducted by people, and
they in considerable numbers, having fixed habitations in those isles. All this may be
true; but what reason have you offered further than your own averment (repeated, and
enforced in abundance of declamatory language) for thinking it so? What data have
these twenty years’ reflection and experience of yours (experience of what?)
furnished, upon which any, even a most superficial judgment of the matter, can be
grounded? What are the trades and manufactures, the association of which would be
necessary for carrying on this branch of industry? Net-makers, hook-makers, and so
forth. This might be known by surveying and analyzing the furniture of a fishing ship,
&c., and considering whence it came. What would be the capital necessary for the
stocking of those trades and manufactures? How is that capital to be supplied? If too
great for one private undertaker, would it be too great for a partnership? If too great
for a partnership, would it for an incorporated company? If too great for an
incorporated company, who would be working for their own profit, is there any
chance of its being carried on by agents appointed by the crown, working for the
benefit of [ don’t know who? What do the Dutch lose by the disadvantages of
distance? Is that disadvantage more than equal to the habitual and inveterate
difference between British and Dutch economy? Supposing a greater profit might be
made by a given capital employed in this way, than by the same capital employed in
any other, (a point necessary to be made out, with at least some general show of
probability,) why am I, who am carrying on a flourishing manufacture at Manchester,
to be taxed, to have money taken out of my pocket, to be given to you to catch fish
with in the isles of Scotland? Certainly I ought not, unless with that money you could
bring to market a great many more pounds’ worth of fish than I could of cloth. When
you have given something of an answer to these questions, I may perhaps be able to
supply you with as many more; and when you have answered those, then perhaps
your pamphlet may have some claim to the title it assumes: supposing all the while
that [, who am a mere novice in political economy, can, in the course of a most hasty
and superficial glance, have gone any part of the way towards exhausting the
considerations necessary for founding a judgment upon this complicated question.
When you have collected the matter above alluded to, you may then the better afford
to leave out all general disquisitions about human nature, especially if they should
have nothing either very new in the matter, or pointed in the manner: all histories of
the European transactions in the East Indies: all controversies founded on loose
expressions of Mr Howlett, or Mr anybody else, relative to abstract propositions on
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the subject of population: all caveats against Dr Tucker, or Dr anybody else, about the
property of supposed new ideas: all invectives against ministers, in or out of place, on
the score of measures which have no other connexion with that in question, than in so
far as they relate to money: all declamations founded on the supposition that the ruin
of a country, which is to be starved this summer, is no otherwise to be prevented than
by raising piles of brick and mortar, which may come to be lived in two or three years
hence; but of all things, all passages tending to insinuate, in terms more or less
explicit, that all political men, if not all men whatever, are equally blind and
profligate, and that the whole stock of intelligence, as well as probity in the world,
happens, by some odd accident, to centre in a single person, whose censure, without
the weight of proof, is to stamp indelible infamy on every head it lights on. It is now
past one—I began at past eleven; and these representations, I see but too plainly, are
coloured by the impatience which late hours, and multiplied avocations, give to a
sensible temperament and feeble constitution: but if you make the requisite
abatements, you may profit: and as you know the motive, (for what motive but one
could have induced me to give us both this plaguing-bout,) you will forgive.”

He proceeds on a second sheet:—

“In the other sheet you have my opinion on your pamphlet; if, notwithstanding, you
persist in printing it, all I have to say to you further is, that your orders will be obeyed.
And yet, why in London?—in Edinburgh, printing is not only cheaper, but better
done. But that you must doubtless have made up your mind about.”

The answer to this letter is characteristic enough. It occupies nine closely written
pages, and is intended to show to Bentham, that if he had studied the subject as
thoroughly as the author, he would have formed a higher estimate of the value of his
labours. Reputation is less his end than usefulness—glory than truth; yet he had read
Bentham’s letter three times over, on three several days, coolly and calmly, but still
finds the knowledge it exhibits “extremely crude and undigested, and the tone of the
epistle peevish, petulant, sarcastic, fretful:” “exhibiting qualities which self-
knowledge would have taught him to avoid exhibiting,” and suggesting that Bentham
might “profit by” Anderson’s “lessons.” He calls Bentham’s letter a “humiliating
inadvertency,”—*“degrading him to an inferior level,” and so forth—yet expresses
high admiration for his talents and his virtues. It is to the credit of both, that these
sharp discussions did not interfere with friendly intercourse,—but it must not be
forgotten, that the criticisms of Bentham were invited—those of Anderson intruded.

To this correspondence Bentham made allusion when he had passed his eightieth
year. “I remember a correspondence with Dr Anderson. He was grievously offended
with one of my letters. I did not, when young, show that attention to the feelings of
others which I have learnt since; and I believe he had some reason for being
offended.”

A letter to Mr Stewart of Edinburgh, exhibits the character of Bentham’s inquiries
with reference to the effects of Scottish education upon the public morals. It would be
interesting to follow the inquiry here reverted to, through the various states of Europe.
Compare the cost of religious instruction in different countries, and then compare the
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state of crime. Let it be seen what effect money, as a means of procuring the discharge
of ecclesiastical functions has upon the morals of a community;—whether a richly
endowed church is productive of the riches of good works—whether the cheaper
Presbyterianism of the north is more or less prolific of Christian excellence than the
richer Episcopacy of the south; in a word, whether the money disposed of by our
opulent Establishment is well or ill spent, with a view to the end proposed, namely,
the increase of virtue and the diminution of crime.
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Bentham To Mr Stewart.*

“June 27th, 1783.
“Sir,—

I take advantage of your very obliging permission, to trouble you with a memorandum
of the documents I wish for, relative to the criminal law of your part of the island.

“By way of a clue, give me leave to mention the purpose. Upon the supposition that
the influence of religious instruction is beneficial, upon the whole, to the temporal
interests of society, and that the labours of the clergy do a certain degree of service by
what they contribute towards turning this influence to account; I know of no
observable standard more exact for estimating the value of that service, than the
comparative paucity of such mischievous acts, as the law has stigmatized under the
denomination of crimes. England, which, containing such a number of people, and
such a quantity of wealth, pays to its clergy such a sum, (which is distributed among
them in such a manner,) has, in a given period, such a number of criminals: Scotland,
which, containing such a number of people, and such a quantity of wealth, pays to its
clergy, so much less in proportion, and that distributed in a different manner—has, in
the same period, such or such another number of criminals. I am apt to think it would
turn out that this latter number, instead of being greater than that in England, in
proportion as the pay of the clergy in Scotland is less, is in fact less; and that
therefore, in Scotland, the clerical work is not only done for less money than in
England, but better done. This is the inference I am disposed to draw from the Table
of Convictions in Scotland, already published by our excellent friend Mr Howard.
But, as that table extends to no other than capital crimes, the information it affords
can be, as you must perceive, but very unsatisfactory with a view to my purpose. It is
the more so, inasmuch as the same crimes which are capital in England, are not so, in
every instance, in Scotland, and vice versa. To be sure, in both countries the
denominations of crimes, &c., are, in but too many instances, determined not so much
by the real nature of the mischief, as by extraneousand accidental circumstances, such
as the punishment or mode of prosecution—but this is an imperfection I cannot help. |
must take the information, and be glad to get it too, as it stands. What I wish for is,
therefore, a table of the crimes, that within a certain period (suppose from the
beginning of the century) have, been known to be committed in Scotland,—the more
extensive as to the sorts of crimes, and the more minute the distinctions, so much the
better. As to the distinctions, those given in Mr Howard’s table are, as far as that goes,
sufficiently particular: the head of murder excepted, inasmuch as it makes no
distinction between homicide in prosecution of robbery, and the murder of a
defenceless person through particular enmity, fair duelling, and I don’t know how
many other species I could point out, but which are as different from one another as
guilt from innocence.
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“I say, have been known to be committed; and, therefore, a table of the #rials would be
much more satisfactory than a table of the bare convictions,—and still more so, an
account, which I suppose it is impossible to obtain, of informations lodged before a
magistrate. You have a method, I have heard, of transporting suspected persons, with
their consent, without a trial; of these, some, I presume, would, were it not for such
provision, have gone into the class of those informed against, but discharged for want
of sufficient evidence—others into the class of convicts.

“I dare say it is but a small part of all this information that is attainable; but any part
that it should be in your way to obtain for me, without too much trouble, I should
think myself infinitely obliged to you for.

“To a man of Mr Stewart’s turn of mind, the various public uses which at any rate
such a sort of document might be put to, and the credit which (if my conjecture be
well-gronnded) the result would reflect upon his friend, must, if fame says true, hold
out inducements infinitely more favourable than any that could be presented by the
acknowledgments of so insignificant an individual as myself. And that the
information may receive a much greater degree of circulation than I could expect to
give it, we will make Howard insert it in his next publication. He will, I dare say, be
very glad of it, for he seemed to acquiesce in my remarks on the incompleteness of
that printed in his own appendix. Be there more or less of it, the copying of it must
necessarily be attended with some expense.—You will be kind enough to direct the
copyist to make a memorandum of it, that [ may pay the amount of it to your house in
London.

“I took the liberty, as you may perhaps remember, of claiming kin to you and Mr
Howard as a kind of brother of the trade, which I certainly am, as far as endeavours
go at least, however inferior in point of means. The only proof I can as yet produce to
you, in support of such a pretension, is contained in a little pamphlet,* a copy of
which herewith sent, I hope you will do me the honour to accept.—I am, with great
truth and regard, Sir, your most obedient humble servant,

“J. B.

“The expense and trouble it cost me, were not wholly thrown away, as the Bill, which
was the subject of it, underwent a number of alterations, several of which, I
understood by a note from Sir W. Blackstone, were the consequence of my remarks.”

In a letter of George Wilson to Bentham, dated 3d Nov., 1783, is the following
passage:—

“Wallace is gone down to Tinmouth (Teignmouth) in Devonshire; they say it is the
place where Dunning died, and in all probability Wallace goes on the same errand.
Everybody says that Erskine will be Solicitor-general—and if he is, or indeed whether
he is or not, he will have had the most rapid rise that has been known at the bar: it is
four years and a half since he was called, and in that time he has cleared £8,000 or
£9,000, besides paying his debts, got a silk gown, and business of at least £3,000 a-
year—a seat in parliament,—and over and above, has made his brother Lord
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Advocate. For my part, [ have great doubts whether his coming into parliament was a
wise thing; he sacrificed his House of Commons’ business, which was very profitable;
and besides, his success seems to me very doubtful. He has several of Burke’s defects,
and 1s not unlikely to have his fate; and the expectation from him will be too great to
be satisfied. We expect a match between him and Pitt, and another between Fox and
Flood.

“The apprehensions about Ireland are not quite so great since the Leinster meeting,
where there was not the same appearance of unanimity as at Dungnnon. We have not
yet heard of any meeting of the other two provinees; and their parliament has been
adjourned for some time. The Bishop of Derry goes to the House of Peers, attended
by a troop of horse, who remain on duty during his stay there. He quite eclipses the
Lord Lieutenant. What a pity he is not captain of a man of war, and his son a bishop!”

I mentioned among Bentham’s acquaintance a mercantile man named Villion, a
Genoese, “who helped,” said Bentham, “to cheer my Lincoln’s Inn solitude. He was
very fond of my company, and was generally welcome to me. But once he annoyed
me by coming at dinner-time; for I had but a scanty fare, and he grubbed up half of it.
His dress was very shabby, and he wore a shirt as coarse as a hopsack. Everything
about him was mean; and as [ attributed it to his poverty, I only pitied him. But I soon
learned he had lost no less than £4000 by the failure of his brother—this alone was
equal to £200 a-year—so he sank in my estimation. I could have excused his poverty,
but not his being so rich and living so meanly. I was passionately fond of chemistry
then, and he studied chemistry for the love he bore me. In his brother’s absence, he
once gave me a dinner at his brother’s expense. | remember a garden-like paradise on
the top of the house. He used to borrow books of me. He was received into many
good families, among others that of Peter Noailles, who had extensive silk-works at
Seven Oaks. Noailles had a beautiful wife and a beautiful daughter; and, being
introduced by Villion, I dined there once or twice. There was a renowned wine-
merchant of the name of Chaillet, who afterwards migrated to Bedford Square. He
had two daughters, one of whom married a secretary of the first Lord Melville. When
I was a suitor on the subject of ‘Panopticon,’ the secretary did me some friendly
service; and I once met his father-in-law at his office, and he said to me, ‘Mr
Bentham, was it you that wrote the Defence of Usury?’—*Yes.”—‘Then you shall
dine with me.” I went, and was surprised to find his wife a vulgar, purse-proud
woman. There were a dozen people present, and we had some music. I remember
observing something white on the middle of the table, and I asked what it was: ‘You
will see,” she said; ‘that is not to be eaten yet: it will be eaten by and by.” Once when
in the carriage with her, she asked me to make some verses to entertain them. I make
verses!—I indeed!!”

Villion seems to have been much attached to Bentham. One of his letters, written in

answer to a communication of Bentham, which was the resumption of intercourse
long dropped, has the following passage:—
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Francis Villion To Bentham.

“Dear Sir,—

Upon my returning to town to-day, on account of the election of E. India Directors, |
have been—shall I say agreeably, or disagreeably?—surprised at finding at home your
obliging letter of the 8th instant. It hath recalled to my mind a friendly connexion,
which, as long as it lasted, was at once the pride and the delight of my life. But this
connexion not being supported equally on both sides, it necessarily grew, by slow
degrees, weaker and weaker, till it broke at last.

“This event, although long foreseen, and, according to the common course of nature,
which seldom, very seldom indeed, admits the continuation of an intimacy between
unequals, hath however affected me so much, that I do assure you time hath hardly
afforded me any relief: even Time itself, whose everworking hand hath almost
obliterated out the very deep impressions made upon me by the heavy strokes of
repeated misfortunes; misfortunes which the generality of people would agree in
looking upon as the most severe ones. [ have endeavoured to reconcile myself to that
event, by the consideration, that when we leave nothing at all behind us to regret, we
are prepared to meet death with fortitude and indifference.”

Bentham answered this epistle in the language of kindness, welcoming the
reéstablishment of kindly relations: to which Villion replies—
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Francis Villion To Bentham.

“Lothbury, No. 26,
Monday Morning, 19th April, 1784.

“My Dear Sir,—

An engagement for yesterday brought me to town very late on Saturday evening. I
had been pressed in an obliging manner to stay all the next morning, but I
congratulated myself for having luckily withstood the civil importunities of my
friends, as I anticipated by some hours the inexpressible satisfaction and comfort
which your letter of the 14th inst. gave me. So kind, so friendly, so moving, so artless
a letter, dictated by the heart,—coming from you to me,—makes more than ample
amends for full ten years’ trouble and uneasiness of mind. I am sure in the course of a
very long life, I should never forget a single word of it.

“I look upon it as a pledge that promises to me the continuation of what will soften
the unavoidable misfortunes of this world,—will increase greatly the enjoyments it
may afford; and, what I value more, will add dignity to me, not only in my own
estimation, but in that of others.

“Had it been a more early hour,—had I not been afraid to disturb you,—had I been
sure you could give me a bed,—I should have flyed directly to your chambers. I
called there yesterday: to my very great disappointment I did not find you at home;
and I left a note which I scribbled at the coffee-house in a hurry, and under the first
impression of my chagrin at seeing my hopes frustrated.

“It is very unlucky for me that I cannot absolutely see you, nor to-day, nor to-morrow.
If you be disengaged next Wednesday evening, I shall call upon you. Should not that
day suit you, choose any other you please, and be assured that I shall make you a
sacrifice of any engagement of mine, let it be of duty, business, or pleasure; for I can
have none greater than that of assuring you, in person, how affectionately and truly I
am, my dear Bentham,

“Your Humble Servant, And Sincere Friend,

“Francis Villion.”

George Wilson and James Trail were, of all Bentham’s acquaintance at that time,
those with whom he was most intimate. It was to Wilson that most of the Bowood
letters were addressed.

“George Wilson,” said he, “was my bosom friend. We had both of us been friendless.

He had lived at Aberdeen, where his father had been collector of the customs. He had
been at Edinburgh university. He was related by marriage to Dr Fordyce. I made
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acquaintance, before I was of age, with Dr Fordyce, in consequence of his lectures on
chemistry; and I once gave him and (Chamberlain) Clarke a dinner in Lincoln’s Inn.
Dr F. was, I think, at that time, the only chemical lecturer, and was very poorly
attended. Wilson was first cousin to a Lord Forbes; and Fordyce invited Wilson to
dinner to meet me. He had no legal acquaintance, except Sir Archibald Macdonald,
who was an aristocrat and a puppy, and took no notice of Wilson; so that Wilson
really knew nobody but Dr Fordyce, who was a queer creature, without conversation.
Wilson and I there met. He was not a forward—no, he was rather a reserved, even
bashful man; but he was six feet one inch in height. Not long after it happened, I was
not so poor but I could go and live apart from my father; so [ went to a little eating or
chop-house, called the Three Tuns, where I used to dine for 13d., including 1d. to the
waiter. While sitting at one table, he was at another. I recognised him, and asked him
to take tea with me. I found he was fond of chess. I was passionately fond of it. This
was long after our meeting at Fordyce’s, who was in the habit of bringing people
together, giving no one any account of the others, so that they were constantly in
awkward plights. He thus introduced me to Solander’s Club, where nobody knew me,
and I knew nobody, and had nothing to say to anybody, nor anybody to me. At this
time I was writing the Fragment. I showed him (Wilson) parts of it. He seemed struck
with them, but uttered no praise, for he was afraid of being thought a flatterer. There
was a constant correspondence between him and his sister, who was living with her
father at Aberdeen. He used to show me her letters, by which I perceived the
impression which the Fragment had made on his mind. Our intimacy strengthened,
and at last we lived together constantly. While living in that habit of intimacy, came
Lord Glenbervie and Silvester Douglas, who had been bear-leader to the Douglas
whose legitimacy had been questioned. That Douglas a ward of Lord Mansfield; but
he had, notwithstanding, so lived as to outrun the constable. The great Douglas had
his opera-girl, and the little Douglas had his; so he was recalled in disgrace. Douglas,
who was a pert, supercilious fellow, but had talents,—very considerable
talents,—came and entered himself at Lincoln’s Inn. He and Wilson knew one
another, and he used frequently to come and call Wilson to the other side of the room,
and leave me in solitude, which annoyed me not a little. Douglas had seen much of
the grand monde; Wilson nothing; so he would not lose any opportunity of hearing
about it. Wilson was a most determined Whig, and a slave to the fashion. Very plain,
but not the less anxious to be in the fashion. The aristocratical section of the Public-
Opinion Tribunal had prodigious influence on him. In his study of the laws of
property, he got hold of some of my phraseology, which was of great use to him. He
admired Fearne® prodigiously—I held him in contempt. For many successive years
we used to go, in the long vacation, to the country together. How I found means I
know not, but that I had two or three trifling legacies. My father, on his second
marriage, made a little settlement on me of a farm in Essex, worth £60, on which
there was an excessive land-tax, reducing it to less than £50. Then there was a malt-
house at Barking, which, when it was tenanted, gave £40; but it was not always
tenanted: and for these allowances, | was to appear as a gentleman, with lace and
embroidery on occasion. I had four guineas to pay my laundress, four guineas to my
barber, and two to my shoeblack.

“Wilson became a silk-gownsman, and was at the head of the Norfolk circuit. He was
cold in his manners, and rather touchy in his temper. I never but once had anything
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like a quarrel with him, and then we were meeting at Dr Fordyce’s, and he said he
wanted to consult me on some point of law. I laughed at him. He was a lawyer of
eminence—I had quitted the law. He took it in dedgeon, even after I had explained it,
though the explanation was simple enough. He was out of humour; but ultimately I
quieted him. I had been sadly plagued with these chambers of mine. I had divers
tenants, more bad than good,—insolvent and solvent. Among the insolvent was F—,
from whom I could never get rent, nor drive him from the chambers. They told me I
had no redress. I could not eject him but through the benchers;—but the benchers
denied me relief. Wilson was a bencher, but he refused me all assistance. This
shocked me so much that I could not afterwards see him with pleasure. I thought the
rascality was characteristic. The lawyer! the Scotch friend! They gave, as a reason,
that F—was not a member of the society. I knew nothing of the existence of such a
law; but I knew that if it existed, it was frequently violated, for there were many
holders of chambers who were not members of the Inn.”

On another occasion he said of Wilson:—*“He was a follower of mine; but he always
put himself at the door of some aristocrat or other. He had a great deal of mauvaise
honte, and fear of ridicule. His ideas were clarified by my phraseology. I was blind in
1781 for two or three months, and he was reading Coke upon Lyttleton. I wanted
ideas, and asked him to read aloud, for their ideas were better than none. I made many
observations, showing him that their ideas were to be amended: he did not want them
to be amended, but only to learn how he could make money out of them. He once
saved my life. We went to bathe at Leyton. I could not swim—not a single stroke. The
tide was rapid. I walked on up to my neck. I thought of turning back. I turned round,
but could not resist the tide. I floundered about, my head sometimes above, sometimes
under the water. He was scampering about in the meadows. I cried out. He saw me,
now up, now down: he plunged in and saved me. I was then thinking of my death, and
the effect my death would have on others. George Wilson told me to be perfectly
passive. I felt that I was a-going, a-going; but he rescued me, and dragged me to the
shore.”

Bentham’s other friend, James Trail, had held a situation in one of the colonies; and in
the course of his life had been deputy-usher at court, dramatic sublicenser, tutor to the
Duke of Sussex, barrister, and M.P. for Oxford, which he owed to the Earl of
Hertford, to whom Bentham represented him and his family as retainers. To his
connexion with the Hertfords, Bentham attributed the severity with which he always
judged the Shelburnes; for a feud existed between the two noble families, and Trail
was in the habit of speaking of Lord Shelburne in terms of extreme abhorrence. So far
was this pushed, that on the occasion when, in the solitary king’s speech prepared by
Lord Shelburne, the words were introduced, that “Accounts cannot be too
public,”—an admirable maxim, and whose recognition, on such an occasion, was a
highly important conquest to reform, Trail set upon this phrase, as Bentham declared,
“like a mastiff upon the throat of an assailant of his master, and called it ‘innovation,’
‘hodge-podge,” ‘miss-meddling,” and ‘farrago.” ”—So blinding are the effects of
party-prejudice! *

In reference to the debates of the day, Trail writes, on the 22d January, 1784, from
London:—
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James Trail To Bentham.

“On Monday, we expect a motion from Fox, or some of his friends, relative to the
conduct of the High-Bailiff of Westminster. Most people agree that his conduct is
irregular in not making a return of the two candidates who were highest on the poll;
but the great difficulty is, what the House of Commons ought to do to remedy this
irregularity; whether they can call the High-Bailiff to the bar, and order him to make a
return; or if they ought to refer it to a Committee, under Grenville’s Act, to determine
what he ought to have done, and what he ought now to do. Some think that, as his
power expired on the day the writ was returnable, and no return being then made, the
House can only declare the election void, and order a new writ to be issued. Whatever
turn it may take, it is expected to be a popular topic for Opposition; and I suppose we
shall hear of it as often as they possibly can introduce it.

“It is expected that Pitt means to repeal Mr Burke’s Act, or at least some part of it, in
order to restore the Board of Trade. Sir James Lowther has been exceedingly offended
that Lord Abergavenny was made an earl before him, because the daughter of John
Robinson, formerly his steward, may eventually take rank before his wife. It is said,
that he is now pacified, but on what terms I have not heard: according to some, he
remains a commoner, and will, notwithstanding, continue to support the
administration. Others say, he takes his six titles, and has obtained, besides, the
promise of a blue riband.

“We hear that Pitt has prepared an India bill, nearly the same with Fox’s: the trade to
be left in the hands of the directors; the government to be vested in Commissioners
for a term of years, but named by the Crown.

“Probably his plan, establishing the succession to offices in rotation, will make a part
of his bill, and in that case it will be nearly the same with what Fox proposed after his
first bill was rejected by the House of Lords. The only changes talked of are Lord
Carmarthen to be Privy-seal, Lord Sidney to be Secretary of State for Foreign Affairs,
and Dundas to be Secretary for the Home Department.”

George Wilson writes also, on matters of public interest, 19th June:—
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George Wilson To Bentham.

“The Westminster scrutiny goes on rapidly. In the first week, two votes of Mr Fox’s
have been decided upon, and both confirmed. A third has been heard, and the decision
adjourned till Monday. The mode agreed on is, that Sir Cecil shall first go through all
his objections in the parish of Soho; and then Fox go through his: after which, they go
to another parish. But many people think they will never get out of Soho.

“We understand, Sir R. Hotham is to come in for the borough. Lord North made a
great speech, and Pitt a miserable one, on the reform. On that subject, and the receipt
tax, people may now judge of the ministers’ sentiments. Adam has got another son,
and, what is better, he is getting a deal of money by Scotch Appeals. Trail is drawing
like a wagon-horse, from morning to night, and from Monday to Saturday. I am, as
usual, attending the King’s Bench, and idling away the afternoon.”

Dr Swediaur writes from Edinburgh, on the 15th July:—
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Dr Swediaur To Bentham.

“Dr Smith, with whom I am intimately acquainted, is quite our man; he is busy about
a new edition of his ‘Wealth of Nations.” We have a club here which consists of
nothing but philosophers. Dr Adam Smith, Cullen, Black, Mr M‘Gowan, &c., belong
to it; and I am also a member of it. Thus I spend once a-week, in the most enlightened
and agreeable, cheerful and social company.”

Several of the letters of this period, relate to the publication of Voltaire’s Memoirs; as
to which, Dr Swediaur, in a postscript to the above, says:—

“Have you read Voltaire’s Memoirs of his Life, written by himself? I just got a copy
of it from Paris; it is excellent; and great many anecdotes, especially those about the
King of Prussia, I know to be true. The old scoundrel will not be much pleased to
have his character so much exposed during his life-time.”

And Trail on the 9th August writes:—
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James Trail To Bentham.

“I have read Memoires de Voltaire. They are entertaining, and if not genuine, are at
least a tolerable imitation of his manner. If [ had been persuaded that they were
authentic, I am not sure but my expectations would have been disappointed in the
perusal. There is nothing interesting, and little of any thing except what relates to the
King of Prussia.

“I admit that Smith’s book is in the press, and that it has considerable additions. It will
appear in 4 vols. octavo. I cannot learn to what particular points the additions relate. It
will not be published in less than two months.

“I hear of no public news but from the papers; I need not repeat what you see there. If
the General Advertiser is to be had at Whitchurch, you will be entertained, perhaps,
with the account given in that paper of last Saturday of Fox’s speech the night before.
I am told by those who heard it, that it was equal to any he has ever made, and with
the uncommon advantage of being a reply to Pitt, who has now given up the only
remaining measure he had struggled for some time to maintain. The people in the city,
I hear, are beginning to talk very freely of the inexperience and incapacity of their late
favourite minister, and Fox has given them great satisfaction by his temperate and
discriminating opposition to such measures only as they have disapproved of. If Pitt
should have as much to do next session, I own I should not be surprised to see such a
current against him as might affect his power; but he has got through all his taxes,
having provided for the interest even of that part of the debt which will not be
regularly funded till next session. I cannot foresee that he will have any thing to do
next session but to mend the high roads and enclose commons, and make a parading
speech about the produce of the Sinking Fund, and the application of the surplus.”

One of Trail’s letters of 16th September, gives a detailed account of Lunardi’s balloon
ascent the day before.
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James Trail To Bentham.

“London, 16th September, 1784.

“Dear Bentham,—

Wilson has so far relented that he has permitted me to write you some account of
Lunardi’s excursion with his air balloon. Fordyce undertook to fill it with
inflammable air, and executed his part of the business with great coolness and
success. He intended to have begun his operations on Tuesday evening about six
o’clock, but was prevented by various accidents till five next morning, so that he was
obliged to make ten gallons of air in a second, which exposed the balloon to be set on
fire from the great heat produced by this rapid process. The ingredients were oil of
vitriol and zinc, with a great quantity of water; and, according to his calculations, he
was, from £150 worth of each, to collect a sufficient quantity of air, and, at the same
time, to make as much white vitriol as would sell for £400, at the rate of £10 less per
ton than the market price. By this good management £100 will be gained by the
process. About one o’clock, the time fixed for the balloon to go off, Lunardi became
very impatient, and was afraid the mob would have broke in; so that Fordyce was
obliged to humour him, although he had not been able, notwithstanding all his
exertions, to collect the quantity of air he wished. Upon trial, it was found that there
was not enough to raise the two travellers with twenty-five pounds of ballast, which
obliged Biggins to get out; and Lunardi set out by himself, with about thirty pounds of
ballast, part of which he threw out almost immediately after he rose from the ground,
to enable him to clear a row of houses adjoining the Artillery Ground. We saw
everything so distinctly, and were so much satisfied with the safety of the attempt,
that it was by no means that awful or solemn scene that I expected—everybody
greatly interested, but cheerful and gay; and in about ten minutes he was at such a
distance that we could scarcely discover the gallery fixed to the balloon. It went at
first north-west, and afterwards nearly due north; and in about three quarters of an
hour, was out of sight of every person, I believe, in London.

“No certain accounts were received in town, of the conclusion of this voyage, till this
afternoon, when two letters—one to Dr Fordyce, and the other to Biggins—came
from Lunardi, written from Baker’s house in Hertfordshire. In these letters he says,
that, after having been up some time, he descended by means of one of his oars, (the
other he dropped by accident,) till he came very near the earth; and by throwing out a
small grappling-iron, he brought himself to an anchor in a large field where some men
were at work. To these people he called with his speaking-trumpet, and got some
information, which he does not specify. After leaving his cat with them, he threw out
the remainder of his ballast, and ascended to a much greater height than he had been
before. In his first voyage, the thermometer did not sink below 35°; but in the second
trip it fell down to 29°. Some vapour had got into the balloon, and, being condensed,
fell down now and then upon him in drops; but, when at his greatest height, these
drops were frozen. He does not mention what brought him down a second time. It is
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thought, notwithstanding his account, the cause of his coming down both times was
the waste of the inflammable air through the seams, and perhaps the body, of the silk.
The oar was too small to have such an effect as he imputes to it. By his own
conjecture, he rose the second time to the height of four miles; but as he had no
barometer, (which was in Biggins’ pocket, and forgot in the hurry,) we cannot depend
upon the accuracy of his judgment.

“He was up, altogether, two hours and twenty minutes; and landed three miles beyond
Ware, in Hertfordshire, where he was soon joined by General Smith, and some other
gentlemen who had followed him out of town on horseback, with whom he dined, and
went afterwards to Mr Baker’s house. In his letter to Biggins, he expresses his regret
that he had not his company, which, he says, prevented him from enjoying his
voyage—but assures him he shall accompany him on the next; that the balloon shall
be filled quite full, and if then it will not carry two, he, Biggins, shall go up alone. The
balloon came safe to town this evening, in Baker’s caravan, and was lodged, amidst
the acclamations of a great mob, at Biggins’ house, in Essex Street.

“Fordyce had a very ingenious contrivance to let out the inflammable air, if it had
been necessary. He fixed two silk tubes about the